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PREFACE

I am not a writer so let the readers forgive my not thorough
stylistics or composition of my memoirs. Memoirs arc not work of art
after all.

f If my life had not been typical, I should not have written about
it, however I was born at the time when Ukraina was covered with dark
clouds of Stalin collectivization, during which death with its scythe of
hunger stroke millions of my countrymen.

We still did not quite recover from one disaster when another
came: German occupation of Ukraina, in the result of which I, as well
as hundreds of thousands people like me, became slaves of Hitler
"novogo ladu" (new system). I was taken out to Germany for forced
labour.

This fell not only to my lot and that’s why I decided to describe
it, to describe everything as it was, without any prettyfying or darke:ing
certain facts or episodes from life. In my memoirs I describe my orphan
childhood and my youth in slavery. 1 describe to let our offsprings know
how dreary our life was. I was also urged to write these memoirs by
the fact that in Ukraina the fate of those taken out 1o Germany for
Jorced labour was shown till now as the fate of betrayers of Motherland.

There is "nema zerna nepravdy za soboyu" (no corn of lie), [
have nothing to hide. But I have something to show: Stalin and Hitler
regimes cruelty to the children, youth and all other people.

I should not have written these memoirs if I were indifferent to
my Motherland or if I had forgotten it, if I had forgotten all my people
in Ukraina and also those with whom 1 lived for years in slavery.

We, taken out to Germany for forced labour, have clear
conscience, we did not do anything wrong to our Motherland. And the
Jact that many of us found themselves in the West after the war and
did not return home is not our fault. The reason was terror, faminc,
death, prisons, injustice which we ourselves and our people suffered
Sfrom Stalin regime.

. About detailed reasons why we did not return to our Motherland
I write at the end of these memoirs.

Author






PART ONE

KOLKHOZ CHILDHOOD
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This is the map of Zaporozhye region on which it is shown: Gulyaypole
- region center for villige Kopani in which I was born, Pologi -
railway station ncarest to our village, Orikhiv and Berdyansk - towns

where | studied in medical schools.




ORPHAN CHILDHOOD
BEFORE COLLECTIYIZATION

I was born on the 24th of April 1925 in village of
Kopani-Liman, Dolinskiy village Sovict, Qulyaypolc region,
Zaporizhye province. Gulyaypole is dcscribcd as a town in
Zaporizhye province, UKrSSR, region center on the river Gaychuri.
(Dniper basin), 8 km. to the South-East from the railway station
Gulyaypole. 17 thousand pcople (1964). Plants: agricultural
equipment, brick and tile, butier manufacturing, mechanical shops,
shoc producing factory, industrial and food group of cnterprisces,
inter kolkhoz building organization, rcgion amalgamation
“Sil’gosptckhnika". Schools: 10 of gencral cducation, onc for working
people and musical school. The town was founded in the 18th
century. Well, as for Zaporozhye province, it is known to cverybody,
— the center of springing up and development of Ukrainian Sich
Kozatstva, From here comes the name of the city Zaporizhzhya and
Zaporizhye province.

I was named Antonina, my sccond name was Pctrivna
Khelemendyk. My father, Petro, came from zaporiz'kikh kozaks. My
mother came from the family of middle peasants, but her grandfather
and grandmother were rather prosperous although they almost never
hired help but worked themsclves with their family. My mother was
also of Kozak origin, from Andrushchenko family and her name
was Melaniya Petrivna. She was from village Nizhnya Danilivka,
Orikhivskiy region, Zaporizhye province. Village Nizhnya Danilivka
almost flew with town Orikhiv.

I became an orphan when [ was cight months old. My mother
dicd from pncumonia, being scriously ill for two weeks only. At that
time there were few doctors and that’s why she had to leave this
carth lifc. My mother was marricd before but her husband died two
years carlicr also from lung discasc. They had onc daughter,
Mariyka, shc was four ycars old when her father died.

At that time my father worked in their farm, he looked after
horses and cattle and he was a full orphan since he was four-ycars
old and he had to work as a farm labour in my mother’s family.

My father, Petro, lived together with Zinchenko family, that is
with the family of my mother’s first husband. He was very
hard-working, respectful and my mother and her first husband loved
him greatly.

. Alter the death of my mother’s first husband my mother marricd
him, this orphan, a hard-working and kind chap. He, as they said, camc
to know the particulars of the farm and all jobs init.

My mothcr’s first daughter was left without her father and so
my fathcr began to bring her up and soon, in a ycar after my mother’s
sccond marriage, I was born. It was, as [ had alrcady said, on thc
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24th ol April 1925.

After my birth my mother lived only for cight months, she died
and we, two sisters, were left orphans with my father. My sister was
five then. She also had maternal aunts and grandmother. It was they
who incited her to live with her grandmother because my father was
only stepfather to her. So our mother’s death scparated me from
my sister for many long ycars. When the grandmother, having lived
for tcn morc ycars, dicd, my sister was taken by her own aunt to
look after her children. So my clder sister became a hired hand of
her own aunt. Her life was unenviable. She did not have an
opportunity o go to school. She went to school only for two years:
she had to do the work about the house.

When miy sister was 17 she marricd a man who was older than
she was, he was born in Doncts’k and he took her to the town of
Artemivs’k, so she left the work at her aunt’s in Orikhov. I did not
scc her since 1926 and 1 did not know whether my maternal sister
lived anywhcre.

This was our life, it was not merry, it was mangled. She knew
that she had her own sister somewhere but in those years of terrible
Stalin regime, at the time of "ezhovshchina” and then "bericvshching®
you could not allow yoursclf to look for your dear close people. It
was the time of cruclty, famine, exile, arrests, the time which
cnveloped all our country.

Al that time what pcople in the Ukraina wished most of all
was 10 hide themsclves well from persccution. Before the revolution
there was tsar regime in Ukraina, alicn people kept power in their
hands. Soon after the revolution it became still worse, at first they
gave land to peasants but in a short time they took it from pcasants
by Stalin’s order. They did not only took the land away but began
crucly pursuiting thosc who werc working hard, who by their sweat
and corns achicved better life. Representatives of power spicd on
those who were as they tnought encmics of the new power. At first
it was said that the ncw power came to liberate poor people from
tsar yoke to give cqual rights to everybody, they advanced slogans
according to which the whole land should belong to people and all
plants to workers. People and cspecially poor people believed their
promiscs at once. Many poor pcople began to collaborate with the
ncw power, they began to serve the new power, some of them
became clerks. And soon it happened that these former poor people
were the people who began to take away the belongings from
prosperous people which they carned by hard work. They took it
away in spitc of the fact that the prosperous people and their familics
worked hard on the land which the Soviet power gave to them and
so they became just a bit richer. The whole income which the
prosperous people carncd during many ycars was taken away from
them, well organized agricultural farms were destroyed. The tide of
organizing kolkhozes led at first to borrowing some stock from

10



My mother Melaniya Andrushchenko-Zinchenko. Photo was taken in
1920 and mother died in October 1925, Mother was buried in village
Kopani, Gulyaypil's':iy region

Oh, mother, mother! What can | do with myself?
All my orphan life 1 grieve for you!
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prosperous peasants and then tnese peasants to avoid thei joining
kolkhozes volunteered to give them cither live-stock — a horse, a
cow — or somc stock — a cart, a plough, a sccding-machine and
so on. But it was not cnough for the buildres of the ncw systen. in
villages, they began to take away peasants’ property using force. ¢ t
first, as they said, carts were riding along the street and the founders
of a kolkhoz dropped in the farm forcing the owncer to “pozichit™*
to kolkhoz cither a horse or a cow, or a calf, or a cart, or a harrow
in ordcr, so to say, to give the kolkhoz a start and then some time in
future it, that is, kolkhoz would rcturn cverything, they borrowed. But
these were just words as cverybody knew that. not a single kolkhoz
would cver return what was borrowed. Howcever the peasants
“pozichali” to get rid of the impudent new mifsiers of the village.

At that time my father had other troubles because he buried
his wifc and was left with an infant in arms. My father could not
manage to take carc after me. And | was crying being hungry and
I had no nursc and he had a farm to work at. Thus my father gave
the kolkhoz some of his stock on condition that when he could need
some stock or a horsc, he would have the right to take it from
kolkhoz to do somc job. An agrecment is an agreement but my
fathcr ncver made usc of what he gave to the kolkhoz It was not
because he did not want o but because he could not — he was not
given. He had o cooperate with neighbours, they shared livestock
not horscs, because none of them had already had horses at that
time, but they shared cows to harness,

It happened so that under new kolkhoz system cven cows were
hard pressed. Instcad of grazing, chewing and giving milk they had
to lcarn to go with horse’s collar on and sometimes they had to do
it from two to nine weeks. However the cows had to give milk
because new power taxed cach farm and the taxes should be paid
by natural products: it was nccessary to give milk to the state and cach
time the quantity of the milk required was increascd. Those people,
who most of all tricd to achicve casy life in kolkhoz, some idlers,
drunkards wandcred about the yards, peeping into cach corner.

Father after my mother’s dcath had hard timces, he was warn
oul... he couid not drudge on: a lot of work to do, thc man had no
wifc and the child was motherless. The ficld was not tilled, the cattle
was not looked alter, the child was constantly crying. And it was
terrible, all thesc kolkhoz cxccutors did all they wanted to with the
pcasants. Volodimir II'ich Lenin was dead, he was done away with,
losip Vissarionovich Stalin came to power, who ordercd to takc
cverything away from prospcrous peasants, to organize kolkhozes and
radgospi, to make people work in kolkhoz, and thosc, who did not
want to, should bc punished — cxiled to Siberia, to Kazakhstan, to

* "pozishit” - to lend.
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cold steppes, or to the far tiga, they should even be punished to dcath.
. Peasants became anxious, worricd, they did not know what to
do. Nobody wanted to lcave their home, sct up by their fathers,
grandfathers and whole gencrations. At first the peasants were o
scarcd that they gave up [or taxcs cven hens, pigs, calves. New power
determined thé quantity and kind of what they had to keep and give
up to the state. The requirements were constantly increasing. Stalin
introduccd “pryatyrichka® . which sct restrictions on peasants and
their further réquirements. Fathers, grandfathers and grandmothers
were crying, gricving, cursing the new powcr, cursing their
uncnviable fate.

A that time my lather was twenty two, at the time when my
mother died. My father was carrving me in his hands, he was chewing
bread for me, calming me down, trying to stop my crying, Once a
young woman came to our yard and saw my father in despair.

She had heard fron some people that my father was widowed
and was left with a baby. The woman was a widow oo and had
two small daughters. She began talking with my father and offered
him to help with the child. It was three months later alter my
mother's death, I was almost one year old. Father having found out
that the woman was a widow proposed her to marry him, to unite
their widowed fates, to bring up children together, to work together,
at the farm. The widow agreed and he married her.

It became a bit better at our home but not for a long ume.
New order showed its real worth, The representatives of sil'rada and
kolkhoz were constantly going to the farms and registering
cverything and demanding to lend them something beecause they
considered that the owners had too much. They asked to do it by
peasant’s own will but this voluntereness was imposed. At that time
we had two cows but father had to share them with my sister and
he gave one cow o the grandmother to feed her granddaughier. And
he did so with all other things, we shared cverything with the
grandmother meaning for Marivka, my sister. As my father said
cverything was my mother’s property.

Father married for the second time, his wife was also from a
rich family because all its members were working hard and all
together, they kept common houschold, save money together and
gradually beecame rich, They had a large ficld, a large garden, in
which there were many nut trees, and they also had a large
bee-garden. Thus they lived as prosperous peasants, nobody was
idle, cverything was done in time — ploughing, sowing, mowing,
rcaping. They had many horsces, all stock required at the Tarm such
as ploughs, harrows and others. They had quite a lot of cows, pigs,
let alonc hens, geese, ducks. They also had a large flock of sheep.

* "p'yatyrichka” - five-ycar plan
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Evcerything was their own. :

Thus the new power decided to appropriatc what was
accumulated by this hard-working family. Everything was
inventoricd and the host himsclf was cntered in the list. Then the
grandfather called the family council and knowing the policy of the
new power, they decided (o give to the kolkhoz what they wanted.
Then the grandfather called the representatives of the kolkhoz and
said to them to take what they needed. Carts from the kolkhoz came
at once, the executives loaded 12 sheep, hehs, geese, ducks on them.
And they thought that the question was scttled.

But it did not happenced as they thought. At lcast they did not
think so in the sil’rada and kolkhoz management. The grandfather
was cntered in the list of "kurkul’s” and for some time the grandfather
did not know about it. When father’s wife removed to us she brought
a lot of things given to her by her father. Thus she brought a loom,
on which onc can wcave lincn for any cloth nceded in the houschold.
At that time in villages they weaved various bed-spreads, thin linen for
trouscrs and still thiner for shirts and skirts. All this was homemade.

And so in our "hata" (housc) appcarcd ncw mother. She was
very hard-working. When 1 was older T begar to understand that
my stepmother could turn her hand to anything, she could do
cverything — she scemed to be a professional dressmaker, villagers
brought her cloth to scw any thing — from warm coat to fclt boots
of sheep felt hair, which were worn in winter. Father liked it very
much, he was proud of such hostess.

But that was not cnough for a woman. Except hands of gold
my stepmother lacked a broad sincere hcart, lacked a common gift
to bring up somebody clsc’s child. That’s why I grew as a blade of
grass at the road. Somc years passcd before 1 understood that she
was not my own mother. It was very difficuit for mc to live, knowing
this. And when I was four ycars old my stcpmother made up her
mind and told me the following: If somcbody asked me, I should
“say that I was the daughter ol another woman. At first 1 did not
quitc understand it and when somebody asked me I answered as |
was told. Some ncighbours told me the truth, they told me that my
mother was in a grave. And then I seemed to feel some vague blame
before my stepmother because 1 was not her own daughter. Her
attitude to me was very cold but I understood that she had her own
two daughters, she cherished them, she nursed them. And [ was lcft
alonc and was sitting somewhcere in the corncer trying to behave so
that nobody would scold me for somc fault. I understood that
children uscd to do what was not right. I was crying morc often.
Nobody caressed me, nobody pat on the back. I had no mother, I
had nobody who could press me to his chest. I took it to my heart,
I felt it keenly. And thus I began o run to my mothcer’s grave much
morc often and there, lying on the grass, I was crying and asking
my mother to risc from her coffin because it was very difficult for
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me to live with the stepmother. And so [ was lying and crying on
my mother’s grave till late at night. I was scarched, called, they did not
know where 1 was. Then our ncighbour said I was at the cemetery
ncar my mother’s grave. They came and ook me away and began (0
scarc mc, they said that a dead man would came out of the coffin and
take me with him. And then 1 realized that my mother would never
risc from the coffin and I stopped going to the cemetery.

Since that time I was scared, cspecially when it was getting dark,
and was totally scared at night. 1, as it was getting dark, ran home.

When I ‘was four years old, 1 was oidered to do this or that
— 1o pick some grass lor pigs, to feed cattle. And all this T had to
do without any complaint being afraid of beating.

I always liked to go to the field with my father, T liked to ride
on horseback, I liked te lead the horse when weeding, when hilling
potatocs or maize or sunflowers. As far as I remember 1 always led
the horse. 1t was my favourite horse, he was named Arsentiy. Later
on this horsc was taken 1o the kolkhoz and was lost there. At that
time there were many horses in the kolkhoz and somebody who
did not like kolkhozes paisonced horses. I beard it from my own
father as he was passing through the kolkhoz yard and tclling my
stcpmother, his wife, about it. Many pcoplc were suspected of
poisoning the horses, later on some of them were arrested and shot
and among them werce innocent people.

My stepmother’s clder daughter Anna was seven and it was
she who looked after me, and saw that 1 should not fall when I was
still a baby. I was very grateful to her for her guardianship when I
grew older as I was growing like grass at the road which could be
trampled down by cverybody. We had good ncighbours, they had
two daughters uand two sons. Their cldest daughter died from some
lung discasc and was buricd ncar my mother’s grave. So aunt Paliivna
always kept in order her daughter’s grave and my mothcer’s as well.
I was glad to have such kind ncighbours, they helped me many
times to complete some work about the yard. Most of the work in
our yard was put on my weak shoulders. My father started working in
kolkhoz although hc was not a member of kolknoz yet, and my
stcpmother was forced to weave linen for sacks for kolkhoz Then 1
and stepmother’s daughters were left ai home to till our kitchen-garden
in summer, 19 tcnd pigs, rabbits, they were all hungry. I often sent the
geesc to the grass and | should watch them not to do somc harm and
the geese liked to give me some losses as that kolkhoz Stalin system
did to all people. So I thought then for some reason.

. And really as I later camc to the conclusion, the new systcm
did harm to thc people and mostly, as it secms to me, to the
Ukrainian peoplc. Because in Ukraina the peasants did not want to
join kolkhozes, they did not want to do what they were told to do

y "dvadtsyatipyatitisyachniki" sent from Moscow. However our
people were put "pod stenku” i.c. shot for disobedience, they were
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considered 1o be the encmics of people, enemics of the party,
cnemics of the leader of all peoples, “father of all oppressed” —
Stalin. People were in low spirits, they were very upsct. From day
to day they were waiting for something, sometning which they could
not forcsce. All were not sure of the very next day, nobody knew
what would follow then.

Though I was small, ] was listcning to pcoplc talk and though
I was far from bcing adult, T began to understand something,
Somctimes sitting in the corner and listening to older people talk,
I was pondering over the destiny of people. Father and stcpmother
were constantly talking in low voices that all would be forced to
join kolkhoz, and thosec who would not volunteer, would be
punished, they would take their property away. Mother and father
were talking about it quictly, they were whispering. At that time 1
had alrcady had a brother Ivan. He was three years old yet and |
was about five. My little brother was a very clever boy and all of
us loved him — he was the youngest one. My father subsceribed to
a newspaper, the title of which was "Komunist”. He brought it in
the cvening and was rcading to the stepmother as she was spinning
and weaving all the cvenings for us and in the day time for kolkhoz.
My father was very obliging if somcbody asked him to do something,
he never refused. Father did not join the kolkhoz yet and it became
a problem for us, my father sent me to school, however at school
the teacher said if a father did not join the kolkhoz, the child of
such father had no right to go to school. He said that there should
be a certificate from kolkhoz management. 1 came home and told
my father about it. It happencd so that my two step-sisters went o
school and I was not admitted because they began going to school
when there was no prohibition to children, whose parents did not
join kolkhoz, to study at school.

My father had nothing clsc to do but to join kolkhoz So he
joincd kolkhoz nominally, took the ccrtificatc from kolkhoz
management so I could be admitted to school and gave it to me. |
took thc certificatc, camc to school and gave it to the tcacher. He
rcgistered mc in the first form. My father was a bit mistaken, I was
not seven yet, I was only five ycars and six months old, but I longed
to school, I wanted to lcarn recading. I lcarnt the alphabet rather
quickly and began to put letters together. I took that large newspaper
"Komunist” and lookced through it together with my brother and my
sistcrs.

Even then [ could find from it that Stalin system tricd to bring
ncew order everywhere and to call to order those who refused to
join kolkhozcs. Fatal danger was approaching pcople. There were
talks in the village that this or that onc "zabrali"*, somebody was

* "zabrali" - was arrested.
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killed and some peoople dicd from heart attack. In the whole village
there was hubbub, cry, incertainty in the next day. The most
incredible rumours were afloat. People gathered in groups, talking,
trying to predict what would happen in our village. In the village
pcople knew cach other, as all were growing beforc cverybody’s
cyces, there were many people who became rclated, there were many
God-parents, the villagers knew people who came from
ncighbouring villagcs.

Every evening our father left home and went to kolkhoz housc
where many people gathered. Some of them were playing cards,
some were watching the players. Then talks began about this and
that and then turned to the most painful questions — what the new
power would devise next, what Stalin and his brothers-in-arms
would devise. Father always returned with some news. We, children,
always helped mother to wind spinning thread on the bobbins, which
mother put into the loom, she was working at it till late at night.
Father also nclped with the loom, binding threads and doing
something clse while they were talking about different things, about
the future of people and. 1 made sure, everything what they foresaw
in their talks, rcally took place in some ycars.

Pcople began' thinking how to hide their belongings lest to be
taken away. Father started digging a holce in the garden, in such a
placc from which it could not be noticed. Others did the same forced
by the circumstances. Pcople buried maize, potatocs, wheat,
beetroots. There were rumours that the new power was preparing
the law according to which cverything might be taken from pcople
and then they would join kolkhoz. There were cndless talks that
Stalin had alrcady signed the order to dispossess kulaks, take all
their belongings and to exile them to Siberia, cold steppes or taiga.

Onc day father came home and told mother that he had secn
the list of those to be disposscssed and among thcm were our
grandfather and grandmother and all their family. Thosc who were
to disposscss, would go around houscs and register the number of
people in cach family. As soon as mother hcard it she started crying
and her hand dropped from the loom. When she came to herself
shc asked father to go to the grandfather and take the large trunk
in which her trousscau was. They both went to take that trunk, told
the grandfather cverytning, said that the situation was bad and the
family was in danger.

We, children, were also filled with this misfortune, we sympathized
the parcnts for the danger to which they were exposcd. We heard and
understood from their talks that it was the tme of injusticc, that the
system was not good. Father agreed with the grandfather that he would
take his youngest son, that my stcpmother would bring him up like her
own child as he was still small. Quite natural the grandfather was glad
that his son had a chance to save himself.

Father and stepmother took the trunk which was on the wheels

17 -



and full of various things, rolled it to our houschold and brought
the grandfather’s youngest son as well.

In a week the “"si'rada™ announced that they would register
the number of people in cach family. We had a good dog Vovchik,
who guardcd us well, barking as soon as a stranger camc up to our
yard and sometimes as if he felt that a bad man was going, he barked
at the top of his voice almost suffocating from barking. At the time
of Stalin regime cven dogs fclt anxicty, unccrtainty, some threat,
thus when a stranger was passing by the dogs became mad.

Onc morning, it was at the cnd of November of 1929, that is
in latc autumn, two mcn on horscbacks rodc into our yard. It was
about ninc in thc morning, mother had alrcady prepared cverything
she needed to spin. The trunk was covered with some rags to make
it less striking. The house was cleancd up, we helped our mother
and there were four children alrcady. Thus mother and father heard
the  dog barking, somcbody was making noisc in the yard. Mother
took a rag and put it on the loom, making it look so as il it was
out of order, as if some parts of it were missing. The comers were
the head of the sil'rada Ivan Prikhod’ko, it was he who came from
the neighbouring village where his parents lived. He was still young,
not morc than twenty five yecars old. And the other was his fricnd
from our village who knew a lot about our villagers. He was a bit
older than head of the sil’rada. He was about thirty five. Naturally,
he knew all the people in the village, he cven needn’t to look into
the lists to know who lived nerc and there. The head introduced
himsclf, said that he ‘camc from Bobashi. that is from the
ncighbouring village. This village was well known to cverybody as
there lived a very rich man, landlord Bobash, and it was he who
founded that village, pcople moved there and worked, some worked
in the ficld, but some in a privatc smithy, some at a private mill.
This farm was very uscful for ncighbouring villages.

Thus these two men cntered the house, grected my father and
mother and we, children, hid in the corncrs. Our [ather had told us
before that if' a stranger came into the house we should hide cither
on the "pich” (oven) or in another room and be quict. Thus we were
sitting quictly and we were cager to know what they would talk
about. And we heard that thesc two men came o borrow separator
to scparatc sour crecam from milk. It was known in the village that
we had a scparator as we had some cows. And our ncighbours who
had cows also camc to us and uscd it to scparatc sour crcam, (o
make butter and to rcgale on "maslyanka®. Father said that the
scparator was disassembled for drying and that he would bring it as
soon as he assembled it. These two micn again assured him that they
only wanted to borrow the separator and when the kolkhoz became

* "sil'rada” - Village Soviel.
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prosperous they would buy their own, large scparator because there
were a lot of cows in kolkhoz, and they could not manage to scparatc
so much milk with such a small scparator.

What could father do? It was unrcasonable to rcfusc. So he
said to them that he would lend the separator and cven explained
to them how it worked and how it should be disasscmblcd after
using it and how it should be asscmbled. And so it was. When they
were leaving the house, they said that kolkhoz nceded sacks and
asked father to lend them.

They took our separator and sacks and then asked mother to
come to kolkhoz farm with her loom and spin there as not a single
woman could spin. And what could mothcr do? She could not refusc
the representatives of the new power as cverybody knew that under
new power you could not refuse anything, otherwisc you could be
made the encmy of the party and so the cnemy of people and such
persons had to be annihilated.

Thus father and mother "shared” with kolkhoz, so that “wolves
were fcd and sheep were save”. They shared but suffered from their
losses because nobody gave anything free to them, they had to carn
cverything with their own hands. But what could be donce?

Rumours were going around that it was quite enough to bear
it, that they should lcave everything and go to some other place of
the world. These people were not used to common cconomy, and
in kolkhoz or radgosp thcy had cverything in common, they said
about common beds, blankets and so on.

COLLECTIVIZATION OF VILLAGE

Thus our village cnded by what they proclaimed: everybody to
a ccmmon yard, that is to kolkhoz! Pcoplc began moaning still more
but they saw that there was no way out. Some villagers had alrcady
left their farms and went to Doncchchina, to Doncts’k itself, then
named Yuzovka. There were large coal mines and therefore miners,
mills, bakeries as well, so there should be food-stuff. One day our
ncighbour, and he was our uncle Ivan Zinchenko, brother of my
mother’s first husband, came from there. They, that is grandmother
and grandfather Zinchenki, had a large house, a large houschold,
they were well-to-do. They had horses and cows. But it did not last
long — the grandmother dicd and soon dicd grandfather. Everything
was left to uncle Ivan Zinchenko, who after his parents® dcath lived
with his family in "zemlyanka® (a dig-out) in the same yard, and the
house, stable and the rest were given to ‘kolkhoz to avoid troubles.
He thought that if he gave all his wealth to kolkhoz, he would be
lcft alone. But it did not happen so. Uncle Ivan found that he was
in the list on disposscssion. He quickly took some things and left
for Yuzovka. So did other people, a lot of them went to mines in
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Doncchchina. Pcople knew that disposscssion was cqual to throwing
cut from the house, cven outdoors, and stili worse — exile to far
Siberia, taiga or cold steppe, Kazakhstan.

They paid well in Yuzovka mincs, so unclc Ivan knew that he
did. He ook some things neccssary for him and asked his wife to
pack cverything and be ready to leave. And indeed in some time he
camc in a cart from Donets'k, Yuzovka then, took his wifc and
children and they left. In the morning when we got up there was
nobody in "zcmlyanka".

It was the time when people were afraid of cach other becausc
onc could say something about other’s belongings. Those, who by
the order of Stalin, built ncw Kolkhoz system tricd by different
mcans Lo crecate hostility among pceoplc and with this aim they started
dividing pcoplc into kulaks, middic pcasants and poor pcasants, and
at last into so called podkulaks, that is thosc peasants who, although
were not rich, but for moral rcasons sympathized with kulaks and
cven helped them in their troubles.

In some weceks after uncle’s Ivan Zinchenko family left, we
got a letter from his wife. She wrote how they scttled, how they
lived and so on. But their happiness did not last long. Soon we found
that uncle Ivan dicd from some lung discasc. It appearcd that it was
not casy to work in a coal minc, there was much coal dust, no
ventilation and lungs of a pcasant were accustomed to clear air, to
spaciousncss. And there was darkness, stuffy air, dust. Thus it came
that a pcasant had no way out, he could not be saved from kolkhoz,
wherever he went, he was [ollowed by his misfortuncs, which came
with Stalin plan of collcctivization of village, organization of
kolkhozes and annihilation of kulaks as a class. In fact, this mcant
physical annihilation of all pcasants, who worked hard not only
before the revolution but after it as well on the land which was given
to them by the Sovict power.

In uncle’s Ivan former "zemlyanka" the kolkhoz scttled some
other people so we had new, strange ncighbours. Pcople’s life was
controlled by kolkhoz. Christmas was coming. Somc time ago
Christmas holidays brought joy, pcople were merry, preparing for
the holidays, they treated cach other with “svyataya vecherya®,
"golodna kutya" was carricd from onc house to anothcr, wishing
hosts all the best in the coming year. And then time came when onc
could not wish all the best to people because all knew that it would
be still worse, than at that time, that you could not cxpcct something
good from Stalin programmes of collcctivization of village. And this
took placc all over Ukraina. as cverywhere was the same power,
strange (o us, which did not carc for keeping our traditions but, on
the contrary, tricd to destroy them by various means. Nobody was
the owner of his bclongings, cven was not the owner of his life,
cverything was in the hands of the new power. People, having lost
hope for better life, were crying, meaning and complaining.
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The new power did not only destroyed people’s houscholds,
but began to destroy their sole, it, this power, promoted denouncing,
incited onc against another. But this was not all, to reshape pcople
the new power involved teachers in it to make informers of the
children so that they informed about their parents. Thus they
poisoncd age-long traditions of Ukrainian village, Ukrainian people.
At school children were ordered to watch after their parents, what
they did, with whom and about what they talked, how they lived,
what they baked and cooked. )

We, children, understood the sensc of it and realized what the
teachers tricd to find. We came home and told the parents everything
what the tcachers demanded from us. Our father was very strict and
he ordered us that if we told anybody what was going on or said in
our housc, he would cut our tonguc. We were scared of it, who wanted
to live without the tonguc? Though we knew that father only threatencd
us, that he would never cut somebody’s tonguc, but his threats were
a good Icsson for us. What our parcnts hid from other people hearing
or sceing, from the representatives of the new power was also a good
lesson for children, we rcalized what this regime led to.

At school we Icarnt to rcad and write. We often had to rcad Stalin
slogans such as: "Long live thc Communist party of bol’shevics!”, "Long

- live comrade Stalin!", " All to fight for total collcctivization of village!".
And we realized that the last slogan was terrrible not only for our
village but for the wholce Ukraina as well, which lived in sorrow because
of what was brought by Stalin regime, Stalin “"p’yatirichka”, Stalin
collectivization of village, total collectivization, disposscssion of kulaks,
annihilation of kulaks as a class. We, children, saw cverything cach
time rcalizing morc what was going on.

They began to attract children to school, promising to make
our lifc easier, they cooked some soup there, and later they listed
children in "zhovtcnyata™* organization. We were cxplained that no
scicnce would do us harm, that wc should know cverything, the
morc children knew, the cleverer they became. We brought all this
ncws to our father and mother and asked their advice whether we
should join "zhovicnyata’. We were also cager to find what kind of
organization it was. Father said that it was not so awful as it secmed,
as many children joined it, we should join cither, that there would be
somc sport excrciscs, that may be we should Icarn something therc.

Father allowed us to join “zhovicnyata” organization. We, all
"zhovtenyata®, got yellow tics, which werc put on our necks like
horse’s collars on cows’ nccks. We, children, deviscd this comparison
oursclves, but it came truc because since that time they demanded
from us too much responsibility, they ordered us to cavesdrop
parents and all grown ups in gencral, what they were saying about

* "Zhovtenyata® chlldren organization.
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the new power at home, or maybc somcbody was saying somcthing
in the street or maybe peasants gathered somewhere. It was difficult
time indccd, a lot awful things were going on. To withstand
kolkhozes horscs were poisoned and horses were the main support
in collectivization of village, there were no tractors at that time, the
earth was tilled by horscs.

While horscs were dying, the authoritics suspected those who
avoided joining the kolkhoz. They came at night, took the host, and
he was never seen by rclatives or acquaintances again. This was
happcning in our village.

After joyless holidays they announced again that they would
inventory belongings of thosc listed to kulaks, that thesc belongings
would be sold to poor pcasants and they would use the moncey got
for buying tractors or sceding-machincs. At village gathcrings they
explained that horses were poisoned, they had nothing to till the
land with, it could not wait for tilling and raising ncw horses took
much time. Thus the kolkhoz nceded moncy to buy tractors, which
had alrcady been produccd by Kharkiv tractor plant called KHTZ.
If kulaks were accused of horses death so their property would be
sold and tractors would be bought. The announcement on measures
against kulaks was displaycd promincntly, so the wholc village knew
what the prosperous pcasants should expcct soon. Father and
mother had time to take hens from the grandfather, they put them
in sacks and brought home at night. We, children, fell asleep, but
parcnts could not slcep. They were thinking of saving the grandfather
and grandmothcr. Mother having brought home a sack full of hens
was very tired but father cmptied the sack and went to the
grandfather again to takc some morc hens.

Hc did it stealthily like a fox hunting at night. He brought hens
for the sccond time, went to bed for a short sleep because at eight
in the morning he was to be in kolkhoz farm, to get the job to be
donc on that day. But before it he had to feed our own cattle.

Days passed in this way. Besides working in kolkhoz, they had
to work about their own houschold. To milk cow was mother’s duty
but to filter milk, to clcan up after the cows, spread [resh straw,
feed them werce father’s duty. Women besides milking cows, looked
after hens, picked cggs and put them in the shed and then gave them
to coopcrative or sold in the town. Everybody had cnough work to
do, as we did not work in the ficld in winter.

Thus worked thosc who though forced join kolkhoz, wanted to
live properly, not in poverty. Everything a man got, had to be got by
his hard labour. An honest man could not rcly on somebody’s work,
on somcthing carned by others. It was a tradition during wholc
gencrations, cverything saved up by parents came to sons and daughtcrs.
And then the new system, Stalin kolkhoz systcm, Stalin rcgime
destroycd all previous traditions and customs and way of lifc.

There was no joy in the village, nobody was merry, nobody
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wished to give to kolkhoz the rest of livestock, the last corn. And again
they announced that sceds should be given to kolkhoz for sowing, as
well as potatocs, peas and so on — anything peasants had.

*The peasants cxpected it, so they had made hidind-places
beforchand in some imperceptible corners of their farmsteads in
order o hide something for themsclves to’plant in spring in their
own kitchcn-gardens. My father also digged a large hole and had
time to cover it with brushwood and soon it snowed, father digged
the hole in the garden where bushes with long roots were growing.
Bushes were growing between trees so onc could hide there. I still
remember the place and the hole which father digged. Once there
was a well, then it was filled with soil, there was no water yet. Father
knew where to choose the place to dig a hole and he made a good
hiding-place, in which he put carrots, potatocs, beets, swedes and the
like. There was cven cabbage which was not frozen ill late spring.

It was the eve.of January 1930. Sowcrs from another village
camc up to our housc and sang: "I’m sowing, ’m sowing, I wish
you happy new year!"... We jumped out of our beds, when we heard
their voices. They werce brave chaps, they were going along the village
and singing Ncw Year song. Nobody was sleeping alrcady, mother
got up 100, it was time to milk the cow. Father got up as well. Well,
we, children, also got up carly on that Ncw Ycar day.

During brcakfast father addressed the children and said that
we should Icarn to save oursclves, in casc of some troubles which
could be expected from the ncw power, from Stalin regime. Father
said that it camc o ruin peoplc. He also said that next morning he
would take Igor to Doncts’k, that is, to Yuzovka, as it was called
then, as he would go to school there. Igor was not our brother as
[ thought him to bc, because he was small. Then I found that he
was my uncle, whom my parents took from the grandfather and
grandmother, when they were threatened to be dispossessed.

Father prepared cverything for Igor, they got up carly and went
to the station. The rest of the children got up too to help mother
with the cattle and hens, the number of which increased considerable
during the previous night. Mother explained us that she and father
went to the grandfather at night, that grandmother was rather old
and shce could not manage with her housechold. However, we,
children, were no longer fools and then we eavesdropped what they
werc talking about between themsclves. But we thought that it
should be donc so, lct older people cheat us lest a child, who did
not understand what was going on, blabbed out anything. It was
hard time, old pcoplc began thinking like children, they got lost,
they did not know what to do. Children, on the contrary, became
grown up very quickly, they had no time for playing, they scnsed
the anxicty, which was sprcad around them. That’s why they started
thinking likc adults, they speculated, devised, they knew when they
could tcll the truth and when it was better to keep silence. 1
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experienced it mysclf and I can say that we had no childhood at all
in thosc restless and cven terrible years. The whole village lived in
restlessness and it was passcd to the children, they were restless too
along with the grown ups, their parcnts and grandparents.

From timc to time some poorly dressed pcople camc to our
village. They came up to the housc and asked for bed and a piece
of bread. They all were saying about some misfortune. Father, who
was not uscd to rcfuse the needy people, brought an armful of straw
into the housc, spread it on the floor, mother covered it with a sheet.
Alter supper father and newcomers were talking for a long time, the
gucsts told him where they came [rom. The talks secmed to prove that
troubles were approaching our village. Thosc pcople as they said, were
withdrawn from their own homes, they were deprived of the right to
work and all this happened because for a long time they did not want
to join kolkhoz. They were withdrawn and did not know what to do.
And such pcoplc came not only to our housc but to other houses as
well, there were many of them, the wholc village knew what was being
donc with thosc who opposcd the collectivization.

Having hcard what the dispossessed pcople told them, our
villagers started worrying and deciding that it was nccessary to lcave
the village until it was not too latc. Some people without further
delay, put on the sledges what they could load on it and ran away
at lcast five kilomcters from the village not to be scen by those who
tricd to build kolkhoz system by somcbody clse’s labour. Nobody
wanted (o be fingered at and called kulaks. But in fact they were
not kulaks at all. They only had two horscs and some cows. Could
they be kulaks? And was it necessary to take away cverything from
them? They had carncd them by their own labour, own sweat, own
corns. Rathcr often they were former poor people, former
farm-hands, who having got from the sovict power a strip of land,
worked hard and acquired a pair of horses and some cows.

Thus pcasants werc forced to leave their houschold for strange
villages, strange places. In this way villages were cleared of a kulaks
and podkulaks. This was how Stalin dcsired, he desired richer
pcasants not only Icave their villages but in general to be cxiled
beyond the borders of Ukraina. And strange people came again, they
bececame poor, they were in trouble and mostly they were women with
little children. Their husbands if they had not been arrested, must have
run to towns to hide there to save themselves from disaster sent by
Stalin to Ukrainian villages. And people accepted them, thosec women
with children, and shared with them what they had.

DISPOSSESSION OF GRANDFATHER

February of 1931 came. I began to attend the first form of the
primary school. I went there in the morning together with other
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children though T was not six yet. However I went o school with
great joy, 1 was drcaming about it. And because of this father in
spitc of my age sent me Lo school. 1 went to school with a daughter
of our ncighbours, Mariyka Paliy. We were [ricnds with her. We
had a good time together. Even in summer when we had some work
to do in the kitchen garden, we hilled potatocs together, it was casicr
and we were merry doing what our parents told us to do. Children
should work about the farmstcad because mother and father had
no time to do it — they worked in kolkhoz. Thus they only hoped
that the children would do it.

I liked to help about the house, in the kitchen-garden, I was
very obedicnt, as 1 understood that I was an orphan. Father and mother
who lcd hard life, were often irritated because of what was going on,
somctimes they pushed me if T did not do at oncc what 1 was told,
sometimes took a stick, threatening me, sometimes shook their fists
pretending to beat me. But 1 did not pay attention to it, I did what 1
was told to do. And now 1 know that I did morc than I could. But I
realize it now, when many years have passcd and with my present
expericnce. All village children had to work hard about the farm.

I always had a good memory and I kept everything in mind. |
remember perfectly well as they announced that our grandmother
and grandfathcr, all member of their family who lived together with
them would be cxiled. They said that during two wecks all their
property would be sold and they would be exiled to Sibcria,
Krasnoyarsk region. Somc representatives of the sil’rada said this.

Although we expected it as we knew that they were in the list for
disposssesion, we were greatly upsct, werc at a loss. But in spite of despair
wc had to do somcthing. Mothcer took a sack and I went to her parents
to take morc hens and bring them home. She retumed from them and
said that they felt themsclves so as if they were going to die.

The village Sovict sold all the belongings of our grandmother
and grandfather, pcoplc bought thcm almost for nothing. Howcver
the grandfather did not allow to scll his and grandmother’s shcepskin
coats as everybody knew that Krasnoyarsk territory was real Siberia,
therc were severe frosts and long winters. Once the grandfather
owncd a lot of sheep and they had quite much of sheep wool. They
made mittens, stockings and alike of it. All this was nccessary for a
long trip to that cold territory. Tne grandmother and grandfather
were not the only oncs who were going o far strange land. Their
son Ivan was going there too. He was newly marricd. I even do not
remember the name of his wife. Ivan was a member of kulak family
so0 he had to go too as it was ordered by the authorities. Their other
son, aunt Nastya and their yongest daughter were going too. Strange
as it is but grandmother’s sister Gorpina and grand%athcr’s sister
who was old then werc ordercd to go as well. That was ordered by
Stalin inhuman powcr. Nobody could do anything against that
power, and in general nobody could argue or prove anything. Once
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there was the order — to go, onc had to go "without talks" as they
said then. Thus they were desperatly crying, tore their hairs but were
Eﬂcking as somc of them were kulaks and some only lived with
tulaks. And all of them were chucked out from their native village,
from Ukraina!

After the sale of grandfuther’s belongings they came to our
housc, they came to us. Some food should be cooked to be taken
in their long journey. They took dried crusts, dricd [ruit, salted fat,
they cut hens.

I remember that period very well, As T was playing with hens
hecads and our dog Vovchik, sensing blood, tried to take these heads
from mc. I did not give them to him. teased im and Vovchik trying
to catch a hen’s head, cut my stomach by his sharp fangs quite by
chance. Blood showed first on my skirt and then on my coat. 1 was
taken to micdical station and there a village midwile as there were
no doctor’s assistant, washed my wound, cleancd and dressed it. The
dog was taken to the veterenary to check up if he did not go mad.
Vovchik proved to be healthy as he did not run anywhere, he was
always chainced up and ate what we gave to him that was what we
ate. After the check up the dog was taken home, his chain was
shorten and 1 was ordered not to approach him. That lasted only
for some days, my wound closed and all returned to their usual
place, our former relations wiith Vovchik resumed. Vovenik was a
clever dog and we liked him and he liked us very much.

The whole family was busy with preparation for the departure
of grandfather’s family. They werce boiling soap from various bones,
mainly ron hens’ oncs, and while boiling they added some stone
which dissolved the bones. Now I know that it was caustic soda that
is sodium hydroxide, which dissolves organic matters, bonces
included. But not all bones were dissolved then, there may have
been a shortage of caustic soda. The larger bones were out dissolved
and were thrown on snow. Our Vovchik dug them out and ate. His
intestines were burnt. Poor dog ran to haystacks and dicd there. 1t
was in winter and the frost was scvere. We called him nany times
but he never came. We found him in some days when the sun was
shining and it was thawing. It was in March. We, children, buricd
our Vovchik, dug him the grave in the clder thicket in the garden
so it did not hamper anybody. We never had another dog. At that
time there were no dogs at all, they disappeared somewhere.

March 15, 1930. In the carly morning our grandfather and his
family scttled on the cart, two horses were harnesscd, everything
prepared for their long journcy was loaded on the cart. The cart was
very big, we called them "garba®, they were used for carting bulky
load-straw, hay and so on. Wc all went to sce our grandfather and
his family off, to Pologi station which was about cightcen kilometres
(rom our village and maybe more. The road went uphill, the horses
got tircd so we got off the cart and were running ncar it. The road
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was wet, there was snow in some places, it was the time of thawing,.
When the road was a bit straight we got on the cart and then got
off again, we werce running trying Lo get warm. Our grandmothcer
was very weak and so was ouar grandfather, he had a weak hceart
and all these disasters which nobody could avert did not help him
10 feel better. But what could be done - the order came from losip
Vissarionovich Stalin himself to cxile ali kulaks beyond the borders
of Ukraina, so the head of the kolkhoz and Volosyaniy* well
schooled by Stalin regime did not hesitate when sent sick, old, feeble
people on this long journcy. .

At that time the head of the silrada was Prikhod’ko, he was
sent from village Bobasii, which was in two kilometres from us.
There were ponds near that village and in summmer children often
ran there to fish or catch lobsters. There were good carps there.
Having caught them we made a fire and baked them. Thus we were
going to Pologi station to sce the grandfather’s family off and we
reached the station by the cvening. Pologi was a big station. There
we saw many people, they had already been waiting for some days
for the cars to load them with their baggage and get in them
themscelves. These were kulaks, they were fingered cverywhere and
called exploiters. But they were not exploiters, they themsclves with
their familics were working hard from carly morning till late at night
growing wheat not only for thcmselves but for sale and other
products besides bread — meat, butter, oil, cggs, lincn and so on.
And then they were exiled to unknown places, having been deprived
of all their property carncd not only by themsclves but by their
fathers, grandfathers and great grandfathers. Cold steppes or Siberian
taiga were their punishment for their industrious life.

All of us foresceing long scparation, maybe for cver,
surroundcd grandfather and grandmother, we were crying together
with them but could not comfort them, sorrow was cverywhere. We
embraced our old people and they stroked our hair saying that they
would ncver sce us again. We loved our grandparcnts very much,
we often ran to their farm, to their garden, where we picked walnuts,
various fruits, there were very many of them in grandfather’s garden.
We asked grandfather who would live in his house then. Grandfather
answered that maybe wolves would run from the forest and live
there. We did not undcrstand that grandfather was joking saying
about wolves, we thought that in their house would live wicked wild
wolves which could bite us.

The crowd at the station was growing, people gathered in
groups, whispcring something among themsclves. Militiamen with
rcd bandage on their slecves were passing through the crowd. They

* Volosyaniy - elected head of volost (small rural district)

27



were speaking Russian. If somcbody started speaking louder, they
said: "Don’t make noisc, brcak up, don’t gather in groups”. We heard
these words and others: "Chto, chto, nichcgo, nichego™*. We did not
quitc undcrstand them, their language was strange to us. We had
not heard it till then. Older people may have heard it but children
who ncver left their village had not known, had not heard it. We
asked grandfather what language they were speaking and he
answercd: Russian.

Grandfather said if we went to school we should study well.
While we werce talking with grandfather, our father fed horscs so
that they could get us home o our village. It was drizzling. Pcople
said that soon spring camec, it was the timc for sowing and that
people would work hard in kolkhoz under new sysicm,

Soon wc heard the train whistle. The train which was to take
the grandfather and others to Siberia. We said good-byc to my
grandfather, grandmother and other cxiled. Everybody was crying,
fcw could say somcthing. The train stopped. Militiamen with red
bandage were running quickly, trying to put order. They werc taught
by the ncw power how to bechave with kulaks, class cnemics, they
shamelessly urged on old and feeble people. They opened wide doors
of the cars and pushcd them to get there quickly. In the cars there
was straw on the [loor. Militiamen cricd: "Get on onc after another”
but pcople pushed cach other trying to get a better place becausc
therc was a long road ahcad. We saw that when people got on cars
they came closer to cach other to warm themscelves, To leave no
doubts I say they were freight cars which usually carricd cattle.

Then time came when the militiamen closed the doors of the
cars. It was the end — we did not scc our pcople, we could not
spcak with them! Stalin regime put an impassable wall between us.

We heard a whistle, then another. Thosc left at the station were
whispcering to onc another as if they were afraid that they would be
pushed into the cars as well. Militiamen cricd: "Move aside!”. All
moved aside from the cars in which were our grandfather with
grandmother, our relatives, pushed like cattle into freight cars.

As they wrote later, it was very cold and very crowded, wind
was blowing through chmks there was draught, people put straw
into chink in the car walls but it was in vain as thesc cars were
intended for freight and not for people. The peasants leaving the
station were preparing for the worst, they even reconciled themselves
with the dcath, they did not hopc to live through this journcy. It
was unbearable cold, pcople covered themsclves with cverything
they had — mattrcsses homemade sheets, sheepskin coats.
Sheepskin coats were the best (o save from cold. Pushed into freight
cars our people werc looking through the chink saying good-bye to

. Russian "what, what, nothing, nothing.”
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their relatives and to their native land. We, children, realized that
somc minutcs ago we saw our grandfather and grandmother, our
aunts and uncles for the last time. .

Everything was lcft behind cxcept our gloomy thoughts, while
we were going from the train o our cart to return to the village.
Others who came from ncighbouring villages, as fate willed it, to
sce off their relatives were going to their carts. Sadncss, gricve on
their faces, they were missing their relatives, their beloved. God
knows how many pcople were scparated from each other, how many
links were torn between relatives, how many exiled chaps Ieft their
beloved girls, and girls lcft their dears! Nobody took it into account,
nobody was intercsted in human feclings, as humanity itsell was of
no importance. That was crucl time, and, as it appeared later, it was
not over yet. But I shall tell you about it later.

Our father harnessed horscs and we scttled on the cart, our
legs down. We were sitting, dangling our legs, beating onc against
another to get warm, On the way home we also got off the cart,
ran along or behind it to get warm. Night came, we were tired of
the trip to the station, of sad feclings because of our scparation with
relatives. But we could not remain on the cart, we had to warm
oursclves running near it. And it was good as young body overcame
tiredness, cold, night and sleep. I remember it very well, I can sce
it as il it werc now — what Stalin regime did with my decar
grandfather’s Shcherbakh family. [ still cannot forget that crowd at
the station. Though I mysclf expericnced still worsc later, but those
were my first shocking impressions. It was they that made me hate
the new system, hate cven the name of Stalin.

KOLKHOZ WEEKDAYS

It was Friday or maybc cven Saturday, as it was very late when
we came from Pologi station. Our mother did not go with us though
her parents were exiled that was because at that time we had already
had a baby sister, born rccently. Beside somebody had to feed the
cattle, and as to the father he had to go because he was to drive
the cart and of course a woman alone with children could not g0
as far as cighteen kilomcters to the station. Thus she stayed at home,
having said good-bye to her parcnts, brothers and sisters. Mother
was watching what the kolkhoz had not taken away yet.

_The peasants were not only deprived of everything (sometimes
"pozichali” for good) but were also imposed new obligations. One
of these, rather annoying dutics, was to give milk to the kolkhoz
They took all the milk which onc got. Just after milking mother
gave to one of her girls usually full bucket of milk to take it to the
kolkhoz. There milk was passcd through the separator (in some
places it was called centrifuge), cream was left to the kolkhoz, and
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we got the rest, that is skimmed milk. We had to be satisficd with
it, longing for fat, high quality milk. We cnjoyed this "svyato” when
a cow calved. Then mother prepared beestings for us which we liked
very much. Such milk was not given to the kolkhoz becausc crecam
could not be got from it. So we were waiting for calving as if it were
a grcat holiday.

This was our life. And what could be donc il the majority of
people had desired a ncw system, new power. A group of peasants
could do nothing against them. The majority was the supporters of
Stalin regime, without knowing or understanding it. And when they
undcrstood, when they were swelling of hunger and dying, it was
too late. Those who organized kolkhozes, who became party
mcmbers not because of idecological considerations, who took power
in their hands that is in sil'rada or in the region, in the committees
of poor pcople and so on, they had almost cverything, they had at
their disposal all belongings taken from kulaks, they did what they
wanted with cverything given to the kolkhoz by common peasants
such as my father and mother.

We, common pcasants, from the very start of collectivization
suffered the new system greatly. Older people as well as younger
oncs and cven children — all had known much sorrow under Stalin
kolkhoz regime. Teachers at schools checked who of the children
came from richer familics, as these children had no right to attend
schools. It was then that many children ran away somewhere, they
hid in somcbody clsc’s "stodoli-kluni”, saving themsclves {rom cxile
together with parents to Far Siberia. Children as well as their parents
werce afraid of dying on the way there. And there was no place for
thesce children in their native villages. Many older children went
somewherc much further from their villages, even to Donechchina
and there got some job in coal mines pretending to be older, saying
that they were older than indecd.

The day when we took grandfather and grandmother to the station
and saw they off to the long trip was kept in my mcmory as a very
sad onc. We sat at the table, recollected them, tried to imagine their
way, their gricf in the freight cars. They were going o unknown place
as far as thousand kilometres to Sibcria almost to cternal frost. We
were consolling oursclves that they would not be hungry, as they had
taken salted fat, dricd fruits, smoked and cooked hens, bread crusts.
And since the very first day we started waiting for news from them,
from far Siberia. We were waiting although we knew that they had a
long way ahcad. They scemed (o be still with us.

Summer came, pcasants were busy in their kitchen gardens,
all the corn sown began to spring. We planted much garlic and
onion, as long term expericnce taught us that garlic and onion were
a good remedy for almost all discases. Though, by God’s will, they
did not smell nice, they gave taste to peasant everyday meals. Pcople
considered this crop to be their doctor.
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Children did not go to school, because of summer vacations.
So they had time to help parents in the kitchen gardens, and not
oncc or twice but during the whole summer. Father and mother
went to work in the kolkhoz and we spent all our time working in
the kitchen garden, cither weeding or picking the crop or hilling.
Parcnts having or often having not fulfilled the task given to them
dayly by brigade-lcaders, did not have strength cnough to work in
their own kitchen-gardens, all their strength was taken by kolkhoz
ficlds. About cight o’clock in the morning having looked after their
own cattle they went to kolkhoz and often returned at midnight, it
depended on what job could be done in moonlight. Our mother was
constantly spinning some cloth for sacks in the kolkhoz yard. So
her work lasted till the evening and when the loom was out of order,
she was sent to the ficld to do some work. Kolkhoz managers never
let anybody to stay without work.

It oftcn happencd in the kolkhoz like in time of "panshchina"*
when a pregnant woman went to kolkhoz ficld and rcturncd home
with a new baby born under a haycock. Till the cvening the baby
was crying under a haycock or a sheal while mother had to weed
or bind sheafs or hill.” Elder children stayed at home. Elder oncs
were looking to the younger children. 1t lasted till they organized
kindergardens in villages. Since that time mothers brought small
children there and left them for the whole day but it was in case if
there was nobody at home to look after the child. Mothers took
their children from kindergardens on-returning from work in the
ficld or in the pigsty or in the cow-shed. On coming home they had
to work about the house and the farnt, to cook mcals for children,
for her husband and herself for supper and for tomorrow.

When we attended school we werce tav *ht to be devoted to the
Party, its lcader, the Icader of the whole Sovict Union, the lcader
of all progressive mankind — Tosip Stalin. We were said about the
nceessity of training pcople devoted to the party. We were taught
that the ncw system was the happincess of the mankind. But at home
wc heard different. Not only heard but saw with our own cycs that
sorrow and scorn to working pcoplc and pcasants was cverywhere.
Everything we heard at school turned to be untruc at home. Father
kept saying that Stalin systcm was bascd on lics. Everything was
"brekhnya™ * he used to say. Pcople Icarnt to hide their thoughts.

. Nobody had cnough courage to say what he thought, nobody came
out for their common human rights. Customs and traditions were
changing too. People lcarnt to stcal, they thought that if they worked
in kolkhoz without any proper payment and often frce at all then
they could take from the kolkhoz anything handy. They stole Lo save

*

R "panshchina” - system under landowners.

"brekhnya" - lie.
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their children, their family. Nobody got rich on stolen, they stolc to
survive. Everything saved for decades by hard labour, was being
cxhausted. One kept only memorics of the former well-being. So it
became a common habit when returning from work to hide in the
bosom or in a pockct or in somc other place either a handful of
corn for hens so that you could have your own cggs or to exchange
them for somcthing clsc in the shop or they hid somcthing clse
which could be used as food for pcople or for poultry.

Time passcd and almost three months passed before we got
ncws from our rclatives. It came from far Siberia, Krasnoyarsk
region. Aunt Katya, who was fourtcen then, she and aunt Nastya
being rather literate, described their way there. We were glad, we
hoped that thcy would be aunt Katya or aunt Nastya who would
writc us a letter. On their way to Siberia our grandfather died and
soon after him our grandmother died too. So we lost two oldest
members of Shcherbakh family — mother’s parents. They were put
in a sack, cach onc separatcly and thrown from the train into the Ural
river, icc had already melted. Thus they were buricd even not reaching
Siberia. Aunt Katya also wrotc that aunt Nastya was weak but the rest
of the family was not bad. But when they reached their destination,
they found that local people there often had the disease of the gums
— scurvy, the cause of which was the deficit of vitamin "C". So aunt
Katya asked in her lctter to send them onion and garlic as much as
possible lcst they had scurvy or avitaminosis as it is called now.

Older people in the village told us that scurvy was inherent in
prisoners and exilcd. When a man had scurvy his gums were rotting,
teath camc out and hc was unable to take food even if he had it.
There was a good garlic and onion crop that ycar. We, that is mother
and father as if forcsaw that he would nced garlic, a lot of it, so
they planted garlic and onion on the vacant land near our yard.

Once we heard about this discase, described in tne Ictters of
our pcople and found that somc of them, had it too, father and
mother began to post onc parcel after another to far Siberia. They
sent garlic, onion, dried fruits, bread crusts. There was mail and
airmail to Siberia, so parents posted parcels by airmail so that they
came sooner to Siberia, how they suffered until they settled
somchow in huts, how hard was their work in the forest and how
many pcople died. We, children, listening to all these, were filled with
hat red to Stalin regime but we could not express our feelings as each
one was afraid of another, a neighbour was afraid of a ncighbour, an
acquaintance of an acquaintance and it happencd that a brother was
afraid of his own brother and a father was afraid of his son. We were
just looking at one anothcr and guessed what we thought.

1 went (o school in autumn to study in the first form. I liked
to go to school, I liked to study. We lived rather far from school,
and in winter we faced the problem of footwear, all we had was
torn and there was nowhcere to buy new onc. Sometimes I took
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mother’s boots, which were too large for me, or father’s shoes as
father had “valyanky" that is footwcar made of fclt wool. Pcople
learnt to make footwear of some old homemade mattresscs, folding
them some times then mother stitched it on the scwing-machine
and made some footwear of it. We put insole of straw inside, which
kept our feet dry. This footwear did not last long but it was warm.
Besides we wrapped our feet with some rags not to get cold. Bcefore
Christmas we went o school en oot but after winter vacations when
it was snow-storm, thc kolkhor management allowed to give us
sledge and our fathers in turn drove us (o school. . .
It was very difficult for us to live under Stalin regime, under
1otal collcctivization of Ukrainian village. We, children, remembered
our previous life and older people told us about it during long
cvenings, they recollected that even under tsar regime the life was
better though there was quitc a number of poor people in villzges.
These poor peaple were to blame themsclves as there were many
drunkards and lazy persons among them. It is truc that there were
many people who were poor through no fault of theirs but becausce
of the underdevclopment of socio-cconomic systemn under tsarism.
At school we hecard from our teachers that we should be
grateful for all we had (o our leader, the cleverest man in the country
— losif Vissarionovich Stalin. He was our father, our sun and our
joy. But we proved oursclves that there was no joy for us and from
our parcnts we hecara that Stalin was the bitterest enemy of our
people and all working pcasants and in some ycars we saw oursclves
that it was through his fault and through his supporter’s fault that
in Ukraina, as it was counted and admitted even in the Soviet Union,
about cight million people died of starvation. It was then that we
rcalized that it was Stalin who was to blamc of our pcople
annihilation first by dispossession, then by starvation, could not be
called our son, our father, All we were taught at school abeut Stalin,
his regime scemed to be false and based on lics. It was cnc of the
rcasons why people becaime crucel, like hungry wolves, as they were
hungry, barcfooted and ncarly naked. We were speaking about all
these things at home, however to avoid cavesdropping we had these
talks mostly late in the evening and cven then our father went outside
and around our housc to sce if there was nobody strange there.
Onc cvening our father said to sur mother and we all heard it
that we had (o save somc food. And we all thought about the
hiding-place. They came to the conclusion to dig a large hole
somewhere in the thicket of the garden, in a placc where it would
not go bad or grow mouldy. The best place for it was onc they
digged carlicr, where was a well [illed with carth later. At that time
father feresaw the kolkhoz comissioners when going about the yards
to take corn for sowing in kolkho ficlds, would rot be satisficd if
one said that he had nothing for sowing but would look into all
corners in the housc and cattle-shed. And really the kolkhoz
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ctomorvowas i such a state that when spring came, it appearcd
‘hat they had nothing for sowing at all.

FOREBODING OF FAMINE

This is how I recollect foreboding of famine in our village in
Ukraine. Father strictly ordered the children that we should not
answer anything if somebody asked us about corn in order net w0
say about our intention to hide corn. Father and mother said that
there appeared people from other villages and surroundings, they
came hungry, they werc going in scarch of something that could
save them [rom hunger. Soon we could fecl oursclves happier as
we had already hidden maize, which could be well kept in the cellar.

There were all sorts of stuff in that ccllar-hiding place. Mother
scewed linen sacks in which we put maize corn and father took them
to the hiding-place. Besides (ather hid beets and potatoes somewhere
in the kitchengarden. We had quite a large family, besides our own
family, we had some relatives thus it was nccessary to have big
supply to survive oursclves and to help others.

While working as a farm labourcr, and later after the revolution
father Iearnt to do a lot of things, he had hands of gold. So he did
cverything reliably, afier carcful consideration, so that what he hid
did not go bad, the hiding-placc could not be scen, but so that he
could get the hidden casily. At that tme people had alrcady been
afraid of hunger, they were thinking how to survive it.

We were still going to school, they organized a kitchen there
and wae were given soup there. The teachers sceing half-starving
children asked them why they were sad and the children complained
that they were hungry. 1 know that the teachers tricd to solve this
question at kolkhoz gatherings, they put the questlon — what to be
donc further with pupils. It was decided to supply the school kitchen
with some food-stuff] to cook soup for the children and feed them.
And as we saw the teachers also ate cagerly the soup preparcd by
our cooks. This hot soup, as I rccollect, was tasty indecd and it
helped many chiidren to survive.

Going 10 school, we ofien got wet during snow-storms and
mother constantly had to dry our lincn onoochas* which wc
wrapped round fect. Though it was the beginning of spring we had
to be carcful lest to catch cold as underfed children could casily get
ill with tubcrculosis, and at that time onc could not survive if taken
il with it. Though we were small but scemed to grow up, we became
more carcful trying not to get into a puddle and get our [cct wet.
Children from other villages became ill with scarlet fever. My sisters

* "onnoocha” - cloth wrapped round feet.
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got the infection from them and stayed in bed for a long time. |
avoid this discasc, thank God, but my youngest brother. whose namu
was Ivan, dicd when he was three. He was injected against it but it
did not heln him and he died in father’s arms. We gricved for him
greatly as it was he who often cheered us by that newspapcr which
he “read” holding it upside-down and without a smile he “read” it - -
repeated everything about Stalin regime which he heard when father
and mother talked. He may even have understood somicthing as the
whoic people was in trouble, misfortune was common.

One day we were going home from school, it was thawing. there
were many puddles, so we stumbled against dead bodics which were
frozen and Gll that time were lying under snow. They were the bodies
of 2 woman and two children. We came home and told our parents
about them and they went to kolkhoz office at once and said that
children feund corpses on the road. These corpses had somchow to
be taken away from the road and dug if they could not be buricd like
human beings should be, lest,when it became warm, and it would soon,
these dead bodies would stink. People were very much afraid of some
mdection, some misfortune, The people forebored still greater disaster.

Spring came, there was much water everywhcere, peasants were
going with showcls making ditches 1o let water flow down quickly
in springs, to make the ground dry more quickly for sawing. People
in the village began to stir and here we, children. found corpses an
ihc road. The village became agitated, they tried o zuess — what
could happen with the woman and two childien who froze? They
began 10 guess that it was the woman who pulled sledges with her
children on thiem. She may have been exhausted, stoppud 10 rest a
bit and fcll asleep in the frost, and fell into everlasting sleep and so
her children did. Terror-stricken pcople were talking among
themselves that it was the wife of a dispossessed peasant who tricd
to escape before exile to Siberia, so she made lor somewhere, further
on [rom her village, taking only children on sledges. She may have
decided to ook for some nook in this world but Jid not find.at but
instcad she found cverlasting rest on the road. There they were
snow-clad and they lay under it till spring.

Pcoplc took the dead and dug them in. At that time perhaps
nobody could imagine that soon they would dig in many people in
the same way, that they would pick up them on the road. We again
reecived news from Siberia, got to know how our aunts and uncles
lived there, we again posted parcels to them with some food. in
particular we sent garlic, dried fruit, dried crusts, dricd sun-flower
sceds. As we still had enough food left so father put in parcels sceds
of spring wheat so that our relatives could try to sow it as we found
out that winters in Krasaoyars’kiy territory were very severe and
long so winter wheat did not grow there. Thus father thought they
would sow only spring crop which might grow and they would have
somcthing to live on,
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WEEKDAYS OF THE FAMILY

Our father was respected in the village. He was very industrious
and always ready to help those who needed it. If people nceded something
they always knew that Petro Khelemendyk could get anything, give a
picce of food, advice, and help. He never refused anybody. He was called
to kill a pig as he could do it, so we often had fresh-cut meat carlicr
which people did not have on weckdays. Mainly people did without mcat
using mostly oil as they sawed a lot of sunflowers in the outskirts. Before
collectivization people certainly had cnough oil, it was added to cooked,
smoked and baked food. Oil is more healthy than fat. Makukha* was
given to cattle and they cenjoyed it greatly and onc could hear the cows
chewing it with pleasure. Even children oficn kept a picee of makukha
in their pockets and nibbled at it when they were hungry, nobody was
angry with them for it.

Mother often gave us dricd oiicd crusts and we enjoyed cating
them and cven licked our fingers.

Our young uncle Igor was still studying in Donets’k, he hoped
that after finishing school he could casily get a job in the town. Father
visited him from time to time. Uncle Igor was capable, he studicd well
and father loved him very much as if he were his own son. Later when
he finished school we found that he entered an institute, graduated
from it, joined the army and was a fronticr guard somewhere, [ do not
know it Tor surc and what I do know was from what father said.

As | had alrcady said, in summer of 1931 we, children, helped
the parents doing what we werce told cither in the kitchen garden
or in the garden. We also picked fruits and berrics, cut what was
necessary to, throw off sceds and dricd them first in the sun and
then in the oven. It was an casy and plcasant work both for children
and clder ones — to sit and make fruits and berrics ready for drying,

In winter nights all children hulled beans, peas and in summer
as well as in winter when we became a bit older, we also worked about
the housc. In summer we also cut grass for the cow, took pigs to wherc
grass grew, picked different kinds of grass for the rabbits. We did
cverything what we werce told by our parents as father and mother, as
I had alrcady said, went to work to the kolkhoz and often came home
late at night. Tt h.lppcn 2d so that we, children, could not be idle, we
had no time to play hide-and-scck or other g games. We did not complaln
as we knew that parents had nothing to do but make us work about
the house. We knew from adults’ talks that this was the fate of our
peasants, so we grew sharing their thoughts and worrics. As I can sce
now, after so many vears have passcd, children hands could do a lot.

When parents returned from work they saw what was done
and could afford & short rest, as they had to go to work again in

* makikha - oil-cake.
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the morning for the whole day. We helped them cagerly as we could
sce oursclves what Stalin power and kolkhoz system did with them
as they were given large daily work quota. After the working day
our parents were so tired that they were hardly able to drag their
legs. The adults, that is our parents and othcrs, told us and we could
scc oursclves as they working in the ficld stopped for a minute to
rest under a sheaf or a haycock. Children brought water to them as
they were bothered by the sunshinc and they themselves could not
€0 1o get some water as the ficld was far from the well and sweat
was pouring down their faces. Women happened to get exhausted
in the ficld and lost cosciousness. Sometimes they had 1o call for
ambulance, as they themeselves could not help these people to
regain consciousncss. They were taken half-dead to the hospital.
Such was Stalin kolkhoz regime when 1 was small and was going
to school. And all this happened when cverywicere onc could sce
slogans about prospcrous kolkhoz life. But when 1 recollect it now,
I am scized with terror. And no wonder as pecople could hardly drag
their legs, they hardly survived but cverywhere were slogans about
cultural rest, rich, cheer kollchoz life. People were tired, exhausted
but there were red banners everywhere which were said to be the
symbol of freedom, of victory over evil. This was not only in villages
but in towns as wecll, "Long live comrade Stalin!", "Long live our
father!"— they irritated cycs. And they sang the song: *I do not know
any other country where a man breathes so frecly!™

Children began to do various harm, they composed various
verses, various sayings. I recollect as children yelled among
themscelves — "Long live and browze Yolop* Vissarionovich Stalin
himsell™™. 1t even happened that children stole up o poster-slogan,
torc them down and threw away. It is clear that they did not do it
in groups but alonc or in two lest a child give up the disturber, one
could not guarantce that somconc of the group would not inform
the teacher as we were taught to inform on “"ecncmics of people”,
cencraics of kolkhoz system. Thus we made various disturbances and
accustomed oursclves to conceal what we had done, te tell lics.

Although we were taught at school that we should like the new
power, should love Stalin, we, however, knew Stalin regime to
annihilatc pcople both in towns and villages. We oursclves saw with
our own cycs how kulak belongings were being sold, how peasants
were exiled to Siberia. We also knew or heard from adults that the
ncw power often shot innoceat people without any qucstioning, it
was cnough if somcbody calumniated a man. This how it was — I
do not know any other country where a man breathes so frecly”.

"Work-day** — givc us bread just for a day!" — we composcd

*  Yolop - blockhead
work-day - unit of work on collective farnis.
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and wrote it in the kolkhoz yard. Adults passed, read, shook their
hecads, somconc mocked at it, sometimes a crowd gathered. And
we, children, were happy to be able to do some harm to the forcibly
organized kolkhoz.

Thus our childhood was passing. In summer we hilled potatocs,
werce deadbeat, got tired and sat to rest for a minute, fell asleep in
the kitchen garden. And the sun was warming so nice that we did
not want to gct up and hill potatoes with a choppcr. We, children,
did not havc cnough strength to work without intervals and we got
more tired in the sun. Qur work happened to be interrupted for two
hours when we fell asleep and nobody made us to get up. So we
suffered in the kitchen gardens and about the house and our parents
in the kolkhoz ficlds. And we often had no food as alt left by our
parcnts was alrcady caten, so we fortificd oursclves with some fruit
or greens, vegetables such as peas, radish, spring onions and so on.

Somectimes mother cooked borshch* in a big cast-iron pot
and said that when we would do this and that to warm up borshch
for oursclves. We were used to it, we warmed up borshch and regaled
with it as after hard work it scemed to be tasty for us.

In summer on Saturdays we run to the ponds to bathe and
catch crawfish and fish. And when we caught it we made fire there
and baked them or we brought some pot from home, we took water
from the pond and cooked fish-soup. We often did the same on
Sundays. This was cntertainment in summer.

Summocr passcd quickly, autumn came and with it came slyota**.
We were going to school again, again we had to start studying, wc
called this science “children torture”, When we were going to school,
mother often gave us a panful of just got milk to drop it in the kolkhoz
yard wherce it was passcd through the scparator, If a peasant had a
good cow, if it was milked three times a day then the host left the
dinner milk for himsclf, it should not be taken to the kolkhoz We had
a good cow, so if it was milked three times a day, we had our own
high quality milk, that is dinncr milk and carlicr cvening milk as well
were dropped in kolkhoz Under the new Stalin regime even the cows
appearcd to have plans of milking imposcd on them, so they were also
involved in the fulfilment of Stalin p’yatyrichka***. Thesc
contingents** ** werc a great misfortunc for collective farmers. They
were imposcd not only contingents of giving milk but cggs as well. And
there were periods when hens did not lay eggs, then you had to buy
cggs and take them to coopcerative.

That ycar, 1931, the rcprescntatives of sil’rada came to all

* borshch - rational Ukrainian dish.

**  slyota - slush, mire.
*4x pyaiyrichka - five year plan.
**%* contingent - quota.

38



peasant houschold and registered the number of pigs and
sucking-pigs. They counted, regisicred and ordered that without
permission of sil’rada no onc could cut a pig, onc’s own pig, fed by
onc’s own forage could not be cut. So it was nccessary to have a
written permission of siPrada to cut a pig for oncsclf.

I remember father dug a hole in the ground and made a shed
there, in the ground. We were [eeding some sucking-pigs without
silrada knowing it, with various grass and badyllya*. Oncc father
and mother cut the pig and pitched it with dry badyllya. 1t was also
a crime as the authoritics ordered not to pitch pigs killed but to flay
them and give the skins to cooperative. They made footwear. of
pigskin at shoc factorics, it was immediately known they were made
of pigskin as dressed, it had spots on the bristle. If somcone killed
a pig without permission or ¢ven having permission but if onc did
not flay it and give the skin to cooperative, he was punished — fined
and there were cases when people were tricd. Under Stalin regime
cverything was submitted to force and court was a real force.

Father and mother found ways to conceal the fact of killing a
pig from the authoritics. They did it mainly at night, stcalthily, cut
1t Into parts at once, salted and hid them in a stack of straw so deep
that even dogs could got smcll them. [ was growing up very quickly,
since the very childhood 1 was very obedicnt, I did everything what
mother and father told me Lo do without arguing. Still then I realized
how hard lifc was undcr Stalin regime. Our parents did not sce anything
becausc of exhausting labeur in kolkhoz, they did not sce their children
much, did not sce how they were growing and they happencd to forget
how old their child was. This happened with my father, he forgot the
year of his daughter birth, that is the ycar of my birth and sent me to
school onc ycar cariicr and 1 was only glad of it.

Somctimes I did not have time (o do cverything what my
parcnts told me to do and aunt Mariya Paliy, our ncighbour, uscd
(o hclp me so that cverything would be done by the cvening and
father did not scold me for shirking work. No wonder that under
such awful conditions of life parcnts were strict with their children,
who had no time for idling or walking.

_ Since the beginning of new kolkhoz regime our village was
fricndly as cveryonc suffcred the same troubles, all familics had the
same worrics. It often happened that father hid something in the
ficld, prepared somcthing in a shock of straw, hc put somc carth
or dry straw on corn. We went there at night, only at night when
all were sleeping and brought what was hidden. In the morning we
had somcthing to fccd icns on as they were often hungry too and
cggs had to be given to cooperative. Animals as well as people
secmed to forebore hunger, as if it were somewhere aroun(f them

*

badyllya - dry stalks.



but was not scen yet. Thercfore peasants hid cverything that could
be hidden, that did not go bad soon. They hid salted mcat, then they
took it from the hiding-place, soaked it and cookcd. And nobody
gave up pecople.

HUNGRY GUESTS

About Dcecember of 1931 in our village showed up people
frem other regions or territorics. It happencd more and more often.
They camce to our village and begged. They, as we saw, grew weak.
They often asked to spend the night, like last ycar, but now they
were coming in groups. They sometimes asked to be registered to
kolkhoz. Father and mother took them for a night, gave them some
food, ncver refused poor people, saved them as they could.

Wec had a room with a vacant bed and bed-clothes, it had a
private entrance. Father and mother took three people to our housc
— a man with two daughters, they were from Poltava, and they
came on foot to our village. They spent winter with us, we gave
them food so we saved them from hunger death, as the legs of that
man began swelling because of starvation. His wife and mother of
thesc two girls dicd on their way there. Thosc girls begged my father
to allow thcm to stay with us and not turn them out of the housc.
My fathcr went to the kolkhoz faimstcad and asked the hecad of the
kolkhoz to register those people to the kolkhoz as therc was shortage
of working hands. Thosc pcopic werc hard-woking, they always
askcd mother what they could do about the house or in the
houschold. Thus they helped us during the whole winter.

That ycar winter was rather scvere, with hard frost, the roads
were snow-bound, there was much snow and snow-storm did not
subsidc a long time. And again in spring pcople found human corpscs
under thawing snow, again last ycar tragedy repeated.

People depressed by what was going on around them, oppressed
by violence over people, hated the kolkhoz system still more, they were
still more irritatcd when they only heard the name of Stalin,

Our family was kccping on just as carlicr, cverything was
settled. Our family was rather large but somehow we found room
for new comcrs from Poltava, Wc cooked together and we all
together sat at the table to have mcals. There was room for
cverybody. Father plancd a long bench and adjusted it to the table.
We all lived as if we were onc family. Talking at the table and often
after supper doing some work, we learnt much from these
townspcoplc. We lcarnt about the customs of town dwellers which
diffcred greatly from those of villagers’ customs.

We had quitc enough potatocs, cabbage, carrots and bects. We
often cooked some soup of these vegctables adding some groats,
mainly millet. Thus we had food at that time, however our supply
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could not be replenished so it was being gradually exhausted. We
had mcals, as | had alrcady said, all together. These two girls, sisicrs
from Poltava, told us at the table or some other time about theit
lifc in the town. It turned out that Stalin regime ordered to exile
beyond the borders of Ukraina not only peasants-kulaks but all
thosc who were suspected not to be loyal to the sovict power, mainly
Ukrainian intelligentsia and expericnced Ukrainian workers. People
in towns was scarcd, there was tension, uncertainty of tomorrow.
Why did our pcople suffer this misfortune? Why did those who said,
proclaimed social justice, cquality of all people, annihilate people
and first of all the most valuable ones? Nobody could find answer
to this question, thie answer is being found just now, in many years
after the death of this butcher of our and not only our pcople. And
it is surprising that cven now there are people who felt sorry for
that time. But we should think, it were they or their ancestors who
cxterminated people but they themselves did not live badly.

We had “stupa” in our houschold. For the present gencration
I should say that it was rough picce of hard wood with a large,
hollowed out decpening. Besides we had "tovkach” that is a long
picce of wood, rough at the end. We.poured some millet in the
“stupa” that is millct corn. All, who had alrcady had strength to hold
"tovkach®, camc in turn to “"stupa” and pounded millet in it. That
was a hard job, that’s why we worked in turn. We pounded millet
until a hard cover fell off and the rest was broken into parts. As the
result of such treatment in stupa we got millet and cooked a good
porridge, which we ate cither with milk or cracklings. We had
anothcr kind of millet when they took off cover on “krupodyorka”
but porridge cooked of it was not so tasty, it was not wcll stewed
in the oven, it was always hard and was not boilcd soft. This millct
helped us greatly to survive.

Soon aunt Fcdos'ka, onc of grandfathcr’s Shcherbakh
daughtcrs, that is mother’s sister dragged to us. She lived in a near-by
village in some cighteen kilometers from us. The village in which
she lived was rather rich some time ago but at that time, that is in
carly thirtics it became very poor. Our aunt Fedos’ka became poor
too mainly because her husband was a drunkard, he did not care
about the houschold; as soon as collcctivization began he gave
everything to kolkhoz in order not to work in his own houschold
that is to avoid hard work. Thus they were almost beggars. Aunt
grew weak, she had no strength to work about the house, then they
bad shorlaFc of food, our aunt was starving, her legs began swelling
because of hunger. She only had cnough strength to drag to our
villagc. Though we did not have room, we took her, fed, father
scttled her on hay to sleep on. And then from Orikhiv came our
cousin-brother, fathers cousin-brother and our uncle Mikola
Khelemendyk. We loved him. He was twenty four bul he was
marricd. When there was shortage of food in Orikhiv, when people
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began starving, his wife, aunt Nastya Icft for Moscow to her relatives
to savc herselfl from hunger death, and uncle Micola came to us,
his legs swelling. We, as I had alrcady said, loved him very much,
so wc took that uncle to our family, gave him food and saved from
hunger death. Our house resembled a hospital. We had to wash our
ill aunt Fedos’ka and uncle Mikola, as they were very weak at first.

This happencd not only in our family. In the whole viliage onc
could hear that some people came from other villages or towns to their
rclatives to save themsclves from shortage of food and really from
famine, faminc approached Ukrainian villages and Ukrainian towns.
People were ill, there was not a single day without funcral, mainly of
those who camc to our village from the outskirts. Now I may suspect
that when they came to their relatives exhausted by starvation, they
took much food at once and their stomachs could not stand it and they
might have had volvulas. Almost all our villagers had new comers, who
were scttied on hay in somc corner where they had room.

QOur stupa worked day and night as therc were many people
who nceded some food and our corn-bin was emptying. The flour
which father stored up for the whole year. we used till March, so
we had to be content with millet. Some of us pounded crude millet,
others sifted it and mother stewed millet well, cooled it, and baked
bread of it or baked cookics on the frying-pan, Everything was donc
quickly without much thinking, and carc for dclicate taste, as there
were many people in our family and they had to have food.

Before spring came we had no potatocs left as that stored up
by our father for the whole winter had alrcady been caten. Thus
time came when father began taking potatoes which was stored up
for sawing and kept in kagaty*. We also kept there bects and swede,
that is bects for cattle. So time came when we also had to sharc
with cattle what was storcd up for them, sharcd with our cow, with
our pigs. This was our first rcally hungry spring. Then came cven
much worse springs.

COUNTRY LIFE

~ In spring all peasants werc gathering in kolkhoz farmstcad to
discuss ail the things which troubled them. They werc thinking what
would be further as therc was shortage of brecad as well as other
food. Pcople had caten what was storcd up for sawing, potato as
well. Somcehody suggested to plant potato pecl as, they said, potato
would grow of it. Peasants did not know what to do.
Those who had sincc tsarist time some gold or good clothes
sold them cr went to far villages to exchange them for some corn.

* kagaty - storehouse for keeping vegetables.
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Our father was not only a hard-working man but hc was also
resourceful, brave, full of initiative. That was why pcasants who
gathcred in kolkhoz farmstcad decided that the head of the kolkhoz.
should give him a certificatc and the pcasanis gave him somcthing
for cxchange and sent him to Donbas. The ncw comers 1n our village
said that these things could be exchanged for bread, salted fish or
dricd sardclle or bullhcad (small fish caught in Azov sca).

Father certainly agreed with this decision of peasants. He took
all that pcople could give him — things made of goid, some valuablc
clethes and so on and left for Donbas, with the hope to mect Igor,
our young brother whe studicd there. There appcarcd to be bakerics
in Doncchchina which were, as father said, in the hands of Jews,
they baked bread for miners. So [ather Ieft for Donbas and in a day
he came back and brought much foodstuff, mainly bread, dricd or
salted fish and so on. Later father was scnt many times (o
Donechchina, he went there and brought to the peasants what they
nceded most of all — food. When father came back, pcople camc
10 us, took what they were brought. It happened so that father went
1o Donechchina oncc a week, he had some agreement with bakeries
wherc he exchanged things for bread. Father went to Doncchchina
by train. In this way our father saved many people from hungry
death. And people learnt to cook borshch from sorrcl, and other
kinds of grass which were not harmful for human organism. There
were many acacia trees in our village. We, children, climbed these
trees, picked flowers which were sweet but did not do any harm.
Thus we atc these flowers cagerly. We dricd acacia flowers and
mother powdered them and added to various meals, mainly to thosc
which she baked in the oven or on the frying-pan. We werc cating
all this and it scemed to be tasty for us. We saw that cattle ate
vendure and grass, thus it would do no harm to us, so we alc
cverything — some "kozclky", as they were called here, which had
milky liquid, we atc turnip, grychay, wc even made up a versc:
"Grychay, spurgc, come into borshch and from borshch to wine to
makc it morc sweet”.

On our way to school we dropped in "posadka” that is lines of
trees planted insteppe zone of Ukrainc for protection against dry
wind and for snow rctention. So we dropped in "posadka”, there was
a lot of grass and {lowcrs during flowering.

. Therc also grew cherry-trees. Still in May we were waiting
impaticntly for cherries, the so called May cherrics, then mulberry
ripened. So we climbed trees and were eating fruit growing on them. I
rccollect we liked mulberry very much, it was sweet and we were hungry.

Children were growing, they needed various meals and they
were given one and the same food mainly. And it is so surprising
that under such conditions we grew up as quite normal people.
However we were subjected to various discases, scarlet fever was
very spread, people even got ill with typhus during starvation. People
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did not care much about hygicne, they had no soap, they washed
in "lugovi® which they boiled of wood ashes and sun flower ashces.
Lice multiply casily and it is very difficult to get rid of them. People
oiled heads with kerosene, clothes were washed in “lugovi®, mothcers
scarched their children’s heads. Quite uncxpectedly scab began
spreading, this misfortunc was followed by another and there were
few doctors in villages and no medicines at all. Pcople themsclves
using age-long expericnce of popular medicine, saved themsclves as
they could. But one could not be saved from cvery misfortunc.

We got some black ointment for itch scab and oiled discased
parts of the body, people were afraid 10 be in contact with cach
other as this discase was very contagious. So people oiled themsclves
with that black ointment made of tar and it smelled so strongly that
onc could scnsc from a distance that a man oiled with it was going.
Thus we adapted oursclves to ceverything except starvation,

Pcople were thinking over how to organize a common kitchen
in kolkhoz as at home they had nothing to cook of but jointly and
il kolkhoz helped a bit, they could cook something. The head of the
kolkhoz agrced with this proposal, they chose cooks and in the
morning they put big cauldrons and cooked borshch in them. It was
the time when beets were growing so they could take some and
cook borshch. There was quite a lot of sheep in kolkhoz as it was
not difficult to fecd them, so they killed sheep and put their meat
into borshch or some soup.

We, children, when we were hungry, had no reason to be cheerful.
The adults almost did not spcak with cach other cither, they were
sighing, moaning but it cven did not occur to them to express aloud
their dissatisfaction, their sorrow, their despair. They were complaining
at home only and cven then they looked around lest anybody
cavesdropped to them and gave them up to the authoritics.

At that time they took to thc army young men at the age of twenty
two, but in our village there were few people of this age, so they took
older peaple. And nobody opposed it as il anybody tried to oppose to
the decision of the power, he would be annihilated. People complained,
talked scandal among themselves, they said that cven under the tsar
regime they did not starve in Ukrainian villages as they did at that time.
Not knowing the real rcason of their disaster, they began to reproach
Jews that they, as people said, were to blame as they took the most
important posts under the new power, they lived quite well.

That ycar, 1932, the kitchcn was organized in Junc. We,
children, were running to the ficlds, somctimes we helped the
collective farmers, we brought them water as they were weeding in
the hot sun, they were merely losing consciousness because of the
hot air. As we helped the collective farmers we werc also given
home soup from common kolkhoz kettlc. Besides the cooks knew
that our mothers did not have time to cook somcthing at homce as
cvery day from carly morning till latc at night thcy were busy with
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kolkhoz work. Women and young girls could hardly drag their lcgs
after that work. When the first corn was threshed, the head of the
kolkhoz allowed to thresh some flour and to bakc some bread of it
— fresh, rcal without adding somc milleg or dricd and poundcd
acacia flowcrs. When bread was baked he was given at the kolkhoz
kitchen to soup, cooked of beets. That bread was soaked with soup or
borshch and we regaled on it. At that time there appearcd somcthing
in the ficld which they could take as food, women took ripening corn
out of car, it was soft and ate it. When they were feeding sunflowers
they also took out sceds and chewed them together with husks on
them. All these could be taken as food, it did not do any harm to
people and, on the contrary, it was very uscful.

Then time came for new potato, but it was very small as pcople
planted pecls instead of high quality potato so ncw potato was meagre.
Pcople were worrying that the yicld of potato would be meagre and they
would be starving again. Children picked up grass for pigs and rabbits
and tops of potato to dry it for cows to feed it on in wintcr. As we were
cager (o get soup from” kolkhoz kitchen, we helped in the ficld doing
some casy job such as putting shcaves. Though we did not do much still
it was some help to adults and we took liking to jobs in the ficlds, we
watched older people do this or that, we learnt it n practice.

There was much work to do in the ficlds, but there were few
people. Kolkhoz management borrowed in radgosp, as [ recollect it
now, and in MTS tractors which pullcd two combincs during harvest
time. They werce of great help to collective farmers. It is truc that in
our village there were about two hundred peasant houscholds, but
there were few people there, there were few working hands and all
this because of that hateful Stalin regime under which people were
cxiled to Kazakhstan and Siberia. Thus therc were few people able
to work so cven old womcen were forced to work in kolkhoz, at
Icast they could pecl potato in kolkhoz kitchen. They were also very
helpful just as we, children. We, children, were not forced but asked
to comc and level corn on the carts which camc up to combincs.
This was just the job for children. I remember that at combine
harvesting much corn was lost because of careless work: onc cart
had alrcady gone and the other did not come-up to the combine
yct, so corn was scattered past the cart on the ground. But this corn
was not lost. Pcoplc put some earth on it to hide from the
brigade-lcader and late at night they came to the ficld then others
had already gonc. They fed hens on this corn, pounded it into groats,
cooked soup of it and cven hid it for still worse time. 4

For their work days collcctive farmers got too littlc — some
dozen grams for a work day. But people kept silence, took what
they were given and at dawn they got up, went and took something
for themselves. They did it so that nobody could see. All did it as
they were forced to do it by Stalin kolkhoz rcgime. In other words
people stole and did not consider it to be thelt. And was it really
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theft when people for their hard work got only some dozen grams
of corn for a work day? Thus thcy went at night, took what they
could and brought it home. The same thing happcned when maize
was ripening. Pcople weat to the ficlds at night, picked some dozens
of corn-cobs and took them home. Kolkhoz guards could not
manage to watch everything in the ficlds though there was quite a
numbcr of them but they all were old men with bad sight and hcaring
and sometimes they werc just afraid to show up when they saw or
heard that somebody was stcaling somcthing.

There were no storage houses in kolkhoz to kecep corn so it
was piled, when it was brought from combincs, on the threshing
floor, that is right in the ficld. There were guards there but they put
a hut there to save themselves from wind and rain and often after
midnight they went there to take a nap and pcasants knew well
when to come and get some corn. They knew all habits of the guards,
they even knew when they would hear their snoring.

Pcasants took advice of Nikita Khrushchcv who often visited
kolkhoz ficlds. Pcasants asked him what they should do to make
their life better and he answered: to make the lifc of pesants better,
they should get up early and go to bed late. Thus the collective
farmers followed his advice to get up early so that they could have
time before dawn to bring somcthing home, and to go to bed late,
so that at dusk they would not miss thc opportunity and bring home
somcthing from the so called common property. Thus we learnt to
get up carly and go to bed latc as what we were given for weck
days was not cnough indecd.

ON THE EVE OF FAMINE

In 1932 the yicld was not bad howcver by Stalin order and
then Molotov and Kaganovich camc to Ukrainc, first of all threshed
corn should be given to the state. It turncd out that Stalin signed
an agrcement with some foreign countrics for delivery of large
quantity of grain. So they took cverything what we had in our village,
not only corn but other farm products. It was ncccssary, as
propagandists yelled, to fulfil "p’yatyrichka". Thus thc first
assignment to kolkhoz was to load threshed corn and bring it to the
ncarest railway station. Therc it was loaded into cars and was taken
to the Black sca ports and from there our corn poured with our
blood and sweat was shipped to Great Britain. Thus the question arises
— whcther Stalin knew that they took from Ukraina all the grain
obtained during thc harvest time in summer, or whether he did not
know. He could not hclp knowing it as he had a large party and
administrative staff who informed him about the current situation.

At that time, as it turned out, Stalin wished to extend
connections with the West, 1o buy the cquipment required for
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industrialization of the country. Though Canada was considered to
be a part of British cmpire, it sold wheat at higher price than the
Soviet Union. In the West they consider that any material goods
should be paid for and Stalin sold them almost for next to nothing.
He did not have headache becausc of the fate of Ukrainian pcasants,
he did not feel sorrow because Ukrainian peasant would be starving
and dying from hunger. So onc could not cxclude that he was
informed about cverything.

Thus British ships called at the Black sca ports, loaded their
holds with Ukrainian whecat which was kept in large clevators in
ports. So our Ukrainian wheat was shipped oversca to_feed people
and cattle there. And nobody thought about us, and if somcbody
said something aloud, he¢ was annihilated. British ships called at
Odecssa, Azov, Mariupol’ and other Black Sea ports, they also called
at Berdyans’k which was not far from us. Pcople just complaincd
to cach other, talkcd scandal, they said that the government exported
grain, not taking in consideration the fact that our people could be
starving and in the first turn those, who grew this grain.

We had few [ood products for winter and father said o the
children that this ycar we should be worse than the previeus onc
and that we should lay in food products to survive winter. How
could we survive the forthcoming winter? This question troubled
even the children. Autumn came, ncarly everything was picked up
from ficlds. They hid {or themselves what one could. Pumpkins were
covered with crude straw, potato was dug in kagaty, but we had not
much potato, so at once we left some buckets of it for planting next
year. Father hid all he could get in the cellar which he dug in the
placc of former well in the thicket of the garden. We hoped that
nobody would drop in there, nobody would get interested in the
elder thicket, thus we might somehow survive hunger. These hiding
placcs as it turned out later, saved many people from hungry dcath.

Father told us that part of what we had grown in the kitchen
garden had to be given to kolkhoz Thus we gave haricot, beets but
representatives rode about the village, dropped into houscholds looking
for what could be taken from peasants to kolkhoz They took cven the
last without taking into considcration that peasants might be starving,

~We still had a pig and some sucking-pigs and father decided
to kill onc of them, to tell the truth, to suffocate it unless anybody
heard its squcal. Though it was a small sucking-pig, it had to be
hidden. And 1 should say that year father managed not to register
all sucking-pigs in sil’rada book. During thc whole summer we fed
sucking-pigs on grass and somcetimes on corn, brought from kolkhoz
ficld which was dropped from combinc and we brought homne at
night; it was mixed with soil. Father killed this “"patsyatko™*, as

.

* "patsyatko” - a sucking-pig.
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pcoplc called them, apd in December of 1932 he took permission
from sil’rada to kill the pig as we had nothing to fced it on. Father
left the sow for reproduction so it had to be fed by all mcans. So
wc had some supply of fat and salted meat. Father managed to hide
all this decp in the stack which he brought in autumn from kolkhoz
ficld. He had to kcep a large family and to have some food to give
passcrs-by who werce going through our village.

We also had a stock of garlic and onion. Onc should know that
they arc necessary not only as food products but as medicine as
well. Besides they rubbed themselves with garlic and onion when
they caught cold and took their juice when coughing. Our mother
was also very cnterprising, she had, as they said, her own mind. She
dressed her children sewing clothes from her own skirts which she
bought during tsarist times. At that timc they were wearing long and
widc skirts, so she scwed skirts for all three girls from one skirt,
and it was very important as you could not buy material for skirts
in the shop. It happened somchow that when new communist power
came, cverything disappcared from shops. Well, at first, there was
revolution, then civil war but it was in thirtics, many ycars passcd
since Stalin regime came. And there was nothing in the shops.
Somectimes they brought some dozen mcters of cotton but it was
taken by the authoritics and a common peasant could not get it. So
we were usually wearing patched up clothes, just to cover ourselves.

Many people from our village, cspecially thosc who had small
families and did not have small children tried to go somcwhere for
the whole winter. They went to Donechchina, to Doncts’k itsclf
wherc they had some rclatives or acquaintances. Coming there, they
got a job in coal mines. Thus people saved themselves.

And (o our village came people from the cnvirons. Our villagers
often scttled them in the carth-houses built by tRem. They were called
mud-hut as they were built from clay, so pcople did not spare them and
settled passcrs-by there. All secmed to foresce their death of starvation
so they sympathized with strangers. They were talking among themselves
that starvation death was terrible. If a man got ill and dicd from it, it was
quite natural but to dic of a starvation was terrible. Talking about awful
things, peoole cursed new kolkhoz Stalin systcm, cursed Stalin policy,
who ordered to take the last from people, they did not take pity of
anybody, either old or young people, or cven children.

FAMINE

Somehow we survived 1932, then came 1933. We foresaw it
would be more terrible then the previous year as the supply which
we had was almost exhausted and we had to survive on what we
managed to save from that previous already hungry year. And that
was left? Just some pcas, haricot, bects and potato. Still at the
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beginning of the ycar our mother gave us small portions of meals.
Mainly we had some soup which could not boast its fat.

Father decided to make arrangements with our ncighbours to
go to Berdyans'k, where he had alrcady known some Jew bakers.
And he had to take a pass from kolkhoz management to bring bread
without hindrance, otherwisc militiamen who were scrving Stalin
regime, took away bread at the railway stations. They put on red
bandages and pretended to fight with profitcering. And what kind
of profitccring was it if pcople did not wish anything but to survive,
to give children a loaf of bread lest they would dic. Profitcering is
supposcd to be some kind of activity with the aim to make a profit,
to become rich. Who thought of wealth at that time? The only wealth
was human lifc and cven it was not taken into considceration, people
dicd and those who left alive scemed not to pity the dead, all thought
about themsclves, about their closest oncs. Even we, children, knew
the militiamen hurt people taking away bread, so we hated them as
_representatives of Stalin regime. .

Thus, father was going to Berdyansk again, (o the scaport of the
Sca of Azov, he was going (o get sonic bread, salted fish, dricd sardelle
or bullhcad. There in Berdyans’k again its cnvirons fishermen and
shop-keepers, mainly Jews, sold it for moncy, and at the time f
starvation cxchange it for gold or high quality items. They exchange it
for items which pcoplc managed to hide since tsar time.

Father took a cart with him to the station which he hid
somewherc and on his way back he put on it what he had exchanged.
From Berdyans’k father brought besides bread, as 1 had already said,
salted fish, that is dried salted fish, dricd sardelle and bullhcad and
somctimes a barrel or two of salted herring. So, having loaded all
thesc things on the cart, he brought them to the village. He came
homc latc at night or &t dawn — he was very tired, dirty, unshaven,
in crumpled clothes, sleepyv. And we were waiting for him
impaticntly. Father shared what he brought between the neighbours
and then gave us a small picce of somcthing [rom our sharc to last
it longer. When he brought three sacks of bread, cach family got
four loaves. And again pcople did not know when they would get
some morc bread so they did not know whether to eat it or just
look at it. They could go to get some bread but it was not given for
nothing, thcy werce to have some items to cxchange for bread. Father
foresceing his next coming (o Berdyans’k made agrcements with
somc Jews so that they kept some bread and fish for him.

It was awful timc for pcasants and, on the contrary,
shop-kecpers, mainly Jews, made a fortunc out of our misfortunc,
they got golden itcms from thosc who saved their-lives.

Our father, going to Berdyans'k for bread, not once saw large
British ships which werc loaded with Ukrainian wheat, he saw with
his own eyes as thcy loaded large boxcs of canned food. Near these
moorings where ships were loaded, people gathered in crowds and
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were watching silently as day and night our wealth was carricd away
when Ukraina was dying of starvation. Militiamen dispersed the
crowd, threatened them with their rifles. Sometimes as father was
told and hc told us on rcturning homg, it came to riots. It was
cnough if somconc cricd aloud that Stalin regime was fleecing us,
and the crowd became agitated, shouted at British scamen, showced
that they took the last. But British scamen did not understand what
people were saying and shouting and the ships were at some distance
so they did not have any opportunity to understand them. Sometimes
Englishmen happencd to come in boats to the shore and sceing
hungry crowd, throw baked brecad and buns. And pcople were
throwing themsclves on that like brutal, to catch something. And
though Englishmen were surprised, the hungry people had no shame.
Catching what was thrown, pcople tricd to pull out bread or a bun
from cach other, they might take them not for themscelves but for
a hungry child, who was lying somcwhere swelling from hunger.
And English scamen or dockers, God knows, those who loadcd ships
had camcras and took photographs of pcople cxhausted with hunger,
they photographed people fighting for a picce of bread. In
Berdyans’k people were talking among themscelves that everything
what was going on was deliberate Stalin policy. Taking away bread
from peasants he aimed to reduce them to starvation and so to made
them join kolkhozes. Peasants did not wish (o join kolkhozcs
voluntarily, they worked on their land from time immemorial, not
counting hours, since the times of "panshchina”. So they, peasants,
considered kolkhozes to be new “panshchina” under which people
werce bound to land, worked hard for nothing. And onc should say
that both the policy of disposscssion and artificial hunger gave the result
desired by Stalin — people joined kolkhozes. But did that desired result
bring luck to the country and pecople? As the events of the following
ycars showed, kolkhoz system did not bring luck to pcasants. It did not
give them cither well-being or freedom. Peasants as it turned out
became new slaves, they were not given passports and without them
they could not get registered in towns, thus peasants became serfs
again, they could not get a job in a town. But it happened later, when
hunger was over. And at that time people left villages if they had any
opportunity, if they had some strength left.

Rcturning from the town, father told us about such things
which were hard to belicve. At least at school we were said onc
things and at home we saw other things, so sometimes it was hard
for us o belicve his storics. How could we believe that a man, as
they said, who led honest life, who was never cngaged in politics
and worked hard, was arrested at night and never rcturncd home.
And they cven did not want to say to his family — wife, children,
brothers, sisters, parcnts — why was he arrested, where the prisoner
was, in which prison, whether there was trial and what scentence
was and so on. And only after long years had passed, it became
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who dicd on their way to Siberia, who were killed in the forest of
the North, in the coal mines, pits or gold "priisk™*. They werc not
counted as it was not the time for counting. But we saw all this with
our own cycs, we saw swollen corpses, saw as dcad pcople were
picked up, as if thcy were carrion, and dug in common graves
without ccremony, without pricsts, without coffins.

And Stalin stooges saw it oo, they saw and maybe noted
cverything what was nccessary for the report. These stooges could
not help sceing how a lot of people was dying. Father Stalin was
sitting in the Kremlin, he only got the reports, he did not look into
the cycs of the dead. But his stooges did and they were not
conscicncc-stricken.

But time camc when Stalin began to annihilate not only
Ukrainian pcasants or peasants of other nationalitics, annihilate,
because they did not want to join kolkhozes. Stalin began (o
annihilatc party members who held high posts, especially those who
collaborated with Lenin. Some of them, like Trots’kiy, were deported
by his ordcr, others were imprisoned, cxiled and still others, which
was more often, were shot.

I remember it very well. I remember that in our text-books
there was the description of the life of Trots’kiy and other party
lcaders. But oncc all over text-books were taken away from us and
then we found the pages with biographics of the “cnemics of people”
were torn out of the books. Once we were taught that they were
Lenin comrades-in-arms, creators of the revolution, and then one
day thcy became cnemics of people and they did not find worsc
words for them as traitors, spics and so on. But this is not our
busincss though it shows what kind of man "father” Stalin was.

In our village many graves were dug during three years, they
buricd or, in fact, dug somc people in onc grave. The head of the
kolkhoz ordered to go about the ficlds and pick up corpses, cspecially
in spring when snow was thawing and {rom it hands or lcgs of the
dcad appcarcd. They, cxhausted by hunger, having got not much
strength, were going in search of a picce of bread and then during
snow-storm, they got frozen and dicd, as it happencd with that woman,
who was going with two children, pulling them on the sleges and they
all three froze. It was they, whom we, children, found on our way from
school. T recolleet that there were some rags on thesc sledges, perhaps
1o cover children with them and to save them from cold. People fell
from hunger like flics. Some people wondered, where they were going,
why they did not stay at homc. But as for me, it was quilc clcar. Firstly,
disposscssed people or those who were to be dispossessed were leaving

- their villages, secondly, when hunger was at the door, when no hope
was lcft 1o survive, people were going to any place. It was better to

* "priisk” - mine, pit
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be going somewhere, having the faintest hope to survive, than stay
at home and wait [or incvitable death. ]

All that happencd before our own eyes, many witnesses of that
starvation death arc still alive, they arc telling about that terror that
stroke our Ukraina. They were telling but they were silent for a long
time and the world did not know about our tragedy, about total
annihilation of pcople. And cven if it knew, it kept silent as onc
does not suffer other’s misfortunc. A man who is full up ncver
undcrstands a hungry one. And it was morc profitable for thosc who
knew it to closc their cyes at people misfortunc as they were tempted
by chcap shopping of Ukrainian grain from “father” Stalin, I shall
say nothing about moral qualitics of these people, let them live with
their guilty conscicnee, let them dic with it. )

And we. who were children at that time, who experienced all
this, who were helped by fathers, mothers, grandfathers or
erandmothers Lo survive starvation which wis uitknown to the world
Gll that time, we should know what was happening on fertile
Ukrainian land, in our Zaporizhzhya, on Azov chernozem (black
carth), on the lands which fed half of Europe. We must live with
the hope that futurc gencrations would never cexperience such
disaster and let our parents, grandfathers, grandmothers, all our
relatives and not only relatives, who dicd of starvation. sleep their
cternal sleep. They lived hoping to survive starvation, however God’s
will was dilferent and they reconciled themscelves with it All that
God scnt to them they took with obedicnce.

But the mcmory of what was happening in Ukraina and
cspecially in spring of 1933 could not dic. At last when in the West
they began speaking and writing about artificial starvation, arranged
by Stalin, after the Congress of the USA summoncd a commission
to investigate starvation in Ukraina, after there was some glasnost
under ncw power, then in Ukraina they began to write about it.
Ukrainian writers undertook to do this work and we must be gratcful
to them for it. Glory to the brave people! We must thank cverybody
who hold sacrcd mcmory of these martyrs! By the way, I am writing
my memoirs with the aim to make my own contribution in keeping
truth about starvation in Ukraina.

Our father often reminded us, taught us that we, children,
should be very carcful with strangers, that we should never say to
anybody what we were talking about at home. In particular he said
that we should say nothing to our school tcachers as some of them
were party members who considered Stalin to be real sun so they
could decnounce our fathcr. When somcebody asked us questions, we
always answered that we kncw nothing, that we heard nothing,
Sccing how we were brought up at school, our father ordered us
not to join any circles which werce organized at school. When father
allowed us to join "zhovienyata" (organization of small
schoolchildren), he did not know well Stalin regime.
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We were zhovienyata, in future we would beccome pioncers
and when we grew up, we could become Komsomol members, -as
we were said, and as adults we couid become party members.

We saw with our own cyes what Stalin regime led o, which
was 1o bc guided by party wisdom but, in fact, it was dirccted only
by onc “infallible" Stalin. We also saw what work had to be done
by party members, take for cxample, our teachers, though they saw
dcath reaping but nevertheless they advocated new regime, they praized
it. They hardly did it because of their own convictions, I am sure that
they were ordered (o do so and their crime was only that they did not
opposcd it, and I do not know whether they could be accused of it as
they wanted to sunvive too and their life was not sweet.

In spring of that hungry year of 1933 father took from the hiding
place made by him, cither some potato, millet or maizc and mother
cooked "mamalyga”. We were cating that "mamalyga” or pumpkin
porridge, it supported us though the portions which mother gave us
were small. Nevertheless we had some food not lack of vitamines.

Father was going to Berdyans’k morc scldom to cxchange some
itcms for bread. We had no items left. What we had before had been
cxchanged for bread, fish, herrings. From time to time father did go
to Berdyans’k though we knew that he did not take anything for
cxchange. And he brought some bread or fish. Father did not say
anything to us then but we guessed that father might help in bakery.
He might promisc that he would work out in futurc. Father knew
many Jews, they liked him. And father, on rcturning from
Berdyans’k, often told mother and we listcned to him, too that there
were many good people among Jews, when they were helped, they
could hclp you too. Father said that there were different pcople,
both good and bad. So it was among Jcws as wcll as among our
people and even among our villagers. It happencd that some of our
villagers left for Berdyans’k at night so that nobody saw him or
asked something. Somctimes father mct them in Berdyans’k, met
his ncighbours. Some of thcm got job in coai mincs as there were
fcw miners — this job was hard and dangerous so thcy took peasants
without asking their passports or where they came from. One had
to work and minc coal for the country. There was industrialization
in the country at that time, thus it needed much coal. Industry could
not exist without coal just like pcople without bread. It was necessary
for the production of electrical energy, for heating and so on.

Thus we held out till spring taking small portions of potatocs
boiled in their jackcts and pumpkin porridge or millet porridge. Then
acacia was flowering again, we ate its flowers even regaled on them.
They were swect and substituted candies for us which we did not
see for some years, we did not have what children liked most of all.
We climbed the tree, broke off flowering twigs, threw them on the
ground and brought home for our adults Lo regale on sweet flowers
too. Our mother when she had somc flour for pan-cakes added
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dricd ground acacia 0 batter. Mostly she added it to maize, then
sificd it, added some pumpkin and baked pan-cakes, they seemed
1o be tasty for us as we did not have anything clsc. Then sorrel and
loboda appcarcd and again we got uscd to plants which did no harm
to people. Thus followed by misfortunc we overlived the most
difficult period, the times of total starvation in Ukraina, )

It was difficult to overlive winter of 1932-1933. We did not
have cither forage, stored up in autumn, or tops for the cattle, or
grass, which we dricd for rabbits and the goat. Almost the whole
winter the goat was fed on lcaves and twigs from apricot tree. We
were lucky 1o have it, in summer we had fruit and its leaves and
twigs were forage for the goat and kids. However, kids did not live
till summer, father had to kill them to have some meat and save all
of us from starvation. We also killed all rabbits, we ate their meat
and father took their skins to Berdyans’k and got some foodstulf
for them. When all tops were out, our cow began mooing awfully,
we had nothing to feed it on, so father and mother decided to kill
it, while it was still alive. And we did so, we killed our good cow.
We salted its meat, smoked a bit and gave a little to cach family in
cur village for people to fortify themsclves and o help them to last
till spring. Somc ncighbours who managed to keep caws did the
same. There was understanding between people, they saved cach
other as they could in order to avoid body swelling from hunger.

We left the goat to oursclves which gave us milk and replaced
our cow. The goat did not cat much and as spring camc, il was
nibbling grass and became more cheerful. 1t also liked acacia shoots
and nibbled spur in our yard. What was cnough for the goat would
ncver be cnough for the cow.,

Mother of my mother’s brother-in-law and his threc brothers
dicd frem starvation, two brothers and their father survived. It was
Komysnanov family. They were buried one after another. It was
difficult for Komyshanov to bring up two children, however with
God’s help they somchow survived; perhaps their organisms were
stronger. They survived also duc to some help from other villagers.
Our viliage was fricndly as if it werc one family, 1 think there ar
no such villages nowadays. :

WISE STALIN AND STUPID LIFE

All grown up pcople as well as children understood what was
going on undcr Stalin regime. Thosc mentors and various exccutives,
who carricd out Stalin’s orders, did nothing but appealed o people
and shoutcd at the top of their voices that it was necessary to
annihilate all enemies of the people, all “trots’kisty" (persons holding
the same vicws as Trots’kiv). Stalin gave order to annihilate all Lenin
group which he left after himself, nonc of them had the right to stay
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alive. Stalin pointed out that they tricd to undermine building of
socialism in the country, that they sabotaged his orders, that they did
cverything to weaken Stalin power. But in fact he meant not only the
main pcople, left by Lenin, but his supporters as well and even not so
supporters as Stalin political opponents. Thus it happened so that onc
day somce political figurc was speaking at the meeting for the Soviet
power and in a week he was not hecard about, he disappcarcd, and
then appearcd somewhere in Solovki or some other place of the Soviet
Union. Such pecople were at once called encmics of the people, party
traitors. And again we had (o strike with ink out of the text-books what
was written about him or tear pages out and again the tcachers
cxplaincd why it was done. They were explaining but we understood
that the teachers themsclves did not know what to say and about who
as onc day he was a good man but the next day he was the cnemy of
the people. And once he was the enemy of the people, so not only he
himself but his whole family — wile and children, cven if they were
small, had (o bear responsibility for it. Then time came when these
“corrected” text-books could not be used, so we just listcned o what
tcacher was saying and sometimes put it down into thc notcbooks.
Stalin appointed other devoted to him party members to the posts of
"Motherland traitors". And again wc had to learn their biographies, all
their lives and about the posts which they currently held.

At school we werc taught about the rolc of the working class
and pcasants, about thc constitution, which turncd out to be bascd
on falschood, it was mere propaganda. However children had to
lcarn all this, as they said, we should know our rights and obligations.
And if somconc did not lcarn it he was under suspicion, why hc did
not know the decisions of our constitution, why he know nothing
about party figures, about the heroes of the revolution. But as it
turncd out later, these people, who we werce taught about, were not
heroces of the revolution at all, thcy were made heroes to please
Stalin, to pleasc the Icader. Mostly they were people who did not
dare (o rccollect that insignificant role which Stalin played in
Fcbruary and October revolution.

I had good memory, I lcarnt everything properly so I moved
up from one class to anothcr. At school we learnt pocms and songs.
Even then we, children, paid attcntion to the fact that many songs
were composed by various pocts, Ukrainian as wecll, but among
them therc were no songs about Ukraina, they were mostly about
Stalin wisdom and his heroic past and so on. It came {rom songs
that our leadcr was very wise, but in real life it was differently, there
was no attractiveness, no joy, on the contrary — thcre was bitter
trouble, poverty, shortage nf commercial goods and food-stuffs.

Pcople were angry, unfriendly, they werc complaining where
that disaster came from? At first people were almost illiterate but
as time passed they learnt to read and wri}c, began to realize where
that regime came to us from, which annihilated more than half of
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the peasants. Peasants suffered most of all as in towns people cot:{ld
live anyhow, th y were given cards and rations which werc not big,
of coursc, somc dozens grams of somc groats or bread per a capita.
Pcople dicd from starvation in towns as well, there werc no reason
for joy cither, however there was ot such mass annihilation.

The only luck of our family was that our fathcr was cnergelic,
he understood much and he quickly realized what kind of power camc
to our village. Although father was not old, cven respectable ncighbours
came o ask his advice, fathcr was always on fricndly terms with the
head of the kolkhoz Volosyanoy, he knew how placatc him. Father
brought him vodka or somc bread and the head gave him the pass.
The head of the kolkhoz came from our people, he was a pcasant 100.
And this was important. Though he gave orders concerning work,
people obeyed him, all worked peacefully, nobody put obstacles in his
way. Fricndly rclations in the village werc of great importance, pcople
muiually supported cach other. The main thing was that no strangc
exccutives were sent to our village. If somcthing concerning our
common lifc had 1o be scttled, then men gathered together, consulted
and discusscd how o survive at that hard time.

And so time passcd, when summer came somcthing grew in
the ficld and somcthing was cooked in our common kitchen. Thus
we lived. In summer of 1933, just like in the previous year, we did
somc job in the kitchen garden, though we did not have rabbits any
longer, we had to pick some grass for our sow and carc that it to
be fcd so that it would bring many hcalthy sucking-pigs. And indced,
it made us happy by bringing a dozcn of sucking-pigs. All of us took
carc of them as if they were members of our family and cvery
cvening father coming back from work, dropped in at the pigsty.
And the sow scemed to be glad to scc father, it looked at him,
grunted pcaccfully and lay down again letling the sucking-pigs to
suck it. If fathcr brought it something, it left its place and camc up
10 father and he trcated it to some corn which he got in the field
or to somc tasty grass. In the day time we picked tasty grass, spurge,
which the sow and sucking-pigs liked very much, we took sacks and
went to the fields to get some grass behind the watcred land, we
shook soil out, put it into sacks and brought homc. We gave a bit
of this grass (o our goat and the rest was dricd in the sun to kecp
for winter as father was planning to buy a cow.

We, children, also helped in the ficld, we weeded beetroots or
maize. Thus we helped our mother in her work. We gathered beans,
haricot, and fruit in the kitchen-garaen. And in the large kolkhoz
kitchcn we were treated to dinner and we were very glad to have
it. In the large kolkhoz community we thought the dinner to be tasty
though it was far from bcing dainty. Togcther with the adults we
guipped soup with great appctite. When water-melons ripencd, we
quickly did the job, giving to us by our parents and hurried to the
kolkhoz to be therc in time for dinner as watcr-melons were also
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scrved at it. The head of the kolkhoz cven allowed the children to
go to thc mclonficld and choosc the best and the most ripened
watcr-melon or sweet-scented melon. We lcarnt to find which
watcr-mclons were ripened, took them and brought to the adults,
for the whole community. The grown-ups strove to give children
some casy job, to spare them.

And we were glad as we did not work hard but cnjoyed work
and get dinner. And that was very important for us as we had hardly
survived hunger time and still were not quite full.

Pcople led primitive life in the village. I had already recollected
that in summer peasants and especially women peasants worked in the
ficld barcfooted without any footwcear, The legs of women and girls
werce injurcd, chapped, when a woman injurcd her leg, she put plantain
to thc wound, this is a lcal which stoppcd blceding. People got
accustomed to the life in poverty and cven as it is characlcristic of our
people, they started joking. When somebody got some trauma, he yelled
mockingly: "Long live comrade Stalin!". And then what could we do
under that hatelul Stalin regime? We could not rebel as we saw how
this regime annihilated people. Freedom to speech which was written
down 1n the Constitution and which is curreatly said about in the wholc
world, was out of the question. The Constitution was onc thing and
lifc was quitc anothcr. It was crucl lifc. Pcasants lcarnt mocking at
Icaflets and slogans, published by the authoritics. I remembered such
a facctious saying which was like a verse: "Father Stalin, give us soap
as there are lice in our kolkhoz, which kad wings". We, children, hearing
such sayings ran about the ficld, looking for licc which had wings.

We did not scc lice with wings but they multiplicd so as if flew
from onc man to anothcr. They were cverywhere — in hair, in
clothes, 1t was real madness. Pcople could not get rid of that
misfortune. They werce alrcady scratching themsclves without any
shame. In the ficld during the break in the work, women werc sitting
and killing licc in cach other’s hair. It was called "s’katy” to look for
licc in somcbody's hair.

Pcasants considercd licc to be cqual to Stalin regime, which
was sucking blood from Ukrainian pcasants. Just like lice suck
human blood. Pcople began looking for a remedy to get rid of lice,
they boiled water and put their clothes there. In a large cauldron
with boiling water they put clothes, then added some soda or ash
to waler. Ash, or as it was called "Yuzhilisya", was said to kili nits
i.e. cpgs of licc. Nits under the influence of the temperaturc cracked.
W, children, were constantly scratching, tricd to pull awful parasitcs
from hair or clothes and kill them, crash. Some lice were so sucked
with blood that it was disgusting to look at them, and it turning your
stomach.

That poverty resulted in another misfortunc — bugs. They were
cverywherc — in blankets, in mattresses, in rags —- just wherc they
could hide, there were a lot of them.
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In winter we fought with bugs by putling cverything, where
they would be found, on the cold and thus they were (rozen. To
save us, children, from lice, father cut our hair short so that licc
could not hide. We also lubricated our hcads with kerosene. But it
was more difficult to get rid of lice which were in clothes. Lice
sucked human blood and hid somewhere. We scratched our body
till blood appcarcd. Though we lubricated our heads with kerosene
and washed our clothes with it, but it was very difficult to get rid
of thal misfortunc. Even hens got lice though' they differed from
those which pcople had. It was disgusting to look at all this. Pigs
got some ticks which picrced deep into the body.

Thus we lived during hunger time and after it as well. Our peasants
knew that lice and other parasites were the result of non-obscrvance
of hygiene, the result of poverty. And how could we maintain clcanness,
when people came from other villages, asked to stay for a night and
slept on the straw, just on the floor? There were no conditions to keep
clcanness, the stock of soap was next to nothing, we had only water.
We had no clothes to change, people even did not have a pair of
underwear of their own. And no wonder that the result of all this in
addition to hungry lifc was poverty and hordes of lice.

It is surprising that undcer such conditions typhus did not
sprcad. When spring 1933 came, corpsces which had not been picked,
began to decomposc thus it was also the source of various bactcria,
which could causc discascs. Corpses were powdered with lime and
chlorinc and were buricd quickly. We, children, wondered why so
many corpscs were buricd, children were always children, they ran
where they needed or did not need, they were interested in
cverything, they wished to find out about cither good or bad. Some
of the children, who were more brave, came up to the head of the
kolkhoz and asked why whosc people died, why there were so many
ol them, and the head of the kolkhoz, who had a lot of troubles,
answercd that there was bad harvest in other villages so people were
looking for brcad and somc of them dicd.

The head of the kolkhoz, as 1 had alrcady said, was a kind
man, hc came from our village, grew between our villagers and
associatcd with them all his life. Thus he often interceded for the
people from his village, when there was a chance to, because
sometimes it happened so that nobody could intercede, cspecially
when somcbody was put into the list of kulaks subjccted to
disposscssion and cxile to Siberia. Under such circurnstances the
pcasants respected the head of the kolkhoz, who trusted his
fellow-villagers. When the food stuff or somcething clse was being
taken away by kolkhoz, when carts were going from one farmstead
to another, the peasants put on the carts what they considered
necessary Lo be given. Everybody had alrcady had some expericnce
in such matters and knew what 10 give away. And we, children, were
ordered to hold our tongues not (o blab out something. Often at
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supper father taught us that if somebody asked about our home or
other affairs we should not answer. It was called — not to carry out
anything from home.

“In other words, our parcnts themsclves taught us to say lics
or to hide the truth. Such bringing up of children by their parcnts
was forced by the circumstances, crcated by Stalin regime, under
which onc was afraid of another, under which denunciation was
spread as ncver beforc. And at school teachers taught us to love
that rcgimce, that power which as we saw oursclves, was inhuman
powcr. It even camc to that when going to or from school we were
cven afraid to blab out somcthing to other children so we cven just
could not have a fricnd. They say that it is a small flock that has not
a black ship, so no wonder that there were such people in the village.
It even happencd that boys taught and inspired by the teacher at school,
pushed a girl into 2 swamp or into watcer so that it rcached her knees
and madc her tell them onc thing or another so that they could have
information against somcbody to denounce to the tecacher.

Father explained us that if he were sentenced or put o prison,
what mother could do then? Those who were sentenced never returned
homc at all. Fathcr gave us examples from the life of other people. A
father was sentenced and then poor mother was unable to take carc
of children, houschold and work in kolkhcz as well. Our mother though
our father was with us did not have cnough sleep, shc was always
bustling about the house, taking carc of us after her work in kolkhoz
Shc had to wash our clothes, to patch them, to scw something,

Mostly pcoplc were moaning, complaining, old people were
crying, plcaded to the God, asking in their praycrs to save innocent
pcople. Somctimes women were hysteric, as 1t was they who had
o bear the burden of keeping the family, which had to be fed, in
order not to dic of starvation, they bore the main responsibility in
the family. The women happened to come to our father and asked
him to bring them something from Berdyans’k but they did not have
anything valuable to be exchange. Father tricd to help even such
people bringing something from thc town. His trips to the town to
get some food, though Berdyans’k was not far from our village, wecre
rathcr dangerous. Different people were wandering about the
stations, bandits as well, who were ready to cut a men for a piece
of bread. Militiamen often scarched the travellers too, taking the
brcad away from them. The passcs given (o our father by the head
of the kolkhoz, often saved him.

Our father, Pctro Tarasovych, supported all of us and gave a
hclping hand to many fellow-villagers as well. Father sccmed not to
sleep at all, he was always short of time. He kncw all fellow-villagers
and helped cverybody if he could. He was very active, quick and
always went straight, both in direct and indirect meaning of the
word. In the village he was addressed by his first and sccend name,
he was called Petre Tarasovychu. And he was also a very just man.
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 shared bread among us at home, he did not offend anybody,
m%l:li;tczl;plaincd. The samc was in the village. When he brought
some sacks of bread from Berdyans’k — he gave it te cverybody,
no onc complaincd. . )

Bread was valued greatly in the village, when there was bread at
home nobody dared to take it whenever he wanted and should wait
until the cldcst in the family would give it to him, Brcad was shared
among the members of the family, onc loaf of bread had to last for
the whole weck, cven at good times. I had never hcard any complaints
of injust sharing of bread cither at home or in the ncighbourhomes.

We had a little brother and he, because there were only girls, his
eldcr sisters, spoke like a girl about himsclf, that is adding the cnding
of feminine gender to verbs. Once father came from Berdyans'k and
brought some sacks of bread. He brought thcm, people came, he gave
it to them, and there were some loaves Ieft for us. Mother cooked
borshch from what she had and father cut bread in picces and gave
them to our houschold. Our littic brother, who was called Myt’ko,
Mytya, took and ate his loafl very quickly and said to us: "I didn’t cat,
no bread." He was a bit more than two ycars old, maybc two and a
half. But hc was clever and 1 recollect that he made us laugh by saying
— "I didn’t cat, no bread". As he was very small, he did not understand
why there was no bread and was looking at everybody, at father so
pleading, but did not say anything clsc, as if asking by his cycs (o give
him some more. Though his stomach was small, however it requircd
some food, it did not want to be hungry. Then father cut him some
more bread, an we had only onc picce of it to each, but we did not
complain, satisfying with the thin borshch.

Now nobody knows about thc fatc of small children in Ukraina
on the cve of spring in 1933. Children saw that there was misfortunc,
that their parcnts were poor, that they would be glad to give their
kids cverything but what of it, if there was nowhere to take it from.
Misfortune could be understood if father and mother were idle
people and did not want to work and earn money. But, on the
contrary, those who I kncw were very hard-working people, they
were eager to get up at dawn and go to bed late at night to get
somecthing for their children. They worked for ten or twelve hours
a day but their work was not paid. On the contrary, what they carncd
was taken away by the statc that is, as we thought, by Stalin. Children
were innocent, why they had such fate? A child is without a single
sin, then why his mother had to take him God knows where?
Mothers werc taking their childrcn and somctimes, being on their
way and having no possibility to get even a slice of bread, died
together with them. So mother buried her child, her own blood,
somewherce in a forest, closed his eycs, which did not expericnce
joy and dug him in a shallow hole. There was no way out. Children
together with their mothers were defenceless. They did not even
have a crust of brcad or potato pecls to give their children. Socn
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mother dicd as well. And therc was nobody to close her eyes. She
licd somewhere at the road, forgotien by cveryone and ncedless to
no onc. Sometimes such a woman was found cither in the hay stock,
somectimes at the road or just in the ficld.

During last two years, that is 1932 and 1933 pcoplc came
through the hell, both old and small. So we cannot forget it, it always
returns in our thoughts. The awful scéncs are still vivid, they torture
cven in dreams. Stalin, as we were said at school, was a wisc lcader,
but who knows how our life should be called. It was not wisc.

The years of collectivization were the years of total terror.
Hunger did not spare cither those who werc the first o join kolkhoz
or thosc who opposcd kolkhoz up to the cnd. Hunger taught
cverybody to value bread, it opened our eyes at Sialin regime. It was
they who survived. But those who dicd from starvation, should only
be recollected with a good word, the recollections about the victims.

I rcmember that Stalin party supporters, his propagandists

blamed the pcasants of hunger because they killed livestock, pigs,
cverything they had. And that the peasants wasicd grain and potato,
mecant for sawing. And I, being the witness of this starvation, can
say with clear conscicnce that it was lics. I know it as it was in our
famiiy, wc had to use potato meant for sawing as there was hunger
yet. Our ncighbours did the samc. 1 have all greunds o think that
the same happened all over Ukraina. And livestock in particular was
killed when we had nothing to feed it on, when we had o save
oursclves from starvation. Father killed the cow as he was afraid
that it would die and be completely uscless. We also killed rabbits
and kids as there was no forage. That who knows a Ukiainian
peasant would ncver belicve in such nonscnse that he would kill the
last cow from the cowshed lest he was forced by the circumstances.
Only people without shame, for whom to tcll lics was just as for
the dog to bark, could say such things.

Ukrainian pcasants were also accuscd of leaving villages without
working hands. It should be said that it was invention for the sake of
cheap propaganda. It is truc, in villages during total collectivization,
that is in 1932-33, therc were few working hands, in particular, there
were few nien able to work, but most of manhood did not leave the
village voluntarily. First of all kulaks werc cxiled to Siberia and thus
deprived the village of the most active, the most cfficicnt pcasants, then
many people were arrested allegled for hostile propaganda. At last when
hunger was at the doors, many men able to work Icft for Donbas, {or
mincs of Doncts’k, Artyomovs’k and other towns. But they left the
village when there had already been famine there. Thus it was not they
who were the causc of faminc and not their absence in the viilage
causcd starvation. On the contrary, hunger drove them out of the village.
Is it possible that these propagandists thought the peasants to like
mining coal out of carth, working in dust, without light and fresh air?
There was not proper housing in the miner’s towns and they rented
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some place, were squeesed there and paid for it some part of the
moncy they carned. But in this way they saved themselves and their
relatives Iclt in the village. )

It was also said much about spcculations which caused
starvation. I had alrcady recollected here that it was not speculation
in fact. 1 know myscll that lathcr would have never gonc Lo
Berdyans'k to get some bread if the circumstances had not forced
him. At least logics itsclf points at absurdity of the statcment that
speculation was the cause of starvation. When peasants baked bread
in their ovens, when they had it in plenty, who would think of going
to Berdyans’k for bread? It would look like going to get water in
some versts (versta — 3500 feet) when one has it under his nosc.
We were lucky to have such head of the kolkhoz who was an honest
man. And there was a ot of people who went to towns without
certificates or passes. And so militiamen took bread away from them,
brcad which they had exchanged for gold or other valuable stuff.

IDEOLOGICAL PROFIT
AND OUR WEEK — DAYS

Spring came. I was alrcady cight ycars oid. By that time I had
alrcady know much, learnt from father and mother. At school we
were taught that there was no God. We, all village children, werc
accustomed to believe in God, were accustomed to religious services,
though we did not always go to church, especially if there was no
church in the village, so we could not hear the teachers’ explanations.
We were told not to belicve in God, not to pray because, as they
said, God did not hcar our praycrs as he did not exist. However,
we, taught by the parents, followed the word of the God, followed
as far as we could God’s commandments. Qur parents taught us to
be obedient, not to rebel, to have respect for older people as it was
required by God’s laws. We were taught to have God in our heart.

And then we had to listen to untruth about God which was
said by the teachers at the lessons. We guessed that they, teachers,
said that by Stalin order, carricd cut by his stooges who took away
from pcople not only material wealth but their belicl in God as well,
took away from a man his hope to be saved.

Al! this was done by Stalin regime to opposc a child to his father,
a brothcer (o brother. So that in towns workers did their jeb without
proper payment, to make pcasants to join kolkhozes, to make new
salves, new scrves of everybody. As Stalin intended to build socialist
socicty in his own way and that ncw system had nothing in common
with socialism. Socialism wishcs good to common people, wishes to
make people cqual before the law, that all, no matter who their parents
were, have the opportunity to study, have the right to health
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protection, the right to rest and so on. But there was nothing of the
kind under Stalin regime, so there was no socialism at all.

Stalin considered that if peasants were pressed by hunger, then
ithey would join kolkhozes quickly. And indced they joincd
kolkhozes. And Stalin exceutives were praised and awarded with
orders., They had various priveleges, there were specials hospitals
for them, special resorts, even special shops full of much stuff which
a common citizen of the Soviet Urion never saw with his eyes.

To be a teacher under Stalin regime, it wes necessary to lose
moral, to renounce his belief in God, t¢ be cunning, to tell lics cach
time. Tcachers taught the principals of the Constitution, where was
written that all people were equal, all had the right to justice, all
werce to work as they could and got according to his labour. But in
practice it was quite the opposite — those who worked hard, were
starving, and thosc who only talked, who dissembled, they had
cverything in abundance. And Stalin himself taught: "Who docs not
work, that docs not cat!”. And his own stooges did not work but
ate what they wanted. And those who worked were starving.

And indced, how that meant to be priest, lTosyp Vissarionovich
Stalin, could believe in God il he annihilated millions of people,
common working pcople. He also annihilated his former
brothers-in-arms with whom he made the revolution. Let us suppose
for a moment that Stalin was a believer., so could he or anybody clse
to commit such crimes resulted to the death of millions of innocent
people? Adolf Hitler was a non-believer too, and he also as if he were
Stalin’s own brother, annihilated millions of people without any
hesitation. But 1 shall tell about him in the sccond part of these memoirs.

Our parents knew what Stalin regimie was striving for, they
valued their policy by their deals, how the new power destroyed
churches, humiliated pricests, fought against reiigion as if belicvers
were threatening somebody. But believers had God's truth in their
soles which forbade them o kill, to steal and so on. Church never
taught to olfend other people, never taught bad things. All cvil,
cverything that was bad came from the new power, from Stalin cruel

regime. 1 the new Ieaders did not believe in God, it was their own
business, but why did they get into believers’ sole, why did they turn
churches into sheds or warchouses of various materials which caused
the damage of the walls. They were mocking, they said that cows
should also prey a bit and that not only pcople should prey to sacred
images, and let horses reccive the cucharist, let churches become
uscful at last, il to turn them into warchouscs of, for cxample,
building matcrials — lime, cement and so on.

Our parents were crying and gricving very much for the
destroyed church. Almost the wholc village. I said "almost” as there
were exceptions, it was those who by truth or untruth started te
serve Stalin regime, became non-belicvers and they themsclves were
involved in destroying God’s temple. People built that church at their
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own expenscs, they themscelves decorated it, they paid a large sum
of moncy for decorating its interior, for windows with drawings on
multicolored glass. And all this was destroyed, dirty and the church
was turned into the shed for livestock. Those, who desiroyed the
church did not take into account cither people’s feclings or their
belicf in God. With that belicf in their hearts our ancestors lived for
centurics, it helped them to go through various misfortuncs from
Tatar-Mongol invasion to present time. And in any case after
profanation of the church pcople did not cease to belicve in God,
but they were hurt, their feclings were wounded. And this is much
morc worsc than physical humiliation. ) .

Pcople did nol remain silent when their church was being
turncd into the shed for livestock. They protested, though they knew
that their protcsts would not be paid attention at. Pcople took away
from the church whatever they could and first of all icons to hide
them and to keep for better times. I remember that some of the
icons were big, others were of medium size and therc were small
oncs. The icons werc beautifully painted, onc could not look at them
without reverence. On many icons there were inscriptions made in
some queer letters, most of which could not be read. Some words
however could be understood. The language on these icons was
diffcrent from what we spoked at home. There was also a large book
in the church which, as I now gucss, was the Gospel. T saw it mysclf
but did not say anybody about it as I was afraid, because Stalin regime
punished for spreading the Word of God. People in our village were
mainly Orthodox Church belicvers. They started cach work with the
word of God, they got up in the morning and cither prayed or
mentioned God. They appcaled to the Most High to help them in their
misfortuncs, they prayed for themsclves and their beloved oncs. There
was cven a saying: "without God not come (o ihe threshold".

Howecver, as I understand it, the Lord punished our people for
the sins of their forefathers. As nothing is done without the God’s
will, God’s permission. Thus the times of Stalin regime came, which
oppressed our people and tormented them. Perhaps God Ict Devil
punish or try us. And that regime arrested, sent to Siberia or. shot
anyone who opposcd it. Stalin was said to shoot himsclf thosc who
stood in his way. He took the pseudonym “Stalin" not for nothing but
to show that he was so strong that he could not be broken. He was a
son of a Georgian tailor and his family name was Dzhugashvili. Lenin
disccrned Stalin, especially in the last ycars of his life he made sure
that Stalin could not be cntrusted the lcadership of the party and state.
He warned his comrades-in-arms about Stalin. But it was too latc.
Lenin was scriously ill, paralyzed and could not take an active part in
politics. Lenin painted at all bad sides of Stalin nature as if he foresaw
that during his governing of the state he would come (o absolutism of
a mentally diseascd person, who he was in fact.

Pcople werc talking about it scerctly and we, children, did not
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know what was the truth and what was iics or somcbody’s
{abrications. The morc so as ai school we were taught (o love Stalin,
that the Constitution and ali the laws cxisted owing to Stalin. And
then it cven seemed to us that we lived owing to Stalin as if he had
not lived we would have not lived cither. Such strenuous the propaganda
among pcople was, lctting alonc school, ali activitics were started and
finishcd with the namc of "the lcader of proletariat and world
revolution”, Every day in cach paper there were photoes of Stalin —
he was making a spcech, he was getting flowers from children or he
himsclf was holding a child, or he was speaking with workers and so
on and so forth. Bu, in fact, as it was found out later, he did not show
his nosc from Kremlin or his summer cottage ncar Moscow. He never
associated cither with workers or the more with peasants.

Stalin regirne, Stalin propaganda cven uscd the poetry of our
prophet Taras Grygorovich Shevchenko to reach their
good-for-nothing aim. Taras Shevchenko is known to stigmatize
both tsar and bad pricsts. So they were saying about our genius that
he was an atheist, godless, that, as they said, he predicted communist
futurc. Shevehenko’s striving for justice, cquality, freecdom was
presented by Stalin propagandists as forctoken of the ncw system.
Taras Shevehenko really described in his works the unhappy life of
Ukrainian peasants, cspccially pcasant women, and especially
miscrable peasant girls. He fought against social and national
oppression of the Ukrainian people. However when reading
Shevehenko’s works nobody could find ¢ven a trace of striving for
such social systcm, which was sct up to our and not only our pcoplc
by Stalin. When Taras Shevchenko was saying about “frec, new
family" he was sure not to mcan the submission of Ukraina to
Moscow, under the guisc of the so called "federation”. One could
assumc that perhaps he mcant the union of really {ree people with
cqual rights, the union, when nobody would force out the Ukrainian
language, nobody would stifle the Ukrainian culture. Taras
Shevehenko could not dream about such "frce, new family”, in which
the Ukrainian language disappearcd from Ukraina and there were
not Ukrainian schools in its capital and in Ukrainian universitics
lectures were delivered in Russian. No, onc could not even think
abcut Taras Shevchenko in this way. Though he knew and loved
the Russian language, and wrote his prosc in Russian.

When summer of 1933 camc, we, children, could not get rid
of fear of nunger, though, in fact, the threat of hunger was past.
Somcthing grew in the field and there was new potatocs, though its
yicld was poor, whcat was growing and wc could get it out of
wheat-cars and chew, in thc kichen garden there were some
vegetables, hens laid eggs. Thus hunger was over. But all the same,
going from the ficld we looked for the plants which we fed on since
spring. And, by the force of habit, we werc eating those "kozelky”,
spurge, wintercress. And later on, already in August, we went o the
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plantation where wild fruit trees were growing. We picked up green
fruit, which were just growing red or yellow and treated oursclves
to them. Everything was tasty for us, uscfut for us and did no harm
to our health, Fruit ripencd sooner in the plantation than in our
gardens. We also ran to the ficld to help the grown ups and o get
sweet, soft wheat grains or sunflower sceds. And thus we caught
this or that and chewed it just like they are chewing gum now, and
were not hungry. And besides we tested various grasses on oursclves
which did no harm to people, learnt the names of the plants, when
they were flowering and when they bore fruits. Thus we got (o know
our nature, the nature of a Ukrainian hungry village.

Our father did not have to go to Berdyans'k for bread any
longer, but we were often talking about his trips, recalled the loaves,
which he brought to save us, our relatives and neighbours. However
in summer of 1933 father was also busy with some work. Again he
did not have cnough sleep, we did not know when he had a rest
When he said that he needed some sleep, he answered that he would
take a nap cither going to the ficld or during some break. He said
that if he slept, we had nothing to cat. And he was glad that soon
there would be new harvest, he was happy like a child who is waiting
for a good present to his birthday.

The first mowing of the new harvest was donc by combincs.
Pcople were glad sceing new grain which pourced from under the
combincs. And the first grain was taken to the mill at once and
ground into flour. :

How dclicious was the bread baked for the kolkhoz kitchen.
What the smell it had. I did not feel such smell of the freshly baked
bread since latc summer of 1933 and till present time. The pcasants
ate that bread with devotion and respect. It was not without reason
that there was a custom in Ukraina to cross the loal before cutting
it and when it happened to fall on the {loor or on the ground, it
was picked up with devotion, kissed as if asking to forgive for the
inadverted disrespect. And it never happened that somebody picked
up crumbs of bread from the table and threw them into garbage.
No, it would be sacrilege! Crumbs of bread were carcfully gathered
from the table or from the cloth, or from the towel, when cating
out of doors and caten. Bread for Ukrainian pcasant is sacred thing.
And it is still just the same for me till today.

They were still going on to cook dinner, that is somc soup or
borshch out of beets, added some new potatoes, sometimes they
cooked "galushki" (Ukrainian dish): thus pcasants refreshed
themsclves after long starvation. Thosc, who managed to last till late
spring or summer of 1933, were saved and could enjoy the life.

But could onc cnjoy this lifc? Watching that injustice,
oppression of pcople, death which carricd away dozens of peasants,
took children from their fathers, took mothers from children,
watching that awful Stalin regime 1 started thinking about God more
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often, began appealing to the Creator of the heaven and carth,
Rcligion was persccuted, the church was turned into a shed, godlessncss
was rammed into pcople’s heads. People were afraid to celebrate
Christian orthodox holidays openly. Firstly, the new power looked with
suspicion at thosc who cclebrated them openly, secondly, they had
nothing to cclcbrate the holidays with as it was before. Because some
time ago a holiday was a holiday, as they said. They baked and cooked
various dishes and invited their relatives or acquaintances. After the
liturgy in the church, they gathered together and had a good time,
celebrated and cnjoyed themsclves, praising the God.

And then, when a holiday came, people did not know what to
do, they could not go to the church as it was destroyed. They did not
gather together, cven the youth did not go out in the streets, as it was
before, did not sing, did not ¢njoy themselves. Any holiday at that time
was usually the day of gricf, on festive days people recollected their
relatives died of starvation. At that time all holidays were marked with
complaints after famine, they were accompanicd by sorrow. At that
time all holidays in the village were accompanied by the analyses of
what had happened during the previous two years. People recollected
how they had to kill cows, other livestock, how they hid grain, potato.
At that time cach family had its own story, though all were united by
a common misfortunc — famine, artificially causcd by Stalin regime.
Pcople who were full up yet, recollected how they devided that holy
bread into small portions, as a hand(ul of grain was quitc a rarity, as
there was ncither milk, nor oil. Pcople’s memory about terrible
starvation should last for ever lest it should never come again,

LIFE OF THE SCHOOLCHILDREN

Our favoritc summer passed quickly, autumn came. Children
were again going to school. I was preparing to the fourth form, that is
the last form in our village school. We should study well not to be kept
down for another ycar. Who would like (o wadc through mud for
another ycar? It bothered us a lot, we came to school with wet legs
many timcs as the boots were fuil of holes. If you rcturned home with
wet legs, it was not too much trouble, at home you could dry both the
boots and onuchi, but at school they had to dry themsclves.

Studics at school did not give much joy 10 me and it was not
because I did not want to study, the rcason was in the distortion of
the studics. They introduced some clements about Stalin even in the
lessons of arithmetic. Howcever all of us studicd, our organisms were
young and we started to realize that the way to maturity passcd through
a village school, without passing that way, you could not think about
further studying. And it was nccessary for us to study, our father
rcpeated cach time that we should study lest we should be hungry in
futurc. Times arc¢ coming, our father said, that without schooling a
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person could not get any protection and only school would help a
person "o stand on his legs”. Father said: "Study, children, otherwise
you would have to twirl oxen tails in the village!". We understood what
father taught us, we, that is I and my sisiers, as our brother was still
small. My clder sister had alrcady finished the fourth form and joined
the courses of tractor drives. Since her childhood she liked cngincs,
she was fond of them, she liked to watch tractor drivers repairing their
tractors. Our cldest sister was going to the sixth form but she had no
plans as to what she would do in future. And 1, as I had alrcady said,
was going to the fourth form of our village school.

1 had a fricnd, comrade Marusya Paliy, who lived next door.
We had been fricnds with her for many long years. Her father, uncle
Paliy, acquired a bee-garden, during the whole summer bees curried
honey to the hives, so he, uncle Paliy, often gave us that sweet
honey. He put fresh honey on the plate and we dipped some pastry
into it, which the aunt, Marusya’s mother baked off-hand. We had
such dainty mainly on Saturdays. And somctimes our ncighbours
gave us hard honey, in small picces, which had alrcady become
sugared and going to school, we were sucking it.

Our ncighbours Palii were kind to me, they remembered my own
mother who died young, they knew that I was an orphan without
mother. And when their elder daughter died and they buried her near
my mother’s grave, they were taking pity of me still more. And for a
long time, for about fiflty ycars they cleaned dnd kept the mother's
grave in order, clcaning their daughter’s grave. T am very grateful to
them for it. They did it instead of me, when 1 was, against my will,
beyond Ukraina. At that time in autumn of 1933 we were also
preparing for winter. We gathered a lot of leaves from apricot tree for
the goat, dricd them for winter. From that time on the goat replaced
the cow for us and gave us milk. Wealso had sucking-pigs, during
summer we fed them on different Kinds of grass, which we picked up
wherever we could, and then in autumn father was giving them maize
to fodder them and to kill at least onc of them, as there was nothing
left since the previous year and we had to live on something in winter.

We were very glad to have such a thoughtful father! He could
find a way out of any trouble, he was working hard. He knew and
undcrstood a lot. He was literate, he studied at school being a boy,
so he could rcad and write. He knew where and in which way matters
should be settled, he could get all necessary we needed at home.

For winter father stored much hay, corn, wheat, maize, we
grounded flour and filled our abatis. W¢ had wheat groats, barley
groats and we also had millet. We brought pumpkins from the field,
and also mclons and cven water-melons. All these were got for work
days carncd by father and mother during summer, we brought it all
from kolkhoz ficld or kolkhoz. yard. Pcasants cherished hope for the
better. That year the quotas werc less, as cverything was taken away
during the previous years, “"the plan was cxecded”. That year the

69



kolkhoz Icft for itsell something w6 be shared for work days among
colleetive farmers and for sawing next year and madc stores for
winter, as people were afraid of the previous year faminc. People
who starved once were afraid of cverything.

Pcasants recollecting famine told the children that at tsar’s
times there was not a ycar of faminc though the life was hard.
However all the holidays, such as Christmas, were spent merrily,
they were not so poor, so they had what to bake and cook of for
the holiday. Neighbours exchanged dishes, "kolyadnyky" were going
about the village and "kolyadovaly"*, they were welcomed in every
house, they were all celebrating together as the Son of God was
born in Viflicme. The clder pcople told us how horses were
harnessed on Christmas and they went to some other village to visit
their relatives, grandmother or grandfather or brothers-in-law or
sisters-in-law. There were frosts at the end of the year, the horscs
ran radily as they were not worn out as kolkhoz jades were. Youth
also gathered together, had fun together, "kolyadovaly” and sang and
were going with "vertep”, though life was not very rich then but
pcople were not hungry and celebrated all the holidays.

But under Stalin regime all was different. There was no joy.
Pcoplc did not sing together. Poverty was common among Ukrainian
peasants for a long time, there was no prosperity, on the contrary,
there was famine and nced so they had no reason to be checrful
cven on holidays. Pcople mostly hid their thoughts, did not sharc
with the neighbours cither joy, which they hardly had, or troubles.
Dcnunciating, as I had alrcady said, was spreading, so pcople were
afraid to say something.

And at school our heads were stuffed with father Stalin decds,
we were said about the happy life under the new systein. We had to
do homcework, to learn some verses praising the leader. Light at home
was dull because of the shortage of oil, so we had to Icarn poems
under the moonlight in the yard at a haystack when it was warm. At
school the tcacher did not want to understand that we had difficultics
with our homework at home, they did not want to listen to our excuscs,
put a bad mark if somcone did not know the lesson without any talking,
It somcetimes happenced that a teacher made a pupil stay after the classcs
and the child was sitting and cramming his lcssons. And he had to get
home somctimes in snowstorm and frost. And he had to rcturn home
to help father and mother to work about the housc and look after the
cattle. On coming home the child was scolded by his father for coming
latc from school. So we, schoolchildren, had (o bear a lot both from
tcachers and parents. And the main causc of it was our primitive poor
life. There were more capable pupils so they had some better prospects
for futurc and less capable, who having finished the fourth form

* "kolyadovaly", “vertep” - rituals on Christmas eve.
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stayed in koikhoz, stayed for the wholc life not to get cver out of
misfortunc. Such was our kolkhoz childhood.

Propagandists of Stalin rcgimc who were alrcady rather
expericnced were sent to our village more and morc often. They
had alrcady gonc through all schools of Stalin rcgime, they knew
all thc mcthods to makc pcople join kolkhozes, as Josyp
Vissarionovich ordered to cxile to Siberia those who did not want
to join kolkhozcs. So we lived in fear of those propagandists.

In kolkhoz pcople worked just like in “"panshchina”. They got
up carly in thc morning, worked about their houschold, went to
kolkhoz, that is to kolkhoz farmstcad, where they were told what
they had to do that day. The quotas were large, it somctimes
happened that people did not manage to fulfil it during the day so
i therc was a moonlight they worked after the sunsct until the head
of the kolkhoz or the kolkhoz brigade lcader came and allowed to
ccasc the work. And mcanwhile mothers were thinking what their
children were doing being alonc at home. Did they cat something?
Did they work about the house? Were they healthy? Didn’t they
hurt themsclves somewhere?

Often on coming home they found their children asleep, they
could not cven ask them what they were doing for the wholc day,
how they spent it. And in the morning they again had 1o go (o the
ficld, to the kolkhoz fields. Thus it happcned that parents did not
have cnough sleep or rest. In the morning they woke the children
up, told them to do this and that about the house, had a bitc
themselves and give something to us, worked about the houschold
and left for the whole day.

And it lasted for the wholc summer. A year after a ycar passcd.
We, children, got used to such life, got uscd to the fact that we, small
children, had the duty to look after cattle, pigs and also younger children.
Though parcnts did not have mwuch cducation, they knew how to
approach their children. They taught their children to be obedient
somctimes by kindncss, somctimes by a strict word, almost without
physical punishment they reminded us of famine, taught to work. And
we were scarcd by that terrible word “famine”, we were afraid and did
what we were told, we did not want to expericnee the horror of famine
again. So we did as much as we could, we did what was not beyond
our power — picked up fruits, weeded in the kitchen garden, threshed
and hulled pcas. Such work was not difficult for children. We also
worked about the houschold and madc the life of our parcnts casicr.

Our parcnts as wc kncw quite well werc exhausted by
starvation, thcy werc not well after it, but they had to work in
koikhoz ficlds to carn on work days some whcat, maize and so on.
They had to sce that we had a cow or at Icast a goat in our household
to have milk, to have a pig in the pigsty as meat under hard labour
was necessary for a human organism. They, parcnts, had to work
ior the kolkhoz not to be accused of sabotage, not to be recalled
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that somctimes somebody had a kulak in their family, that is an
cnemy of Stalin regime. :

Thus, carly in thc morning parcnts having worked about the
houschold, looking at themsclves and not saying anything to
themselves, went to the kolkhoz, Mcanwhile Stalin propagandists
werc sitting in the office, often taking a drink the morning after
drinking-bout the previous night. They could afford it as they were
authoritics. They were representatives of Stalin regime in the village
and as if in mockery, olten fell on a peasant, saying “This is not
panshchina, we have everything in common, there are no landlords
now, you should fulfill the quetas”. And they did not care for a peasant,
lct him turn up his tocs in the ficld, it did not touch those propagandists.
Pcople, having listened to that twaddle, went to the ficld silently and
did what they were told. They worked although some of them did not
feel well. There were incidents when o person was taken ill in the ficld,
then the only good thing was that he was taken by the ambulance to
the hospital. It also happened that a person taken to the hospital did
not rcturn home but died in the hospital. And the cause of it was
inhuman overload, both physical and mental,

I saw cverything, remembered, thought over and made my own
conclusions. And it scemed to me that there was no life for me in
kolkhoz, 1 would not be able 1o bear it. 1 would not bear such hard
labour, such strain. Village mistortune scemed to me to be a bottom,
from which once could not rise. As [ saw how people lived, 1 was among

them. I saw how the collective farmers had to harness their cows 0
plough their personal plot as horses were given away to the kolkhoz
I felt sorry not only for the people but the caws as well which pulling
the cart had no strength to pull it lay under the collar. Cows were also
used to carry something for the kolkhoz, They were exhausted, they
had no strength. Cows, harnessed to do hard work, ceased milking,
And so it turned out around. It was a circle without beginning and end.

I remembered the clder people’s talks and knew that all this evil
which fell on our Ukrainian village came with Stalin power, together
with introducing kolkhoz system in our oncc not poor Ukrainian village.
1 remembered clder people’s talks who were speaking what Lenin and
all his group was, about thosc who made first February and then
October revolution. 1 remembered that at that time the Jews were
mostly accused of our misfortuncs, because they were at power and
they devised the new system. People said that it was they who first
started building the new system, then Russian people did it and some
Ukrainians joincd them. I know from my own cexpericnce that Stalin’s
supportcrs, Ukrainian by nationality, were worsc than strangers.

It is nccessary to say some words about Ukrainians who began
serving Stalin regime. They, traitors, wanted (o prove that they were
really ardent executives of Stalin orders, they were morc ardent than
all other strangers. To have a larger loafl they were rcady (o treat
with cruclty their own brother, take away from him what was Ieft,
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in spitc of the threat of hunger. There were some people among us,
Ukrainians, who changed their names, they went to other villages, to
other places, and there they did their dirty work. They, without
hesitation, killed with their own hands those who were called kulaks
and in fact those who during many years sincc tsar’s times werc working
hard with the whole family from dawn till late at night and just for this
they were punished, often by our turncoats rencgades. They were
mostly idlcrs, which were not cager to carn somcthing by carnest
labour, but instcad still under tsar’s times what they carned off-hand
or what they stole [rom their father drank up, and had a good time.
And then they became “bidnyak” (a poor man). [ think that a true
bidnyak is a person who came across some misfortunc or those who
did not inherit anything from their parents, even a patch of land. They
really were not able 1o acquire their own ficld, their own house, being
a hired hand. They were true bidnyaki and they were not few, however
almost all of them under any power were honest people and under
Stalin regime as well they did not stain their conscicnece, did not stretch
their hand o other people’s property. And it were they, who at first
welcoming the new system, when they got a plot of land, working
honestly during some years became rather well-to-do and it were they
who under Stalin regime were reckoned to be kulaks. Those, who only
some years ago were hired men and if it were not for the Sovict power,
they would remain hired hands for the whole life. And then, having
become rather well-to-do, they at once became “cnemics”, class enemy
clement, who had to be annihilated as class. And thus our such hard
working Ukrainians were dispossessed by our idlers, mcrcenary
crcatures. But their time came too, when they, those Stalin servants,
were shot, imprisoned in order not to leave witnesses of Stalin crimes.

They, Ukrainians themselves, did the most brutal work in
villages before and during famine. It were they, who spicd on a
pcasant, who without the sil'rada’s pcrmission killed a pig and
smoked it instcad of stripping the skin and gave it to cooperative to
makc footwear or other leather items. It was mainly they who went
about the peasants’ houscholds with "shchup® that is an iron rod
with a decpening at the end and pierced in the kitchen gardens and
in haystacks scarching whether a peasant hid some wheat.

I remember that they were scarching in our yard too, looking
for a smoked pork. They, like hounds, worked mostly with their
nosc. They werce scarching, smclling out, but did not find anything
as father knew well how to hide meat or corn. Those nmcerecenary
creatures did not manage to find anything in our houschold. And I,
though I was still small, thougk: — whether those stooges had no
conscicnce at all, if they could without any thought deprive children
and old pcopic of bread? Didn’t they have children of their own?
And if they did have, whether they wished their own children the
same misfortunc which they did to their villagers? They did sce that
people were dying of starvation, they saw that they were taking the
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last. They also had to know, had to rcalize that the grain, takcn
away from pecasants by Stalin order, was loaded on English ships
and carricd awafl from the country. They couldn’t help knowing
about it, as pcople were talking about it and Berdyans’k was not far
from our villages, pcople went there, saw it by their own cyes and
spoke about it. Qur father saw it too and did not hide it. When an
offence is donc by a stranger, it hurts, but when it is donc by
somcbody closc — it hurts much more.

Time passced quickly, it flew like a swift-winged bird. And 1
did not notice when my studics in the village school came to end,
when 1 finished the fourth form. Onc could go to the fifth form to
the village Verkhnya Tyrsa, ncar Gulyaypole. It was a higher, morc
organized school in comparison to our village one. But it was the
matter of the next autumn and then when [ finished the fourth form,
it was the spring of 1934. I mysclf and my parcnts were glad to sce
my good marks in my school certificate.

We had the whole summer ahcad before going to the fifth form
to Verkhnya Tyrsa, which was about four kilometers from our village.
Just like last year we did some work cither in the kitchen garden or
about the house. We also helped our mother to fulfil the quota given
to her. As soon as bects grew so as the space between the rows could
be seen, we were going to the field with the choppers to chop. We
were not the only ones who helped mother but other children helped
their mothers as well. So we weeded, picked out weeds and other grass,
so that the roots were not left in the ground. Such work was not
cxhausting for us, on thc contrary, after long school year, when we
werc silling at the desk during wholc day, it was good for us to be in
the open air, get warmed by the sun, to be alone with nature.

Our brother Mytya was five years old and sister Shura was cight.
Even they began to help about the houschold in summer. So, when
summer vacations camg, all the children, both those who went to school
and thosc who were small for it yet, all had somcthing to do. Somebody
picked grass for pigs, or rabbits, others looked after the goat, still others
stored forage for the cow, rabbits or goat to be fed in winter. Thus we
had to pick grass, gather Icaves, dry all this and lay together in the yard
so that it would not get wet. Children in villages worked under kolkhoz
system. And we were told at school that children labour was used only
at tsar’s time. That is not true, children in villages always got used to
work from carly age, nonc was idle. Even if such work was to look
after younger brother or sister.

To wrile memoirs — it’s as if to confcss, so onc must say both

good and bad. And thus I must not conccal the fact, that we, children,
ot used to steal since childhood. There hardly was such a thing
cfore the kolkhoz systcm was cstablished. But undcr the conditions
of the kolkhoz life even children learnt to steal. Our parcnts knew
about it, it was not considercd to be a moral crime, though it
deformed our young souls. Thus we went to the ficld before reaping,
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picked wheat-cars, when nobody saw it, got grain out of them, put
them in our bosom, ticd our waists with some lace and thus brought
the grain home. Mainly we fed hens on i, which laid cggs cvery
day. The hens picked 1t without understanding that it was stoled,
that it were we, children, who stole it. And we were glad, looking
at the hens and listening 1o their cackle. As it was our own houschold
— hens, chickens and rabbits. And during reaping cvery day we
brought quitc a lot of grain. Grain was lying in hcaps on_the
threshing-floor, it was spilled ncar combines. We uscd (o run sometimes
to the ficld o bring more grain home. And it was just bccause we
remembered famine all the time, we were witnesses and participants
in the largest misfortune of Ukraina in this century, during which, as
they said, it came to the cannibalism. And thus we were stealing. And
could we be accused of it? Whether we or our parcnts? Maybc not.
New system in the village, Stalin regime, Stalin himsclf were to blame,
as Stalin reduced Ukrainian peasants and their children to that state.
As the ghost of recent hunger rose before our eyes.

DOCTOR’S ASSISTANT AND OBSTETRICS
SCHOOL IN ORIKHOY

Ycars passcd, from autumn till spring I went to school that
was in Verkhnya Tyrsa, in summer I helped in the ficld, cach time
more and more or [ worked about the housc as I was not small.
And thus I finished my studics in the primary school. I was already
fourtecn, it was 1939. There were mainly good marks in my school
certificale for the seventh form and it meant that I studied rather
well. I thought to myself that it was not a bad idca to continuc my
studics so that I would not pick weeds for the rest of my life or
weed beets till the old age and so on. I did not want to stay in
kolkhoz, working hard, living in poverty and cven stealing.

I was thinking and thinking and at last dccided to enter the
mcdical school or, to be more cxact, Doctor’s Assistant and
Obstetrics school. Such schools were just started to be organized,
so the applicants werc not required to be Komsomol or Party
members. 1 decided to study further. 1 was the only one who decided
so, as my [ricnds, having finished the primary school, that is seven
forms, went to work in the kolkhoz. I took my papers and alone,
just like a bladc of grass in the ficld, went to join that school. It
scemed to me that the God himsell wished so, it dawned upon me
and I dccided to study further. I wished to become somebody, who
would be uscful for peoplc, to help them. And to reach it one had
to study. I recollected our Taras Shevehenko, his orphan and serf
childhood, his inenviable youth. The thoughts about him made my
wish to study stronger, he gave me strength. And what 1 had decided
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had to become a reality. Nobody could prevent me, my decision,
only mc as I was the only onc from the whole village, who decided
to study further. [ faced large difficultics and a long road. I was
determined 10 overcome them and to become useful for people.

Having got ready for the way to the town, I went to say good-byc
to our ncarcst ncighbours Palii, and in particular, to say good-byc to
my fricnd. When uncle Paliy and aunt Mariya heared where 1 was
going, the aunt cricd out: "Tonya, Tonya, you arc going to study to the
town where your own sister lives!™. T was taken aback, {rightencd, got
pale. Then 1 turned red when blood came again to my face. At first 1
was not able to say anything, it took my breath away.

Coming to mysclf I asked what sister were they taiking about,
I was alrcady fourteen years old and 1 knew nothing about any
sister, why did they say about my sister so late? Besides my sisters,
that is my, stcpmother’s daughters — my step-sisters and a sister
and a brother, born by the marriage of my father and the
step-mother, 1 did not know any other sister, never heard of her.

Our ncighbours the Palii explained me: "Yes, you have your
maternal sister”. She is alive and lives in the town there you arc
going. And aunt Paliy told me once again in detail how my mother
dicd and was buricd. I remembered the first news about my mother,
where her grave was, how I ran to her grave and cried there, asking
my mother to come o me.

I was very glad of the news about my sister. Having said
good-buy to the Palii, I went to sil’rada o take the certificate as 1
did not have my passport yet, I was not [iftcen years old yet and
passports were given some after fifteen years. And to be registered
in the town a certilicate was neeessary, in which it should be written
that T was a resident of the village of Kopani, Ukrainian by
nationality, Pctro Khlemendyk’s daughter.

On coming home, I said good-buy to my father, mother, sisters
and brother. I was leaving my house where I had lived for many years,
the house which was built for my own mother and where came my
fathcr who in some time after mother’s death married a widow. I said
good-buy and felt that I could not say a single word. I felt great sorrow
becausce the fact that I had my maternal sister somewhere had been
conccaled from me for so many ycars by my lather and stepmother.
How could they not say anything to me about my sister? Why did they
keep silence? As it meant a lot to me, as this was my mother’s own
child living somewhere. And docs she know anything about me? Indeed
village life is crucl, it is very complicated and crucl.

From aunt Paliy I got the address of my sister and was intcnding
to find her. I was going to the new place where 1 would live, the
ncw cpoch in my life began, It was 1939. I was looking for new
friends, for a placc to live in. I considercd my futurc occupation to
be devoted to people, to be uscful to them. I was going to the town
without knowing, where 1 would live — in the hostel or at some
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private flat. But I was very optimistic, I was surc that 1 could make i.

Reality was not crucl to mc at that time. Fatc was favourable
to mc in the new place. Though 1 did not get a room in the hostel
but I found lodging rather casy. It was a four-bed room, thus I
quickly found three more girls to be my room-mates to live together
and to make it chcaper, as we all came from a village so we were
not well-to-do. We would pay for the room from our scholarship
which was promiscd (o us when admitting us to the school. We took
beds, which we found near our college, as our school was named,
where they just lay in a heap. It took us two days to scttle. It was
becausc there were many bugs in the beds which we took. The beds
were covercd with rust so they should be cleanced and poured with
boiling watcr. Though we had not scen bugs till then, we knew that
the beds should be poured with boiling watcer as our parents did it
in the village. They must have done it for profilaxis from bugs. Bugs
arc parasitcs of grcat vitality, they suck human blood and can transfer
various discascs. Qur hostcss, at whose housc we rented a room,
helped us to clean up. She gave us "okrop” that is boiling water and
we pourcd it on our beds. Besides we lubricated them with
petrolcum which was given to us by this very woman to whosc
housc we were to scttle.

We put beds at the walls and in the middle of the room we
put a table to writc on it and have mcals at it. The room was not
large but we, new fricnds, reconciled with it.

Our studics began. Pupils came to school. There were small
desks in the classrooms just for two persons cach. Onc should find
a fricnd at school 0o to sit at onc desk. Since the very first days
cverything was scttled, I got acquainted to new surroundings quickly.

We werce given text-books on micdicine and general cducation
as well, as at that school we studicd not only medical subjects, but
the curricula for 8-9-10 forms. We had a lot of things to study, cach
subjcct being taught by another tecacher. During some months |
adapted mysclf to new requircments, to studying, to new order at
school, where onc had to be on duty and so on. At the lcssons 1
listened carcfully and wrote down into excrcisc books what tcachers
told us and after classes I reread, revised — 1 studied for short.

. My room-mates were girls who camc from village, but their
villages were situated ncarer than mine. And my village was as far
as twenty-cight kilometers. Onc girl was called Lesya, the other —
Tanya. I did not rcmember the name of the third. Studics took much
time, so wc could go home only once in two wecks. We agreed that
we would go home in turn to bring some food. We had to take
somc food stuff from home, as in the town cven if you had money
in order to buy a bread you had to stand in a qucue for a jong time.
Qucues werc formed since the morning and to buy bread, you had
to quecue up till dinner and they first sold bread to workers from
the factory. Bread-line had to be, as it was said, "zastoyaty”, that is
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to queuc up, stand there for some time, and leave it, asking to keep it
in order 1o return soon. It was not once when aficr queucing up for a
long time, we came back emply handed as there was not enough bread
for all, Half-starving pupils went to school and 1uickly got tired. [ was
happy o have my room-matcs, whose parcnts lived not far from the
town and they gave their daughters enough bread to be shared with me.

Tonya and her friend Lyusya at the time of studying in medical school
in Orikhiv, Zaporizhzhye region, 1939

But to tell the truth I went to school half-starving. But | had to
study. Classes lasted for six and more hours, and afier then we had
practice cither in the ho;pila.‘l or in the drug-storc. Though Saturday
and Sunday were days ofl, | did not have a rest as | was the poorest
onc among the girls, | had to nurse the children of our hostess, 1o take
care of the yard as she ofien left with her husband on the days off. |
did it in!il!:aga of sna‘r.r\g rent. 1 had 1o milk the cow, to covk something
for the children and duc to it was not hungry on these days. Sometimes
the hosts gave me some presents — cither a dress or a skirt and it
even happencd that they gave me some footwear, which was absolutly
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necessary in town, as nobody went barcfooted there cspecially to school.

Lifc in the town was morc cultural than in the village. Though
in towns Stalin rcgime ruled as well but people lived much better.
Somec of them were qualified workers, others were clerks or
handicraftsmen. It was not likc in kolkhoz where there was no need
for any school "to twirl oxcn tails’, to go to the ficld to weed, to
chop or look after the cattle. o

In summer we had holidays, that is summer vacations just like in
other schools. Village girls did not wastc time. I know it by mysell that
during holidays I staycd in my native village and helped parcnts in the
ficld to carn some work days. Thus I, futurc medical worker, was going
to the ficld to weed, to chop, shortly, I helped to grow agricultural
products. In latc summer we picked fruits, water-melons, mclons,
pumpkins, We brought it all to the definite place. The collective farmers
treated us, pupils of sccondary schools, wish respect, they were proud of
our helping to them. And we meanwhile helped our parents to increase
the quantity of work days which were necessary for all of us.

I liked to rccite poems so I, on the occasion of holidays, was
invited to recite poems from the stage. It happencd on May holidays,
on October holidays or Shevehenko holidays when I came to the
village. I never refused and, on the contrary, I was proud of being
respected, so that the wholc village saw mc at the stage. I recollected
that I recited loudly, distinctly and got applausc. Mainly I rccited
very good poems but they praised the regime which 1 did not like
as all the time, I remembered what misfortune we expericnced under
it, collectivization and faminc includcd.

It came to even my mind, to the mind of a very young person,
that our life was composcd of lics. We were poor, we cven dicd of
starvation and only some ycars passecd and pcople arranged
magnificent celebrations in honour of the new regime, during which
they, as a rule, glorificd "father of all peoples” Tosip Stalin. All this
was non-moral, false, hateful to me. 1 saw and cven heard how
Stalin was glorified by thosc, who cursed him when talking with
ncighbours. Pcople led double life — they were saying one things
among themsclves, and quite the opposite in public.

I recollect as there was some holiday and it was nccessary to
make up the programme of art performance and the organizers had a
lot of troubles as they did not know pocms of what poct could be read.
It was the time when some poet or writer was stigmatized as the
betrayer of Motherland, spy, trots’kist, bukharincts’ or otherwise. A
writer was not only stigmatized, but shot, sent to the prison or exilc.
Thus the trouble was if a poem was recited at the celebration and its
author was shot the previous day or some days ago. Who was to blame
and what the blame was? And Stalin regime did not investigate for a
long time, it acted according to the rulc: it is better to shoot a hundred
of innocent people than to leave free just onc guilty. Such were the
troubles of the organizers of state holidays. And we, pupils, knew from
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thosc who were cxiled to Siberia, that there found himself this or
that writer or a former party official. Our relatives, who were taken
away with our grandfather and grandmother did not cever reach
Sibceria but dicd on the way there in the Urals,

FOREBODING OF WAR

In 1938-1939 the Sovict power sold a lot of grain and other
agricultural products as well as industrial raw matcrials. It was donc
in the fulfillment of the non-aggression pact between the Soviet
Union and Germany. However among pcoplc there were rumours
about Hitler’s getting ready to the aggression, and at the same time
the Soviet Icaders did not wish to belicve in thesc rumours, cven
punished for their spreading.

Once the village was ccelebrating something, I do not know
what exactly they were celebrating. Each time there was some kind
of mccting near the sil’rada. A weck before that celebration the head
of the kolhkoz camc to us with a press-cutling, in which therc was
a versc about Hitler. The head asked me to learn this verse by heart
and recite it at the cclebration. A gucst speaker from the region was
to come, who was to give pcople information about the political
situation in the world. I rcad that verse some times and memorized
it. It was a rather clumsy verse. We knew that the meceting was to
take place on Saturday, so pcoplc were waiting for that day, worricd
by various rumours about the possibility of thc war,

The gucst spcaker explained at the mecting this and that, the
international situation as well, he said that therc were rumours all
over the country, but we, that is the Sovict Urion, was so strong
that it was not afraid of any aggression, that it could destroy any
cncmy at the ecnemy’s own territory. From the distance of many
ycars 1 can only say that such explanation of the international
situation to the pcasants did not give credit to the Sovict Icaders and
Stalin in particular. And here is that versc:

HITTLER IS SADDLING HORSES

Hittler is saddling horses and putting guns out

He is looking all round him,

He is waiting for breakfast in the East and for dinner
in the West

But watch out, you damned Hitler, that you would run
naked away.

We kno you will not go far,

We know that you are called the bandit.
So watch out not to reach the rope,

On which you will hang.
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It was a small primitive verse which I recited for the last time
in our village. After that mecting I again went to our medical school.

The year of 1940 came. We were mainly taught the first
medical aid, lcaving studing biology or other theorctical scicnces on
the background. Our military instructor, in Russian "vocnruk” taught
us military training cach time more persistently, paying attention to
the necessity to have practice in medical aid to the wounded under
battle conditions. We, girls, understood, that when war started, we
would be the first to be taken to the front. We began thinking
whether it was worth studying in the mcdical school. However they
were just thoughts, we had to study.

in practicc all our studying scemed to came to the hands of
military instructor, that is the instructor on military training. We gucsscd
that his task was to train as many medical nurscs as possiblc for the
war nceds. We understood that in the scnior forms medical nurscs
were being trained, who werc to be sent to the forcfront, and we, junior
pupils, were being trained as medical nurses for the rear with the aim
to work in the ficld hospitals. Such atmosphere could not but influcnce
psychic statc of girls, some of them fell into hysterics, ncrvous discasc.
There were many talks around about preparation for the war, it was
nceessary, as they said, to defend "Motherland®, to get ready for the
great battle. And who wanted to fight? We, girls, had no wish to do it.

In 1940 there were no summer vacations in our school. All
pupils were allowed to go for two days and sce their relatives and
after it we were to return to school unless somebody wanted to
cease his studics.

The head of the school was a strict woman, she was Jew as
well as most of the tcachers. There were also Ukrainians among the
tcachers, but "voenruk”, that is military instructor, was Russian. Wc
had no grounds for complaining about our tcachers regardless their
nationality. The pupils of our school were mainly Ukrainians except
somc Jews. We werc all friendly, there were absolutcly none racial
or national prejudicc.

At that time the problems connccted with L.Kaganovich bcing
a sceretary in Ukraina, were unknown (o us. We only knew that the
main, thc most important culprit of all our misfortuncs, cspecially
collectivization of villagc and famine, was Stalin, and his inhuman
regime under which during somc years many millions of pcoplec
dicd. Mcanwhile talks about the war became more frequent. It was
at that time when the Red Army marched into West Ukraina, it
happened in the middic of Scptember of 1939, when Polish statc
stopped its existence. Since that time the Soviet Union bordered
dircctly upon Germany. Though there was the signed pact about
non-aggression between the USSR and Hitler Germany, the talks
about Hitler war against the USSR did not ceasc. Perhaps, various
clerks, commissars, NKVD, party stuff, were afraid of the war as
they had various privileges, they had not a bad life, they did not
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cxpericnee hunger. Their power was more cruel than tsar satraps’
as under the tsar there were different partics, onc could write to
their press. But Stalin opritchniks felt themsclves unpunished.

Common pcople, just like all pcople, did not want war, as each
war brought much losscs to common pcople. Though common
people had no reason to be fond of Stalin regime, they did not want
war. Everybody worked hard, there was uncertainty, nobody
protested when he was ordered to work at the factory for ten or
morc hours a day. Pcoplc were awarc that the country suffcred
shortage of many things from food stuff to horses or various kinds of
cquipment, that there was hard‘I{ any supply of brcad, as during the
previous ycars a lot of it was sold to the Great Britain and to Germany
as well. And delivery of different products to Germany did not stop
ncither in 1940 nor later up to the war. So food stuff was sold to
Germany and in our country there were queucs to buy bread, cverybody
was waiting for the ncw harvest in order that people could live on it.

The winter of 1940-1941 was very scvere, therc were hard
frosts, roads were blocked with snow, snowstorms never stopped.
We were studying hard, first of all mastering the knowledge of giving
first aid to thc wounded. And all the time I kept looking for my
sister. I was not successful in it yct. And again I wrote a letter to
Artcmivs’k but ncver got the answer. But almost a year had passed
sincc 1 started looking for her. She, like a bird, flew somewherc
without lcaving a tracc. I was looking for my sister thoroughly, 1
asked cverybody about her without even being sure I would find
out somcthing. I wanted to sec her greatly as I had never seen her
before, I cven did not know about her existence.

Being at home, I did not tell my father that I was looking for
Mariyka, my maternal sister. I kept silent and was sorry that he
conccaled from me the existence of my sister for so many years.
Father did not know that I was told about that family secret by the
neighbours, they asked me not to tcll anybody as mother and father
would be angry with them.

1 had relatives on my mother’s side — mother’s sistcr and my
aunt Nadiya Antonenko. She lived in the village of Novodanilivka and
had four children — three girls and a boy, my cousins. I also found
them as I was not told about them at home. In summer I went to see
them and visits to my aunt gave joy to me. They had a large garden
where [ regaled on fruits, helped them to work about the houschold
as my aunt did not manage to do everything alone. Her husband was
sent (o Siberia for 25 ycars though, as I was told, he did not do anything
wrong (o the sovict power. But, as pcople said, Stalin regime followed
such policy to sentcnce to many years for everything, even for picking
up cars in the ficld. They said that Stalin nceded frec working hands,
s0 they were used, with the hands of those, sentenced and sent, towns
were built, coal and gold were mined, great forests were cut down. I
knew alrcady about these free working hands as such were
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grandfather’s and grandmother’s Shcherbakh relatives.

. When I was at my aunt’s Nadya in Novodanilivka, we often talked
also about grandfather Shcherbakh’s family. I told my aunt cverything
that I knew about it. That Shcherbakh’s two younger daughters
managed (0 survive somchow, they were aunt Nadya and aunt Katya.
They both had three children there, who were born alrcady in Siberia,
thosc children knew their gencalogy, knew that they were Ukrainians,
that their grandfather and grandmother werc also cxiled but did not
managc to get to the place, dicd on the way there. Our aunts sent
letters from Siberia, so I read them to aunt Nadya, my mother’s sister.
In their Ictters the aunts complaincd that they had to work hard, that
they had no possibility to rcturn home, they were still called cither
kulaks or kulak’s offsprings. They wrote in their Ictters that it was
difficult for them to reconcile with such state, as they knew that
grandfather Shcherbakh’s prosperity was not a result of some kind of
other people’s cxploitation, it was a result of his and his family’s hard,
unccasing work. So they considered their cxile to Siberia to be an
injustful act and they could not forget it. They cven wrote about
grandfather’s Shcherbakh crror. His error, as my aunts saw it, and they
were literate, laid in the fact, that the grandfather did not foresee that
the worse could be cxpected from Stalin regime. They thought that the
grandfathcr should have divided the land between his sons and
daughters, should have given the cattle and other livestock to them and
so there would be some small houscholds. And the grandfather would
have a small houschold too. But as cverything was in common, so it
rcally scemcd that it was a kulak’s houschold. But the fact that there
lived many pcople, including marricd sons, was ignored by the power.
So such werce our talks with my aunt. And the aunt told me that a lot
of pcople among those who were to be exiled to Siberia, ran away,
lcaving all their property, and then they wandered in different villages,
went to the town to look for some job. They were turned to paupers
by the new power.

Even judging from my father's and mother’s talks in 1940, I was
ablc to understand, that pcople with the forthcoming war associatcd
the failure of Stalin’s inhuman power. The people’s life out of doors
was like a cheap dccoration, pcople outdoors said one thing, as if
praised the new power, and in reality complained of the regime, could
not reconcile with it. And it was only but natural for those who were
awarc of the fact that in towns and especially in the village, people
worked hard and did not get any payment for their job. It even scemed
to me that pcople, praising the time that passed exaggerated the
well-being of both peasants and petty bourgeois. The worse they lived
under the new regime, the better. became the tsar regime in their
memories. The (sar regime had already passed, it did not hurt any
longer, and the new regime bothered and hurt cvery day, you cannot
closc your eyes on it. And indeed, under the tsar the common people
were not taken into account but especially after the revolution of
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1905 the lifc was casicr than at Stalin times. Thus they regretied
the tsar though he was not worth regretting. Today from the distance
of time and spacc much scemed to be incomprehensible to me. In
particular, I can’t understand that the years following 1930 and later
people in the village did not talk about the period of Ukrainian
people republic, about Hetmanship and Dircctory. Perhaps the
above mentioned periods did not last long or because all that took
placc under the conditions of war? And the peasants mainly thought
about the cnd of the war. Besides the national awareness of
Ukrainian pcasants of Priazov'yc was not high at that time. Thus
how I cxplain mysclf praising of the tsar period.

By 1940 I had alrcady known that there were children who
cncouraged by the authoritics, gave up their parcnts. In fact, there
was not any rcason (o give them up as they, parents, did not commit
any crime, and complaints of the cxisting systcm arc not considered
to bc a crime in any cultural state, statc power could not be liked
by cverybody. And cven for that as a rcsult of children’s
dcnunciation, their parcnts were shot as they were considered to be
the enemics of the people, they spread enemy propaganda, they did
not tcach their children to love socialism. Though onc may strongly
doubt whether it was socialism indeced. 1 recollect as it was written
in some newspapers that children denounced their parents, they
cven often changed their family names as, they said, thcy were
ashamcd of bearing the same family namc as their parents-betrayers.
Such upbringing of children, as I began to realize in some years,
was the greatest cvil of Stalin regime. To opposc a child to his father
i's a crime against mankind, against the clementary laws of
humanity, lcaving alonc the violation of all principlcs of pedagogy.

And therc was another catcgory of pcople who traced,
cavesdropped other adults, ‘often their fricnds’ parents. Having
cavesdropped, such children denounced to the authoritics and then
there was the usual procedure — arrest, somctimes trial and morc
oftcn only the decision of “triyky” or tac so called "OCCQ" (Special
Sitting), and prison or cxile or shooting and confiscation of property.
Thus, the fricnd of the informer was turned out of the house, and
informer perhaps did not realize that hc made a disgusting act, on the
contrary, hc seemed to be proud of his "decad" as he scrved the new
power, served the rcvolution. And the children of those who were
scntenced, cxiled, shot became homcless, were taken to children’s
homes, they lcarnt to stcal, were deprived of their nationality, they led
immoral lifc. It scems that thc colony headed by Anton Makarenko
consisted of such children, who described it in such works as "Flags
on the Towers", "Pedagogic Pocm", "March of 30s" and others.

In 1930, when I was about fiftcen, I made fricnds at school
with the girls of my age and with clder girls as well, who werc
sixtcen, seventeen years old. We had to take care about ourselves,
to build our future, to choose our way.
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In the town the loudspeakers were broadcasting patriotic,
cheerful music or some speeches, which as a rule ended by a lot of
slogans: “Long live the Communist party of bil'shovyks", "Long live
comrade Stalin!”, "Long live the leader of world proletariat Tocip
Vissarionovich Stalin”, "Long live the invincible Red Army” and so
on and so force. But the sun ol Stalin did not shine cqually to
everybody. It shone to some people and to the others, to the majority
of people, it darkened the light. Working hard, people did not have
any joy, they did not have cnough food, they did not have cither
clothes or foatwear. Nobody cven mentioned items of luxury.

I somctimes thought then and even now 1 think whether the
world knew what was happening in our country? Whether people in
the world knew about our misfortune, about our recent famine, that
we were wearing rags, that we even did not know about the items
without which the poorest man in the free world could not do? Whether
the world knew about the queucs, which became the everyday part of
our scencry, that people were queucing not for cxtravagant items, but
for bread, salt or some meters of cowon. That in sovict shops there
were not and never were wool suits, that for girls, who had a new poor
blouse and a skirt it was all they could dream of? Whether the world
knew about tarpaulin boots, which were deficit as well? There is a lot
of these questions, which could be asked, they are endless. Just like
there was no end to our misfortune.

Yes, the world did know about the inhumanity of Stalin regime,
knew about the conditions of life in the Soviet Union, knew about
arrests, cxiles and shooting. Knew, as it was written in the
newspapers of some Curopean countries and Amcrica as well. The
West kncw, that under the regime, cstablished by Stalin, people
became worse than cattle, that even cattle lived badly. And indeed,
cows were used for ploughing, for carring loads and horscs did not
look like horses, their sides sank deeply, they were shaggy. There
was no host, nobody to look after the livestock. Instcad there were
a lot of authoritics, two chicls for onc groom, who could give him
orders. There was a lot of milk in the country, especially on the
paper, in the reports and then on the pages of newspapers. But there
was shortage of it in towns as well as in villages, as we had Lo give
to the kolkhoz cven the milk got from the cows which were fed on
personal plots. Thus the collective farmers did not always have it.

Maybe it would never come (o my mind that it was possible
to grow up more grain and livestock. Our priasov land is chcrnozem
of Zaporizhshya. | still remember our soil after ploughing, it glittered
under the sun as if it was lubricated with the best oil. Such soil could
give recally record yiclds. Mcanwhile peasants grew twice or thrice
more on much worsc soil of West Europe than we on our fertile
arable land. And cven what was grown grew worse under our
conditions, it was spoilt while transporting, sprouted on the
threshing-floors, as there were no silo or storchouses for grain. Who
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is to blame? Is it a peasant, who is known to be hard working,
resourceful, cconomical? No, he was not to blame. There was only
onc culprit — Stalin and his stooges, the regime, established by them.,

Thus people thought whether the demand of the power to defend
that regime in case of war wins justilicd? Was the desire to fight for that
regime justificd for the people, who experienced so much humiliation?
Whether a young man, who recently experienced starvation, who ate
grass, acacia llowers, roots felt sense of duty to defend the power, which
was to blame of his mistortunc? Such questions, no doubt, were put to
themsclves by young men, peasants or who were peasants not long ago.
At that time it was necessary indeed to think about it. They were
broadcasting, writing in the newspapers and mostly at the meetings they
were saying that Hitler attacked Austria, joined it to Germany, attacked
Czechoslovakia and Poland. So he could not but have his cyc on the
Sovict Union and our fentile Ukraina first of all.

TToday 1 think whether Hitler took into account gencral fecling
of the population of the Soviet Union, getting rcady for the war with
it? Evidently he did. He knew perlectly well that the population of our
country was not satisficd with the existing regime, he knew that not
long ago, only some ycars before, people were dying of starvation,
fathers and mothers with their children. Those people who were
deprived of all their property, everything that was acquired during many
ycears, taken to Siberia, could not be content with that regime. So could
nol be content the children of those, who were sentenced to
imprisonment for many ycars without any fault or to shooting. It was
not without rcason that people said that the Sovict socicty was divided
not according to classcs but according to three categorics — those who
had sat, thosc who were sitting and thosc who would be sitting. It
meant “sitting” in prisons. "Sitting" undcer Stalin’s regime is a
conventional word as none of the covicts or those cxiled was really
“sitting", i. ¢. was scrving his term in jail without work. Truc, being
deprived the right to work is also a good deal of a pcnalty, though in
Stalin’s concentration camps people used to work like cattle — without
sufficient food, without medical care, they lived under antisanitary
conditions in barracks, with no right to correspondence, no right to
rcad, ctc. Concentration camps were invented by Stalin’s regime, they
had cxisted when Hitler did not yet come to power. Hitler took Stalin’s
concentration camps as an cxample, arranging them in his country,
first in Germany, and later in occupicd lands. It is enough to rcad books
by Alexander Solzhenitsyn to imaginc horrors of Stalin’s camps. They
were actually dcath camps. Arbitrariness of the ward, deprivation of
elementary rights and medical care, miserable food, slavish labour,
antisanitary conditions rcsulted in the fact that people dicd by the
hundred, by the thousand, by the million taking into account the
number of camps. There were lots of them. It is not in vain that
Alcxander Solzhcenitsyn named the main book of his lifc "GULAG
ARCHIPELAGO". The word “archipclago” mcans that there were
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as many camps as there arc islands in an archipclago. The word
"GULAG" mecans "Central Board of Camps". GULAG is an
abbreviation for the terrible institution of the Stalinist times, besides
Chcka ("Extraordinary Commission").

Hitler was aware of all this and he hoped that the Sovict pecople
would not fight with great enthusiasm when he attacked the USS.R.

Mecanwhile Stalin behaved as if Hitler were his friend. It is true,
Hitler and Stalin are of the same origin. They arc like twin-brothers.
It oftcn happens that one of the twins is fair-haircd, and the other
one is dark-haircd. The same is with Hitler and Stalin — onc of
them destroying his pcople with hunger and terror, rested upon the
theory of communism, and the other one, also cxterminating his
political opponcnts and conquering peoples, rested upon fascism.
Looking back at thc past, we can say the following: it made no
difference for a person that was being exterminated in a
concentration camp whether it was being done for the sake of
socialism or fascism. Stalin belicved Hitler until the latest moment.
Belicved like a brother would believe his brother. And made a
terrible mistake as it later turned out. But it was not he himsclf who
paid for the mistake, nor his companions, like Kliment Voroshilov,
or Vyatcheslav Molotov, or Lazar Kaganovitch, or Andrey Zhdanov,
or Lavrenty Beriyz, or others. His mistake fcll upon the shoulders
of ordinary pcopic, soldicrs, pcaceful people of conquered by Hitler
lands, the Ukrainc, first of all. Both of them — Hitler and Stalin —
arc murderers, nonc of them cared for even their own people. 1t is
known that when Hitler was told that the German nation was dying,
he answered that the nation deserved it — let them dic if he, the
Fiihrer, was dying. Would not Stalin think the same if he ended in
this way?

They say that Hitler’s mother and Stalin’s father were Jews.
Whether it is true or not, I don't know, but it occurs to mc that
two thousand years ago Jews sent their best son, Jesus Christ, to
death, torturcous dcath, through crucification.

These sad thoughts come to my mind when I realize how Hitler
and Stalin werc exterminating their own and other peoples.

Our people, after the intelligentsia had been exterminated, was
draincd of strength as a rcsult of continuous terror. Who could at
that time, under Stalinist regime, unite the Ukrainians like Cossacks
oncc had coordinated their cffort? There was no freedom, no civil
rights, no opportunity not only for sclf-organization, but not a single
chance to think about it. It was cnough to suspect that
such-and*such a person COULD only think of something bad, hc
was immecdiatcly put to jail or a concentration camp. It was an
unprecedented preventive sysicm for the prescrvation of Stalin’s
power. It is hardly worth speaking about sporadical organizers of
resistance, when at Stalin’s order his former companions werc shot,
latcr thosc who performed it were also shot, and the next day the
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latter would also be shot, in their turn.

Terror, poverty and oppression ruled the country. But in spring
1933 Stalin pronounced his famous words: “Lifc¢ has become better, life
has become merricr!”. There was no town in which you wouldn’t find a
monument to Stalin, or a strect named in his honour. Did anybody cver
count how many collcctive farms or plants were named after him? And
what about citics? There were Stalingrad, Stalino (our Donetsk, former
U'/.ovka?, Stalinabad, Stalinsk, ctc. The highest mountain in the USS.R.
was called Stalin Pcak. He himself was depicted in numerous photocs
and painted by numerous artists as a giant, though in fact he was smaller
then middle size, being only 160 cm tall.

Such was our sun, our hope, our joy, our futurc. Everything was
Stalin. As though no onc could think that he was mortal, that some
day his time would be up. When you think about it, had sclerosis
developed in Stalin a few years longer, he would declare himsclf a saint,
like Julius Cacsar, would order to build altars and pray to him.

Mecanwhilc the whole people had to dance to Stalin’s music.
They rcally did because nobody dared to refuse, as cverybody was
being spicd on, no onc was out of sight. Reading Orwecll’s “1984",
I saw our Soviet socicty of Stalin’s style. Thoughts were really
controlled. It often happencd that hardly had anybody thought bad
about Stalin, when he was arrested there and then, taken away by
“chyorny voron” (a truck painted black) to NKVD. They well new
what to do with such pcople there. There was a saying: "Give us a
man, and we shall find an article to incriminatc him".

We, students of a medical school, were taught not only to give
aid to the wounded, they did their best to make us feel at that time,
in 1940, nurscs at the front. And we did fecl like that. Everything
was subordinated (o war nceds. There was mass psychosis all around
us, among pcople. You could constantly hear songs from the
loud-speakers all over the city:

If war breaks tomorrow,
If enemy assaults,
If dark forces come,
The whole Sovict people as one
" Will stand for the free Motherland.

And further on:

Stalin dear together with us,
The hero Timoshenko,
Voroshilov will lead us towards victory.

It is under thesc conditions that we, students of a medical school,
had to take an oath, something like Hippocratus oath in mcdicinc.

Onc day, during anatomy lcsson when we were attcntively
listcning to the tcacher, somcbody knocked on the door. The teacher
answercd and was told to attend the tecachers’ mecting after classcs.
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We pricked up our cars as there had never been such an urgent
mecting, lessons had never been interrupted. And there it came.
What’s the reason, what could have happened? We got nervous as
the time was somcwhat uncertain and alarming, .

Later we lcarnt that there had not been any mccting, our
hcadmistress had a talk with cach tcacher scparatcly. Well, we
thought, cverybody carcs after his own problems in this or that way,
that’s why thc hcadmistress talked to cverybody, perhaps giving or
asking some advice.

I must say that some teachers were addressed “Professor” at
school, others only by their name and patronymic. The former had
higher cducation, but they were few, as it was difficult to graduate
from a universily or an institute, people were often arrested without
being allowed to finish studics. But those who had been cducated
ycas ago, were cither arrested or prohibited to work in their
speciality. They were constantly suspected of being enemics of the
Party and Government. Many prominent scicntists werc cxecuted
lest they should arouse resistance to that inhumanc power.

In the end of cnds we learnt the rcason for anxicty among our
tcachers. There came rumour from Poland that worricd our tcachers.
According to thosc rumours, Hitlerites began exterminating Jews on
mass scalc in occupicd Poland. In big groups, according to nationality
— if you arc a Jew, you should live in a ghetto, a place isolated
from the rest of people, you should dic, you should be exterminated.
This is what worricd our tcachers, tiicy began thinking what to do.

Later we knew that our headmistress talked to our tcachers as (o
what should be done if Germany attacked the USSR, perhaps, they
pondered where they could hide — the Crimea, or some other place,
Onc way or another we Icarnt that trouble was stirring among Jews, and
with good rcason. Once you arc a Jew, you should fear Hitlerites, because
of their racial theory according to which they considered themselves the
superior race; Slavs were considered inferior; and Jews were the nation
to be extinguished physically. This was their hateful theory.

After classes our mistress told us that our school would be
transferred to Berdyansk. She also mcntioncd the town of
Ossipcnko, but now I can hardly say in what context. She told us
that we did not have to move together with the school by all means,
thosc who cared could do this, thosc who did not, would not finish
the school. The headmistress ordered us to hand in everything that
belonged to school, gave the new school address in Berdyansk and
adviscd us to go and scc our parents and decide what to do.

My fricnds and I dccided to go to Berdyansk. We handed in school
belongings quickly, such as iron beds, mattresses and books that we
had been given at the beginning of the academic year. Books were
expensive at that time, taking into account our poor income, that’s why
school bought them and gave it to pupils. We uscd them, and when
a subject had been studied, we handed in our books to the office.
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Taking our things we, girls, went home to our villages. 1 went
by train, carrying many things with mc. I went by train though there
was a distancc of 18 kilometers from the railway station Gulyaypolyc
to our village, still it was a shortcr way compared to Orikhov. I did
not find my father at home, he turned out to have been mobilized.
At that time many men were cnlisted. Father was summonncd to
the military rcgistration and cnlistment office and became a Red
Army man, though not much of it, they were fitted out and kept in
reserve. This showed that the authoritics were preparing for defence
before German assault. As [ather was out, [ told my step-mother
about my problems, that our school was transferred to Berdyansk,
what should I do, I asked. The step-mother didn’t tell me anything,
she nceither forbade mc to go, nor told me to stay; do what you like
to, she told mec. I pondered whether T should go to continue my
studics at thc medical school or stay in the village to work in the
collective farm. There was no other alternative if I stayed in the
village, as I hadn’t finished school, hadn’t been qualified. Well, the
prospect was likce this: ficld work in the collective farm, or in the
cow-shed or in a pigsty. Therc was no onc to hear advice from, the
stcp-mother kept silence — ncither pro, nor contra.

MEDICAL SCHOOL IN BERDYANSK

Fccling angry with my step-mother, 1 took my suit-case,
propped in my bclongin%s, not many of them as it was still warm,
and madec my way to Gulyaypolye station. I mct my girl-fricnds that
lived in Gulyaypolyc and that also made up their minds to go to
Berdyansk to study. They said they also had nothing to do at home
as they had not got their qualification.

Wec made our way to the station to buy tickcts to Pology as it
was a railway junction from which trains went in different directions.
But we found crowds of pecoplc at the station, there could hardly
be tickets for cverybody. Passengers were anxious expecting their
trains. At last we saw a locomotive pulling a fcw passenger cars,
moving so slow as if ncither the driver, nor the cngine got their fucl
for 3 days running. But it was not our train, it went in thc opposit
dircction, we had to move to Berdyansk. Having no cxpcrience at
ali, we asked a railwayman how we could get to Berdyansk. Having
scrutinizcd us and having askcd our rcasons, he advised us to take
a goods train that carricd coal to Berdyansk; on arriving in Berdyansk
hc advised to hire “izvozchick™ (a cab drivzn by a horsc) to takc us
to the placc we nceded. We certainly did so. We found some tarpaulin
and scttled in an open coal van. It turncd out however, that the
tarpaulin was not of much use to us as strong wind blew coal dust
severcly in our faces, insidc our collars, ctc. In a fcw minutes we
looked like coal-miners, or like Negroes from Central Africa. The
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train rushcd on and on, non-stop, and brought us to Berdyansk.

AL the station in Berdyansk we found water 1o wash oursclves,
then hired a cab, gave the driver the address and asked him to take
us to the medical school hostel. In a few minutes we found oursclves
in the place. We were welcomed by @ nicc woman who was the
hostcl manager. We produced our documents we had brought from
Orikhov medical school. In a few minutes we were scitled in a room
that houscd six beds, three of them vacant as if waiting for us. Having
arranged our things we went Lo the canteen at once which was right
there, at the hostel. We were paid state scholarship, and school
administration withdrew some part of it for our food. The rest of
the moncy was spent on footwear, coi.sumer goods, clc.

We faced new problems in the new place. In Orikhiv everybody
spoke Ukrainian, and over here we were addresscd in Russian, not
only by our administration, but by our ncw fricnds, too. We wondcred
as we saw there were many girls from the neighbouring villages, so
they were Ukrainian, But what did we have to do? We had to assimilate.

The night passcd, and in the morning we were woken up. It
was a hostcl, not a privalc apartment, there was a sort of discipline.
Soon we had a modest breakfast — a roll and somcething like tea,
hot watcr cach time. It was good just the same.

In class, we were given new text-books in different subjects.
Speciality books, i.c. medicial textbooks, were in Russian. We had some
difficulty to get accustomed to the new language, we did not quite
understand it. Though teachers, that taught us in Russian quitc
understood our predicament, they first and forcmost demanded the
knowledge of the subject and our answers given in mixed Russian and
Ukrainian were taken casily by them. We were happy that our studics
continucd, so wc studicd well, we put down in our note-books all those
things we could not find in the textbooks, listened to our teachers
attentively, and revised the material for a few hours in the hostel.

We were primarily trained as nurscs to aid the wounded or
burnt. But there were not cnough tcachers to filfil the wholc
programmec. That’s why we had classes on Saturdays. Somcthing
mcnacing could be sensed in the atmosphere, some uncertainty.

I never forgot about my Mother’s daughter Mariyka. I could
not forget that 1 had never scen her, had known nothing about her.
I had been looking for her 2 years alrcady, with no result. I was
sorry I had no moncy, otherwisc 1 could go to Artemivsk where
Mariyka was to abidc. It was not far from Berdyansk, a bit closer
than from Orikhiv. Later I Icarnt that the sister had received my
letter and sent the answer to Orikhiv, but the letter came too late,
when [ had Ieft, the letter was returncd. 1 had to forget about my
sister, about finding her. I kept belicving in Godly Insight, 1 hoped
I should find Mariyka. If I am safc and sound, we shall sec each
other, we shall be assisted by the force in which ! belicved. I thought
somc unknown force led mc this not that way. Whatever 1 did,
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wherever 1 went, 1 thought some unknown force was helping me,
was loading mc. Whatever 1 did, wherever 1 went, it scemed to me,
and I was quite surc I was right, something prompted mc, somcthing
whispercd 1o me — don’t do bad, go along the honest way, don’t
do cvil. So I belicved I would find my sistcr some day.

The winter of our studies in Berdyansk passed, a warmer
scason came. Berdyansk is a nice city, situated on the Azov Sea. On
Sundays we oftcn went along the Sca shorc, enjoyed the splendid
landscapc, watched the ships passing by, saw sailors signalling in
their sceret language (giving their conventional signs to cach other).
Fishcrmen pulled out fish, dricd their ncts in the sun, Caught fish
was dricd in the sun, smokcd and sold at oncc. Berdyansk is the
city of fishcrmen, its population used to cat diffcrent kinds of fish
which saved many from faminc. 1 remember my Father brought
dricd and salt fish from Berdyansk, herring.

A piece of herring was enough, and if you had a potato with
it, you had no othcr dreams at that time.

By that time, i.c. the spring of 1941, there grew fewer and
fewcr tcachers at our school, some were enlisted, others moved
somewhcere. Now that I can analysc those events, I think that Jews
uscd to leave the place as they knew how Hitlerites trcated them,
thosc who could foresce that the war would be held not upon the
encmy’s territory. So they moved away, some to Siberia, some to
Central Asia. As though led by their people’s instinct of
sclf-preservation, they did their best to keep as far away from the
threat of mass extermination, from thosc who killed pcoplc on
national grounds, as possiblc.

Hitler as though out of hatred from his childhood hatcd Jews and
persccuted them. And they, Jews, had some contacts with their fellows
who stayed in Poland. It is from them that they drew information about
the extermination of Jews. That is why thosc of thcm who lived in the
Soviet Union, first smelt the threat. But our lcaders in Moscow did not
belicve war might break out, they still continued sending to Germany
cchelons with wheat and other goods. Stalin continued to supply thosc
who would soon exterminate our pcople.

In spring work in the city continued, cven grew more intensive
like among bees that wake up when the sun warms up the carth. They
sowed in the villages hoping to havc a good harvest. Not far from
Berdyansk there was a village inhabited by Germans; both they and
peoplc around called it "German colony”. There Germans were well-off
people, they grew vine, kept close together, were cultured people, their
farmstcads were clean and well-kept, they werce quite opposite to our
Ukrainian village, chicfly untidy, especially after the famine.

We, students of the medical school, were reading up for our
final exams. There was still a year of studics beforc we would become
qualified medical nurses. It was cven mcant that this might come
earlier if summer vacations were reduced and we mastered the
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complcte programme quicker. We werc cager (o do so, as our homces
werc far, far away. .
This was thc situation in thc middle of Junc, 1941.

THE WAR!

Everything would’ve been finc, if onc morning on June 22, 1941
a terrifying sircn had not roared. We did not know what was going on.
It happened when we were at school. Our teachers went out of class
and returncd quickly, telling us to go Lo our hoslcl as Germany had
attacked the Soviet Union. We did not know that German aircraft were
alrcady bombing Kicv and other citics, that the border had been broken
and thc German army was alrcady moving to the cast.

Though war and the probability of German assault had been
much spoken of, the news took us unawarcs as though somcthing
utterly impossible had happencd.

We went to the hostel, waited till cvening, had supper and
started to think hard what would become of us, how war would
develop. Having spent a sleepless night we went to school in the
morning. A tcacher who was not going to lcave the place began his
cxplanations in some medical subject. Again the siren roared long
and alarming, taking our breath. Something whistled, it scemed quite
ncar by. It was a bomb. something was sct on firc not far from
school. Wc were anxious, growing pale with horror. What will
become of us? Shall I also be killed by a bomb?

The tcacher told us to go to the hostel, another day passcd.
Though there were no Iessons, we were cooked food at the canteen
as there was some [ood in store. Again cndless talks after supper.
None of us knew what to do, as all of us had families in the villages,
our relatives were to know that the Gernans were bombing our
citics, they also worricd about us.,

Latc at night we fell asleep, our sleep was sound and youthful,
though troublcsome. We were woken up by sirens which were activated -
too latc, beforc we could rcact, bombs were falling upon the city,
destroying houscs and trenches that had alrcady been dug in the city.
The hostcl manager who almost constantly stayed with us like a mother
ordered to go outside as quickly as possible. We ran out in our night
gowns darting to and fro, our manager sending us into trenches dug
out in the yard. A German aircraft returncd- and threw another bomb.
It whistled over our heads, 1 ncarly grew dcal. Frightened, we ran into
the ficld towards vine-yard where the grape was almost ripc and had
big bunches and wide lcaves, so we hoped to hide in it. Though we
were terrificd and did not slecp a wink, our youth took the upper hand
— wec ate much grapes and lcarnt who grew it.

In the morning we Icft vinc-yard and went to the hostel. In
the cantcen, where all the girls came together, our headmistress told
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us there would be no classes as the enemy had attacked our
Motherland, many people had perished, as the German air force
were bombing civil objects, many factorics, plants and
communications had been destroyed.

Under such conditions, the headmistress said, there would be
no classcs, many tcachers had not appcarcd and nobody knew why.

Rcturning to our rooms we thought again — what will became
of us, shall we continue studics or shall we go home? We were
ordcred not to leave the hostel. So we cither talked or wrote letters
or slept as we had not slept at night. So we stayed at the hostel
having frce time though knew well of the danger associated with
the war. We did not know that while we were sitting or lying, the
Gcermans had alrcady made a landing not far from our place.

Some following days were full of fuss, pcople were running
along the streets as if looking for something, hurrying. We were
staying at the hostel as we had been ordered by the headmistress,
we were not to loafl around lest we should get into trouble. She
looked after us like a mother, They cooked food for us, we stayed
in without getting out. Suddenly somcone ran in, called the
headmistress and whispered to her that Germans were likely to loaf
round the city looking for somcthing. We did not want to believe,
that it could happen so quickly. We grew quict, there was some food
supply in the cantecn, we collected water in wooden barrels, just in
case. Wc sat quict in the hostel, our hcadmistress with us.

She drew us closer, like a hen draws her chicks, consoling us.

A fcw days after Vyatcheslav Molotov's specch on the radio,
Stalin spoke at last.

First we could not understand why he had kept silence, why he
didn’t spcak to his people. Propaganda had been showing him as Father
not only to the peoples of the Soviet Union, but to the whole world. But
why was he silent at this terrible time? Well, at last he spoke. I remember
his trembling voicc on the radio. How much we wondered when he
addressed the people as "Brothers and sisters!”. He appealed, as [ later,
years later realized, to people, their national feclings and patriotism.
However, dozens of years he didn’t know, didn’t wish to know his citizens,
did not wish to sce them as persons, he treated his people as a commodity,
as instruments, with the help of which he, Stalin, would climb the pcak
of power. I remember, after his speech, people used to say in a whisper:
"A goat camc to the cart”, which could mcan: “at last he nceds people
whom he was cxterminating for ycars and ycars".

We were still staying at the hostel. We would keep to one
room, our manager with us, There was water in the barrel, a mat
and a mug ncar by. This was mcant for emergency to extinguish
fire. Qur hcadmistress encouraged us. She was a kind woman, 1
thank her for her kind heart.
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GERMANS IN BERDYANSK

Onc day somcone ran across our hostcl yard, soméonc began
knocking our door, shouting in Russian: "Opcn the door! Arc there
Russian soldicrs?". Our mistress understood it was a German and
answercd, no, there were no Sovict soldicrs, there were only pupils
of the medical school. She opened the door, he saw us, frightened,
dressed in school uniform. He belicved the hcadmistress and asked
for watcr, though when she gave him a mugful, he ordered that she
drank first. He was afraid to be poisonced. The hcadmistress drank
water, he drew a mugf(ul himsclf and drank it.

Having drunk watcr, the German soldicr tore all red banners that
were in the hostel and told us we could go out into the city, that
cverything was quict, that they had imprisoncd the Red Army soldicrs.

However, there was no quict in the city. The city was destroycd
by bombs, some storchouscs and shops were destroyed, so people togk
away cverything they could find. We also went o a storchousc, which
had "alrcady been robbed of almost everything. People used to find
somcthing, then threw it away a moment later, carrying something
morc expensive, others picked what remained. Noisc, fuss, shouts and
running. Some people who lived not far from the storchouse were
pulling a piano, overstaining themsclves. We also took some picecs of
cloth, brought it to the hostel and shared it between us. I also took an
underslip, a silk one, very deainty. 1 also took a guitar which I had
wanted long but had not had moncy to buy. In my childhood I was
cager to learn playing the guitar, but there was no moncy to buy it,
the time did not allow to think of it, cverybody was longing to have
cnough food. So I came to posscss a guitar, but 1 couldn’t play it. 1
held it in my hands, fiddled with it, and put it aside. Nobody touched
it since, as the time came when 1 was in no mood for playing.

There was no quict, no order in the city. Germans picked the
corpscs, ordered to pick the corpscs of our Soldicrs, that had been
young mecn full of lifc not long before. They werc lying in the ficld
and their mothers cxpected them back home. There were those who
had gonc through famine, who had not yct scen happy life. They
had just grown up into their fcllowship, and there came the army,
the war. Only misfortuncs fell upon our pcople.

Though it was far from lifc under Stalin’s regime, people started to
fcel better as the worst, famine, was over, Nobody wanted war. None of
us was glad to scc Germans comic, vice versa, we were all afraid of them.

We, pupils, were also warned by the Germans that they would
put everything in order, they would register all of us and later would
Ict us go wherever we wanted. There were Russian, two Jewish,
threc Uzbck girls among us. The majority among us were
Ukrainians, but among, the teachers the Ukrainians were few, they
had some difficulty in spcaking Ukrainian.

I rcmember, my step-sister who had also studied at the medical
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school in Berdyansk before me, knew Russian well afier onc year of
studics. It is no wonder, as all of them spoke Russian, and thc majority
of pupils in her class were Russian. When she came for summer vacations,
she started to "tchokat” (to pronouncc Russian "tcho?" instcad of the
usual Ukrainian “shicho?" mcaning "what?"), we called her "katsap” (a
humiliating namc for Russians uscd by Ukrainians).

The Germans began to put cverything in order in Berdyansk.
They summoncd pcople who knew German and taught them German
officc work and laws. All the posts in the civil administration in the
city were taken primarily by people of German origin. They were mainly
pcople from the German Colony, they kncw both German and Russian..
These German people were ncat and cultured, but they were
unsociable, too. They considered themsclves superior and called
cverybody clse "dirty swinc”, We felt it at once and understood.

At the Germans’ permission we went to the ncarest vinc-yard
which we cnjoycd much. There was no other fruit, so wc
compensated for it with grapes to store vitamins in our bodies.
Expccting the permission to leave, we squeczed juice from grapes,
storing it for thc way home.

All of us thought how to gct home, by what transport. I had
a friend of mine, Olya. She was an orphan, she had nowhere to go.
I suggested to go to my place, to our village. She willingly agrecd.
My friends who lived in Gulyaypolye were preparing for their way
home. We dcecided to go therc on foot as therc was no other way
out. There were no mcans of transport at that time, railways werce
mincd. We didn’t know when the trains would go. Nobody knew it,
we could not wait. We werce tired of sitting in the hostel.

Wc were still given food in the hostel, besides we could buy
bread in the bakery on cards given by Germans according to their
lists. They also gave us special cards for food. Thosc who had been
working in the bakery before war remained in their placcs and were
also paid. But in gencral pcople did not go to work in the city,
factorics did not function, peoplc were cxpccting some cvents and
orders. Only fishcrmen continucd catching fish in the Azov Sea as
fish was the main sourcc of food for the population of the city.
Hospitals were overcrowded with discascd and wounded. There were
some doctors among Germans and the rest of the pcrsonnel werc
our pcople, hospital attendants and nurscs werc our people, too.

Medical personncl of our local hospital had not been evacuated,
hospital attendants looked after the discascd, true to their
Hippocratic oath, they did not leave their paticnts. We wecll
understood it as futurc medical nurses, wc werc taught by our
tcachers that ncither a doctor, nor a nursc could Icave their patients
under any conditions, whatever happened. Even when Germans
came, our mecdical personncel stayed where thcy were.

Four wecks passcd since German authoritics registered us. At
last we were summoned and allowed to leave the city.
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EXTERMINATION OF JEWS

We went round the city and hcared and saw cvertthing. In
particular, Germans spoke much about the Jewish problem. They
treated them diffcrently from us, Slavs. They werc not allowed to
walk freely, they had to draw up in a column and jog, watchcd by
Germans. They were ordered to wear yellow bandages. Jews were
ready for the worst, Germans cven did not kecep sceret that they
wouf’d be cxterminated. Jews had no place to hide in Berdyansk,
there was no chancc to cscape from the city as all around there
were German and Romanian troops. Romanians often treated Jews
even worse than Germans did.

There were three Jewish girls in our class, thcy were very
attrractive, with their long plaits. Onc of them was a brunette, the
other two were nicc-looking blondes. They did not look Jewish, but
they did not want to hide thcir origin. We were sorrfy for them, they
were not only good-looking girls, they were good fricnds.

When they began tcasing Jews we, the friends of thosc Jewish
girls, trying to defend them, went Lo the city commandant’s office.
However, nothing came out of it; nobody will defend them as they
had Hitler’s personal order to exterminate all the representatives of
the Jewish nation, cach and cvery man, as they descrved it. We
embraced them and said farewell to them,

In duc time all the Jews were summoncd and taken out of the
city. We stood and saw how all of them, old and young, stood in
line. They were ordered to strip of everything, pile up their clothes,
put their gold things — carrings, bracclcts, chains — scparatcly. They
took a part of the group, drew them aside, and the rest were ordercd
to linc along the ditch that had been dug before the war. That ditch
was of no usc against German tanks, it served the Jews as their
common grave. These Jews were shot from a machinc-gun.
Germans ordered those sclected Jews to bury those shot. So our
fricnds, our nicc Jewish girls dicd before our cyes. They did no harm,
their only fault was the fact that their mothers were Jewish.

This is how thosc “cultured” Germans avenged on innocent
people. We could not comprehend the feclings of people who exccuted
other people by the thousand in a wink of an cyc. We were unawarc
of mass extcrmination of pcople performed by NKVD at Stalin’s order.
The day the Jews werce cxccuted remained in my memory till the
present day. I remember it was a cloudy and misty day in September.
. Wec felt pity for cach pcrson. We were young, we did not
interesting in the past, we did not know what harm they had donc.
We cried over our friends and other people shot. But our clderly
people thought diffcrent, rememberced old tsarist times and blamed
Jews of serving cvery regime, when Jews oppresscd our poor people,
rated high taxcs, took high posts under tsarism. Whether it was truc
or not, I did not know, though thcy said so. Under tsarism our
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people could not attend school for the most part, could not get
cducation, could not cven sign their names, drawing a cross instcad.
They were taken in, their illitcrary was taken advantage of. But when
the pcople Witnessed mass cxccutions of Jews, thosc clderly people
did not approve of it, and got angry. But there was no chancc to
protest. The -Red Army retreated, Germans ruled in our parts, and
wc saw the example of their behaviour in the case with Jews,
But it was only the beginning.

.BACK TO THE VILLAGE

My fricnds from Gulyaypolyc and Tyrsa, Olya and I dccided to
start out on Monday as we hoped somebody would give us a lift. We
said good-byc to our "mother” — the hostel manager, and left at dawn.
Bceing young and healthy, we covered 25 kilometers before dinner, and
15 kilometers after, stopping for the night at a railwayman’s housc.

It was a small housc; there were five of us — girls; he had
daughtcrs; we, all of us, slept on the floor. These people who
welcomed us were kind and fricndly, we told them that we studied
in Berdyansk and were traveling home. We also told them what we
had scen in Berdyansk, how Germans exccuted Jews, told them of
the horrors that we had witnesscd. I had ncver seen a mass cxccution
before, and after the cxecution night I could not slecp.

During this talk, our railwayman told us that Stalinist
functionaries also cxecuted thousands of pcoplc. The diffcrence was
that NKVD acted sccretly, and Hitlerites did it openly in front of
people as if being proud of their crime against humanity. They said
they were Ubermcenschen, and we were Untermeschen, a worsc
grade of peoplec, a lower race.

Leaving Berdyansk, we had nobody to hand in our tcxtbooks
to, so we took them with us. I had luggagc plus a guitar, I remcmber
its neck was dccorated with a pink ribbon-bow. We were very tired
and slept well in the hospitable railwayman’s housc. Early in the
morning we got up, the hostess gave us brcad, and I, feeling
generous, gave my guitar to their 8-years old daughter. Though
frankly speaking I did not like the idca of carrying it. It was difficult
as I had a suitcase full of books.

During our travel the weather changed many times, now sunny,
now rainy. It was already autumn, one day snow covcred the ficlds.
The days were short, we felt tired, the travel was tircsomc. We
covered about 40 kilometcrs daily, traveling from village to village.
It often happened, peoplc did not welcome us for the night, sending
us to German Commandant’s office, but they gave order to accept
us and gave the host special food cards for us. After our experience
in Berdyansk, we were surprised at the behaviour of Germans, we
even thought life might get better in our lands if Germans were so
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kind. But it only scemced so. Rcality was quitc diffcrent. .

Onc rainy cvening we asked a woman who had several children
of her own to stop for the night. She scnt us to commandant’s officc
to be dirccted to some other placc. We went and they really sent
us to a kind hostess. At the officc we asked to bc driven to
Gulyaypolyc next day as it was our destination. Germans told us to
be rcady by 6 o’clock in thc morning as they had to go to
Gulyaypolyc to bring food there.

At home we undressed and started to dry our clothes. The
woman gave us hot milk and wec went to slecp on straw spread on
the floor. However, cven hosts never slept in beds, but on the floor
or on broad sleeping place designed by the side of the oven; nobody
cven thought about beds at that time.

We were happy to warm oursclves, to have hot milk, we werc
glad to have been prompted to ask Germans for a lift as we were too
tircd to go on foot. We slept soundly, the woman hardly managed to
wake us at 5 in the morning; it was still dark. Shc gave us more milk
and brcad. We atc it and thanked her, for her hospitality, for her kind
heart. In general, I must say that in our parts poor pcople treated
others kindly, helping them in every way. People were poor but kind.

At 6 o’clock we came to the office, the driver was ready to go,
he was hcatly dressed in clecan uniform, cverything tidy and pressed,
hc wore a cap with a long pcak, good polishcd boots and a new
green greatcoal. The driver himsclf was shining as though there was
no trouble, no war. Germans, it scemed, were composed, I never
saw them ncrvous, they were at war and it looked as if they were
doing routinc work. Qur pcople, on the contrary, were ncrvous,
suffering of cven minor misfortuncs, their own or somebody’s clse.
People could not understand how to takc occupants, they did not
know how Germans would bchave. People did not know how to
react to a German’s smilc.

We climbed the German truck, taking our things with us. We
were five girls, the soldicr spoke to us some strange, not quite clear
language, cither Slavonik, or Czcch, or Scrbian. But we understood
him and arriving at Gulyaypolyc thanked him very much as he had
driven us as far as 50 kilomelers.

There remained 25 kilometers more from Gulyaypolye for
Olya and mc to go, so wc staycd at my fricnd’s in the city. We didn’t
worry, our [ricnd carcd after us. My friend’s parcnts were at home,
they welcomed their daughter, glad at her arrival, they also welcomed
us like their own children. The meeting looked like this: the German
soldier drove us to Tonya’s housc, we could sce through the window
that her parents were preparing to dine. Tonya knocked at the door.
Her mother came and asked who that was. Tonya answered, the
mother opencd quickly, embraced her and cricd. The mother said:
"Christ! Where did you come from? We thought you had died or
had becen killed.” Tonya broke her off and said that she was all right,
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that she had brought 2 girl-fricnds from the village Kopany and one
girl from Tyrsa with her, they would stay overnight.

The aunt (we called all women "aunts” though they were not our
rclatives, and clderly women were called "grannics™) It us in, gave us
watcr to wash and invitcd us to table. Before taking her scat, Tonya’s
mother crossed hersclf and all of us, and thanked Christ that he had
preserved her child at that hard war time, that He did not let her dic.
Tonya’s father criced, tcars dripping down his checks. He thought, as
he confessed later, about his son Volodya, who had gone to thc Army,
nothing was heard from him. Nobody knows whcther he is alive or
not, perhaps lying in the ficld, ravens pecking his eycs. He went to
fight nobody knew what for, but there was no other way ou, if you
werc called up to thc Army, you could not rcfuse.

The mother began comforting him, saying it was no usc crying,
and the girls were hungry, it was time to have dinncr. We were
hungry indccd, the day had gone since we had a picee of bread. We
heartily atc genuine Ukrainian borshch, which we had not had long,
about a month, since Germans occupicd our land.

After mcals we went to sleep to real beds (not on the floor)
covercd with a warm blanket. The night scemed too short to us, it
was time to get up and start out. After brcakfast Tonya’s mother
gave each of us a picce of bread with lard. It was to last us (after
hot porridge) on our way home.

We said good-bye to Tonya and her parents; Olya, another girl
from Verkhnyaya Tyrsa and I went along the road. Coming to
Vcerkhnyaya Tyrsa, we left our fricnd therc and headed for our
village, it was about 4 kilometcrs away.

The last kilomcters of our travel were difficult, wet snow was
falling, suitcascs seemcd hcavier than they really werc. However, we
did not lcave our textbooks as we hoped to finish our studies in future.

We found my father at home. He had been taken prisoner by
Germans but escaped and managed to get home somehow or other.
It had happened some 40 kilomcters from our village. Father had becn
home only two days when [ arrived. My step-sister Maria worked in
the lab at the granary; after Germans came, they dismissed everybody
until civil administration arrived and put cverything in order.

BEING REMOVYED TO GERMANY

My people did not expect me to come back home, they did
not even know whether I had recached Berdyansk as I had not even
scnt them a letter after my leave. It was an alarming time at our
school, and in the city, too, so I had no time for letters.

When we arrived, I knocked at the door, my step-mother
opcned. Father welcomed me but said he was angry with me because
I had gone so far away and had not sent a note. I tried to justify
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mysclf trying to explain cverything beecause of the war, occupation,
registration regime, there was ne time for leuers.

This way or that, Olya and 1 washed oursclfes, changed our
clothes and had supper. Alter supper we taiked much about the
situation in our parts, in the village, we thought what to do.

My father Petro Tarasovich Khelemendyk, step-mother, brother
Mytyu and sister Olexandra. The photo was taken near our house in
1942,

In 2 days, cxpecting to get some job, Olya and 1 went 1o the
commandant’s office to get a document certifying our whercabouts.
Germans rcﬁislcred us and gave certificates, We lived in the village
and did not dare to go anywhere 10 look for job. Winter was coming
to an cnd, when we were summoned to the office in March 1942
and ordered to get prepared to move to Germany for work. What
did we, younF girls, have to do? Germans were our masters, Like
our previous life depended on Stalinist regime, our present situation
depended upon Hitlerites. We couldn't even think of resistance.
Germans were occupants of our country and we could not Jisobey
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their orders, We certainly remembered execution of Jews in
Berdvansk but we as well remembered that Germans treated us in
o morc or less humane way during our trip from Berdyansk to our
village. We spoke between oursclves that, probably, it wouldn’t be
so bad in Germany, that Germans scemed cuitured people, and why
should they torment us. And we decided to obey the order of ncw
authoritics. By "we" 1 mean Olya, my step-sister Maria, Mariyka
Kuncts, Anyuta Shapoval (who came from a German family) and
me. All of us lived in the same village but Olya. And Anyutu’s aunt
lived in Germany, our fricnd told us about it hersclf. So willingly or
not, we had to prepare for a long travel, we packed our things,
putiing them into suitcascs and came to the commandant’s office
on the appointed day, where we were expected by military men sent
for this purposc to take us, voung girls, to the station.

Going to Germany nicant almost the same to us as exile to
Siberia, the only difference being that we hoped to carn somcething
in Germany, to buy some better clothes. We saw that Germans worc
high quality clothes which were well-tailored of good stuff. Perhaps,
we thought, we should be able to dress well there,

We were brought in a truck to the railway station Pology, we
saw a lot of pcople there. Pology is a railway junction, and it was
crowded with people. Some arc bidding farewell, some arc crying
and sobbing. We had no onc to say good-byc to because we had
done it in our viliage, our farewclls had alrcady become past for us.

Girls brought from cach village had their own wardmen who,
on coming to thc station cnirusted them to othcr Germans who
formed the echelon. Germans read out the girl’s names and ordered
to get into carriages.

We were taken to Germany to work but saw that they had no
passcnger cars, but only goods wagons, likc those in which pcople
were taken to Siberia under Stalin’s regime. These wagons were
callcd "tyeplushky” or "telyachy" vans (this mcans they were intended
to carry cattlc mainly). About 60 or more girls were crammed into
cach small van. Thus, we were transported not like working hands
but rather like goods or cattle.

Only those sccing off their rciatives remaincd at the station.
Cars were overcrowded with young people. They did not take old
pcoplc at that time, only the young, thosc who having no cxpericnce
thought, with no rcaseon at all, that they would buy nice dresses,
blouscs, fashionable shocs in Germany. They hoped, in vain, to get
well-dressed, to have a good time after work, to listen to music or
to dance. Our hopes [ci! in ruins, our young age was to be wasted.

Wc went westward, plckmg groups of young girls at cach
station, more and morc cars being joined to our cchclon. It is truc,
we were well-fed with bread,” butter, sausage, sometimes
nadv-madc sandwiches. We had never tasted the sausage the
{,crmans gave us. Though our sausage spiced with pepper, garlic
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and mustard was tasty, German sausage scemed rauch better.
Germans were good at making nice sausage. But 1L was only the
beginning of 1942, Germans sauszge was like that madc at homc.
The same was bread, mainly natural brown bicad, somcetimes dyed,
with full-size grains inside, which was good for stomach.

Besides the cars in which we, girls, traveled, there werc vans
full of our Ukrainian wheat. [t meant there was not cnough [ood in
Germany, if they had to bring grain. Al some station wc saw an
amazing load: Geramns carried our Ukrainian soil, our black carth.
How strange! They carried even our soil to their Rcich! Don’t they
have cnough land? We were explained that the soil was being carricd
for their green-houscs, it was fine soil, it contained much humus.
It was not in vain that Germans bought wheat from Stalin, it turned
cut their land was not so fertile as ours. True, having travcled half
the world, T have never seen such black carths as in the Ukrainc.

At last we crossed the former Polish border across the river
Zbrutch. After Volowchysk and Pidvolotchysk we entered quite a
different country. Though it was Galytchyna, the Ukraine, everything
looked ncater, more up-to-date as compared to our outskirts. At
some station our train stopped as they were loading some goods.
We asked our interpreier (o leave the car 10 have a walk along
people, to hear their language. We were allowed to. I don’t know
how we reached a near-by cemetery. We saw different monuments
with inscriptions on them, and statues. We had never scen anything
like that, they used to put ordinary wooden crosscs in our
cemclerics, no inscriptions. Only the closest relatives remembered
where their people had been buried, they visited their graves on the
Easter Day, bringing ornamented dycd cggs with them. A white cloth
was spread, food laid, people treated cach other with cggs and Easter
cake. Children rolled eggs, it was a game. We remembered all this
in Pcremyshil cemetery.

Again we arc in the cars, moving across the Polish territory. In
the city of Catovitsye we were washed and disinfected. We had been
traveling without washing oursclves or cur hair, It was casy to imagine
the result: we had lice, the skin of our heads was itchy, parasites started
crawling out of our collars. That is why we were given oil which we
spread over the hair and washed it 15 minutes later.

Though we sometimes found lice at home, our step-motlicr
often washed our linen and hair, It was mother’s duty and now
Gemans arc washing us. I think, they were not at all astonished at
our lousiness as they saw we had no lincn change, no kot water to
wash ourselves or our hair.

Alter washing, when our parasites were done away with, we
took our bundlcs and rclumcv.r to our cars. Catovitsye is a large
industrial city, with coal mincs and coal plants in it. Heading for the
car [ thought — where will Gemans bring us, where shall we work,
where shall we stay? We were young: from 15 to 17 years old. We
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strove 1o study, lourish, ¢njoy our youth, but we were destined to
work hard. It was spring, we were watching the nature and people,
but we did not know what awaited us, We knew there was no joy
for us in store. We shull not use the fruit of our yo.th which comes
only oncc in your life.

We had been traveling more than 10 days, asking our
interpreter (with no result, though) where they were taking us, what
work was supposcd lor us, in what lands. The woman-interpreter
that went in our car was indifferent to our interests. It was none of
her business. She did her job, getting money for it. She would go
to her family after work, would live like people lived. Mcanwhile
she talked a lot with a G rman as il she had known him all her life,
Although we had studied German at school we could not make head
or tail of their talk. She was constantly smiling to the German, when
he joked. The study of Germar grammar was of no usce (o us, we
could not talk and did not understand their language.

Though there was no fun and we more and morc often recollected
our rclatives to whom we had said good-bye, we began singing our
songs in the car, trying (o remember those ones we had heard in our
villages, but semctimies we put verses o some well-known melody,
cxpressing our anxicty and sorrow for our relatives.

The train is running further westward, farther from the
Ukraine, from our relatives. There are thousands of Ukrainian girls
who saw no happincss in their Fatherland, who might not sce it in
a forcign country, in the unknown Germany.
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PART TWO
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GERMAN SLAVERY



HIMEObKA AEMCKPATEYHA
PECTIY GAIRA

l-tm’vl‘:ﬂ‘

u’)p' ., E
i
2
S
<
<
r
I
R =
&_ Y \ . H
;‘ > m‘/» B ! ("'°N"wm sao!ep;
Ay 41 =
ER “1 ?fln@,m.n E&W ,:l_\}-uuau.} t\l\e.«’numc-c Ot |
' v -] 145>
"\ Sy VBT Artiey “lyss.
- "ovw'rvu.. ;(”“ 5@). <Rordyc < £
< ',‘.-' T -\nu.s.bm n o hiTeneen, otyirspadaiar oo s TAPY
3 r—rm'::lrwwwu.. S r«.-...;)c (q—’llbpn\' ,ﬁ? Blmt-fvr R ”?- °
Ele Tt ., I
L TS e ) ..'l.-nn-w;““Q‘ ]
< Ikt_mgmpv-é‘i &n w_ ~y=lE
£ Sfekiencer fz ] 3 LayTuen .-,n
- :;;. y‘;‘u;. n,.é\ﬂlr{vﬁmo Mehcru 2
& M A sen 3 B TENOVDT P t:’:.‘.:ﬂ.‘ urav
~ T e o
3 Ehes n,_.‘ uumw qL"
H ,.Lu..s:uu ‘ve’t:
& Piryes 2 ,-,'i'-‘!
€ b
(/ = Fapacy Bajr .\?—
son et ET0CIOBAY
G 10" Rapatiee 2 € Veralefeu 3 'y

On this map, in the northern-wesiern corner of it the cities are
marked: Hamburg that we were conveyed through, Lyubeck where I
was punished in camps and Shverin where | was arrested after escape.
Nowaduys between Lyubeck und Shyverin lies the borderfine between
GDR and FGR. In the centre is Berlin,



GERMANY

Finally, we were brought to Germany, to Berlin, to change
trains. The Tirst impression is very unfavourable; we were placed in
poor wooden barracks fenced with barbed wire. We were ordered
to get accustomed (0 it. A picee of bread and some thin soup made
our meal. This was our ration, What shall we do, young and helpless
girls? We embracced, bitter tears Nowing down our checks. Such was
Germany! A wounderful, promiscd land!

There were not only Ukrainians in the barracks, but also
Russian and Jewish girls who had kept seeret their nationality during
registration. Ard they did well, there is no sign of your nationality
on your forchead. They never confessed of being Jewish. The otier
girls did not betray them, we had seen what fate awaited Jews whea
Germans had come, we saw how Hitlerites treated Jews.

Qur barracks housed people ol different nations, so we uscd
to sing not only Ukrainian but Russian songs, too. Wc sang as cven
in the hardest time, a song kept our spirit high.

Staying in thosce barracks, we were constanily under strain as

we found vursclves in the heart of Germany. Though we lived in
Hitler’s capital, we had no chance to sce the city. We were disinfected
again, treated our hair with oil to kill lice. Our clothes werc passcd
through a spccial machine that killed lice, through a very hot oven.
We really felt we could be caten up by the inscets, there were so
many of them that scratching our bodics we made bleeding wounds.
Twa weeks had passed, since we were traveling in overcrowded cars
under antisanitary conditions. We left our native parts, the Ukrainc,
which did not give us sweet life, but stll it was our Motherland.
And what expected us here?
. Alter washing and disinfcction, our wardmen ordered to draw up
in a column and march to the canteen, Listening to their talk, we began
catching separate words. Besides, we uscd our interpreter’s help who
explaincd many things 1o us. We did not know whether she interpreted
cverything 10 Germans. We were like creatures from the Moon,
knowing no German, like kids that had not yet Icarnt to talk.

Coming to the canteen, our ward changed, these new Germans
had bandages on the slecves with the word "Wahmann', i.e. some
local police. The man that brought us, washed his hands and went
to have a rest.

_The cooks gave us some lood in the canteen, somcthing dense,
but it was not soup, it was rather soup mixed with meet, sauce,
potatoes and some bread. We came up, onc by one, took our
portions and took vacant scats at tables, There were some Germans
scating among us, cating the same food we had. They were looking
at us in astonishment the way they watched anymals in the Zoo.
Scrutinizing us, they whispered something between them. We
reddenncd and got pale, in turn, as though at sn cxecution. Here
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we started to smcll that depressing atmosphere that was to surround
us during the years o come.

Having assimilated a bit, we also began looking around, first
timidly, getting morc certain with time. We also ¢xchanged our
obscrvations about Germans. German women were mostly tall and
thin like sticks. It was a common fashion, it scemed. They were
wcll-dressed, their dresses undcrlying their belted waists,
well-pressed. They wore nice shoes, some wearing berets, their hair
parted or combed back. We thought we would have our hair done
in thc samc way as soon as wc carncd cnough moncy to look as
finc as those German womcn.

I was at a loss — what will they do with us? At first, it looked
as il we would stay in Berlin, but onc day our interpreter ordercd
us (o get together, we had to climb the cars again. Thesc cars were
fitted with wooden benches, we could sit on them stretching out our
fcet, had there been room cnough. But there was no room, the cars
were overcrowded. It turncd out it was the train by which local
peoplc went to work or some other place on their business.

We, girls that had known c¢ach othcer long, kept closc together,
so wc hurried up and took scats in the first car. The locomotive
blew a whistle, the car conductor cntered and took his scat looking
master of the place over all of us, girls from the Ukrainc.

The ward watched us with his bulging cyes as though we were
his property, in fact we looked like prisoners or slaves. Some
Germans asked him something, he replicd. [ think it concerned us.
We began understanding words, like Ausldander, Russ. We
understood, our ward told them where we were coming from and
where we were going to. Bul these were our suppositions, as they
spoke too fast, we did not understand their language.

We did not sing in the train, we found oursclves among strange
people, and singing is supposed among native pcople, cven in a
desparate situation. There was no wish to sing, we were overtired by
the long way, we did not slecp well, there was no chance to have a
good sleep in such a crowd of people, we never stopped recollecting
our people and our land. Our legs ached after long sitting, our bodics
ached of hard boards on which we lay. We were poorly dressed, almost
shabby, we quitc understood we were not coming from a rich country,
awarc that Stalinist regime oppressed us. Still we also knew we had
left our native land. And we were really poor compared to Germans.

In our car and at the stations we were passing by, we saw that
Germans were well-dressed, even beautifully dressed, their uniforms
trimmed to fit the figure. We watched columns of Germans that
marched and sang somcthing about their Fihrer, sang German military
marches. Somctimes we heard German folk songs sung chicfly by
German girls like in any other country. In cach country pcople arc
taught patriotic songs at home or at school, we knew it, we had sung
many songs about our Fathcr Stalin before. So we did not wonder that
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Germans also sang thcir patriotic songs. Who knows what Germans
thought singing about Hitler? We knew that Stalin was not our
Father, nor cven our step-farther, he was a butcher, an executor of our
people, the oppressor of the Ukrainian peasants, workers and
intelligentsia. We sang all thosc songs, soaked with terror, afraid to express
our thoughts. The same with other people who sang songs about Stalin.
Everyonc was afraid, cveryonc was cautious, there were plenty of
informers who werc overhcaring and overlooking and reported: Mikita
said such and such things; Gavrilo said another, so they arc against the
Sovict power! At night they were arrested, and children never saw their
fathers again, nor wives saw their husbands.

We traveled, decp in thought — we had scen hard time, then
brutal invaders came, Hitlerite Germany, we should not expect
anything better. We behaved quictly not to attract attention, watching
their ways and means, and cverything around us.

We left our fertile Ukrainian black carths for the strange lands.
We did not know where our fatc would bring us, but the ward did
not carc to tcll us anything about it, smiling mysteriously and that
smile did not promisc any good. Neither did our interpreter tell us
anything uscful about our destination, she only said: Soon you will
see everything by yoursclves.,

When our train stopped at the stations, scveral girls werc
ordered to descend; a man uscd to approach them and take them
away. Thesc girls must have been taken to work in villages, to
German farmsteads. We did not know thosc girls as they traveled
in diffcrent cars and camc from other parts of the Ukraine. Sceing
that, we were quite unccrtain about our future, we did not know
who would be taken away next. So we, girls from Zaporizhzhya
region, madc a list of our names and home addresses, just in case,
to be able to find onc another. We preffercd to get rcady for the
worst, we did not hope for the better.

In the cnd of ¢nds, we were brougt to Hamburg where girls
from thc West Ukraine descended, but we were again waiting to
face our fatc. Our ward told us we would not stay in Hamburg, but
would go northward to the industrial city of Lyubeck.

LYUBECK

Here we arc at last in Lyubeck. According to the 1964
encyclopedia, it is a cily in the Federative German Republic,
Shlezvig-Holshtcin region, a port on the Trave river, not far from
the place where it falls into the Baltic Sca. The population is 236
thousand pcople, shipyards function hcre, there are chemical,
machinc-building and metallurgy industrics, plenty of architcctural
monuments dating back to 13 — 15 centuries. But we did not know
it then. We only knew we were in Germany. We, however, made a
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list of citics we were passing by, but it was not of great use to us,
we did not know Germany, having only the slightest geographical
knowledge as 1o its position.

Arriving in Lyubceck, we were met by two wardmen with dogs,
German sheep-dogs. This made us alert, we understood we would
be well-guarded. We were assembled in a column and brought to a
camp. There were about 200 girls among us. We found 2 wooden
barracks in the camp fenced with barbed wire. We looked at one
anothcr, understanding at once that it was our place, our home, but
said nothing. The interpreter was getting some instructions from the
new local ward to tell us new orders and prohibitions. We looked
around, studying our futur¢ home. There was no joy in it, we did
not cxpect to scc anything wonderful in those barracks. We expected
instructions from our interpreter.

We were met by another woman, a ward, who knew a few
words in Russian. At last our interpreter said we should live there
and go to work. We were allowed to divide into groups of 50 persons
according to our wish to live in barracks. Lifc is lifc. We took our
suitcases and headed towards barracks, making an occasional joke:
Look! What palaces were prepared for us by our liberators!

These barracks were supposcd for "Ostarbeiter” as Germans
put it, i.c. for workers from the East, for Russians. We entered the
building which housed 25 two-storecy beds with straw-stuffed
mattresses and pillows, shcets and blankets. There was a long
wooden table and 25 wooden chairs round it, in the middle, some
morc chairs were stacked aside.,

We were depressed, trying to protest. At home we used to have
a bit of our private spice (a corner, perhaps), though not much of it.

I took an upper berth, the lower one was taken by my
step-sister Maria Shcherbakha. My cousin Marusya Kunets
ncighboured Anyuta Shapovalova. Though Anyuta was of German
origin and had an aunt in Germary, she had to assimilatc under
new conditions. We were caught like mice, put in the cage and had
to accomodate, had to overcome that damned war.

Our relatives had no news from us; our ncw home did not
secm nice to us as we had imagined secing ncat houscs in the villages
and towns on the way. Reality was morc crucl than we had hoped.
On the way to Germany, we saw slim German women go out of
their nicc houses to shake their colorful carpets, or to say a word
to their ncighbours. But we were housed in barracks.

Could we hope (o find anything better? Did Hitlerite Germany
invadc our Ukrainc to build nice houses and to provide high standard
for us, Ukrainians? No, Germany wanted our hands and our land.
We arc ncw slaves. That’s all.

We had no joy, but what could we do? We unpacked our
suitcases and hurricd to wash as there was a bath-house where we
could takc a shower. It rclaxcd us to some extent, but we were
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hungry, as the last time we had somcthing to cat was in Berlin, they
gave us only some juicc in the train, that was all.

We washed with hot water, refreshing oursclves, dressed and
were summoned by the interpreter to go to the canteen for supper.
She cxplained that we should also reccive some dry food for
tomorrow breakfast. We should work at a factory where they would
give us sandwiches.

Entering the cantcen, we stood in a qucue (we were used o
queucs, they were no wonder to us), approaching a small window.
We got two unpecled potatoes and some fincly cut meat with sauce.
We also got spoons and forks and a picce of bread. We did not
know what to do — to cat cverything at once or to leave it for
tomorrow as therc would be only water for breakfast, we thought.
But wec were hungry, our stomachs demanded food. Now that
nobody starves, it is difficult to imaginc this sort of hesitation, but
at that time these were problems, so don’t be astomished that [
write in so much detail.

We were brought to Lyubeck on the 23rd of April 1942, it was
my birthday on the 24th. I remembercd this datc well, this was the
day I startcd my slavish labour for the benefit of the Great Reich!

However 1 ate up cvery litte bit in' the canteen, like the rest
of the girls, as it was a torturc to look at food when you were hungry.
Coming to our barrack, we washed our basins and spoons and put
them into metallic drawers that stood by the beds, onc drawer for
two girls (o share. I sharcd a drawer with my step-sister Maria; Olya
whom I had brought from the medical school with mc, sharcd a
drawcer with my cousin Marusya Kuncts.

So after supper we undressed and went to bed. We werce lying
and not a word was spoken. In a while you could hear girls sobbing.
They (and 1, too) began recalling their relatives, their villages and the
floor upon which they slept at home. And now we found oursclves in
primitive barracks as though we werc priscners. We were superviscd
by the ward, accompanicd by dogs. Policc ward had their own room,
their sheep-dogs lying on the floor and waiting for orders.

We werce lying, sleepless. Somcone started a quict and timid
song (o her own words: “The train is shaking, the mist is falling
down, menacing time is coming. Thin soup in a basin — this is what
you have! Barracks are cool, mats arc stuffcd with straw, full of
lice". This sort of poetry was continued in singing, when tired we at
last fell asleep.

We slept soundly that night as we were overtired by travel, and
slept at last not in the train but on solid ground, though strange and
allicn. Early in the morning wc heard the whistle blow. It was our
interpreter waking us. She had to supervisc two barracks and she
hurried us up. Geltting up, we ran to_the toilet room, and washed
quickly, and hurried to the yard to linc up — this was the order.
Though it was an April morning, it was cold, the weather was wet,
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we were trembling with cold, our tecth chattered feasibly. And 1
was 17 on that day.

I never wish a single person in the world, 17 years old, to go
through things that I have gonce through. I did not sce a single ray of
hopc ahcad, cverything was painted black. It is no wonder if you think
what 17-years old girls should be interested in, what they should live
for, where they should find fun and what they should grieve at. They
should dream about love and studics, preparing for lifc,

Thosc short spells of thought were broken by a ward whisde. I
distinguished the image of wardman, dogs beside him, I heard the voice:
"Schncllt Schnell! Los!". I understood he was urging us to line up.

So we were going (o our first factory shil%. That is, we were not
going alone, but were being taken there, wardmen with dogs were
walking along. We were making for a small railway station at which
we had arrived the day before. Again we climbed the train, and it started
out. It took us about 20 minutes. The train stopped and the wardman
cried: "Aufstchen!”. He shouted in full voice as though we were deaf,
But we only guessed we had to come out though we had heard this
word even at home, in the first days of occupation.

Wardmen behaved as though we really were, according to their
inhumane theory, defective people. They never treated us as people,
they shouted at us, looked at us with malice as if we made a good
deal of trouble to them. They would constantly blow their whistles,
urging us with their usual “"schncll, schnell, los!". Their language
sounded guttural to us. I quite understood each pcople liked its
language, however, German sounded unattractive to us. How could
we like the language, hearing constantly “schwein, schwein®. Our
intcrpreter cxplained the meaning of this word. Though we were
Ukrainians, for Germans we were "Russisch Schwein® just the same.

At last we were brought to the factory, registered and given
special passcs which werc marked "Russ”. Look, we, Ukrainians,
were called Russian!

AT THE GERMAN PLANT

How horrid the reality turned out soon! Foremen showed us the
lathes where we had to make ammunition. We at once realized the
horror of our situation. We were to producc ammunition against our
brothers and fathers who served in the Red Army. Think of a paradox:
they were fighting against Germany not at their own will, and we not
at our own will, cither, made ammunition against them. Physically hard
work was accompanicd by moral torture. It was inhumane!

Most of us were young country girls, some having studied at
school, but none¢ of us had ever known anything about lathes or
other machine-tools, it was the first time we saw them, It will take
Germans a lot of time to teach us to work on these lathes.
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Diffcrent projectives, cartridges and powder were produced at
the plant. We were shocked and frightened. Shall we bring death to
our brothers? Why did such a misfortunc find us? We were also afraid
to work there; there was powder everywhere, onc chance sparkle was
cnough to blow cverything upside down. Lest this should happen, we
werc supervised by German women and foremen, truc to their Hitler’s
party, judging by thc work they had been entrusted with.

We were closcly watched, especially our hands. But they could not
but miss something, On the way to the station or from the station to the
factory we often managed to pick some sand into our pockets or bundies.
Stuffing cartridges or other ammunition with powder, we sometimes
managed to pour some sand inside. We hoped such ammunition would
never burst, would never cripple our brothers and fathers.

I worked on the machine which made inscriptions on details
— date of production and the number of the shop where they were
produced. It was not too difficult but knowing that I worked at the
ammunition plant, I fclt uncasy, 1 could not work quictly, my mind
protested against it.

We disliked the idca that Germans considered us Russian which
was proved by the mark "Russisch” in our passcs. So onc day we revolted,
collected our passes and threw them to our interpreter. We told her we
were not Russian, why should it be written in our documents? Why were
we constantly called "Russisch Schwein"? It insulted us.

The interpreter took our passes and went to the foreman. There
was a quarrel there, we heard loud voices. We began to understand
German a bit and heard that they threatened us saying that it was
no place for revolts. We got frightencd of our actions, being afraid

.of punishment. But no onc told us anything untill evening,

After supper wc went to bed, but no onc slept after that first
revolt. In thc morning we woke up carlicr than ever.

At last a wardman ran into the barrack, blew his whistle for
us to go out. He was as crucl as othcr wardmen, he shouted, his
dog barked. They all ran from barrack to barrack, from one building
to anothcer. They not simply shouted, they rather screamed. We were
afraid of them and their dogs.

_We lined up in the yard, and the wardman began his
reprimands: What do you think you are? Are you going to revolt?
It’s not a gamc, there shall be strict order! It is war-time. Take your
passes and let me never sce anything of the sort again!

After that he slapped a few girls on the faces and ordered us
to go to the station. Here we are again, at the plant, but we did not
procecd to work. We went down to the cellar and waited. The
forcman ran in shouting at us. We told him we were treated like
cattle, called "swine", "Russisch Schwein", but we were neither swine,
nor Russian, we were Ukrainians, we demanded not to be called
names and to be given new passes.

The foreman took our passes and promised to solve the

113



problem with the plant police but told us to go to work. After the
shift when we went past the check-post we were given new passcs,
there was no mark as to our nationality in them. It turned out, our
plant policc did not know how to dcfinc us for they thought
Ukrainians were those who lived in Galytchyna, the rest of us were
"Russ” for them. Making our former passcs, they used the documents
brought by the previous ward in which we were marked as Russian.,

Our wardmen in the barracks were angry, shouting at us, but
later we learnt that somcone more humanc told them that they
should not shout at us, that in fact we were poor girls, we should
be treated a bit softer.

After work at the plant we used to come together and complain
about our sorrowful fate. Germans came to the Ukraine uninvited;
it was not we who started the war, we did not want it or Stalinist
regime cither. We lived in peace; though we suffered of famine, we
were far from well-of people, we were arrested, sentenced, executed,
but it was not donc in public, we were even told that all of it was
donc for the benefit of the people. And Hitler made up his mind o
exterminate all of us, first Jews, later Slaves, too. But so far he
nceded us as working hands, as slaves. We lived on scanty food, but
it was not the cnd of the story, thcy began beating us, some girls
were beaten with whips. Our protest will not end in anything positive,
we were not [ree, we were cnslaved, We saw it clearly.

Morc girls were brought to the camp, they came from
Kamyanets-Podilsk and Poltava. They were ordered to scw on the
sign "OST" on their clothes. We saw it and told thosc girls that they
camc from thc Ukraine, though East Ukraine, that they were
Ukrainians, and the fact that we lived under Stalin’s regime could
not canccl out our nationality. But soon both they and we reccived
ncw passes in plastic cover with our photocs and personal signatures.
We could do nothing about it, such was our fatc.

First we were not allowed to go out anywhere, but later we
could Icave barracks on Sundays and be back by 8 o’clock in the
cvening. We uscd this opportunity and walked to the centre of
Lyubeck. But it was wartime, the war did not stop. Onc day when
wc were coming from the city, an aircraft came, the Soviet or some
other, I am not sure, it threw bombs, hitting our barracks. We came
back and saw cverything broken and burnt. We saw our interpreter,
cooks and hatcful wardmen in the gateway. They were waiting for
us, they began to urge us "schncll, schnell®, they told us the trucks
would be coming to carry us to anothcr camp.

The trucks arrived, we climbed into them. We went to
Brandenbaum camp. We rcmaincd with what we wore at the
moment, thesc were miserable dresses. The new camp was 2
kilomcters away. When we arrived, we were told to go to the
canteen, where we received new basins, spoons and forks. We had
supper and were sent to barracks.
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Now therc were rooms for 12 people cach. Though nobody
asked our wishes, it turncd out that my stcp-sister Maria, Olya,
Marusya Kuncts and Anyuta found oursclves in onc room. We took
similar beds like those in the previous place. Mattresses were stuffed
with straw, and pillows, too. We innocently thought that all the
Germans slept on straw mattresses. Much time will pass before we
learn that they slept under down blankets and on spring mattresscs.

In the Brandcnbaum camp we found many girls from West Ukrainc
who had letter "U" marked in their passes; there were also Polish girls
who wore letter "P" on their clothcs. Polish girls abided in a scparatc
barrack. But the entrance-gate was common for everybody. Ukrainian
girls from West Ukraine had also a scparatc barrack, they were allowed
to walk frecly outside the camp, so they often went to the city.

Fcllows from West Ukraine worked in Lyubeck too, they lived
in somc other camps. They worked at a sugar-producing factory, some
at the bakery or at the mill. West Ukrainian girls met their fellows in
the city who werc also allowed to walk in the city. Those fcllows gave
their girls anything they could get from work — groats or sugar, ctc.
The girls added it to their scanty ration and kept themsclves alive.

West Ukrainian girls were kind, they helped us in cvery way.
We had almost nothing, our things burnt after the air raid, so thosc
girls even sharcd their clothes with us.

Soon we were handed some colourful dresses and shoes with
woodcn soles that wouldn’t bend. When you walked you were heard
at a mile’s distance. Our fcct ached becausc of thosc shoes, but there
was nothing bctter, so we were glad we had anything at all. These
shocs were called Holzschuhe.

We, "OST-girls", werc forbidden to go to the city, except on
Sundays till 8 o’clock in the evening, but later we were also allowed
to go out on Saturdays. The rest of the girls (Polish and West Ukrainian)
went out cvery evening. So when we were allowed to go out on
Saturdays we often visited a neighbouring "Bauer”, a farmer, to suggest
help with any ficld work (harvesting potatocs or onion, cts.). Farmers
hired us for a day, giving us food, so we had something to cat besides
our canteen. But somctimes a day passed but we could not find any
job. When we Ieft the barracks, the girls that stayed in, took our supper
from the canteen so that we had something to cat.

To understand how scanty our raion was, you must know the
fact some of our girls fell ill in tuberculosis and dicd. There werce
few calories and vitamins in our food.

I'had a bit of good luck. In the camp they built a hospital for
"Auslénder’, i.e. for forcigners brought to work. Germans worked
in the hospital, but they werc not enough, besides they did not know
our language. That is why we were told that Germans were looking
for medical nurses among us. I told them I had bcen studying two
years and a half at a medical school.

Medical aid post for forcign workers was at some distance
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from our barracks. Leaving the camp, 1 headed towards it, rang an
cleetric bell; a senior nurse (Oberschwester) answered. 1 told her 1
could work at the post which scrved also as a hospital, or rather a
place for the discased. She put down my surname and ordered o
come two weeks later. On that same day, after a shower, when we
had to stand still in the yard, I caught a cold and had fever, as soon
as the Appcll was over, I went to bed.

I FELL ILL

On Tuesday morning I got up, washed and went to work as usual.
Before we came to the station, 1 felt some pimple spring up on the
forchcad, but paid no attcntion. In the train, on the way to the factory,
1 did not fecl anything special. Much in the same way, I went to my
working place, took the scat and began working with my clectric pen.
The foreman came, he was kind to me, sometimes sharing his sandwich
with mc. His wifc (Frau) started giving him two sandwiches after he
had told her that he had a hungry girl working with him. So she sent
food for me. Well, he camc up, put his sandwich and gazed at me. He
saw somcthing unusual, as my facc started swelling round the eyes. He
askcd what the matter was. I said I did not know, maybc it was because
of the powdcr from the parts with which I worked. I uscd to take them
with my hands, perhaps this was the cause of the inflammation.

About 15 minutcs latcr my facc was burning, it swelled, I could
hardly scc anything. The foreman called the medical aid. They came
and took me away on the stretcher. The hospital attendant told my
girls I was bcing carricd to our camp medical post, ic. the place
where [ was going to work.

I was brought there at dinner time, cverybody was busy, but
the headmistress came to scc me. She knew thcy would bring
somebody, she had becn warned on the telephone, but she did not
know cxactly who that would be. She looked at me and gasped (so
awfully I looked) and cricd out: "Look! What has happened to my
Antonia!", She recognized me at once, she had registered my data,
I had to come to work a fortnight later; and instcad, I had to keep
to bed, discased mysclf.

The senior nurse (she was also hcadmistress — all in one
person) scnt me for examination. The doctor examined me, ordered
to light an clectric lamp with green light, and the senior nurse began
extracting something {from my body and my face which ached very
much. I could hardly stand it. I don’t know what it was, I ncarly
cricd like a kid. For about tcn minutes she had been cxtracting
something from my body. At last the lamp was turncd off, my face
was all wet as though I camc out of water. The doctor ordered to
cover my face with zink powder.

It turned out that therc was some poisonous substance on my
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facc. My cyes were bandaged for a few days, and my hands were
tied to the bed, as the face was terribly itching. $o they knew I could
scratch the face. The doctor said if [ had scratched it, some spots
could stay therc for cver. .

The whole month I struggled with the discasc. At first a
German nurse fed me, a few days later my cycs were unbandaged
and I could cat by myself. 1 kncw there were few people at the
medical post, but plenty of paticnts, even kids among them.

I spent three months in the hospital. When 1 felt a bit better,
I began helping the nurses — cither feeding kids, or tidying up their
beds. 1 was allowed to walk and could contact with paticnts. The
headmistress liked me, 1 told her 1 was half-orphan, that T had a
sister on Mother’s side, whom 1 had never scen, hadn’t managed to
find her before the war burst out and 1 was taken to Germany. |
cven didn’t have my sister’s address, everything was burnt when the
barrack was bombed. My mother’s photo was also burnt, which I
had got from my Aunt in Crikhiv. I liked thosc picturcs as one of
them showed my sister Maria. And now 1 had ncither the address,
nor the photo. They turnced into ashes. 1 was so sorry about it, sorry
never to scc Mariyka, ncver to hear a word about her.

So I told her about my misfortunes, about my sister, the
mistress cven cricd with me. She sympathized with me as cverybody
had lost a relative at that time of the war; some pecople were missing,
they were looked for, somctimes with no result, but there were also
thosc who would never be fourd. [ also told her about my girl-fricnd
Olya, who was also an orphan; shc had no onc in the world.

I lost any contacts with Olya. Being constantly underfed, she
decided to escape from the plant (o get some job at a farmer’s.
That’s why she changed her surname and stopped writing to our
camp not to be traced.

Having recovered, 1 began looking after kids at the hospital
for forcigners. There were different children, they were picked from
trains which carricd their mothers to work. They came from different
European countrics, they werc of different nationalitics. We used to
address thosc children in Ukrainian, in Russian, in Poiish, or Czcch.
Therc were also children from France, Belgium, Holland. They came
from all thosc countrics where German foot was sct, where human
lifc was extcrminatcd, where mothers were scparated from their
children, men from their wives. Many mothers could not find their
children after the war, many children grew up German not knowing
their parents, forgetting their native language.

LIFE CONDITIONS IN THE CAMP

We were taken from our parts by force. We were not paid for
our work. We only got some miserable clothes and wooden-soled
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shocs. The girls had no change of the clothes, they were poor. I was
given a white coat, an apron, a white cap and a striped dress at the
hospital. 1 gave that dress o my step-sister Maria, she also was
having hard time, almost always hungry and cxhausted. She looked
so bad that I was not sure she would survive. Whenever I could, 1
tricd to help her with food, but it was not enough.

I thought much of my sister’s fate, and at last I decided she
had to run away from the camp. 1 adviscd her to cscape and work
at a farmer’s. It would be hard work but she wold not starve in the
village, as farincrs always had potatocs, bread, and meat. This was
my sincere advice to my step-sister Maria.

I had many friends from West Ukraine by that time, we made
fricnds, they helped me every possible way. Their life was a bit
casicr, they received food cards, they could go out into the city and
buy food in the shops. They had enough clothes, they even gave me
somc dresses and shoes which they called "a drecam®.

Al the hospital I [clt much better, than my sister at the plant, I
could often buy something or cat something. i did my best looking
after children at the hospital, as they had no mothers with them, they
had been scparated somewhere when their mothers were being carried
to forced labour to the neighbouring camps. Mothers could attend them
only once a weck, those who worked not far from Lyubceck; but the
majority of childrcn had been separated from their mothers for cver,
they did not know their parents who could have been arrested or had
beeen taken prisoncrs, or had gone to partisans. When they came (o
sce their children, the mothers could not take their cycs off them.

We also kept children who had been picked by Hitlerites in
differcnt cities and brought to Germany. These children were forlorn
and hungry. At our hospital, some of those brought by the police died
of illnesscs acquired on the way. My fricnd Zina also worked at the
hospital, so we both cricd a lot watcling thosc orphans who could not
be looked after by their mothers. We were sorry for their fate as we
also had brothers or sisters at home, we remembered and missed them.
We gave our love to these children, substituting for their mothers, we
did everything we could and as well as we could.

It was terrible to sce how Germans threw dead children into
a truck as if they were corpsces of animals, not people. Germans did
not bother with corpses, they carricd thecm somewhere and burnt
in ovens as they had no time to dig them into the carth, to say
nothing of burying them properly. Hitler did not care about those
alive, to say nothing of the dead.

Our senior nurse and mistress Liza was German. Her hushand
was a doctor. But both of thecm were humane, they often helped us
with clothes, or food, but stricfly ordered to tell nobody about it as
it could end badly. Hidlerites had informers everywhere, and spies,
like we had them under Stalin’s regime, that’s why our doctor was
afraid to help us openly. Hitler ordered Germans to have no private
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contacts with forcigners, just usc them as working hands, without
pity or sympathy. Our doctor cven made our snapshots, hc had a
camera, he made them in the cellar to avoid informers. He uscd to
say that those picturcs would remain as token for us, when the war
was over. The hcadmistress Liza had some finc food from French
prisoners, it was beautifully packed, it came from overscas, I think. So
nurse Liza often called Zina and me to regale on what was lcft. Nurse
Liza liked me very much, she had no children of her own. She often
gave me stockings, or a dress, as she saw I had nothing, and [ was
young, she well understood 1 was cager to get better dressed.

A vear passcd since we had come to Germany. At that time,
in 1943, we had a chancc to correspond with our pcople at home.
I wrotc letiers describing our life. Father also sent mc Ictters, and
very scldom a parccl — a picee of lard or dry bread. This was our
mode of lifc in the camp.

LETTERS FROM HOME

1 received a letter from my sister Shura, i. c. imy Father’s and
my stcp-mother’s daugther. She wrote that a bomb had Tfallen in
our yard and killed her Mother, i. ¢. my stcp-mother. I was so sorry
that my brother Mitya and sister Shura remained orphans, like me,
and that they would never have a mother. However, 1 thought that
it Father marricd again, they werce not little kids, it would be casicr
for them to reconcile with a step-mother.,

When 1 lost my Mother, I was a little kid, so I casily got
accustomed o my stepmother. 1 cven called her Mother. T was
gratelul that she brought me up, though she did not pet me like her
own children, but still she washed, and sewed, and mended my
clothes and dressed me. So God helped me to grow up under my
stcp-mother's wing. My step-mother was religious, she belicved in
God. I still remember icons in our house, framed with embroidered
towcls made by my stcp-moiher. Finc flowers and birds were
cmbroidered on them. Mother did it with love, in no hastc. She
could do all sorts of handwork: cmbroider, weave, knit with a hook
and knitting-pins, and fagot. Pcople oficn camc to our piacc as
Mother sewed for them, cven overcoats, or weaved on her loom
which was her dowry from parents, thc Shcherbakhas.

1 still remember her constant and painstaking work; being very
small, I often watched her weave; much later 1 understood she slept
very liule, kecping late hours to do as much as possible about the
housc. My mecmorics of her arc good, she was kind, though shc
never peited me like her own childre., never caresscd me. And |,
in turn, uscd (0 stand in the corner, pulling my dress, as if afraid of
somcthing, as though something averted mc from her. This is why
she never took me to her lap. I was mostly looked after by her clder
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daughter Galina, she was 7 when my Father marricd her mother.
My step-mother’s full name was Pasha Ivanivna Shherbakha.

So I told our hcadmistress about it, and also about the
misfortuncs that fell on our home, the Ukraine. Sympathizing with
mc, she gave me a day off and it was she, I think, who told Hclen,
a German, to entertain me on that day. In fact, Helen took me to
a restaurant for supper, paid for me, and took me to the cinema to
cheer me up, to make me forget my gricves. On the way back she
soothed me, saying it was war-time and hundreds or even millions
of pcople used to dic at the front.

FATE OF CHILDREN

Three German nurses worked at our hospital, and only two
Ukrainians, Zina and 1. They took us becausc they could not manage
their work with paticnts, and they could not speak Ukrainian or
Russian, they could hardly understand children that were mostly
Slaves. Both Zina and T spent alimost all our time at the hospital,
the headmistress often went to sleep, and we helped her in her work.
Appreciating that, she gave us extra cards for food at the canteen.

Zina and I brought food for our paticnts from the cantecn,
there were many of them, 50 pcople on the average. There were
only 6 nurses. We brought soup in buckets, and salad — in big
basins. There were 100 children at the hospital, like in an asylum,
half of them had been born there, the rest had been brought from
our parts mainly, thcy were cither lost by their mothers, or were
taken away by force.

It was far from casy to work at thc hospital, but it was casicr
than at the plant. We asked nursc Liza to take two morc women
from the camp to wash linen for children as onc woman who was
doing it was not cnough. Nursc Liza wrote a notc that 2 more girls
were wanted and pinned it on the door. Two girls from West Ukraine
came at oncce, they were very nice girls, Mariyka Shutka was one
of them, the other onc was Katerina. They were also orphans like
Zina and 1, they agreed to do any work. They often came to the
children’s ward after washing the linen; we gave them sterile masks,
they fed children or changed their diapers. They knew that we wanted
them hired at the hospital, so they did their best to thank us. It was
real help to us as we were head over cars in work.

Feeding time was crucial at the hospital. Babies cried, but we
could not attend to cverybody at once. We made experiments —
gave a bottlc to the baby, propped it with pillow and ran to another
kid. Fecding children was a problem as smaller ones had only milk,
some had porridge with milk, the rest had carrot juice, or boiled
grated carrots with oil, cte. )

Vegetables were kept in the cellar. Sometimes we had o go
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there, and it was dark down there. Vegetables for the hospital and
for the camp cantcen were stored there. Zina and I found out from
which ccllar they took vegetables for our cantcen and took some,
hiding them in our aprons. We lcarnt to make salad ol cabbages
and carrots, we liked it, it added vitamins to our bodies. We stole
vegetables m turn — onc of us went down to the cellar, the other
one looked around to avoid wardmen. We kncw we would have
been tried for steaiing if they had caught us at night. But we had to
take the risk and stcal vegetables. .

The Lagerfihrer did not understand that we, "OST-girls” uscd to
be hungry, especially those who worked at the factory, food from the
cantcen was not cnough. We had big bellics like cight-months pregnant
womcn. His family and he trcated us like cattle, their usual name for
us was "Schwein". We remembered it very well. We were afraid of our
headmaster. We were alraid, but continued to stcal vegetables.

If you were on duty, you did not have to sleep, but while onc of
us was doing something, the other onc crawled into an armchair and
napped, with an car towards children — is any of them crying? Children
had fits of caugh because of colds, but there was another thing — licc.
Kids were littic and could not fight thosc stinky parasites. Lice casily
attacked babics, sensing their young and swect blood, biting their necks
and hcads, somctimes cars. The kid would begin crying bitterly, and
we did not know what to do. But later we learnt to extract lice with
the help of a cotton-wool wad. Somectimes kids swallowed lice which
caused nausca, they warmited out dead insccts. Lice were a factor
which was dilficult to fight with. They were everywhere and at the
samc time they were invisible. Our kids’ beds were made of wood and
lice made their nests in bed splits. Their eggs were much harder than
nits, some licc were cven transparent and it was difficult to smash
them. We spilled beds with hot water, oiled them, but it was of little
usc as mattresscs were stuffed with straw which was a good medium
for parasitcs. I still cannot remember lice without shivering, they were
cverywhere, they crawled on the cciling and fcll upon slecping children,
bit them, sucking their blood. After a lousc bite, there used to remain
a spot for quite a long time, which was itching unbcarably. It was
painful for us, to say nothing of babics that could not protect themsclves.

Children often died, most often at night. We carriced the corpse
to the ccllar and in the morning reported the case to the senior
nursc. Nursc Liza always fclt pity for dead children, saying:
"Goodness! Where arc children’s parcnts? Where are their relatives?
They know nothing of their children”.

Many children, brought to our hospital, werc homecless —
nobody kncw their names or surnames. The nurse gave them names
she could think of, as children had to have names. She often asked
us what name shc should give to a girl or a boy. We prompted
names like Ganya, Maria, Andriy, the names we used, We suggested
surnamcs likewisc. We never defined the nationality as children were
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too little; they had to learn 1o speak from us who spokc mainly
Ukrainian, somc nurscs spoke German, This is how children learnt
to spcak; when they rcached the age of 5, they werce sent to school
wherce they were taught exclusively in German. They were sent (6
German asylums and stayed there till the end of the war, we never
saw thcm again. We often cried over those children that were scnt
away, often remembering them and fecling pity.

When some of the children had to be sent away, Zina and [ used
to recall cur childhood and rclatives. Do they know under what
conditions we live? Has Germany given us happiness? Did we think
that Germans would bring us from Ukrainc to Germany for forced
labour, unpaid, almost naked, with no feotwear in goods cars like
cattle? Bringing us to Germany, they reduced us te the most essential
things without which we would've dicd. So they gave us miscrable
dresses and shoes with woodcen soles, gave us as much food as (o last
us at work, nothing more. They marked us "Russ" or "Polen’, cic,;
cverybody had a mark on the clothes for Germans to scc who was
who — their pcople, Germans, or forcigners. We were named "swine”
cven by their children when we had a chance to leave our camp for
awhile which was fenced with barbed wire. As soon as we lelt the
camp, we heard: "Du bist Schwein” from passcrs-by. "You arc swinc”.
What could we do? We were strangers there, imprisoned; and they
were our masters, a supcr racc. So we had to stand it. We could ni.t
spit them in the face, nor object that we were not swing; it was they
who invaded our land, robbed us, brought us to work by force,
cxhausted us. They took our grain, cattle, cven our fertile soil from the
Ukrainc, and now they cail us swinc. We guessed why they did it. They
saw our poverty, they saw we had no baths, and lived the primitive
life, we had no fine chambers, no good clothes. But have they, cultured
Germans, cver asked themselves a question: Were our people to blame,
especially peasants, for our poverty and our misfortunes? Qur people
arc not lazy, they could arrange their life cven under tsarizm when
ordinary people were oppressed. But what could be done when Stalin’s
regime came to power, when peasants were compelied to join collective
farms, when artificial famine was causcd, what could our life be but
primitive? If we had a chance to work freely and to toil honestly, to
have our own bit of land together with our familics, we would never
be primitive. They would’ve seccn we would never call other people
swinc because of their nationality. Our people, as far as 1 know, have
ncver had any prejudice against other peoples and nations.

The atrocities our fathcrs saw under Stalin’s regim, under crucl
prosccution and terror when you had to keep silence for dozens of

cars can hardly be understood by strangers. Let them,
Ubermenschen, imagine the situation when the whole families and
villages and regions were deprived of cverything their grandfathers
and fathers accumulated through hard work, but not in exchange
speculations, through their own hard labour, sweat-squeczing and
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corn-making. German Gbermenschen could not imagine that you
could be deprived of your house, that leaving all their things, pcople
cscaped from their villages, not to be thrown into prison or a
concentration camp, or sent to Siberia, or cven get shot. No, they
-did not carc to imagine this, though they uscd Stalin-like methods,
too. Stalinist rcgime deprived kulaks (wcalthy peasants), and
Hitlerite regime cxterminated people on national grounds. We,
young Ukrainian girls and fcllows brought to Germany for forced
labour, saw how invaders robbed the Ukraine, we witnessed another
inhumane regime under which nobody had the right o his own opinion
like before. Under Hitlerite invasion of the Ukraine, German authoritics
uscd to shoot people not only for disobedicnce but even far a suspicion
of disobedicnce. When Germany occupicd the Ukraine, our people
understood that for a Hitlerite a person meant nothing. They did not
have a morsel of humanity, they casily killed, robbed and scparated
people. And they ordered people to keep silence.,

We, youngsters during the first period of invasion, witnesscd
mass cxceutions of Jews and those who helped them to hide away.
Policemen caught people, stood them by the fence or along the ditch
and shot them out of machine-guns. They took dozens and hundreds
of people as hostages and hanged them in public. Under German
occupation, gallows become a usual sight for our citics and villages.

And here, in Germany, we arce called swine. German pcople
should be ashamed of Hitler and his companions. Everything that was
taking place under Hitlerite regime in Germany and in occupied lands,
was taking place in the end of the first hali of the twentieth century,
at the time when the Scicnees and the Humanitics were in their prime.
There was no humanism under Hitlerite regime. Nor undcr Stalinism.

After the war many Germans left their Fatherland, scarching
rescuc overscas. Just like we are scarching it here. It would be fair
il their descendants did not forget cvil done by their grandfathers to
Europcan pcoples. However innocent they are, they should
remember it. Like we remember our gricl, our blood, our sweat. Tt
was awful ting, it was rcal horror!

"..YOUTH WILL NEVER COME BACK..."

Most of our girls grew thin and dark like twigs, their cycs grew
dim. We still hoped to sce the end of that awful war, our ycars flew
by, I was going to be 19! We thought — will all of us sce (recdom,
will many of us dic here, in the strange iand like many others had?
Many girls that came with us 10 Germany will never sce their
Ukraine or their rclatives. We buricd them. It was not uscless to
exchange our addresses — we let their people in the Ukraine know
about the death of their daughter or sister. It was a sad duty but we
did it. The winter of 1942-1943 was very sad for us, there secmed
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no way out, we lost the hope to come back home. We considered
many propositions — onc of them was to cut wire and ¢scape from
the camp to work for "baucern”.,

The spring of 1942 camc. We remembered how the girls who
had becn doing some job in the village, used to bring some food
the previous summer, cspecially vegetables with many vitamins in
them. Girls uscd to say that there weie many humane Germans
among peasants, both young and old. They did not call our girls
swinc, just on the contrary, they even made fricnds among our girls,
and uscd to invitc them to come again to work on [ree days. By
that timc we had already lcarnt German, we learnt to speak it it
was not very difficult as I, for cxample, knew German grammar
from school. Our girls liked to work for German farmers. It
sometimes happened that German farmers asked permission from
our camp administration o hire scme gitls for ficld work. On
Sundays, Germans arrived in their trucks and took girls to their
villages to work. There was a lot to do — harvesting haricot beans,
or pears, o1 weeding. But they gave us decent food.

It often happenced that girls hired by farmers did not return to
the camp, they usually hid in the rye ficld, spent the night there,
then lcaving their hiding-place, they wandered from village, changed
their names and asked people to hire them for some permancnt
work. However difficult village lubour was (they had to clear up
manurc, to milk cows, to clecan the stables, ctc.), the food was
sufficicnt, they could cai amply and have cnough milk.

Could our girls drcam of anything beticr than country work?
No, they could not. There were cggs and butter; and there was no
plant stink.

My step-sister Maria cscaped from the camp, and so did my
cousin Marusya Kuncts. But Marusya did not go to work to a farmer,
she moved castward, sornc 50 kilomcters from Lyubeck, necar the
city of Shverin, in Brandenburg, in the present German Democratic
Rcpublic. She worked as a waitress at a restaurant. Anyuta Shapoval,
my ncighbour back at home, was well-cstablished at a kind farmer’s
whosc farmstcad was not far from our camp, about 3 kilometcrs
away. We often went to sce her on Sundays. She helped many of
us; but not to overusc her kindness, we agreed to visit her in turn.
Anyuta gave us somcthing to eat, besides she gave us some sausage
or boiled mcat to the camp. She uscd to hide everything she had
preparcd for us deep in the straw on Saturdays. In our turn being
gratcful to Anyuta and her host, we often helped them in the ficld
or about the farmstead. Seeing our helpfulness, Anyuta’s farmer did
not object to her receiving guests on Sundays.

We carricd bundies full of food, coming back from Anyuta’s place.
To escape our ward, we approached the camp on the opposite side,
passed our bundles to the other girls and went through the check-post
with empty hands. Being asked wherc we were, we usually answered:
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went for a walk to breathe fresh air in the pinc-wood.

My step-sister Maria, as I had alrcady mentioned, followed my
advice and.cscaped from the camp. She was hesitating long, she was
afraid of being caught and punished, and terror paralized her will.
But onc day there was an occasion: girls from the camp werc hired
to harvest green peas. It was my day off. They took about 50 girls
in trucks, my sistcr Maria and mc including. 1 staycd with girls at
night, and Zina was on duty. At night Maria, knowing that thcy were
going to the farm, told me she had made up her mind to run away.
She desided to do it by all mcans, she said, she would never change
her mind. She said she would change her surname, but would lcave
her name Maria unchanged. If she found a good place, she would
let me know at once.

So we went to the village to pick peas and 1 was constantly
thinking about Maria’s cscape. She was ncrvous, I believe. When
we had a chance, we took some peas for our girls in the camp. At
last the work was finished, the farmer collected us, tricd to count
us, but not very thoroughly. Is cveryone here? — Yes, was the
answer. So we lcft.

He brought us to thc camp, we left the trucks, he put us in
charge of a policcman and thanked him for good workers. The
policeman told him he could hirc girls again. We run to our barracks,
washed and madc a sort of "tea". Some girls sang awhile and thcm
fell aslcep. Our faces were weather-beaten with fresh warm air, the
sun and the wind. We slept well as we were tired.

It is clcar, Maria did not come back to thc camp with us; it
could be done only duc to the fact that they did not count workers
thoroughly. So morning came, wc woke up and were cscorted to
work. I also got up as I was to come to the hospital at 7. I dresscd
quickly, put on my white apron and went to work. Wardmen knew
mc well, so they did not cven ask for my pass.

Coming to the hospital, I went to grect my little patients, my
pets, as there arc such people in cach community, I embraced the
girl whom I called "daughter” as I loved her like my own child. She
was small, obedient and much cleaner than the rest. You should not
wondcr that we had pcts among children, there was the whole cluster
of them, children were different, you cannot love everybady. This
docs not mean we ncglected other children, by no mcans. This was
just likc a family: fathers or mothers might love onc of their children
better, than the rest of them.

Zina also had a girl whom she liked best, she took her to her lap
morc often, petted her; the girl enjoyed it, fecling somebody’s love.

As 1 have already told you, among children (our paticnts),
there were some whosc mothers worked at the plant; these mothers
besought us to look after their children as best as we could. I cven
promiscd one of the mothers that I should pay more attention to
her baby, I should changc his diapers more often for him not to lie
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wect. So the mother of the baby, though I could not do too much
for him, gave mc nicc shocs and a dress.

We well knew those mothers who came to sce their children on
Sundays. They were gencerally nice, kind women from West Ukrainc.
They often invited onc of us, nurscs, to walk in thc wood, wc made
photocs there. I liked those girls. They cnjoyed more freedom, they
were not "OST-girls", their passcs were marked "U”. They also invited
mc to their barrack, I uscd to tell them about my fate, about famine
we had gonce through, about collective farms and dckulakizatior.
(dceprivaion of wealthy pcasants, "kulaks®, of their property). They
listencd attentively, sympathizing with me, as there were many orphins
among thcm, whosc fathers went to the front or became partisans. |
also told them about my sister Maria whom [ had lost as well as the
idea to find her somctime, because all my documents including Maria’s
address which I had received from Aunt Nadya, my mother’s sister,
had bcen burnt to ashes when our previous barrack was bombed.

Girls from Galytchyna told me their life-storics, I lcarnt from
them there were many mixed Ukrainian-Polish familics, that thosc
girls never ccased hoping to find their familics. They promiscd to
invitc me to Lviv after the war, the capital of Galytchyna. They also
told me they had lived under Polish rule before the war of 1939.
Many things they told me about were new and interesting to me.

They tricd to console me, but my hcart ached. I recalled my
Father, his usual question — Where arc you going again? — cach
timec 1 was going to lcave home. I answered that he should not
worry, I should be able to settlc my problems. In fact, I was; but I
could never forget constant terror, famine, cxile of the clderly
Shcherbakhas with their familics, the death of our relatives. And
now I was in Germany, my lifc was far from sweet. I prayed to God
to give me strength cnough to go through torture, to stand it.

[ often cricd in my life, both at home and over herc. Nobody has
cver asked me — why are you crying, arc you hungry, do you fecl pain?
I had to keep cverything to mysclf, to soothe my pains and to cope with
my problems. It sccms 1 was constantly assisted by God Almighty, He
was always with me, flying over me. I met lots of kind pcople through
out my life, they helped me like kind angels, giving me something like
to a birdic. Such was my lifc. Here, 100, in a strange country I mct many
kind pcople, among Germans, too: it is duc to them that I managed to
go through captivity and scparation from my rclatives.

Alter some time I got letter from a certain Maria Vyshnya. I
understood at once that it was my stcp-sister Maria. I tore thc
cnvclope quickly and began reading as I was eager to know wherc
she was. After she had escaped, I worricd about her lest she should
get into trouble. However, it turncd out that she got on well, she
lived not far from our camp, about 3 kilometcrs away. Maria wrote
she worked for a kind bauer (a farmer in Canada). Maria gave me
a detalicd plan of her village, inviting me to scc her on Saturday
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and to have dinner with her, so I had to come before dinner-time.

When Saturday came, I took a girl-fricnd with mc and we went
to the village where Maria lived. The summer was quitc warm, |
cntered the village wearing my white apron, but later I took it off,
remaining in a dress. We went fast as we were [ull of strength in
the morning, not tircd. When we camc (o the farm they werc just
going (o sit down to dinncr. Maria warned the farmer about our
possible arrival, he did not object. Maria introduced us to the host
and his workers.

So we sat down to dinncr, about ten people all in all. Until
now I remember the smell of boiled potatocs. How swect it was!
Mcat with gravy were tasly too, which were scrved with potato by
the hostess. I had never caten anything of the sort in Germany! |
appreciatcd Maria’s hostess as a very good cook. They did not make
any distinction at dinncr — whether you were a member of the
family or a worker. Everybody was cqual. There were Ukrainian
and Polish workcers — fcllows and girls.

After dinner we washed up and cleanced the table together with
the hostess. I fclt very casy wondering how much I could cat, how 1
could find spacc for all that food. In duc time we. went to look at the
farmstcad. It was very large, with finc barns, stablcs, cowsheds and
pigstics. Everything was clean and ncat. When we had a chance, Maria
showed me a heap of straw where she had hidden food for me to take
it to the camp. There were sausage, lard, and home-made bread.

Maria told me she lived well with those farmers. At first though,
she said, her hands were aching as she had to milk 16 cows, her hands
were swelling. But she got used to the job, and cverything was all right.

Maria told me, Anyuta Shapovalova lived not far from her, in
the ncighbouring village, they knew cverything about cach other. ]
told her we also knecw about Anyuta and visited her in turn, shc
hclped us giving us somce food. On Sundays Anyuta even gave us
milk pourcd into bottles. We shared whatever Anyuta or Maria could
give us between oursclves in the camp.

My fricnd and I went to sce Maria on Saturday, but we felt so
at case and the hosts were so kind that we cven stayed overnight.
They gave us down blankets to cover, they proved too hot to sleep
undcr, we slept uncovered, the blankets lying aside.

_We camc back (o the camp in thc morning, carrying whatcver
Maria had given us in the bundles. They were passed across the fence
Lo our girls and we went through the check-post as usual. Our passcs
were not even checked as we were allowed to leave the camp from 8
am. till 8 p.m. freely. By that time our ward had grown milder, they
stopped shouting at us. We thought, pcrhaps something was wrong at
the front, they were retrcating not "tactically" (as they put it).

We shared cverything honcstly. The girls cven managed to boil
soup with fricd onions. The smell wclled all over the camp,
everybody felt happy. In general, we loved and respected those girls
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who, putting their lives at stake, cscaped from the camp and helped
us with food. We were also grateful o those girls who went to work
for farmers and brought us some vegetables. All this helped us to
overcome the lack of food as we got very litttle from the canteen,
with few calorics.

AL that time I began to think of visiting my cousin Marusya
Kuncts. She was a daughter of my Father’s sister and my closcst
rclative here. 1 knew where she lived and that she worked as a
waitress in Shverin.

AMONG PEOPLE

As I have alrcady mentioned 1 had girl-fricnds among
Ukrainian girls from West Ukrainc. 1 loved them, and they loved
me, too. Wc fclt casy talking together. Onc of them, Maria by name,
too (how many of them Marias and Mariykas in the Ukraine!) had
a scveral months-old son Mikola. T did not know the district she
camc from, ncither did I know about the child’s father, I was not
curious. So she brought her Mikola to our hospital. You could not
live with your children or husband in the camp. Family lifc was
banncd in the camps. The barracks were unsuitable for families to
live in, they were like primitive military barracks.

We made friecnd with Maria from Galytchyna, spoke much
about our lives. We spokc mainly in private, for Germans not to
overhear our complaints. It was horrible time, cven worse than at
the beginning of the war, cven the Germans were afraid of Hitler
service-men, like gestapo, SS, Kripo, clc.

We kept alert not to be caught by Hitleritc companions, as working
at the factory, our girls tricd to spoil something, to inflict damage to
Hitlerites, they used to pour sand into cartridges or something else. Maria
and I werc also afraid of being arrested like some other girls who were
suspected of inflicting damages, they were tortured.

Generally spcaking, sulfering losscs at the front and scnsing
underground activitics cverywhere, Germans grew more and more
suspicious.

It was to Mariyka that I confesscd of going to scc Marusya in
Shverin, but was afraid to be caught up, when 1 took off the
OST-mark. We "OST-girls" were not allowed to buy tickets for the
train or to go far away. Maria from Galytchyna suggested that I
took her pass which was marked "U". She somehow broke the plastic
cover of her pass, pulled out her photo and insertcd mine. It looked
fine, you couid not spot that it was not my pass at first sight. And
you nceded your document, i.c. the pass, in Germany cach moment!
Wherever you go, Germans asked you: "Ausweis”. They never asked
the names, as they could hardly pronounced them, only "Ausweis”
as therc was the owncr’s photo on it. Mariyka gave me her pass

128



with my photo, and [ promiscd to look aftcr her Mikola the best 1
could. Shc only warncd mc to say that, I had found it and put my
photo inside, if T had been caught with that pass. .

Mariyka’s fcars were justifiable. If Gestapo had caught a girl
with falsc documents, she could be sent to a concentration camp or
cven exccuted.

Hitlerites did not make fun of it. And getting into Gestapo you
could not even drcam of an cscapc or to be forgiven.

I was happy in my hopc to scc my cousinc Marusya Kuncts
in Shverin. I did not tcll anybody about it, I didn’t boast. A short
time before my visit I got a letter from my syster on Father’s side,
Shura. Shc wrote that not only my step-mother but my father, too,
had dicd when the village was bombed. It was not truc, in the end
of ends, I am not surc, perhaps Shura wrote not in cxactly such
words or may bce she confuscd the facts, at Icast Father did not died,
he was alive. But 1 did not know it at that time, I cricd bitterly and
sobbed, I did not want to live. At the hospital thcy sympathized with
mc and asked me questions. When I told them about my misfortunc,
they started soothing me, but I could not pull myself together. Shura
asked mc to come back home to look alter Mitya and hersclf, but
how could 1 go, I was not frce to do it, I could not even leave the
camp or go (o the city, when [ wished to. What could I do? Shura
was only 11, Mitya only 9, they were little and dependent.

Again the scnior nursc Liza and nurse Hclen took pity of me.
Helen took mc out to the city to divert me from my sad thoughts. So
we wandered looking here and there and returned to the camp at
midnight. Hellen told at the check-post that I had been with her, that
she was responsiblc for me. The talk at the check-post was short,

" Germans had nothing against it, they cxchanged "Gutc nacht" with
Hcllen and I went to my barrack thanking Hellen for her kindness.

I went to bed, but there was no sleep, I imagined my brother
and sistcr whom I had not sccn for two ycars. 1 could not slcep a
wink till morning.

In thc morning I asked scnior nursc Liza to give me 2 days
off to have a rest. Knowing about my gricf, she did not object. I
took my falsc pass and went to the railway station. I produced the
pass, paid moncy, and bought a ticket to Shverin. I had no difficulty
with my pass with a "U" Mark on it. It is not a long way from
Lybeck to Shverin, so 2 hours later I camc to my destination and
at noon I found the restaurant where Marusya worked.

She introduced me to the restaurant master and he gave a day
off to Maria till cvening. So we had a finc dinner at thc same
restaurant and went out to the city with Marusya. Shverin is an
ancient German city, the capital of Brandenburg, it is very beautiful,
its houses are as if painted in the picture, the strects are narrow, it
is very clean and orderly, therc was no haste, no laughter heard.
Walking along the cily, I told Marusya the news, especially about
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the tragedy in our village and in my family.

I spent the night in a small room rented by Marusya. Lying in
bed, we spoke long, thinking what would happen to us. It was known
that Germans were retreating at all fronts, though it was not
pronounccd out loud in Germany. At last we fell asleep, tired.

In thc morning we had breakfast in Marusya’s room and shc
saw mec off (o the railway station. I did not worry about thc ticket,
as I had bought a there-and-back ticket. I said Good-byc to Marusya
who invited me to come again, and I promiscd I would if I had a
chancc. Nobody asked my pass, 1 quictly cntered the car and soon
the train started.

Returning to thc camp, I went to the hospital at once, talked to
my girl-fricnds, but I did not confcss of having been to Shverin. It was
the time, during the wholc war, when you did not have to trust even
your closcst fricnds as somconc could overhear you. We had to
remcember that though some of our supervisors bchaved in a humane
way with us, we were not surc this would continuc long, as German
women were not surc of their futurc cither, they could be sacked from
work cven for associating with "OST-girls" outside their work. And we,
ncw slaves, had to remember all the time about our position, that we
had not finished our education, had no diplomas, that we were forced
to work, though we, Zina and I, worked at the hospital. Now we work
here, and tomorrow we might be ordered to go to the factory to do
hard and dirty or even dangerous work.

1 had a day off, as ycsterday I went to Shverin; and came back
today. I went to the cantcen, had dinner together with my friends,
we felt sad. Our sadness led nowhere, the reality was hard and
unshaken, and depended on Germans completely, on Hitlerites to
bc more exact.

In the morning I went to the hospital, 1 had a good rest, let
Zina have it now, as she was on duty whilc I was away.

Scnior nursc gave Zina 2 days off too, provided I worked instcad
of hcr, i.e. stood my duty and hers, like shc worked for me. Zina was
happy, she told me shc would go to sce the Polish fcllow, an acquaintance
of hers whom she tenderly called "Reddy”. He cared for her, she often
visitcd him, having a rest there as he did not live in the camp but at a
privatc appartment. Zina’s Pole worked at the butcher’s, so Zina was
happy that shc was not hungry like her girl-fricnds who worked at the
factory and had to live on food they received at the canteen or get some
vegetables when they went to the village for ficld work.

Before she was brought to Germany Zina Nikishina lived in
the town of Pology, not far from our village, so she was a sort of
ncighbour to me. We worked in harmony togcther, never letting
cach other down.

So Zina went to see her Reddy and I substituted for her,
working day and night. It was an cxhausting piece of work, there’
were very many children, I hardly managed my duties, and I was
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dying to slecp. The worst period was before morning, the brain
ncarly stopped functioning as though turning into stonc. 1 had to
overcome it not to fall asleep as if you fell aslecp, it would be
hopeless. But if you overcame that worst period, cverything went
well. However sometimes I took a nap feeding a child, but the child
uscd to wake me up, fidgetting or crying. .

This kind of work was not difficult for mc but cxhausting.
Pcrhaps not the work itsclf but lifc and consciousness that there
was no perspective ahcad, no futurc. We were completely within
the will of the invaders of the Ukrainc. That is why often cxcited
by our situation with no way out, we uscd to invent a bit of hope,
composing songs about our “liberators”. These songs were not highly
artistic, wc only expressed our feelings in them. I remember a song
"You,"liberator”, should remember that your time will arrive. Red
heroes will come to Berlin, they will take revenge for us”.

We did not know at the time that Stalinist regime declared us
"traitors of the Motherland”, We imagined that when the Red Army
arrived, it would liberate us from Hitlerite slavery. In my Foreword to
the present memoirs I told you that we, those who were brought to
forced labour to Germany, never felt guilty of anything. It was not our
fault that Stalinist politics and government caused the situation when
instcad of beating the invader on his territory, our Army rctreated,
giving in the whole of the Ukraine within a [ew months. Historians
should correctly appreciated the situation in which 5 hundred thousand
young Ukrainians — girls chicfly — found themsclves in German
slavery. Was I, a school-girl of 16 who had gone through famine, guilty
that Zaporizhzhya rcgion was invaded by thc German army and later
Gcerman administration? I think [ was not guilty of that, but Stalin first
and forcmost. I shall not discuss the reasons for the misfortuncs of the
Red Army in the first war year, it is not my business but I know that
ordinary soldicrs, though they could hardly admirc the systcm
introduccd by Stalin, though they could hardly forget their hungry years,
though they lived poor lives under constant terror of being arrested or
cxiled or exccutcd, they still fought honestly and were no cowards, as
far as I know. In fact, they fought neither for Stalin’s regime, nor for
Stalin himsclf, they fought for their native land, for therr relatives —
wives, mothers, fathers, sons and daughters. It was not their fault that
the Sovict leaders proved untalented, that the Army was disorganized,
that therc was chaos cverywhere. Stalin himsell grew numb after
German assault, regaining his spcech in about 10 days. Meanwhile
German hordes moved forward, occupying the Ukrainian territory;
many of our soldicrs were imprisoncd or encircled. How many of them
dicd of cold or hunger? Again soldicrs were guilty if, after
imprisonment, they saved their lives by some miracle and were tried
as traitors of their Motherland. It was Stalin who was to be tricd for
those prisoncrs and for us, brought to Germany by force, for our
crippled lives, for our wasted youth. But no, Stalin has not been
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tried, it was we who werc called traitors and were sweared at by Stalinist
political agitators. But I shall take up this problem further on.

MY "COUNTRY-GIRL"

Time went on, T was still working at the hospital, visiting my
step-sister Maria and Anyuta, too. I reccived a letter from my cousin
Marusya Kuncts saying that shc was going to movc closcr to the
Ukraine, to her home. I did not know any of her acquaintances or
how shc could leave Shverin to move to the Polish territory, or how
I should understand her words "closcr to her home". In about 6 months,
after I had first visited Marusya in Shverin, 1 asked scnior nurse Liza
to give mc two days off.-She did not rcfusec me. So I could go.

I well knew the way to Shverin, so T casily bought the ticket
having a pass marked "U". I arrived in Shverin, went to the familiar
restaurant but its owner told me that Marusya did not live there,
she had left Shverin. I felt pity that I hadn’t written a letter before
coming therc tc make surc that Marusya was in. The more so, |
had to do it as Marusya hinted she was going to leave for the East,
closer to her home. So she left without warning me about it. I had
nothing to do but to return to Lyubcck, to my camp.

The way there and back brought no trouble, though sometimes
hca\;_y bombing of German territory was heard, some bombs falling
not far away, but the train went safc.

Next day when 1 came to work, I went up to the second floor
where there was a room in which we kept our white coats. 1 had
put on my coat when one of our hospital clcancrs came in. She
glanced at thc wardrobe and noticed my false pass. Amazed, she
asked me where I had taken a pass with "U"-lctter and my own
photo. I told her it was none of her busincss.

I could not imagine that thc moment our Ukrainian girl who
had also been brought to Germany {or forced labour, a cleaner, saw
my false pass would be of such great importance in my lifc, would
causc such pain to me. Instead of kceping silcnce, she went to the
Lagerfithrer and denounced me. She simply told him that I, an
"OST-girl",-had a pass markcd "U", which was not mine.

Though I could not forescc that my "country-girl® would
denounce me, a sort of presentiment prompted me to pull my photo
out of the pass. Hardly had I done it, when the Lager{threr burst
in and asking me no questions began bcating me with his rubber
stick, calling me swine. He beat me hard, then he left and I remained
there horrified that they would send me to a concentration camp.

Beaten heavily, I went down and told Zina cverything, she adviscd
me to run away as they could send mc to jail for life. She told me she
would take up my work for no one to learn that I was out.

I put on my jacket and apron and went to another hospital
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building pretending I was going to scc a paticnt. 1 crossed the road,
took off my apron and ran towards the station where I casily bought
a ticket to Shverin. The cashicr did not ask my pass, so cverything
was all right. 1 had no falsc pass on me, the Lagerfithrer had taken
it. In hastc I took the wrong train and went in the opposite direction.
We arrived at some station, the guard crying out — change the train.
I did not undcrstand what to do. Two Frenchmen were passing by,
they worc uniforms and I asked thcm which train went to Shverin.
They showed me and went in the same direction. )

As soon as we cntered the train, Gestapo-men came in. It was
an uncxpected ticket control. T was askced: "Ausweis”. They starcd
at me, I was ncarly paralyzcd with terror. I told them I was going
to Shverin to scc my cousin, Maria Kuncts by name. They asked
my name. I said I was Maria Sinishina. They turncd out to be no
fools, they had alrcady Icarnt about my cscape from the camp, they
were just looking for me. I did not manage to fool them. )

Thosc Germans led me to another car while the train was going
to Shverin. [ hcard bombs falling not far away, cithcr Shverin or
some other city was being bombarded. [ was arrested and taken to
the police that was situated not far from the railway station.

They led me in and started writing the record, asking my namc
and whercabouts. T licd that T had lagged behind my group, that I had
been taken from my home, cic. But Germans had alrcady known
cverything about me, they had been warned about my escape. Each
casc of cscape from a camp was reported Lo SS and police, so they
were looking for me. Many girls and fcllows tricd to cscape from camps
at that time to avoid hunger, though they never tried (o run home but
rather to a farm. Hcaring my lics, Germans did not cven care to prove
that I was lying. Onc of them rose and ordered me to follow him. He
took me (o the tenth floor where they temporarily kept arrested those
who werc in fault. He opened the door and pushed me in. I found
myscll in the ward lit with a small clectric lamp.

The ward was not vacant, there werc four girls inside, I was
the fifth. The girls had black wooden blankets which they spread on
the floor and lay down to kecp warm. It was stuffy in the ward, no
fresh air coming in. There was a small window high above. The
smell of human pcrspiration and stink — this is what I rcmembered
best. It was no wonder, it was a jail; who knows how many pcople
had gonc through it beforc I arrived.

I thought — how long shall I have to sit in this stinky ward?
Bcfore long, the girls got up and spoke to me in Ukrainian, asking
my name. [ sat down beside them and said I came from Lyubeck
— Brandenbaum camp. They told me about themsclves and so we
were sitting there, having lost hope for frcedom.

Soon another girl was pushed into our ward. By that timc the
four girls had rcceived their food for supper, I was given nothing as 1
was not on the list yet. I was arrcsted on Friday in the afternoon, so
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I was afraid thcy would give me nothing to cat for the next three days,
as Germans had "Ordnung" cverywhere (i. e. order), so they did not
work on Saturdays. A sixth girl arrived. My stomach demanded food,
but the new girl did not look hungry or tircd, she looked quite fresh.

The girl said her name was Olya, we told her our names, We
could not imaginc that Olya worked as an interpreter for Germans.
But I shall spcak about it later on. We tried to slcep, covering
oursclves with dirty blankets.

I was hungry and could not slecp. Not only hunger bored me,
my body was aching of blows inflictcd by thc Lagerfihrer’s rubber
stick. I was afraid of my futurc. It was a troublcsome night. In the
morning a policeman came, unlocked the door and took us to the
lavatory that was ncar by, in the corridor. Wec washed and were
again locked in the ward. In a few minutes the door was opencd
again and we rcccived breakfast — a picee of bread with cheese and
a mug of hot water for cach of us. The bread was brown, baked
out of flour mixcd with ground chestnuts and sawdust, ordinary
woodcn sawdust. Cheese reminded of chalk rather than a milk
product. But what could be donc: I atc my breakfast, and soon my
stomach was swelling, I felt gastric burning. My stomach could not
digest this sort of food. The girls sympathized with me, they cven
gave mc their hot water to reduce burning.

ANOTHER "COUNTRY-GIRL"

Olya was staying with us, also giving me her portion of hot
water. She talked about hersclf, her past, telling us that she worked
with a doctor. We also told her our surnames and where we came
from. I cven confesscd of having given thc wrong namc for the
record and I also told her that my rcal namc was Antonina
Khelemendyk. Could I think that she worked for Germans, as an
interpreter in the police, and as it turned out later not only as an
interpreter but as a spy?

So Saturday passed. For dinner we had something awful instcad
of soup and somc porridge, a picce of brcad and a mug of black
coffee, as black as soot. After dinner (though not tasty but warm)
we were allowed to go to the lavatory, and oncc again in the evening.
It was a chance to refresh oursclves a bit.

In the evening we lay down to sleep, though no sleep came to
us, the girls began telling tales, even trying to joke to distract our
sad thoughts. We got accustomed to cach other, knowing a lot about
our neighbours — where we came from, our names and what kind
of work we did on arriving in Germany. We even promised to meet
onc day if we got out of jail, as there is no chance for two mountains
to mcet, while people might do so.

On Monday morning, after we attended the lavatory we were
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given breakfast that did not differ much from prcvious meals —
brown brecad, cheese and hot watcr. We werce on alert — which of
us will be first called for inquiry? We hcard somebody walk along
the corridor; the door opened. A policeman came in, he called Olya
first. She was glad that she went first, we suspected nothing, but
about 10 minutes later she ran in together with the policcman and
told us she was frce to go to her working place at the doctor’s, that
he had come to fetch her. So she said good-byc and left.

In a while the four girls whom 1 had found in thc ward werce
summoned. They were two sisters and two their fricnds. They went
and I was lcft alonc. I sat shivering with terror rather than with cold.

Soon the policcman camc to call mc. It was the same
SS-policeman. 1 put on my jacket quickly and followed him. He led
me 1 did not guess wherc. Al last we camc Lo a door. In the room
there sat a Gestapo-officer who began the inquiry.

After his very first questions T understood that Olya, a doctor’s
assistant, had told them cverything. He repeated cverything I had
confided to Olya. I began crying that Olya had betrayed me. There
was no choicc for me — I had to tcll the truth. I told him that my
Lagerfiihrer had beaten me with his rubber stick, 1 produced my
bruises on the shoulders. I said he had beaten me for finding a pass,
and it was not a crime. | ran away because he had beaten mc.

However, 1 did not betray my friend that had given me her
pass with the "U" mark, ncither did I confess of going to Shvcrin
twicc using that pass.

It looked I should manage to get out of the situation, the
policeman said if T had told them cverything on Friday, they would
havc let me go, but now I deserved a penalty — I had to stay a
month in jail, and aflter that I had to go to a penalty-camp in Lyubcck
— Shlyutopp. The Gestapo-officer told me that cven Germans guilty
of some fault, served their terms in the penalty-camp. It was a law
in Germany, hc said.

Alter the inquiry, I was scnt to the same ward, but now I stayed
there all alone. I was given food twice a day and taken to the lavatory
thricc. I stayed there a few days. After that scveral girls were brought
in who had (o scrve their month’s penalties for escapes, t0o.

So therc were several of us now. We had alrcady been punished,
so we weren’t afraid of another "Olya". Wec spoke freely about
oursclves, our native lands, fecling sorrow for our Ukraine, our
relatives. Each of us described her village as if it were the best in
the whole world. It was after each of us had gone through famine
and tortures, if not our own, then our relatives’. We grew sad, trying
to sleep as long as possible, as we had nothing to do. During the
whole month we had not had a bath, so no wonder that we developed
lice. There was only cold water in the lavatory, we had no chance
Lo wash properly. We even agrecd between ourselves that it was a
part of our penalty: the dirt and the lice, for our escapes. A month
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is not a very long time, but when cach sccond of the month lice
sucked your blood, it might sccm eternity.

Time was flying. The war went on. We hcard bomb blasts,
Shverin or its outskirts werc bombarded. Bombs were not thrown
with great precision, so we were afraid for our lives. Who would
like to cnd his lifc in jail, far from his nativc land?

The ward was half cmpty, thc worst time was night when
bombs were heard ncar by. It often happened that I cricd out to be
allowed to run and hide from bombs. But who cared? Jail ward
were accustomed to it, they had gone through the front, they used
to play cards or slecp at night. Will they pay attention to the
Ukrainian girl’s crying, the girl that is kept in the ward, frightcned
and loncly? No, they won’t, they arc indifferent to her fate.

Somctimes the following things happened in jail: 1 sit still and
fccl some invisible person sitting beside me and whispering — sleep,
girlic, slcep, closc your tired cyes, don’t be sad, don’t cry, you won’t
dic of hunger, you arc protccted by your angel, he will guard you
and give you strength for you to overcome it all, be patient.

I heard this whisper, it cntertained me, and I felt beuer and
calmer. Sometimes I whispered: Christ! Be merciful to me, I am
still young, I want to live, give me strength!

Many slcepless nights went by. Appeal to God calmed me, gave
me strength healed my soul. After that I fell soundly asleep.

And morning brought daily routinc the lavatory, a piece of
brown brcad, hot water, low-gradc cheese as if containing chalk. I
atc all this, my stomach swelling, but I had to avoid hunger.

In jail I often rccolleccted my Mother whom I did not
remember, I imagined she was far away. [ kncw Mother was not
alive but I felt surc her soul was with me. Shc must have heard my
sobs. There were souls of all other girls’ Mothers with us,-the
orphan-girls who cricd like myself, both in childhood and now, in
the strange land, in German slavery. We saw no happiness in
childhood or in youth. How many blossoming lives have Hitlerites
brought to Germany? How many children have they scparated from
their parents, taking them to Germany? How many of them dicd
on thc way ? And their parcnts dreamt of their little ones for ycars
and years. This was our fate, the fate of slaves!

SLAVISH FATE

My jail tcrm was coming to an end. The month scemed a year
to me. I was ncarly eaten alive by lice, I was exhausted by scanty
food. We were summoncd by a policeman — three girls and 1. A
German farmer was waiting for us, he needed hands to pick potatocs
in the field for the canteen of "OST", or "U", or "R" workers.

We werc glad that we did not have to go to the penalty-camp
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at once. The German promised the policeman to fetch us to the
penalty-camp after harvesting. He signed some papers, pul down
our surnames and took us away in his small truck. .

It was not far from Shverin. When we arrived in his farmstead,
his wifc invited us to the house and gave us hot water o wash. Alter
that we dined and went to the ficld. We picked potatocs walking behind
the machine that dug them out with its fong cogs and left them on the
ground. We worked till sunset when the German said it was cnough.

Coming home, the hostess gave us hot water 10 have a goad
wash, our hair in particular. Shc miyt have known that we had lice,
so she gave us oil to spread it over the hair. She advised us o keep
the hair oiled for 30 minutes to kill lice. After that we washed 1t
again and fclt much better, fresh and as though born ancw. We felt
the oil smell for three days, but it was no trouble at all.

We spent 3 days in the farm picking potatocs. We had fine
food and felt revived. After we had finished work, our hostess wine
cach of us hall a loal of bread, a picce of sclf-made sausage, and
the farmer ok us to the penalty-camp in Lyubeck -— Shlyutopp.

It was getting dark when we arrived there, They did not bother
with us, locking cach in a separate ward with no windows. There was 4
wooden bed with no mattress, or blanket, or pillow. So we stayed there.

Onc day in autumn, when the nights were cool, we were digging,
potatocs. How could we sleep after the day’s work? We were chilled
to the bones. All night long T walked from corncr to corncer, though
you could hardly call it walking as there was no spacc cnough, so
I rather trampled on the same place. Not 1o go mad I started my
praycrs asking God not to lct me dic of cold, inviting morning which
could bring warmth.

At 7 in the morning a policeman came and unlocked our wooden
wards letting us to go to the lavatory, then he locked us again — not
a single word about our futurc. Again sad thoughts, trembling with
cold and uncertainty, fcar of being beaten again. T was afraid of it, my
body ached almost the whole month since 1 had been beaten by the
Lagerfidhrer. I could never forget it or forget my fear.

About 9 o’clock a Gestapo-officer came and ordered to get us
oul. We were lct out, onc by onc, like dangcrous criminals. But we
wcere not beaten. We were told we should go to work to a fish
factory. They also reminded us of being in a penalty-camp, so they
would not bother with us, cach brcach of discipline would be
mercilessly punished.

After that short speech we were taken to a women’s barrack
not far from the factory. We were shown the place where we should
stay during the following five months, where we should come after
the working day at the factory. For breakfast we reccived only a
picce of bread, and somce soup for dinner. We were left there and
went to slcep on straw as nobody remained to give orders. So we,
i c. three girls and 1, had slept tll workers from the factory returncd.
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All the workers stood in qucuc for supper, brought from a
Polish or French canteen. We also stood in qucuc, I was the first,
the 3 girls behind me. I looked around to ask somcthing of the girls
when I saw a familiar face. I looked attentively and saw a very good
acquaintance of minc from Lyubeck camp, Zina Stadnik. I was glad
to scc my friend, it would bc casicr for me to overcome
penalty-camp conditions and work. Zina was amazcd as she did not
in the least cxpect to find me there.

Taking our food, potatocs with somc gravy, wc sat down to have
suppcer all together. I could not identify the meat of which the gravy
was cooked, Germans could give us horse-flesh or something clse that
people never used. We were happy to fill our stomachs with anything,
whatever it could be. Alter supper we went to our barrack.

We got acquainted with other girls who served their penalty in
the camp, asking about their native parts and thc camps in which
they worked in Germany. Zina asked me to go to slecp beside her.
Wec talked long about our adventurcs. We slept side by sidec upon
old straw which produccd a lot of dust if touchced.

I was glad 1 had a fricnd beside me, so the night did not scem
horrible and cold. In the morning we were woken up and ordered
to go to the fish factory which stood by the canal, not far from our
camp. Zina did not go to the factory as somc other girls and she
worked at a big shop where they clcanced the floor, did the shop,
and packed goods. I liked to go to the factory. I knew that filling
tins with ready-to-scrve fish you could have somcthing to cat, at
lcast dipping fingers in saucc and licking thcm.

Here I am at the factory. We worked on the conveyer line,
watched by thc ward, policcmen who had rubber sticks, fiddling
with them, like children. We were afraid of thosc sticks, I cspecially,
remembering how 1 had bcen beaten with such a stick. When a
policeman would wave his stick, I used to shiver and fecl pain in
my back that rcmaincd from previous beating, my back still ached.

Returning to the barrack, we continued our endless talks of
our miscrable fatc, the fate of slaves of the Third Reich! We had
never had rich life at home, we had gone through famine, we had
no proper clothes. We werc sad about our youth that gave us no
joy. Germans came, took us away half-dressed, drove us in goods
cars, trcating us like cattle. We were convoyed even to our work.
Truc, there were humane people among Germans but they were
few. We fclt shy, and they saw we were poor, having no clothes.
We wore wooden-soled shoes — this was a chancc to humiliate us.
When you walked in those shoes, you were heard from afar.
Germans recognized foreigners by the sound which reminded the
sound of horse-shoes in the road.

I hardly slept a wink the night after my first working day at the
factory. I was thin and exhaustcd with undernourishment, 1 was afraid
I should not stand five months in the penalty-camp. Again I turncd to
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God, I prayed asking him to give me strength, patiencc, and courage.
I tricd not to lose hcart, not to give way, not to stop fighting. Otherwisce,
therc was no way out, I knew it watching lifc in the camp.

Lying on the straw, I thought I was not alonc, thal there were
many people like me. We were all coliceted under onc roof, all of
us were united by similar fate. In the morning we shall again be
convoyed to work likc dangerous criminals. Our only fault was desirc
to run away from the camp to find some casicr work, perhaps not
much easicr, but the one for which they would give us more food.

THOUGHTS TRAVEL INTO THE PAST

Lying upon the straw, I rccollected my Uncle Ivan Mikisor, who
lived in the town of Orikhiv, Zaporizhzhya region. He told me when
I studicd at the medical school in Orikhiv how his parcnts and he faced
faminc in 1932-33, and before that his father had been dekulakized.
I was only 5 or 7 at the time when this tragedy fell upon them. He
was a young fcllow at the time. When authoritics come, he ran away
to avoid Siberia. He ran away without saying good-byce to his fricnds.

At that time, he continucd, cven schoolchildren, taught by their
tcachers, denounced people who arosc suspicion. There were lots
of pcople that following their own intcrests started to help Stalinist
regime and denounced people to village Sovicts or other officials.

The Uncle had to go to the Caucasus, farther from home, from
his native village. He had no documents, so he had to change jobs
not to be arrested. He went from place to place like a frightencd
rabbit. And his parcnts were deprived of their house and thrown
into stables whenee horses were taken to the collective farm. The
old Mikisor fell ill. Therc was no food, no mcans. They lived like
cattle. His old wifc put him in the gutter laying it with straw, fed
him little by little, giving him water to drink. He got worse and
worsc, the worst could bc cxpected at any moment.

My Uncle Ivan Mikisor gave thcm ncws of himsclf through
some pcople. From time to time he met his mother in Orikhiv where
she uscd to comec. Hc also brought now a loafl of brcad, now
something else to save the old people. °

Oncc Uncle Ivan got a note from his mother which said —
comc back, son, father is dying. The son. arrived but did not find
his father alive, his son’s miscrable help could not save him.

The old Mikisor was buricd without much ceremony, no priest,
no coffin, He was put in a pit dug in the bushes, and that was all.
The rclatives cricd sccretly, his wife most of all, saying — "Heaven
with you, end has comc to your landish torture.”

_ It was true, pcople were not afraid of death, it was often better
to die rathcr than stand torturc and outrage. Why? The old Mikisor
had his own piecc of land, not much, a few hectares, and his own
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Lous. Lvenviang U nad == cach brick and every beneh in the house
— were cwrned Dy Lunand Las wile through hardest laoour. All of
then, the waoole family, worked hard to get everything necessary in
the houschoid. Under Stalinist regime everything was confiscated,
ey were thrown o the stables in which he suffered for a few years,
in thosc gutter which served him as a bed he died.

Alter his father’s death, Uncle Ivan decided to stay with his
mother. To live in the village my Uncle had to go (o the collective
farm. In the collective Tarm, the Uncle was known as
dack- of-all-trades, so he was not refused, and was given work in
the team in the village of Preobrazivenka. During his wanderings in
the Corucasus, the Uncle lzarnt many trades, he had also worked as
a driver, they wanted people like him in the repair tcams. My Uncle’s
fricnd P. Budko, promised to get him a driver’s job but this required
a special permission from the collective farm head. That very Budko
wrote a note to the head saying that Ivan Mikisor was a very good
driver, that he had already aceepted him to his job. so let them
register him as a driver. The head of the collective farm agreed and
the uncle began working in the settlement of Robotivka.

Though they beiled some soup in the collective farm, people
were hungry. It often happened that people gave the soup to their
children thus saving them, and went to work hungry, not a single
crumb of bread or anything clsc. They could hardly move, the Uncle
old me, like shadows, their feet swollen; the aukles of some women
crucked, some liquid oozing out. These colicctive farmers were
destined to die, like the old Mikisor. Our people were dying, it was
no tale, it was cruel reality, for which Stalin was solcly guilty together
with his assistants, the so-called "companions”. In this way, Stalinist
regime solved political problems of extinguishing kulaks (rich
peasants) as a class and introducing collcctive-farm system all over
the country. The rewspapers declarcd that peasants went to
collective farms at their own will and with great joy. Pcople were
not considered people, they were treated like cattle.

Uncle Ivan had a comrade, they were of the same age born in
1903. Onc day the Uncle saw a man riding a cart. It was driven by
a single horse, they were often uscd at the time by the heads of the
collective farms or tcam lcaders, So the man was riding a cart, but
when he came closer he wurned out to be my Uncle’s friend. He
made a sort of carccr, being onc of the lcaders, taking part in
depriving kulaks of their property. So the former Uncle’s fricnd asks
— what do you do here? The Uncle said he worked as a driver. The
man glanced with suspicion, said nothing and lcft.

Soon the Uncle icarnt that the collective farm was giving some
aid 10 old people who starved. The Uncle came to his village and
asked his mother whether she was given any flour. No, his mother
said, they gave me nuthine s we were former kulaks, we and the
like are given nothing. The Uncle got angry, went to the collective
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farm administration and asked — why did not you give my mothcr
flour, she is old and starving and I am a collective farmer, too?

The head told him — No, you arc not a collective farmer, you
arc the son of the cnemy of our people, we hircd you because we
nceded you, but you will for cver remain cnemy of the people.

The Uncle was angry and decided to Icave the collective farm
and to go to Donbass, to the mincs. Everybody kncw that they hired
runaways in Donbass, as they nceded coal. So he hoped (o scttle
there. There was no chance to continuc living in the village.

Though faminc was devastating villages, the authoritics went
on exiling thosec who did not want to go to collcctive farms.

They were exiled together with litde children, cven onc-day
babics, in spite of the danger of their death with cold.

I 'was told about it by my Uncle Ivan Mikisor in Orikhiv. Hc spoke
in detail, giving names. So let his story which I remembered, testify about
that awful period, that fell upon Ukrainian villages in carly thirtics.

Uncle Ivan is the husband of my Mother’s sister.

IN THE PENALTY-CAMP

From the recollections of my Uncle Ivan’s story I returned to
ruthless reality in the penalty-camp. In the morning the policeman
woke us, we got up quickly like soldicrs, washed our faccs, fccling
bitter in the mouth, and went to the window through which we
reccived our food — a portion of bread for the wholc day, but hot
water was given at work, at the factory. We munched our bread
quickly, rcmaining absolutcly hungry. But it was a penalty-camp,
wc had no one to complain 0.

We went in column, policcmen in both sidcs, to our work. The
policcmen shouted at us like at cattle, as though we were deafl. But
we cven ministered them sccretly to relicf ourselves. Dogs followed
policcmen. The dogs barked like policemen with no rcason at all.
It turned out, the policemen and their dogs were of the same breed.
These dogs were traincd to catch runaways.

Having tricd to work at German factorics, our fellows and girls
risked o cscape to get job at some farm more and morc oftcn. They
escaped though they werc not strong cnough to run quickly. But to escape
from a penalty-camp was not casy. The camp had a high wirc fence
surrounded by a canal, so only thosc who could swim well manag~d to
run away, but those who could not did not even think of it.

I worked at the fish-factory. In thc morning the camp ward
brought us to the factory cntrusting us to factory policemcn and
went back to watch those who worked in the night shift. To be
caught up by SS policemen meant to be beaten or even a
concentration camp for an attempt to cscape.

At work, as I had alrcady mecntioned, we were thoroughly
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watched by policemen for us not to cat fish which we packed in tins.
Starved, I was cager to swallow a fish or a morsel of it. We were
warned that we should be beaten for stealing. Each policeman had a
rubber stick. It grew more and more difficult to keep from having some
sauce at least; you had to fight the desire to swallow a bit of fish.

N IRELL

Three "OSTrIs" — Tonya, Nina and Nadya. 1942. We managed to
crawl through wire, taking off our "OST" marks and make this snap-shot.
‘We took risks, but we were eager to breathe a bit of free air.

It was very hot in my working place, they brewed tomato sauce
with sour-cream for tinned fish. So we drank a lot of water, I drank
a big muﬁ at a gulp. There welled such a nice smell of spices that

our mouth dried. We uscd water stored in a barrel. It was used only
by workers, ncither policemen, nor foremen drank it.

Alter work we washed our hands, cspecially after herring and
went to the barrack. We lincd in a column and went with convoy.
The way from the barrack to the factory and back was our only
walk, which we enjoyed as it mcant fresh air and motion of people
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around. Pcople, but not slaves. Our camp policecmen came to take
us to the camp, their dogs beside them. They were not afraid of our
cscapcs, as it was utterly impossible under such conditions when
the dogs were there.

Each time we were brought to the factory they counted all the
workers. Sometimes thcy missed a person or two, counted again
and again and found cverybody in place. .

Again the barrack, a qucuc for supper. Our stomachs sticked
to our backs. We got hungry watching herring prepared for canning,
swelling the finc smell of spices and sauce. It was an additional

cnalty. It looked like putting watcer in front of a thirsty person and
orbidding him to touch the glass.

Our meals, as | had alrcady mentioned, were brought from
French or Polish barracks. It was duc to this fact that the gravy
tasted well which accompanicd potatocs which was our daily food.
Pcrhaps it tastcd well because we were hungry, though I remember
we liked it, licking our fingers.

After supper we went o the barrack, lying on the straw. In
spite of being cxhausted and starved, sometimes our youth took the
upper hand and we began joking. Jokes at long-term prisoners
helped them (o survive. Those who took their fate oo tragically
were often defeated, but thosc who joked out their misfortunes were
more resistant to torturc. Though unaware of this thcory, we made
jokes lying on the straw. It madc time flow fastcr.

At midnight the policcmen used to check us, scarching every
corner, and went to their room, sitting in their soft arm-chairs and
discussing war ncws. And thc dogs watched, lying by and glancin
at their masters. In thc morning when it seemed we had just fell
asleep, they woke us blowing their whistles.

There were different people even among policemen. Some
often trcated us horribly, like cattle, others were more humane. We
uscd to hasten time when the worse tcam was on duty to sec a
better tcam next day. Thosce better policcmen gave us somewhat
larger picces of bread in the morning, perhaps they tricd to divide
it morc thoroughly, and thosc from a worse team gave us smaller
picces of brcad. Whatever remaincd, they brought home and fed
their pigs with it. We lcarnt it later.

Day after day passcd, going to work in the morning, the whole
day at the factory, coming back (o the barrack in the evening. Wecks
passed, time flew, we countcd how much longer we should stay in
the pcnalty-camp. :

We did not work on Saturdays, we werc allowed to sleep
longer, lying on straw to while away the time, our strongest desire
was to lcave the place. Life went likc in a dream, no joys, no hope.
When we had time we washed our clothes and linen. We washed
clothes in cold water, hanging it on strings in the yard to dry it. Our
clothes tore so we had to darn them. Not each of us had needles
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and threcad, but we helped cach other. My friend Zina Stadnik that
worked in the shop somctimes gave us thread which she could bring
to the barrack. So did her fricnds who worked therc. They wound
thrcad on some paper and hid it under their clothes. Our childhood
practicc from the collective farm to stcal and not consider it immoral
proved of great use. Stealing from Germans, we recollected some cvents
associated with stealing in the collective farm — who brought home
wheat in spccially made long inside pockets, or sunflower sceds, or
corn. We had been saving oursclves from hunger then, and now we
arc saving oursclves both from hunger and from going half-naked.

Oh, how many things I went through in Germany! I got another
illness in the penalty-camp. Either through undernourishment, or
because we ate anything we could sct our hands on (it might have
been far from sterile), [ developed intestinal worms. They occur in
people and animals. Thus, we were not only given little food in the
pcnalty-camp, but that food was sucked out by worms as though I
were sharing food with them. They cxhausted me immenscly, I grew
thin. What I describc here spoke of the fact that Germans ncver
obscrved sanitary regulations at the factory that produced food —
tinned fish. It is certain that workers dcaling with foodstuffs should
be tested by medical inspection; lab assistants should test their
excrement to avoid parasites; blood should also be tested to avoid
infcction. There was nothing of the kind; having intestinal worms,
1 continucd working at the production of tins intcnded for the
German army. They said at the time therc was not cnough food in
the German army, there were often irregularitics in food supply duc
to which large military formations starved. I could only gucss that
Germans robbed the population as they had occupicd our land.

Thc Gestapo-officer was right when he told me the
penalty-camp was no joke. Discipline was ensurcd by terror. For
the least fault you were put into the cell. Thus, as soon as we heard
policemen whistles, we got up quickly, rushed to the lavatory,
washed oursclves with cold water and ran to the yard, the Appelplatz.
We fell in line, stood still and ran to the window for our portions of
bread at a command. Those who fell a bit behind were beaten with
policemen stick. Who is not afraid of beating with a stick? We were
tender girls, exhausted and thin, but those who used their sticks were
huge men, always malicious, always shouting at us out loud as though
we were a kilometer away from them. 1 was afraid of the stick, so I
ran fecling I could fall at any moment and never get up again.

You heard pcople sighing: Good Lord! Help me! Why this
punishment? .

You had to run again from the window to fall in line to be
convoyed to work. We, penalty-campers, worked not only at the
fish factory but at some other enterpriscs, so on the way to work a
group or two left the column. We were twenty workers from the
fish factory. After we took a turn towards our factory, we werc
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allowed to talk to cach other. We could also cxchange a word or
two as though spcaking of somc current nccessity. Talks wcre
forbidden, policcmen watched us closcly.

IT NEVER RAINS BUT IT POURS

Coming to the factory we took our usual working places, some
scaled fish, somc stewed sauce for cans, some packed fish into tins.
Our mouths oozed, we could have swallowed the fish we were
packing, it looked tasty. Stealthily we sometimes tasted it. But those
were tiny bits thrown into mouths in horror when you werc cven
afraid to chew what got into your mouth. Those tins were produced
according to finc recipes, Germans seemed cultured people doing
cverything under strict obscrvance of sanitary norrms.

But what sort of culturc was that if they chicfly shouted at us, young
girls, calling us "swinc" or "dirty swinc", ctc.? Who reduced us to conditions
under which we found oursclves? Was it our fault that we could not
observe the hygicne as we lived in barracks, slept on straw, had no hot
water? A good owner keeps his cattle under better conditions, he changes
straw litter, clcans his cows or horscs. Why should not we develop lice?
We werc unablc to wash our miscrable clothes we had. We had no soap,
so we scrubbed clothes with sand, thus washing out dirt. And we were
called "dirty swinc"! Was it rcal culturc?

Once I was scaling herrings, cutting and throwing them into a
big pan in which thcy were boiled or stcamcd, pulled out then,
packed into tins, pourcd with sauce, somc spiccs added, and rolled
up. I could not comprchend the whole process of tinned fish
production as I kept to my own opcration, having no access Lo
others where only Germans worked.

Intestinal worms caused great trouble, [ rcally felt how they
turned inside me, I knew they were sucking mc out. Getting my
portion of bread, I chewed it thoroughly on the way to the factory.
There we received barley coffec, i.c. boiled water with roasted barley.
Though we often found barley bran in it, it was pleasant to have it,
it smelt of genuinc barley. Hot coffce drained down my stomach, it
was a comfortable fccling. I think there were some vitamins in
coffce, it was madc of roasted grain. After coffcc I usually felt
cheerful and joyful. But this fceling did not last long, in several
minutcs I felt hungry again, my stomach seething. At such moments
I could have caten anything.

Alter work we had to do our working places thoroughly, to wash
everything, It was autumn, flies were a nuisance; as soon as a door
opened they would fly in or through the tiniest chinks. Flies lay eggs
on fish, in several minutcs we could sec something stirring in the place.
That’s why Germans ordered us to wash cverything carefully.

Scaling and cutting herring, I threw hecads into a scparatc pan,
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and when it was full up, I carricd it to tne garbage-can, though it
was not cxactly the can, merely a placc where garbage was piled.
So instcad of throwing the heads away, 1 atc some as I was very hungry.
I did not scrutinize them whether they were clean or not while they
surcly contained fly cggs. Coming back to my working place I could
work awhile before the whistle announced the shift cnd. Just then 1
felt somcthing wrong in my stomach, it swelled, T felt sick. I fell on
the floor, crying and twisting with pain. German women ran towards
mc asking what thc matter was, The ward arrived, the women asked
him if he saw me cat anything. But he did not know that I had caten
up herring heads which might contain infected fly cggs.

Ambulance was called, I was taken to the hospital, they inserted
a rubber tubce into my stomach and I vomited. The doctor understood
that I had caten herring heads, I was lucky the doctor was not German
but Czcch or Slovakian, I'm not surc. He asked me what I had caten
and my name. I told him the truth, T also said I was Ukrainian, I had
been hungry and had caten those miscrable heads.

The doctor left and 1 saw he told something to other doctors.
In a few minutes he rcturned and said he would give me an injection
against insidc infection. He also told me he would bring mc to the
camp and tcll the Lagerfahrer I was unable to work a few days.

True, the doctor brought me to our barrack, the hospital
attendant put me on the straw, and the doctor gave me a sandwich
warning to have it only an hour later. Besides he gave me a bottle
of milk with medicinc insidc, as he told me. I was to drink milk
and to have nothing clsc after that. Saying that, he told me he would
attend me in thc morning to makc an injection and would bring
somcthing from his own dinncr.

The doctor left and I stayed all alone with my thoughts. It was
great that such a good doctor worked there, he was humane. Did he
leave his own daughter at home, was he forced to work there? I knew
I had poisoned mysclf with dirty herring heads. I also knew I did not
have to eat them. But what could be donc when you were hungry,
when you felt nice smclls, there was food around you, but the ward
watched lest you should cat anything? Hunger was perhaps my (or not
only my?) fate. At home we had lived through hungry years, and here,
in Germany, I starved too. People used to have swollen legs with
hunger, and here I ate uncooked hcrring heads and poisoncd mysell.
Where is the end of all this? When shall we eat cnough? Somctimes
I thought that I would dic in the penalty-camp, that I would never see
frccdom, the Ukraine, my native village, nor my dear Father. But later
hope rcturned, I believed that the kind doctor would save me.

Being very sick, I began dozing after the injection and did not
know when my friend Zina Stadnik from Dnipropetrivsk lay beside
me. I heard neither the door slam, nor any other noisc. I slept the
whole night long without waking. . )

In the morning, after the importunatc policcman whistle, the
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girls rushed to the lavatory and to the yard to takc their portions of
bread. Lying a few moments longer, 1 tricd to get up and go to the
lavatory. I washed and thought I felt a bit better. But my fect were
uncertain, trembling and bending. I could hardly reach my place and
lic down on the straw again. I felt like slecping again. Because of
the injection, I thought. Again I thought about the kind doctor. I
knew all the doctors should be kind to their paticnts. Doctor is not
merely a profcssion but a vocation. Neither a doctor, nor a medical
nurse should do any harm to a paticnt, they should never differentiate
between paticnts as to their origin, religion or race. A doctor or nurse
doing their duty should cndurc a lot of things witncssing pain, wounds,
or even death. T mysclf, when T worked at the hospital among children
many of whom were ill, did not ask whether they were Ukrainian,
Polish, Byelorussian or Russian. Each had to be taken carc of. I had
lcarnt cssentials of a medical nurse behaviour since school, I had
covered half the programme at the medical school. The war did not
give me a chance to acquire a profession which T was eager to pursuc
all my lifc. The war and Germans made mc lic on the straw in the
penalty-camp, sccing no futurce for mysclf,

What could T expcet of Germans if they were exccuting Jews
solely for their nationality? 1 did not know anything about "Mcin
Kampf", a theorctical work by Adolf Hitler, according to which Jews
werc to be extcrminated, followed by Slavs, Ukrainian, first of all,
whose lands should be inhabited by German Landknechte. At first,
Ukrainians should have scrved as slaves, but when they were of no
use, unable to work, they should have followed Jews. No wonder
that German SS-policemen or Gestapo-officers treated us like cattle.
They were good pupils of their Icader, Adolf Hitler.

Havc there been any doctors or medical assistants among those
Germans who cxccuted or ordered (o cxccute Jews in Berdyansk
and in othcr towns of the Ukraince, Poland, Hungary, Czcchoslovakia
or West Europe, wherever the German foot stepped? I think, there
were, there had to be as cach military unit had to include doctors
and assistants. Why didn’t they protest? Was it at the same reason
as teachers and culture pcople under Stalin’s regime? Was it terror
that shut their mouths? I think, it was. They saw, like I did, how
Germans brought all the Jews in Berdyansk, ordered them, old and
young, fathers and mothers, their little and tcenager children to strip
of their clothes, to stand naked along the ditch to be shot a moment
later. It was horrible, it was atrocily. In the same words we may
qualify events much spoken of in the Soviet Union now — mass
executions in Kuropaty in Byelorussia and in Katyn, a wood near
Kiev where NKVD killed thousands, hundreds of thousands of
innocent people. They were executed without trial or inquiry. Such
were thesc regimes — Hitler’s and Stalin’s.

After the war I read about mass extermination of Jews and people
of the other nationalitics, including Ukrainians, in death camps where
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prisoners choked in spccially constructed chambers where their
corpses were burnt, where there was no place to bury them.

It was a sort of madness. Germans killed people as though
thcy themsclves were guarantced from death. They killed pcople
like cattle. They say cverybody has consciousncss. I don’t belicve it.
Those who adored their wives at home, petted their own children,
but casily killed somconc’s wives and children an hour later have
gol a morscl of consciousness. A man with consciousncss could not

o that.

Since ancicnt times people have shown respect towards the
descascd. It has been a common practice since Roman times to
speak only well of the dead. What did Germans, or to be more cxact
Hitlerites, do? Only Hitlerites, as not thc whole German pcople
grew callous, conniving the atrocitics donc by SS, Gestapo and other
special institutions, subordinate to Nazi machinc. Hitlerites piled
people into carts, or barrows, or strctchers and dug them in ordinary
pits. These were pits because those burial places could hardly be
callcd graves. Or otherwise they burnt corpse in crematorium ovens.

Hitlerites could not hide their atrocitiecs from the public.
However, first they did not care to hide it, they thought they were
invincible, they would invade the whole world, and victors arc not
to blame.

Honcst men were compeled to work for those degencrates,
like the doctor, a Czech or a Slovakian who trcatcd me after my
poisoning with hcrring hcads. He looked upon me as an ordinary
innocent Ukrainian girl. He helped me. He did like honest pcople
do, unlikc "my country-girl" that denounced me to the Lagerfuhrer
with my falsc pass; like Olya did who worked for German police.

You should not wonder reading the present memorics that
lying in the barrack I pondered on the things I had described above.
A person facing death thinks about diffcrent things. The ward came,
saying the doctor had comc to the camp, he was talking to our
Lagerftihrer in the ward room. I guessed he was talking about my
illness, that I had to keep to "bed" a few days (lying upon a straw,
at least). I think he asked them not to punish mc for cating herring
heads as I had been hungry — a hungry person is unable to keep
from cating food in front of him.

After he had talked to the Gestapo-officer, i. c. our Lagerfithrer,
the doctor attended me, greeting me like a human-being, saying
"good-morning”, asking about my health. He made another injection.
I can only gucss that it was penicillin. After that he gave me two
sandwiches, a bottle of milk with medicine and a bottle of currant
syrop to support me, to restore blood. The doctor told me it had to
last me the whole day, warning to have nothing more to cat; he said
he would attend me in thc morning together with his wife who
would bring mc somc casy handwork — to darn stockings and socks.

I thanked him and he left for the hospital in which he worked.
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I AM GETTING BETTER

Lying in the barrack, 1 heard the creak of boats, Only
Gestapo-men wore such creaking boots. 1 listened attentively and
saw that really an officer was approaching, the Lagerfihrer.

He stopped beside me and asked how 1 felt. T was astonished
that Gestapo-man addressed me in a kind way. 1t was the result of
the doctor’s talk to him I thought. Though the doctor was Czech or
Slovakian, he must have been a good specialist if he was so highly
reputed by Gestapo-officers. Well, power was power, but hecalth was
above it, everyone carcd about himsclf or his relatives. Maybe the
doctor treated that officer, too? He announced that T was to have
a rest, 1o stay out of work for 2 weeks. But will Germans let me
remain idle? No, they won't. I made surc of it at once. The German
told me he would come again at 9. 30 in the morning together with
his "Frau", shc would bring mc socks and stockings o be darncd.
Hc must have taken my doctor’s example and thought of giving me
work. Germans were ncat, they adored cleanliness, why should they
wear undarncd socks? It was difficult to buy ncw oncs, the war
manifested itsell even in such trifles as buying socks or stuckings.

The Gestapo-officer Ieft, and 1 was glad 1 would stay away from
the factory for 2 wecks. The day passed. The girls arrived from work,
cach snatching her basin and rushing to the canteen. There was noisc
among the girls, demanding their soup, to have somc hot food for their
stomachs. A ward stood by the pan demanding order. He threatened
with his stick fiddling and waving it likc a toy. Somctimes hc struck a
girl with it as if jokingly. He would strike on the back and laugh. A
girl would twist of pain. There was no fault on her part, simply for fun.

I thought it was worth giving my portion to any of the girls
while 1 had to abstain from camp food, for her to cat. But on the
sccond thought 1 did not dare being afraid of the ward, they knew
I was not to cat their food on that day. So they could beat me, |
was afraid. I did not take the soup. Zina agrced with my decision
when 1 told her of my hesitation.

This is how the German ward treated us, penalty-campers. We
were "Auslander®, "dirty swine” for them. Following the doctor’s
advice, I ate nothing but what he brought to me. Being almost a
mcdical assistant, I kncw [ had to follow doctor’s dircctions to
rccover. And I was cager to rccover, to go through that camp, to
live, to sce frccdom.

In the cvening the girl were in their places, sitting on the straw.
As usual somcbody sang sad songs quictly, somcbody joked,
somcbody cried, being soothed and consoled by others, saying:
"Wait, it won’t last for ever, we shall be relcased from the camp,
we shall be able to go to a farm on Saturday and Sunday to carn
somcthing." Farmers were chicfly kind people, giving us good food
wnd we worked hard in our turn. We were accustomed to work:
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cspecially work in the ficld. Back at home in spring and in summer
though we went to school, we spent many days in the ficlds helping
our parcnts or weeding our own kitchengardens.

We would have been glad to go to German farmers, mcanwhile
rccollecting the past. Some recollected their mothers. I would also
like to imaginc her, but I did not rcmember her. We were. about
cightcen, we were grown up girls and could have becen mothers
oursclves. We well understood how painful it was for mothers to
separate from their children when we were taken away to Germany.
Oh, if only our mothers kncw how much we suffered, how we slept
on dirty straw! Many of our mothcrs lost not only us, taken away
to Germany. The majority of our mothers remained alone with little
or tecnager childrcn when we were going to Germany. Their
husbands had been cither arrested when kulaks were being exiled
under Yezhov’s regime, or cnlisted to the army, or had run away
beforc German invasion. The morc so thc mothers suffcred. Arresting
their husbands, NKVD did not care about loncly women left with little
children, just like Hitleritcs did not carc about our mothers taking us
away to German slavery from our native villages. Why was our Ukraine
so misfortunatc? Why 1s it governed by the forces that do not promote
the will of Ukrainian pcasants, or workers, or intclligentsia? They were
oppresscd by Stalinist companions, now they arc oppressed by
Hitlerites. We cannot live in pcace to work for oursclves, howcver
poor, but with no stick over our heads, no menace of being arrested,
or cxiled, or taken away for forced work.

Hitler, much like Stalin, dcccived his subjects, promising them
the space of Ukrainian steppes, Ukrainian black carth to scitle on
it, to live like mastcrs, and we, Ukrainians, had to be their slaves.
Germans believed their Fuhrer, believed that they were a superior
race, that they were allowed to exterminate Jews, to have Slavs as
slaves. They really took a liking to the Ukrainian land that could
fecd half thc world. But for thcir dcfeats at the East front, they
would start arriving in the Ukrainc together with their wives and
children. The children of those degenerates might have been shooting
Ukrainian slaves like they did it in Hitleritc death camps.

Fortunately, Germans suffercd defeat at the East front. But
there arose another problem. What will Stalinist regime do to those
who had not cvacuated in due time, who remained on their land
under German government? What is going on upon the ‘liberated
territories? We could not guess it.

Many girls must have thought the same, like myself, when we
were lying upon dirty straw, slecplcss.

After injections and dietic food that I had due to the doctor, I
started to rccover. I was sure it was my angel who saved me.

I started to think again and again about God, religion, insight,
and life after death. At school we haven’t been taught prayers, just
on the contrary, we were instructed to despise cverybody who did
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not share matcrialistic outlook, to despisc belicvers who went Lo church
or prayed. Espccially pricsts were mocked at, they were called parasitcs.
Antircligious propaganda as far as I rcmember was weak. A Russian
poet and satirist Demyan Bedny joined it descrving a mocking rhyme:

Demyan Bedny
Muzhik vredny.

(Dcmyan Bedny is a notorious man).

It was hc who wrotc a pocm which I remembered: "No bother
with pricsts or kulaks — thrust a bayonct into their bellies.” If you
think about this verse, the “poct” called to murder kulaks and priests!
To kill with no trial — "a bayonet into thcir bellies!”, stab them like
Germans arc doing now. In this way Stalinists regimc was fighting
against the church and faith in God. . ) .

Though school taught us there was no God, praising Stalin and his
regime and though I was not convinced of it, I was glad to study. I knew
that for centurics, peasants had been uncducated, they could not sign
their name. This was the result of continuous national and social
oppression of the Ukrainian pcople who once had becn almost
completely litcrate. People had worked on their land, growing plants and
cattle, following their parents’ expericnee, the latter having learnt from
their parents in their turn. Agricultural knowledge had not been
widc-spread, peasants had not becn using the achicvements of agronomy.

So their harvests were much poorer than in West Europe,
cspecially in Holland. Pcople nced cducation, everybody needs it,
peasants Loo. Before the revolution, there had been a common idea
that peasants did not necd cducation, it was not nccessary to be able
to writc and rcad to look after cattle. But it was not true. How often
was a peasant taken in because he was illiterate! But that was not
the whole story; ncw technology of growing grain, vegetables and
cattle was to bc introduced. I saw it in German farms, where
everybody was educated.

‘What was planted in our kitchengardens? Only potatoes, onion,
garlic, cucumbecrs, haricot becns, reddishes and peas. Did many
people grow tomatoes, lcttuce, cauliflower, Brussels sprouts or
spinach? No, nobody knew them. These vegetables had been
unknown to our parents or-.grandparents. Nobody could read
somcwhere and learn that you nceded not only carrots, potatoes,
etc. for health, but many other vegetable species.

Our people were not dull or stupid, they lacked education. My
step-mother, for example. I thought she could do everything to keep
the house, to look after cattle and kitchengarden, she could weave
and spin and scw. But she was illiterate. If she were literate, if she
could read, if she had access to agricultural and other literature, she
must have experimented much, though time did not promote
cxperiments, everything was being decided by those "who made no
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mistakes” somewhere in Moscow. My step-mother having finished
courses for the illeterate learnt to sign her name only.

The Sovict power, however much 1 disliked it under Stalinist
regime gave me and many others a chance to study free of charge,
scholarships being paid to students. [ must acknowledge that. What
would I do in Germany il 1 were illiterate? I could write in Ukrainian
and in Russian, and kncw Latin alphabet, Icarning German, All this
helped me in my hard life, 1 was not blind, being able to rcad the
namec of the city or a strect or an cstablishment.

I pondcred over it, sitting in the camp and darning stockings
and socks brought by the doctor’s and thc GESTAPO-oflicer’s
wicves. I was doing it glad that 1 did not have to go to the factory
or to sit idle. Thosc women giving me the work brought me
somcthing to cat to accumulate strength. They also gave me some
clothes they did not want — a drcss, or a shirt, or a blouse, or shocs.
I fclt much better recovering my health and sceing 1 had something
to wear, to cover my sinful body.

When the doctor came to give me the last injection for blood
inflammation, he told mc 1 could cat the food from the camp
cantcen, he also said he would ask the Lagerfihrer not to send me
to the fish factory but to give my some job in the camp. I was
certainly very grateful to the doctor and thanked him for his carc,
for the mcasures he had taken, for returning me to life.

WORK AT THE CANTEEN

I thought — what kind of work will the Lagerfiihrer give me if he
satisficd the doctor’s request to leave me working in the camp? [ could
find no answer. At about 10 the Lagerfishrer came. He asked me about
my health, I answered, then he told me the doctor had stood up for me
asking him to lcave mc in the camp. He was silent for some minutes and
then told me to go to the camp oflice, he would give his orders there.
The Lagerfuhrer went and I followed him. Over there he let me sit in an
arm-chair and spoke officially that I should not go to the fish factory, that
I should work in the cantecn where I was to cut and butter bread. This
work had bcen donc by policcmen on duty before. Besides, I was to
distribute food brought for our campcers from a Polish or a French camp.

I could not but be glad to sce such a change in my situation. I shall
work dealing with bread, soup, potatoes, saucc, ctc. I shall not starvc.
The Lagerfirhrer told me I could cat as much as I wanted in the cantcen,
warning me though that I did not have to make diffcrence between
workers giving thcm what was due to them, not more than that.

I shall again take up the nccessity to study. After primary 7
years schooling, I studicd at the medical shool where we were taught
German grammar in particular. )

It helped me a lot, I learnt to spcak German very quickly,
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much quicker than many girls. That is why thc Lagerfithrer specaking
about my appointment to work in the cantcen, told me [ should act
as an inicpreter because he could not understand the language of
the campers when they cxplained somcthing.

Being appointed to the new job, I well kncw that the
Lagerfithrer, though he did mc good, was a GESTAPO-officer, he
spoke very officially to me. It was no wondecr, it was part of their
breeding, when doing somebody good, they remainced ruthless.

So I had to take for granted his words when he warned me
that if I gave workers morc food than was duc, he would shoot mc.

I began working in the canteen, cutting bread, pouring soup,
giving potatocs with saucc. I was behind the window, the girls with
their basins standing in qucuc. I was so sorry for those girls, their
portions being tiny, and they were hungry. But what could I do? I
was dressed better than they. I was ashamed of my position,
ashamed that I was not hungry, that I was dressed better.

The Lagerfithrer ordered the ward-policemen not to intcrfere
with food distribution. It was good in itsclf as thcy would not loom
by the pans, would not wavc theit rubber sticks and bcat for [un. 1
was appointcd to work in the cantcen, besides I had to do a lot of
work there — wash up after meals, wash the pans to be scnt for
ncw food. Though ward-men did not interfere, they watched me,
my hands espccially. They watchcd me not to give anybody cxtra
food. So when [ was giving out food, my hands werce trembling and
facc burning. I was afraid if thcrc would be cnough food for
everybody, as 1 had to fced 150 campers, most of them our girls,
my fricnd Zina Stadnik among thcm. Zina Stadnik was not the one
to keep her mouth shut, she even quarrcled with wardmen. They
called her "the notorious blondc" and threatened to beat her.

When 1 finishcd my first distribution of food, my hands trembled,
the face was red. But each had her portion, there remained a bit of soup
in the pan, about 4 unpeeled potatocs and almost a basin of sauce. I had
it for suppcr. Such was my work in the canteen, after meals I washed
up, scratching out what remained on the pan walls. I ate it, too.

Day after day passcd, 1 even put on some wecight. 1 got
accustomed to the new job. The time was passing. I was to leave
the penalty-camp soon, wherc girls worked under severe conditions,
absolutely unpaid. This was the fate of new slaves — to work for
the benefit of Germany. How many people like us worked frec of
charge for Germans? How may "Auslédnder” be suffering far from
their homes, far from their native land?

EAR-RINGS

Germans arc cultured and clcan pcople. There was only one
drawback with them: they exterminated hundreds of thousands of
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people, having used their slavish labour. Thosc hundreds of
thousands were adding into millions of innocent victims. We saw lots
of cxccuted, shot, and working by force with our own cycs! And we
have been told about many more! But it was not the wholc story, there
werc lots of victims whom we had not scen or heard of. We could only
imaginc great losscs of pcople, they ached in our hcarts, independent
of whether they were our countrymen, or Jews, or Polcs, or Russians,
or anybody clsc. This was the function of Hitlerites, of their special
formations. I best remember SS-policemen. They were arrogant,
holding their chins up, a rubber stick in hand, a pistol on the belt, a
dog by the side. He would walk, watching out, his dog with him. If the
policcman sat in the room, or at the restaurant, or on a bench, in the
yard, his dog would lic by his sidc cxpecting orders. These dogs were
trained to attack and strangle pcople.

Policemen lived their own life, and we, penalty-campers, ours.
Once a fricnd of minc who worked at the shop brought home 2
pairs of car-rings which were called "Kulchiks" in somc parts of the
Ukraine. She was unpacking goods in the shop brought from a
wholcsalc storchouse, car-rings among them. She could not keep
from taking 2 pairs, hiding them. It was an ordinary theft, not of
food-stuffs but of luxury goods. Thec car-rings were not intended for
us, German slaves, they were intended for German women to
dccorate themsclves to attract their fellows and husbands.

At that time almost cverything was sold on spccial cards for
goods, for foodstuffs, for clothcs, ctc. in Germany. Ear-rings werc
also sold on cards to Germans cxclusively. All over Germany and
occupicd countrics you could scc signs "Nur fiir Deutsche” — for
Germans only. Germans wanted to ration food, and clothes, and
footwear till the cnd of the war, so they sold cverything on cards
consoling themselves by the idea, that they would relax as soon as
they won the war. They were surc of it cven after the defeat of von
Paulus Army ncar Stalingrad.

Turning back to those miscrable car-rings. My [ricnd brought
them and gave onc pair to me, praying me to tell nobody in the world
about them. I promiscd and pricked her ears in the cvening, In a few
days the ears hcalcd. I did the same to myself, looking into thc window
glass. My cars also healed quickly. Window glasses scrved us as a mirror
as we were forbidden to have rcal oncs in the penalty-camp.

Was it our fault that we had donc it? We were young, cach trying
to look attractive, neat; ear-rings had been popular back at home, too.
Our mothers used to prick their little girls’ cars inscrting chicfly silver
ear-rings. Everybody wanted to have their children most beautiful.

Wec were eager to dress well, not to wear thosc pcnalty-camp
uniforms, miserable dresses, and woodcen-soled shocs, the so-called
"Holtzschuhc". Such clothes made us look poor, everybody
recognized us not as ordinary girls, but pcople brought to Germany
for forced labour. We had bcen caught like mice, we enjoyed no
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rights, had no protcction. This was our fatc, much likc our fathers
and grandfathers! .

Did our mothers want such fate for us? Our mothers cspecially
loved their daughters dressing them the best they could, children
wore the best clcan clothes, mothers used to cmbroider their shirts,
bought beautiful waist coats and ribbons for them. This had bcen
long ago, but under Stalinist rcgime ncither my cocvals nor I had
anything of thc sort.

Mothers did not carc much about decorating their girls’ clothes;
surviving was the only desirc, overcoming faminc. The girls of my
generation, thus did not have much joy in their childhood. Later we
were separated from our mothers, al the time when we were 10
study, meet our fcllows, walk and sing songs. Morc than one mother
would have enjoyed her daughter’s singing, hcaring it from round
the corner of the housc.

The German rcgime differed litde from Stalinist one, often
being still more crucl. We did not sce any good under this regime.
Is it natural for a young girl working daily to be unable to buy tiny
silver car-rings? They were not very expensive, but they werc no
triflc for an cighteen-ycars old girl — an important thing that had
reduced my girl-fricnd. Was she 1o blame for the theft? Should she
have hesitated? No, I think. Shc was not to blame like me, when |
had caten herring heads. Crucl Hitlerite regime was to blame, that
had crippled our youth. Although the theft of the car-rings had never
been discovered, our consciousncss suffered a lot.

What was left for us undcr such conditions? We uscd to console
cach other that soon the war wisuld cnd, our suffcrings would come
to an end, too, we should go to our native Ukraine, to our villages,
to our fathers, sisters, and brothers.

Hope is a grcat force. Duc to hope, people survived and were
expccting changes; hope helped 1o live, to resist sorrow and despair.
We drcamt of frccdom, we should return to our villages, we should
cither rcsume our studics or work in the collective farm, together with
our rclatives, in our native country. Hope was something to console
the weak, who thought of a suicide, who did not want to live. We tried
to rcason with oursclves — therc is nothing eternal but God, cverything
gocs past and changes, so our slavery will come to an cnd. The more
so, we heard of German dcfeats at the front more and more often.
Hitler’s hopes of "Blitzkricg" did not come true, he had not finished
war by the autumn of 1941. Although he had invaded the whole of
the Ukraine, he was compclled to leave it. This was also our hope that
strengthened our hearts. Hope if you think of it is also a Heavenly gift,
it is not material, it cannot be mecasurcd or weighed, it cannot be
perceived by the mind, it is Mot subject to mathematical rules. It simply
exists! Like love which is also a giilt of God! If it were not for hope, I
would not stay alive, not only me, but hundreds of thousands.

When we were thinking, talking, even joking, hope did not
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lcave us. It was hope that gave birth to something in my mind for
which I should be cxcused. This is what I thought of and put it
down for mysclf.

ABOUT HOPE

We arc Slavs, we arce all fricnds here. We are of Slavic origin,
comiig from Slavic lands. There arc widc vistas there, the orchards
blossoming like a snow cover. The springs arc magnificent, cven the
winds being native. We had never been afraid of snowstorms, we
had lived on our native land.

We were born there some day, we were great fricnds back
there, like here, too. Though our life was not full of joy and we saw
no happincss, it was our native land, unlikc here, in the far-away
country. We were not destined 1o share joy with our brothers, we
werc oppressed by an inhumane regime. But still we remain Slavs,
we arc united by hope both in happiness and gricf.

Our life is hard in German camps. Why can’t we live in our
native parts? We were and arc united by blood rclations though we
belong to different familics.

We might be beaten and oppresscd, but no onc can prevent
us from thinking, no onc will stcal our hope that onc day we, Slavs,
will rcturn to our native land.

We saw much gricf and spilt many tcars. Our souls arc
innocent, our consciousncss is as clean as a tcar. God saves us from
sins, He won’t lct us die here. Qur star has not fallen yet.

My dear fricnds Zoya and Stepha! Don’t fcel sorrow, my dcar,
we are still young. Though our work is hard, we are stronger than
our masters. :

Few people might undcerstand us in future, it won’t be casy for
us to speak. Thosc who did not suffer will forget about us. But our
rcality is hard for us, girls of diffcrent nationalitics. We feel cold, we
are hungry, we have to steal sometimes. Everything will pass, the
time will come when we shall drink and cat as much as we wish.
We shall recollect everything we went through. It won’t be a legend
for us. We shan’t scarch garbage-pits to find a picce of bread or a
pecl. The time when we have a potato and some thin soup will pass.
Everything goes past. But God!

Some day we shan’t have to throw what was left of our meals
into garbage-pits where Soviet prisoners would pick it as it had been
in my previous camp. They had to do it sccretly not to be caught
by German ward.

' I shall never forget the day when being very hungry, I ate herring
hcads. (Here I must say that gencrally when we speak of herring, we
mean salt herring, but over there at the fish factory we dealt with raw
herring, i.c. ordinary sca fish). At that time, having caten the heads, 1
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swelled cnormously, I fcared it was the end of my life. .

In that awful casc and many times later, 1 hecard somcthing
like a whisper: Don’t be afraid, don’t losc hope, cverything will pass,
believe ardently in God, pray to Him. When I fell aslcep after the
injection I saw a drcam, I was tormented by it. At last somcthing
shook me, I woke up. It was dark, bombing was hcard. Bombs werce
falling not far from our camp. o Lo

I always rctain faith in our Jesus Christ in my heart, in His
revival, in His might. I make mysclf remecmber how much He
suffercd. Not for His own sins, for the whole humanity. My hope
is with Christ-the-Saver. It is hard to live without Christ.

Morc than once, I am surc of that, Jesus Christ hclped me,
my faith in Him hclped me.

OUR FELLOWS

Our lifc was so poor and miscrablc, that it is difficult to imagine
it today. Instcad of dressing up and dccorating oursclves with
anything, wc lookcd cxhaustcd and thin, our skin had a
greyish-ycllow tint. No beauty rcmained in us, we lost it in hard
work in Germany. By the word "we" I mean fcllows and girls brought
to Germany for forced labour — Ukrainians, Poles, Byelorussians,
Russians, Czechs and others. Trousers uscd to hang on our {cllows’
heeps like on scarccrows, they uscd to tic them with some rope or
hold them with their hands, hardly dragging their fect.

The.girls managed somewhat better. They washed their dresses or
skirts, and darncd their miserable clothes, and combed their hair. Not so
with the fellows, they uscd to fall upon the straw after work and lied
there till supper and then stayed in it till next morning. We couldn’t notice
any jokes as a try (o survive, not to obey their fate, among the boys.

We, the girls, tricd to bring hope to the hearts of our boys, we
helped them to keep spirits. And it was hard for them, very hard.
You know, boys’ naturc made thecm show their strength, dexterity,
courage, cndurance to the girls. But they were in slavery. They,
young boys, were caught in Ukraine and brought for the forced
labour to Germany. That’s why they suffered, they who should have
shown off before the girls, their sweet hearts. Lack of faith tormented
them, they felt shy of their fate. But they weren’t guilty that they
found themsclves there. They couldn’t resist to the German terror.

I was a witness of the boys’ worries. From time to time, as
I’ve alrcady told, I was callcd by the chicf of the camp to interprete
to him cxcuses of boys who were in fault. They were sometimes
caught at some petty larccny and interrogated. They were asked why
they had donc it. I had to translate correctly because I was afraid
that somc German who understood our language could have given
up that questions or answers were translated false.
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Somctimes, when "penals” were brought, the Gestapo men
questioncd them about their former guilt the very first day. Somctimes
a Gestapo man wanted to show his power, I was told to lcave the
room and the ncwcomer was beaten. It was very hard to interprete
aftcrwards, I trembled all over and was afraid to look at the beaten
boy, because just scveral minutes ago [ heard him crying and moaning
through the wall. Then I noticed traces of beating — blood and bruiscs.
I felt pity for these boys but I couldn’t help them. Those "penals” who
camec Lo our penal camp for the larceny, they never had stolen anything
for luxury, but only miscry and starvation made them do this. If any
of them had stolen a picce of skin or lincn from his working-placc,
that was only donc in order to exchange it for a picce of bread.

I had many fricnds in the camp, they were girls from Western
Ukrainc. Among them was Zosya, Zofia, shc was very kind, helped
not only the girls, but also boys, notwithstanding where they come
from. There was among us also Stefka from Galychyna. She had a
boy-fricnd from Bclgium. He worked at a manufacturc and often
risked to stcal some clothes from here and brought them to Stefka
and she shared them with us. She also gave mc some clothes that
didn’t match hcer.

It was 1944, the Sccond {ront had bcen opened, and we had
a hope that the war would cnd soon at last and we’d be frec. We
desired to preparc for this day, to get better clothes, to look like
girls but not likc scarccrows.

We could more often mect our boys and cven, as girls, patched
up or washed their clothes.

Working in thc camp canteen [ got acquainted with many boys
and girls. They kncw me as a person who distributed among them
bread, soup, potatocs. When we come to know better of cach other,
they understood what it depended on that onc day they could get more
bread than another. It was connccted with the fact that different
watchmen were on duty in the camp. I'll tcll you something of them.

DIFFERENT WATCHMEN

I’ve already mentioncd that there were diffcrent watchmen here
in the penalty-camp — two of thcm on onc shift were good, and
those of the other shift — were rcady o eat alive cveryonc who was
punished for escape or larceny or some other fault to administration.
The watchmen were on duty in twos. Those better ones, they were
not young pecople, invalid or so. They didn’t call us “swinc", didn’t
shout at us. I came to know them better when I worked at the
cantcen. In the morning and before supper 1 had to cut bread in
picces and thosc watchmen helped me on their own will. Also they
helped me to give out bread, soup and potatocs in the evening, And

_if some bread was left after distribution, those watchmen gave it to
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our cxhausted, cmaciated boys. They also gave them soup that was
left. They treated me like a human being, cven like a girl offcnded
by her fate. They spoke to mc in fricndly manncr, cven asked mc
about my lifc in Ukrainc. ) .

Bul the two watchmen from other shift were such incorrigible
Hitlerites, so full of hatred that it is impossible to describe. Though
they didn’t interfere in the distribution of food but watched me and
saw cverything I did. And when some bread was Ieft after distribution
I couldn’t givc it to our boys or girls, nor could I give to them some
additional soup or potatocs if some was left in the copper. Thosc two
watchmen behaved as if they waited for somcthing would be left in
the canteen. Then they took bread that remained and what was in the
copper, put it to a bucket and brought it to their swinc. You scc, they
liked sausages and fat but cverything was sold in shops according to
the rationing systcm, so they managed to feed swinc themsclves.

We knew very well that they liked to live on good food, especially
I knew it when 1 worked in the canteen. They didn’t cat what was
brought to our camp from Polish or French kitchen, they had
sandwiches for lunch brought from home. And when they unwrapped
them to cat, such a plcasant smcll sprcad from them that it took my
breath away. And, ccrtainly, nonc of them cver offered me cven a picce.
I and cveryonc in the camp were people of lower rate for them who
necdn’t cven be spoken to in a human manncr.

Looking at thosc repulsive watchmen I often thought and told
my fricnds that thosc watchmen wouldn’t rule long yet, beat anyonc
for their amusement, our Army would come to Berlin soon and
liberate us from German slavery.

They came to Berlin, that’s truc. They came cven farther up
to the Elba. But we hadn’t cnded being liberated but being humiliated
and offcnded by the Red army political instructors. It was so
offensive, unfair, so unhuman that the scicntists should decal with it
and investigate the rcasons of such a trcatment of us and our
psychological state when such "liberation” came at last. That's why
many sons and daughters didn’t rcturn to their mothers in Ukraine.

YASYL’KO

Pl rcturn to the events in the penalty-camp. Once a young
boy of about eightecn camc to the camp. So I supposcd he was. He
had nice clothes on, his jacket was clecan and good-looking, his
trouscrs were "pumps” as they were called in Lvov and still are called
now by Galycians. Thosc were trousers ending with elastic under
Ahe knees. I even wondered what was a boy wearing such good
clothes doing there, where did he come from'to the penalty-camp.
And he came in the aftcrnoon, when everyone was at the work. And
in the evening he stood in the qucue for supper with all the others,
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When he came up to the window he whispered to me that he wanted
to mcet me after supper in the wash-room.

I told mysclf that this guy had got the right mind that he didn’t
begin to talk to me right then because the watchman looked at us
and wc mustn’t forget that we were brought there not for
entertainment but for hard labour. We often talked among us, girls,
that this punishment was not from God but from devil, that only
he could contrive such scoffing at people both here at the forced
work in Germany and there in our Ukrainc and other countrics
conquered by the Germans.

‘When that boy spoke to mc, the watchman hcard it and, though
he was one of thosc better, he shook his finger at him not to spcak
“to me during my work. The watchman also askcd me what he wanted
and 1 blushed and answered that he was still hungry and wanted
somc more food.

Though I was afraid of somcthing and, pcrhaps, shy, after
supper I camc to thc wash-room and mct that boy there who
introduced himself as Vasyl’ko, hc was also taken for the forced
labour but from Galychyna, so he wasn’t "OST" but had only the
letter "U" and he told mc bricfly that hc worked at a shop and
managed to stcal two thousand marks from there. He concealed
them so well and then managed to take them out and Germans
couldn’t provc him guilty, lest thcy would have put him to the
concentration camp, but as he was suspccted, they sent him to the
penalty-camp. So he happened to be here.

From Vasyl’ko’s story I rccognized him as a smart fcllow, who
was ncver at a loss in life, also among Germans. And what he had
takcn that moncy, it wasn’t a larceny. Though it’s writien in God’s
commandments "Don’t steal’, still it wasn’t a larccny as Vasyl’ko
cxplaincd and I agreed with him, bccause Germans brought
hundreds Ukrainians, Polcs, Byclorussians, Russians and others to
their "vaterland” and forced them to work there without payment,
so if one of those unpayed workers took two thousand marks, was
it a larceny? We can’t, really, even spcak about a larceny in this
case. To steal a trifle from the criminal, who stales millions, who
mocks at people, is it a sin? No, it isn’t!

So Vasyl’ko says that hc managed to “"pereshvartsoval” those
two thousand marks, but he isn’t alonc in thc barracks, there are
seventy boys, and he is afraid that someone would steal his moncy.
That’s why he wants me, who doesn’t go to work at a factory, to
hide his marks for a fortnight, and then he would come and take it.

What was I to do? I felt fear of Germans and pity for the boy.
And he was handsome, polite, talkative, good-looking. Aftcr some
hesitation I took the money from him and put it at once into my
brassiere to save it better. .

I kept that money for a fortnight being all the time afraid that
someonc would trace me because I'd already had somc experience duc
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to my "country-women" who had betrayed me twice. I kept that money
and kept thinking about Vasyl’ko as of the man who gave me money
to save and also as of a nicc boy. At last, after a fortnight, Vasyl'ko
stood again the last in the queuc and whispered that he wanted to see
me in the wash-room. And again one of better watchmen noticed it
and forbadc me to talk during my work. I cxplained to him that Vasyl'ko
asked me for an additional picce of bread, that he was hungry.

After T finished to give out the supper, washed spoons and
coppers that food was brought in, pulled them to their placc and,
duc to the fact that watchmen went out to listen to the radio, I met
Vasyl’ko. I gave him the moncy back and he confessed to me that
at tén o’clock he was going to cscape from the camp, that he dared
to do it to crawl under the barbed wirc and to run away far from
the penal camp. I got afraid, I felt pity for Vasyl'ko, what if he would
be caught? That's not a joke to escapc from the penal camp. I cven
tricd to persuade him not to do it, but he resolutely decided to
escape. And with it, so far, ended my acquaintance with Vasyl'ko.

NEWS FROM FRONTS

We had no opportunity to listen to the radio, but the
Germans-watchmen who kept cye on us listened to it. I've already
mentioned that duc to it a had a chancc to mcet Vasyl’ko. And
sometimes I managed to hear something as well, or, rather not to
listen to the radio, but to hear the watchmen'’s recaction (o the news.
Listening to the news, thcy more and more often nodded, whispered
something to each other or cven said loudly — "Mcin Gott; mein
Gott", that meant — My God! I made a conclusion from it that
German’s situation on fronts wasn’t good and that the front was
coming close to Germany. And the watchmen listened to the news
as if they had stucked to the radio set.

Also our girls and boys could from the talks among German
women learn some facts of the news from the front, the whole situation
of German’s country, misfortunate for them. And over and over again
we heard that son or husband of this or that person returned invalid
from the war, morc and more often German women dressed in
mourning after their husbands and sons who were not long ago stepping
across Europc with their sleevs rolled up singing "Haillee, hailyo!”.

Hearing it, we also began morc and more often to analyze the
past, everything we saw, that concerned ourselves and our relations,
We saw that after tragic years of Stalin and Yezhov, one terror was
changed by another. At the beginning of the war Hitlerites fought
as if they performed their usual professional duties, the same they
did when they cxccuted all the Jews. We saw and heard how
Germans treated our prisoners, they penned them, fenced them in
with barbed wire and kept them under skies for weeks, months, in
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hunger and cold. And towers and machinc-guns stood around and
Germans shot from them just if somcone moved after the order not
to move. Onc person moved but cveryone could be shot. And they
were like a flock of shecp, put together. They were so hungry that
nibbled the grass. And at the same time the local inhabitants were not
allowed to give the prisoncrs any food. That’s why prisoncrs dicd not
in dozens, but thousands and tens of thousands of them. And it took
placc, I repeat, in the middle of the twenticth century, when the idcas
of humanity were familiar to all the civilized countrics.

We spoke in the camp, while listcning to the ncws, about the
Jews. German propaganda szid that all of them werc covetous, false
and worth tolarcxcculion. And somc of thc campmen began to say
that Jews (Galycians called them “zhydy") scoffed at our pcople as
well both in past centuries and recently, during the years of Sovict
power, when many of them craved for powecr. It was told that Jews
were false people, that they cven had crucificd onc of them, they
had crucificd Jesus Christ on Golgotha.

I don’t know in what mcasurc such thoughts were influcnced
by Hitlerite propaganda, what of them were fables, guesses and what
was truc. At that timc nobody told and cven knew that Jesus Christ
was scntenced to death by the Roman court, that the Jews had no
statc of their own and it’s asccrtained yet to what cxtent Jews arc
guilty of Jesus Christ’s dcath.

But, notwithstanding all thc considcrations of the Jews during
two thousand ycars, is it possible to justify their massive exccution?
It was a real genocide. And what was the fault to mankind of my
schoolfricnds from Berdyansk, those young, pretty Jewish girls?

Whatever can be said about the fault of this or that nation, I still
think that in cach nation there are good and bad pcople, it’s impossible
to say that all the Jews arc bad and all the Ukrainians arc good. I had
an cxample mysclf, when the Ukrainians betrayed me to Germans. It
was because of a Ukrainian woman that I got to the penal camp. And
Czcch (or Slovak), the doctor, helped me, and among Germans also
were kind people, as we found out when working at farmers. Onc
mustn’t dcfend the honour of its nation humiliating the others.

MORE ABOUT YASYL’KO

Lct’s return to that evening when Vasyl’ko cscaped from the
penal camp. It turned out that he had to stay in our penal camp
only till the trial for that larcecny. During the fortnight for which he
was put to the penal camp, Germans, in particular the shop-owner
who Vasyl'ko had stolen moncy from, hoped to find some evidence
of his guilt. In case that the court would not justify Vasyl’ko the
capital punishment threatcned to him, or, the best, concentration
camp. Germans never condoned those who robbed them.
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So when Vasylko came for the moncy, he confesscd to me
and told that he had tested that there was no clectric current in the
wires of fence already, so he would overcome that obstacle, only he
was to strain himsclf to swim the canal unnoticed. He cnsured me,
on my fears, that he swam well, tha, Iest nobody noticed him he would
swim the canal over. For he was so afraid of the court, he was awarc
of what waitcd for him, and, young as he was, wanted ncither to dic
nor to get to the concentration camp, he said, that the shortest way to
liberty from it passed through the incincrator of crematory.

Our talk with Vasyl'’ko in the wash-room couldn’t last long,
because somebody could come in, notice us whispering about
somcthing, guess our plans and denunciatc to watchmen, in that
case all Vasyl'ko’s plans would be ruined and he’d never be frec.

So we had to say goodbye. I thought about Vasyl'ko as of a
ncar onc already. And when the time o farewell came, he cmbraced
and kissed me, and I blushed up all over. I don’t know what would
happen if somcone watched me at that moment. [ couldn’t concceal
my confusion. So we parted that evening, It looked like [ parted
forcver with my handsome, darling Vasylko.

After I parted with Vasyl'ko T returned to the cantecn once
more to cheek if everything was in order, if coppers stayed in their
place so that they could be taken tomorrow to the Polish or French
camp. And, when returning from the canteen to my barracks, I met
Vasyl’ko waiting for me again. He said that he hadn’t informed me
about cverything. And at that moment a fellow went out of the men’s
part of barracks and stared at us so that I suspected that he spied
on us in order to betray. Of course, a guilty mind is ncver at case,
cach move scemed suspicious to me. And that guy couldn’t know
anything about Vasyl’ko’s planned escape.

So, when that guy passed by, we whispered some more words
to cach other and came off, as we were afraid of some suddenness.
It was clear that if Vasyl'’ko wanted to spcak 1o me once again, he
also was not indifferent to me. And it made me glad. Vasyl'ko talked
to me for a long time.

When 1 returned to my place I lay quictly near Zina Stadnyk,
closcd my cycs and began to dream. My drcams were mixed with fear
for Vasyl’ko — would he manage to escape or some misfortunc would
prevent him? Surcly it was his last chance, because in two days the
trial was to take place, so he couldn’t delay his cscape any longer.

When Vasyl’ko cxplained his decision to me, he told that the
court could scntence him to death, but also could take him, as a
Galycian, to Hiler’s army and send him to the front where death
would certainly wait for him. Vasyl'’ko was not sure of the result of
the trial, he didn’t know whcther the owner had found any evidence
against him. They hadn’t found the money, that’s true, because it
was with him, but there could be some other evidence, perhaps, the
owner had found a witness, cven a false one.
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And he, Vasyl’ko, didn’t want cven in the best case to go to
the front linc and to fight there and dic for Adolph Hitler. He said,
that if he was to fight for the free Ukraine, things would be different,
he would have gone to Army himsclf. He, Vasyl’ko, said then, that
he would never go to the Red Army, it seemed foreign to him,
though many Ukrainians fought in it. This prediction against the
Rcd Army was left since 1939, when he had been a witness of mass
arrests in Western Ukraine and exiling of the whole families to Sybir,
without any trial, any investigation — whether onc was guilty or not,
it was cnough to be suspected of wrong attitude to the Soviet power,
to bc taken with all the family at night and exiled. It was d%nc in
large scales, and people called it unfair, inhuman.

And VasyPko said that he didn’t likc Germans cither, when
they came in 1941. Though he was aware of much better treatment
of the Galycians than Ukrainians from Velyka Ukraine, still they
weren’t fair to Ukrainians.

So spoke cightcen-year-old Vasyl’ko, a common boy from
Galychyna, who didn’t know the details of Hitler’s policy, that joined
Galychyna to Gencral Governorship, but the rest of Ukraine
including Western Volyn’ and Southern Polissya was called
"Reichkomissariat Ukrainc®, that meant a territory cqual to colony.
But who kncw it at that time?

I licd on straw and imagincd Vasylko crawling under the
barbed wires, coming noiselessly into the water. I even thought that
he couldn’t undress when coming into water, he had to do this
having his clothcs on. And I was surpriscd admircd at his courage,
he became a hero in my cyes. His shoulders must still ache after
beating on the first interrogation that he also mentioned to me. And
no, he wasn’t afraid of Gestapo, he ran risks to escape, becing aware
that he wouldn’t obtain mcrcy if caught.

And as that moncy was concerned, I thought lying on the straw,
he had done right becausc it was difficult to live without moncy
cven among the Germans, and with money it was possiblc even to
bribe a Hitlerite.

And he was innocent before God of these two thousand marks
he had stolen, he had only paid to himself a small part of what was
duc to him. Duc not only to him, but to all of us. Bccause we weren’t
paid anything for our labour.

But what if they caught Vasyl’ko? They would take money
from him, scntence him, he’d die and never use what he had stolen.
Was he afraid of death? Surc, he was, like any human being.

And if VasyPko wasn’t caught, would those two thousand
marks last him long? Very soon he would spend them, buying things.
But was it neccssary to upsct that he had no money? We, for
instance, don’t have any moncy but live on what Germans give us.
After all, a man is born without carthly wealth and when he dies,
can’t take anything with him. Isn’t it God’s justice? Even the
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inveterate Hitlerites won’t avoid death and will have to leave this
world whatever great SS or Gestapo-men they were. .

Vasyl'ko had done well that he had stolen moncy from the rich
man, he wouldn’t grow rich of it but the rich one wouldn’t turn poor
because of this larceny of two thousands that was a trifc to him.

From my home yet I kncw fables about the rich. Such a rich
man after his dcath got to the hell and was boiled there in a copper
with pitch, and kept complaining and regretting that he hadn’t taken
his moncy with him for he thought he could bribe devils. But the
devil is said not to takc money after death, he isn’t avid of it. He
only tempts pcople with it during their lifc and some of thcm scll
their souls for moncy. . .

Vasyl’ko is wiscr than that rich man, he, as it was noticed from
his behavior, would ncver grow rich, he nceds money 10 spend it
but not to save. He is swimming along the canal now and fish in it
can’t even suspect that he was a fugitive who wants to cscape from
Hitlerites. 1 was surc that Vasyl’ko would manage to swim the canal
over, prayed for his success, that he wouldn’t be caught.

Thinking about Vasyl'ko 1 couldn’t help thinking about the very
essence of life, of the man’s fate. I was alrcady for a long time sure
that cach person had a destiny of his own, cach person who is just a
little fair had got its angel who prompted him what to do and how to
behave, to avoid danger. Angel's advice — that’s advice of one’s own
heart, onc’s conscicnce, presentiment. It Icads us along this or that way.
We arcn’t able to decide our future with our mind cxclusively, people
arcn’t able to draw mathematically the way they go. There is something
that can be placed ncither in human mind, nor in many ccnturics
experience of mankind. That's somcthing that can’t be recognized.
That’s some unknown force. It ¢xists and can’t be rejected.

It forced Vasyl’ko to turn to me to save his moncy. That force
defended both of us. I couldn’t betray Vasyl’ko to Hitlerite
administration, but therc were some among us who could make a
denunciation about him, Vasyl’ko didn’t know me, hc couldn’t know
who and what I was, that was some invisiblc force that promptcd
him to turn to me.

So I lay and couldn’t slecp, lay and waited for twelve o’clock
when policemen came to check if everyone was in his place and
nobody cscaped.

I was still awakc when 1 hcard thc dogs bark. It was a
watchman who let the dogs out, that ran, barking, and later returncd
to his mastcr and whined. I understood that watchmen went to
check men’s barracks. And, rcally, in several minutes I heard that
someone there was asked, questioncd. They had already noticed that
Vasyl'’ko was absent. They would now start to seek for him. And
wherc is he now? On the other bank of the canal, I was sure.

. In a minute that lame watchman who seemed kind, who had
his leg wounded probably in the previous war, came to our barracks.
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Hc camc in and at oncc went to Zina who slept and cven snorcd.
He pushed her with his stick and cricd: "You nasty blonde, get up”.
I uncovered mysclf because lay with my head covered ang asked
watchman what he mcant. And he asked Zina: Where is that blond
you spoke to? Zina starcd at him and didn’t know what he mcant,
but thc watchman threatened that he would beat her. Then I asked
the watchman what blond he mcant, and as if I just recollected,
cxplained to watchman that Zina knew nothing about him, it was
mce he spoke to when asked for some more food, that was what
watchman saw himsclf. And then that boy left the canteen and went
to his barracks, and I went to mince, and Zina was slceping at that
time, so she couldn’t have spoken to him.

The watchman belicved me and went Lo the guard-room to
tclephone somewhere, perhaps he informed about the cscape of a
worker. And Zina at that time thanked mc that I sticked up for her,
How could I not intereede for her if T knew that Vasyl'ko had cscaped
and she was absolutcly innocent, she didn't know anything about him.
And the watchman could beat her indeed and later she would have
been suspected of assistance 1o Vasylko's escape. In such circumstances
[ couldn’t keep silence and put my [riend in a danger. She was thankful,
though she did’t know that I knew about the escape.

Very strange indecd but there never was oo big noisc about
VasyPko’s c¢scape. We could guess that Germans were unable to
chasc the fugitives because their armics were approaching German
fronticrs, they retreated and that caused the relaxation of discipline
even in the penalty-camp. Perhaps, the officials whom the watchman
tclephoned to and informed of the escape, told him to give it up as
lost. So it happened that there were no interrogations, no
investigation of the casc as it uscd to be.

As I've alrcady mentioned, the discipline in the camp became
weaker and weaker, watchmen didn’t cavil at us, they turned their
noses a bit down, Under thosc circumstances we, thc campmen,
began to hold up our hcads, and didn’t tramblc just when a
watchman appcarcd.

Zina Stadnyk, that "nasty blonde" as Germans called her, was
a [riend of minc from the previous camp. As she is concerned in
case of Vasyl’ko’s escape and watchman’s claims on her, I must tell
why she happened to be in this penalty-camp. When we were yet
in the previous camp, some worked at the amunition factory and
some at other factorics. We went to factories in columns, and not
from our camp only but from others, for cxample from the camp
of Gotman. The columns werc led by policemen and they passcd
the workers to the overscers who watched us at factorics. So one
morning Zina joincd thc marching column of our camp. A policeman
noticed her and drew up a report, where he wrote that she, Zina,
spent the night out of the camp. That’s why she got to the
penalty-camp where we met. And there Zina told me that, really,
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she didn’t pass the night in the camp, that on that Sunday she visited
her boy-fricnd, Ivan Kokot, a Galycian, staycd with him too long
and was late for the last tram and had to spend the night at his
placc. And after the night on Monday morning she joincd the column
of workers of thc camp. Zina was brought to the penalty-camp
though she wasn’t guilty of any crime, she didn’t miss work, wasn’t
cven late, she only spent a night outside the camp because her
boy-fricnd dctaincd her. .

At that time, when we worked in the previous camp, we began
to work morc and morc often at farmers, when we lcarncd ip what
villages kind baucrs lived, many of the girls working on their own
initiative at the landlords didn’t return for the night to the camp,
they joined the column in the morning and everything was all right.
It cven happened that during the week, for days are long in summer,
returning from work at the factory, they left the column, went to
the farmers, workced there till night, slept there and in the morning
joined the others for work. It was helpful for the camp-girls, because,
though they had to work for sixteen hours a day, still they ate well
at farmers, so they had got more strength.

As it did no harm to the interests of Germans, because workers
werce not so weak of hunger, Germans didn’t pay much attention to
it. But Zina, who spent a night outside the camp, was punished.
Maybe because she was, as Galycians say "pyskata”*, ncver held her
tongue.

The described practice of visiting the farmers by our girls more
and morc often caused more frequent escapes from the camp. Girls
working at farmers, sceretly arranged that some day they would
come and stay, with their names changed in order that camp
administration didn’t cling (o thosc who gave a job to the girls. She
was lucky, who managed to do this, for though she worked from
sunrise ill sunset, but in the open air, in the ficld as she used to.

But somc of them were not successful, camp administration
found their trace and the beating scemecd indispensable. Not cach
unsuccessful cscape led to the penalty-camp, but in any case,

oliccmen took vengeance on the fugitives. For if someonc ran away
rom the camp, they were guilty and incurred a penalty for the bad
scrvice. So the girls were often whipped by them.

Still ncither penalty-camp, nor beating could prevent them
from trying to run to farmers. Thosc who cscaped usually didn’t
lose connection with their fricnds in the camp, they, as I've alrcady
described on example of my cousin Anyuta, helped us as they could,
they conslantly took something from their landlords without their
consent, hid it into straw, thatch or so, and those who lived in the
camp, picked and refreshed with it. It proves that there was a great

*

Pyskata — chatter-box, woman that abways finds what to say.
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solidarity and unsclfish aid to cach othcr among the girls.

We could touch here the question of morality of thosc girls
who worked at farmers and stole food from them to give it to their
hungry friends. We didn’t think of it then, but such a behavior
justifics itsclf. At the distance of time we can speak of it as follows:
girls worked for the farmers from sunrisc till sunsct, their landlords
fed them well, cven gave them sometimes some clothes. But they,
those farmers, never paid for the work. Girls and boys worked for
thcm without payment. So didn’t the very instinct of group
sclf-prescrvation prompt them that nothing immoral was in taking
just a bit of their payment in the form of larceny. It was larceny not
for amuscment but in order to save their fricnds who also worked
for Germans without payment and almost always were hungry. So
lct the people reading these memoirs not condemn their behavior,
not suspcct them of ingratitude to their landlords that gave them
job and food.

So — our girls stole, as it should be called, and that stcaling was
absolutcly justified. And we didn’t have to be taught to stcal. Although
we weren’t taught it at school, but the very life under Stalin’s regime
taught us. We saw our parents who brought home some stolen wheat
or vegetables. And when we were bigger, we went to ficlds oursclves
and took (stole) something if nobody watched us. And it wasn't
considcred to be immoral in our familics, though, as I've alrcady
mentioned, in God’s commandments it’s said: "Don’t steal”.

After all, if we look at the matter from the point of view of
rclations between the unpaid worker and taking from the employce
a small part of the product, it won’t be a larceny but only a partial
sclf-payment, though from the formal side it has all the signs of
larceny. So was it in the Soviet Union under Stalin’s regime, and
the same, cven much worse, took place under conditions of forccd
labour of young pcople taken out to Germany.

I’ll return now to the subjcct of Vasyl'’ko’s cscape. The Germans
did not worry that onc morc fellow had run away. But that boy who
saw me spcaking to Vasyl'’ko the day before, came up to me the
next morning in the wash-room, and said that if he wanted, he would
say to the pcople concerned that it was me, but not the "vredna
blonda"* spoke to Vasyl’ko. And I kept thinking about Vasyl'ko all
the time, so I got angry and whispered right to his face "You just
try, soon, when our army comes, you'll be the first hanged on a
branch! I’ll do my best for it!" He got afraid of my thrcat, because
Germans suffercd onc defcat after another on the fronts.

I must say with bitterness that this boy, born in Poltava, and
his friend signed a commitment of cooperation with Germans, not,

in fact, of cooperation, for what a coopcration could be between

* vredna blonda — nasty blonde.
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the omnipotent Hitlerites and slaves taken out for forced labour?
Thosc boys for somec bencfits unknown to me, committed
themsclves to spy after their fricnds and denunciate to watchmen.
I came to know it aftcrwards, but on that day I only started to guess
about that Poltaver’s scrvices to Hitlerites. .

Why does it happen among our people? Why so many Ukrainians
helped Stalin’s regime to repress their own countrymen? Why did so
many Ukrainians curry favours with Hitleritcs during the war? I can’t
understand it, it hurts me. But I don’t want to ignore it.

I supposed then that 1 would never see my dear Vasyl'ko, that
fate had joined us togcther for a very short time. But I had a hope
that he wasn’t caught by Gestapo. The morning after his escape, as
Pve alrcady said, there was no noisc, only, as if for some formality,
some strange Hitlerites brought dogs to barracks, gave them to smell
the straw at Vasyl’ko’s place, thosc dogs took the trace, went under
barbed wircs to the canal. So they didn’t do anything besides what
watchmen’s dogs had donc, they also led them to the canal. On the
watcr Vasyl’ko’s trace stopped. But the fact that Gestapo men tried
to do somcthing in the morning to find VasyI’ko mcant that he didn’t
fcll into their hands, and I was very glad about it. It meant that
Vasyl’ko was alive, he hid somewhere, his clothes became dry. And
later hc wouldn’t be lost, he can spcak German, he wears nice
clothes and has got moncy in his pocket.

Evcrything proved that Gestapo didn’t pay much attention to
his cscape, in particular, they didn’t provide any investigation or
questioning. It was obvious that thcy began to worry mostly about
themselves, and no wondcr, because on the fronts German armics
arc morc and more often surrounded, morc and more Germans
were taken prisoncrs both in the Eastern and Western fronts.

And we, girls who worked at the amunition factory, were glad
that we somchow caused defcats of Germans while pouring sand
instcad of gun-powdecr to the cartridges. We imagined that Germans
couldn’t perform a shot because there was too much sand instcad
of gun-powder. And they had no time alrcady to provide
investigation about such sabotage. 1 can’t tell you in what measure
werc our thoughts about this petit sabotage true, but they helped
us to keep spirits, those thoughts madc it casier for us to wait for
the cnd of the war.

. We waitcd for the end of the war, and at the same time we
waited for the tcrm of penalty. Everyone waited there when they
could leave penalty-camp and be employed by some farmer, to eat
well. And waiting for it we continued to work, and on days off we
put our place in order, we, particularly, shook up the straw, swept
what had been rubbed ofp it and through the rubbish on the
dust-heap, togcther with fleas. Also on Sundays we washed our
clothes, sew them up and mended. We were waiting eagerly for
liberation, or rather for discharge from the penalty-camp.
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THE END OF THE PENALTY-CAMP

We counted days Icft to the six months’ tcrm of the penalty.
We were discharged from the camp not so accuratcly, Germans
didn’t keep us there for six months sharp. Together with Zina and
another fricnd of mine, Stefka, we drcamt about leaving the
penalty-camp together. We got there also at the same time. Five
months had alrcady passcd, only two wecks lelt and we waited with
tenscness for the discharge.

I remember that it was Monday, a finc sunny day. Aftcr supper we
sat on our straw, prcparing (0 go to bed. Suddenly a watchman came
with a list in his hand. He looked at me and at others and began to read
the namcs of the girls being frec from the penalty-camp. He also read
the namcs: Antonina Khelemendyk, Zina Stadnyk, Stephania Synyshyna.
What a joy! We all were to be discharged on Thursday. We began to
embrace and kiss cach other. At last! At last freedom comes! But was it
frecdom indced? That's only discharge from the penalty-camp, and we
would get to another camp. Stll, our joy was great, because there we
weren't able to go to a farmer on Sunday, to work and (o cat.

Though 1, working at the cantcen, was no longer hungry, still
1 couldn’t help thinking about my fricnds as well. And they continued
to go to work at the factory or in the shop.

Threc days after that Monday passed quickly and on Thursday
we were discharged from the penalty-camp. I and Zina Stadnyk were
appointed by Gestapo to the camp Gotman, to "Gotman-lager” as we
uscd to say. The Gestapo man who discharged us said that he didn’t
send me to the camp I had been before on purposc. I was very glad
about it because [ didn’t want to meet oncce that lagerfiihrer who had
beatcn me with gum stick and cven had knocked my tooth out.

As I didn’t want to come back to the previous camp, I asked
the Gestapo-man to let me go there to take my things, in particular
my clothes. I hoped that during scven months of my abscnce in the
camp they were safc.

On my rcquest the Gestapo man sent a policeman to the camp
Lyubeck — Brandenbaum to go there and take my things from my friend,
also Zina, whom I worked with at the hospital. The policeman rcturned
from there without anything, Later I came to know that as I was abscnt
for a long time, girls had shared all my things and they were alrcady
worn out, only Zina kept my plastic coat, but she also worc it. I wasn’t
surprised becausc I was absent from the camp for scven months and
the clothes I left there weren’t new, they were rather bad and no wonder
that they had becn worn out already. When I found out that I didn’t have
got anything, I cricd a bit and that’s all. I had almost nothing but thosc
clothes I had on when I came out of the penalty-camp.

I've already told here about the girls’ solidarity and how thcy
helped each other. So it was that time. My friend Stefka had a
boy-friend, a Belgian, who had a possibility to get some ladies’
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clothes. And she, that Steffsya, gave me and other girls many clothes
to wear and all of it only due to that Belgian. She even came to my
new camp "Getman-lager” with that Belgian, usually on Saturdays
or Sundays and he together with her gave us a dress, sometimes a
skirt or a blousc. That boy said that he got those things from German
women he worked with. Certainly, those weren’t first-rate clothes,
they did not fit German women, but we were glad to them because
we had nothing better, We, the girls, going to town on Sunday, often
changed clothes with cach other, not to wear always the same.
Nothing can be done with woman’s naturc.

The first day aller discharge from the penal camp Shlyutop — Lyubeck
where I spent six months. Near me stands Stefka. Photo w::w made
by Stefka's boy-friend, a Belgian, in 1944,
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Gcestapo-man that discharged mc from the penalty-camp, on
that very day appointcd mc on work in a laundry situated not far
from thc pcnalty-camp. It was laundry for French and Polish
prisoners, we got there soup and potatocs I distributed among our
pecople at the penalty-camp.

In that laundry only Germans worked and therc was a master
(forcman) abovc them all who was responsible of the work of
laundry. Everything wc washed should be clean, washed in the
washing-machinc and latcr, when it became dry, we ironed it. [ don’t
know what a camp it was, that lincn for prisoncrs was washcd and
ironcd there, maybe it was a camp for the demonstrations to the
international Red Cross or so, [ don’t know.

The work was rather hard in that laundry, but we had no rcason
to complain as we were brought not to a resort, but to forced labour,
unpaycd. So I did work there, waiting for the better times.

ON THE EVE OF HITLER’S CRASH

In the new camp — Gotman-lager there were new acquaintanccs,
ncw [ricnds. Days passcd slowly, and we more and morc gricved for
home, rclations, our home village, Ukrainc. The last winter came when
Gcerman armics still tricd to defend. Till January 1945 German army
stayed on the left bank of the Vistula, but almost a half of Poland had
been liberated, the Red army stood near Warsaw and didn't give it any
help during the uprising. Only at the end of January 1945 the Sovict
army crosscd the Vistula, and stroke Hitlerite armics, it was one but
the last attack upon Hitlerite hordes. At the same time the allicd armies
moved forward in Italy and Francc.

On the background of such events which we learncd by
snatches from talks between Germans, we began to cry cither with
joy or worrying about our fatc in thc last months of Hitlerite
Germany. We were still there like defenseless birds in a cage. We
kept thinking how to survive in order to hold it out. And everybody
alrcady kncw that the cnd of Hitlerite Germany was coming ncarcr.

That last winter was onc of thc hardest for us, working at the
forced labour. There wasn’t cnough food not only for us, but for
Germans as well. In winter we couldn’t be cmployed by farmers, at
first, because it was winter and there was no immediate work about
the houschold, and sccondly, because days werc short and we went
to work and returned in darkness.

Onc of thc most interesting occupations in the camp during
that winter was talking about the German’s situation in the fronts.
That talks helped us to endure hunger. Everyone who worked at
the factories, shops, or as I did, in a laundry, listcncd to the
conversations among the Germans who had got some information
from the radio or from those who was woundcd and rcturned from
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the fronts. That German armics had ncither winter clothes for their
soldiers, nor cnough ammunition. We kncw that German aviation
didn’t control the air any longer and the-bombers of western allics
relcased thousands of bombs on German towns, destroying factorics
and plants that produced ammunition. During those bombardments
many Ukrainians dicd, becausc a lot of us worked at military factorics.
Germany wasn’t preparcd for the long war, the Germans lost belief in
their furcr who continucd to promisc them to usc some miraculous
arms. But he wasn't belicved. It never helped to German armics that
their women knitted warm gloves, sweaters cte. of wool. It was a drop
in the sea comparing (o the heats of great armics. In the city onc could
notice some alert, sadness and fcar. Many German women worc only
black after their killed sons, husbands and brothcers.

And the Germans could not be glad to hear the ncws that the
Red Army also suffered the great losses, that it cost Stalin many
millions of killed soldicrs and officcrs. Stalin never reckoncd with
the pcople, soldiers were nothing but the cannon-fodder for him.
What was necessary for him was "Pobeda!™*. But that victory over
the Hiterite Germany didn’t come casy to him. Stalin had to
conclude a treaty with Great Britain, the USA and their allies. Even,
as we knew in the camp, he ordered to imply in the army officer’s
ranks, shoulder-straps, that had been severcly punished before. The
USA sent to the Soviet Union a great many of armamecnt, military
technique, also cquipment for the factorics and plants, a lot of tinned
food. All of it helped greatly to inflict a defcat on Germans. But the
most hcavy burden of the war was placed on the shoulders of a
common soldicr, and cvery filth of thosc soldicrs was a Ukrainian.
Germans said that the most crucl on the front were soldiers of Asian
republics — Uzbceks, Tajiks, Turks, Kirghizs, Kazakhs. They, as we
heard, were ruthless, it meant nothing for them to kill 2 man.

So German spoke about “crucl” Uzbceks, but they forgot how their
own soldiers, SS and Gestapo-men, behaved, how they treated even now,
by the end of the war, the prisoners. They saw cruelty of the Sovict
soldiers, but didn’t want to sec the cruclty of theirs. And not only of the
soldiers on the fronts but also in the rcar, of all thosc Hitlerites who
exterminated pcople in concentration camps, that we knew well.

German were indignant at the cruelty of the allicd bombardments,
they called it annihilation of peaccful people who were no implicated
in the war. It was truc only partially because German also annihilated
peaccful, civil population, they didn't take into account the fact that
they killed inhabitants of citics and villages who didn’t fight against
Germans.

In the last months of the war life was terrible. Sirens often
alarmed of a coming bombardment, many houses were destroyed,

* pobeda - victory.
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the fires arosc. There was not such discipline as there was when
they brought us here. Chaos and fuss ruled cverywhere. I don’t know
whcther it was truc or not, but it was said that on request of Swedish
Rcd Cross, the allics didn’t bombard Lyubeck, but we saw and at
night hcard thousands of British or Amcrican bombers who passed
Lyubcck aside and flew toward Berlin.

Wec have alrcady sccn soldicers, for how can be called
fiftccn-ycar old boys called up for military service? They were often
unablc to carry a gun, it was too big for them. And that persuaded
us dcfinitcly that Hitler’s cnd was approaching, that he couldn’t arise
from the crash that had overtaken him.

THE END OF THE WAR.
WHAT NEXT?

At last Germany was dealt the final blow. To us, in Lyubeck,
the cnd of the war came cven unexpectedly. We, as usual, went to
work, Germans also worked.

But once we saw in the yard of French and Polish camp some
military cars strange for us and some soldicrs ncar by, but not
Germans. In several minutes we knew that thosc were British
soldicrs in "jeeps". They told us that the war had finishcd for us.

Everyone who worked in the laundry were stuck dumb, as we
hopcd that our, Sovict soldicrs would come here, but the English
came. They cxplaincd to us that, fighting as an allicd state, Great
Britain in the course of war operations occupicd nothcrn-western
part of Germany and the city of Lyubeck where we were located.

Well, could we help being glad?! The slavery cnded for us, we
didn’t have alrcady to go to work cvery day, to listcn to thc howls
of watchmen that suddenly disappcarcd. There was joy, crics at the
camp, not only girls but also boys wept with joy.

Our joy had no limits, thcre was no fantom of hunger before
us, we didn’t have to be afraid of becating. In several days Swedish
Red Cross brought on big lorries a great many of food, mostly in
differcnt tins. Those who brought them told us in German and
English that thcy would fced us as long as we stayed in that camp,
they also said that soon we would bc taken to our home countries.
And then we began to think — what should we do. At the beginning
of the war wc saw that people lived differcntly from our life in the
Soviet Union under Stalin’s regime. Germans wore nice clothes, we
were only jealous to German women for their dresses, nice coats,
shoes. And, for those several days we saw that, though it was the
war, British soldiers had uniforms made of good fabric, they scemed
to have everything thcy necded. Also we saw those who brought us
food to the camp, they were civil persons in nice clothes, it was
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obvious that they didn’t suffer hunger in their life.

So we began to think, to change thoughts: what you, Tanya,
will do? What do you think, Galya?

And we thought all together and cach of us by hersclf that
there in Ukraine we lcft our relatives, our parcnts, mothers, sisters.
I have not yct found my half-sister Maria. Where was she, what
happencd to her, to my sister Shura, to brothcr Mytya? We werc
eager to join them at that moment. But were they alive and healthy?

Badl rumours began (o sprcad among thc campmen about the
treatment of Stalin’s regime (o thosc who got into German captivity
and also to those taken for the forced labour. They said that cveryone
who returncd from the captivity was scnt to Siberia as a traitor of
motherland. By* hcarsay, in thc Sovict occupation zonc Soviet
political instructors said that girls takcn for the forced labour were
traitors of motherland and not only girls but also boys as we all
worked for Germans, cven produced arms at German factories, that
Germans used fighting against the Red Army.

How could wc rcconcile oursclves to such hearsay, how could
we perceive it? Not somebody clse, but we ourselves saw the fatc
of sovict soldicrs who got to German captivity. We also saw that at
the beginning of the war sovict forces retreated before the attacking
encmy. Werc those guilty that they were surrounded? The soldiers
couldn’t influencc the stratcgical or tactical opcrations of the army,
they went to the war, shot where they were told to, fought as they
could. But nonc of the soldicrs, taken scparately, couldn’t influcnce
that fact that thc wholc armics were surrounded. And not cveryone
could break encirclement.

We saw and heard from many witnesses about the way
Germans treated prisoncrs. They were massively extcrminated,
millions of them dicd. And Stalin just considcred them to be
"enemics of people” and didn’t cven try to investigatc under what
circumstances they werc taken prisoncrs.

. Has anyone cver heard about war where soldicrs are not taken
prisoncrs? It can never happen. It only happens that prisoners arc
not held captive, they arc shot at once, but soldicrs from all armics
in the world get in captivity. And it usually happens not because of
their fault, but of their commanders’ of higher or lower ranks.

About oursclves, about thosc taken by Germans for the forced
labour we knew the best. We hadn’t asked them to take us to
Germany, we werc ordered to go there, we were brought in goods
wagons. And we were trcated there like slaves. We experienced therc
incredible mockery, humiliation, suffcred from cold and hunger, lice
ate us, we slept on straw, like cattlc. And now we arc told bad
words, called traitors of Motherland.

Wc had what to think over. We remembered well the attitude
of Stalin’s regimc to millions innocent people, we remembered the
terror that our fathers and grandfathers, all the Ukraine suffered.
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The question we faced was: What next? If we were to be treated
as traitors of Mothcerland, we knew well what was done to them in the
Sovict Union. So could we risk returning home? To return and even
not to get to home village, 1o be sent to Sybir, 1o taiga® at once? To
change one slavery for another? That was the question we faced.

Tonya Khlemendyk with the girls trom Western Ukraine — Stefka, Hanya,
Caterina and Zofla. They were kind to me, saved me, I came out of the
camp arm-in-arm with them in order that my "OST" hadn't been seen.

Such problems never occurred to Belgians, nor to talians,
Frenchmen and others. Only we were to be stigmatized as traitors.
Everyone who came from Weslern countrics, didn't stay long in
camps, they at oncc returncd home. Only Ukrainians, Russians,

*  Taiga - thick forest of Sybir.
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Byelorussians, Lithunians, Latvians, Estonians facced the problem to
come back or not. Poles as well couldn't solve this problem at once
because they knew that the Stalin-like regime had been cestablished
in Poland.

In German citics the camps started 1o be organized for those
who of this or that rcason happencd to be on the territory of
Germany after the war and didn’t return home. They were mostly
camps for Ukrainians, Russians and Polcs.

I had many [ricnds among the Poles and they suggested me to
comc to live to their camp. When [ told it to my fricnds — Galycians,
the an to persuade me saying that they knew Poles, they were
bad and so, they governed Galychyna before the war and humiliated
Ukrainians, they didn’t like Ukrainians. I didn’t know anything about
it but had no rcason not to believe Ukrainians — Galycians. So |
didn't go to Polish camp and couldn’t decide — whether to return
to Ukraine or to stay here so far,

Afer discharge from the camp Dornirverke — Lyubeck. Girls joined
together by the resident of the camp whose name was Zvarun, she
taught us to embroider. I can’t remember everyone after so many
years but can recognize on the photo - Olenka Zhenevchyk, the
organizer of the group Zvarun, three Lyubas, Marusya, Pavlina
Solomchak, Pazya Velyka, Sulyma, Kasya - all of them from Western
Ukraine. Others - be recognized by yourselves. I believe that all of
You are alive, everyone moved to different countries. Pazya Velyka -
Kryvoruchko, I know, owns a hotel in Niagara - Fals, Canada, and
Zvarun lives In the USA.
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SOME WORDS ABOUT PRIVATE

I’'ve alrcady told that my friend Zina Stadnyk had a boy-fricnd
from Lvov Ivan Kokot by name. They were acquainted rather long,
for about thrce years, after capitulation of Germany they were close
to cach other. And I had my Vasyl’ko who hadn’t got into German’s
hands after his escapc and waitcd at last for the end of the war.

Vasil’ko had come from Galychyna, he was a handsome boy and
smart. But he had as well some drawbacks, in particular he liked to speak
a lot but his actions differed from what he said. We met cach other after
his cscape, when 1 was in Gotman-lager, also after the end of the war.
Wec weren't just fricnds, we also had an intention to marry. He wrote
about mc to Galychyna, maybe to Lvov. He had a good mother, when
she Icarned that I was an orphan, she asked Vasyl’ko to be kind to me,
not to hurt me. She cven knew me from the photos that Vasil’ sent her.,
It scemed to me that he loved his mother and obeyed her.

One day a letter came from Vasil’ko’s mother that turned out to
be the last. She died soon. If she was ill and what was her discase, I
don’t know. In that last letter Vasil’ko’s mother asked her son to marry
me, wished us to be happy, live in harmony, to avoid cvery trouble.

I couldn’t learn Vasil’ well during my staying in German camp,
but I believed him. He promiscd me that we would marry just after
the end of the war. But, when the war ended, Vasil’ didn’t hurry to
keep his promisc and also his mother’s rcquest to have respect to
me. [ wasn’t yet expericnced in rclations with boys and still believed
Vasil’ko, I belicved everything when he spoke to me, made excuses,
I fell in love with him yet behind the wires of the camp, from that
day when he asked me to conceal the money.

Vasil’ko could speak to me, he could soften my impaticnce. If
he brought me somc trifle, I felt happy that he didn’t forget me,
that he carcd about mc. I was like a blind. He fondlcd mc, nestled
me up, kisscd me and I needn’t anything more. Nobody fondled or
nestled me up in my life, I was brought up by step-mother, it sccmed
to me that I loved a prince from a fairy-tale. I became blind, I didn’t
sec anything around but Vasil’ko. I waited for thc day and the hour
I would be able to meet Vasil’ko.

Vasyl’ko didn’t live in the camp, but in a private flat that he
rented from a German. Just after the end of the war the Organization
of Red Cross gave us food packs. I also got two such packs. How
could I not sharc them with my Vasyl’ko? May be, he had nothing
to cat thesc days, and it would be pleasure to share it with him all
the same. So I waited for him for three weeks but he didn’t come.
I thought and thought but couldn’t guess what happened to him.

I had got Vasyl’ko’s bag on which he brought sausage-salyami
when he visited me last time, and I'd got different food from the
packs given by Red Cross. So I decided to bring this bag and
something else to him to his flat. I also brought a packet with
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differcnt tins, cigarcttes as I knew that he liked to smoke and I
didn’t nced cigarcttes at all.

I took it all, went to town, got in the proper tram and went
to Vasil’ko’s place. I came there, the landlady let me in as she knew
me from the previous visits. I asked if Vasil’ko was in, she answercd
yes, but somchow her answer scemed strange, a bit suspicious to
me. Vasil’ko lived in that flat with his fricnd Mykola Pikulik. They
had two scparatc bed-rooms and a common kitchen. I knocked at
the door, Mykola opened it whom I was acquainted to but (at that
time) forgot his name. In his room I saw a girl Olya by name, whom
I kncw from the camp Brandenbaum, I was cven glad to mect her,
becausc I didn’t sec her for a long time.

When I came in and grected them, I asked Mykola if Vasil’
was in. He said ycs at once, then opened the door to his room and
I saw my Vasyl’ko sat half-drcssed and drank coffec or tea. I came
up to him asking why he was abscnt for three weeks, he did promisc
me to come? And when I said it, I saw a woman in his bed. She
was a blonde, she was also from our camp, but older than we and
we knew she was marricd. Her name was Stefka. She also lay
half-dressed, it was obvious that they slept together.

I cstimated quickly the situation, came close to Vasil’ko and asked
him — What are you going to do? And he answered me impudently that
he desided to find another woman, for he knew that everyone who came
from Velyka Ukraine* would be forced to come back to Soviet Union.

1 don’t know whethcr that hearsay was the reason, that Vasil’ko
betrayed me, or he only justified himself saying that Stalin ordcred
to return with compulsion all his citizens to the Sovict Union. But
I waited for him, Vasyl’ko, looked for him every evening, cxpected
that onc day we would gct married.

Then, in his room, I reminded to him of his mother’s words,
all his promiscs to me, that he promised without any constraint that
just when the war ended, hc would marry me. And he said nothing.
As if what [ said didn’t concern him.

The German, landlady, came out of the room, saw me in tears,
asked why I wept and I told her my sorrow, confessed that Vasil’ko
had betrayed me, that he didn’t keep his promise, that he had another
woman. And while 1 was spcaking so to the landlady, Vasyl'ko
appceared, and I had to keep silence. Vasyl’ touchcd my hand and asked
what I was going to do. I answered that I desided to stay in Germany
so far, and later I would sce, but I wouldn’t return home, I’d find some
job and flat and would live somehow. I also told him that perhaps |
would come to the camp of Poles, they had asked before to come to
live with them, and kncw me as a kind and compliant girl.

* Velyka Ukraine — Great Ukraine, central, nothern and eastern

parts of Ukraine.
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Ukrainian boys and girls, taken for forced labour to Germany, made
photo after discharge. All of us worked hard under control of German
policemen. We'll never forget that life. On the photo there're Kasya, Olenka
Zhenevchyk, Maria Kholyavko with her husband, they live in Toronto.
Friends! Show this photo to your children and grandchildren, tell
them how we lived during the war in german slavery. Let them know
about us, our suffering, let them, our descendants, never go through
misfortune that we experienced. And let them never forget the
motherland of our childhood.

At that moment I really thought that it would be nice to go 1o
the Polish camp, we would surcly, have whal 1o cat, UNRRA
organization supplied us with food, clothes, cven cigarcttes. So,
thinking like this, | said good-byc to Vasyl' and told him that we
should scc how that woman would trcat him, and that he hadn't
kept the promise given to me and his mother. Vasil’ looked shy, but
didn't add anything.

I went back to my camp where cast Ukrainians, Russians,
Byclorussians lived. Germans kcg! calling that camp "OST". | came
to the camp, fell on my bed and began to crr. I cried long that time,
feeling pity for myself, for my orphan’s fate. I wept and didn’t
understand what to do? How was I to live? .

I wasn't inactive in the camp, 1 had some medical education
and began to work at the local medical station as a nurse. The
Red Cross sent us parcels that were brought on lorries each Friday.
Those goods werce distributed by the same people that brought them
and among them were also nurses in clean whitc aprons with Red
Cross bandages on their sleeves. 1 also had white overalls on. I
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managed to make acquaintance with those nurses. They addressed
me as a nursc. Among thcm was a Latvian who worked in UNRRA.
I supposed that this asquaintance would help me to find some good
job. The Latvian could spcak Russian,

The next day, on Saturday, at about 10 am. a girl runs from the
neighbour barracks and calls me, saying that my brother has come to
me who worked at a farmer before. I was stuck dumb, what brother? 1
had no brothcr who could have been taken for work to Germany. I
didn't know what to think, it could have happened that my brother Mytya
had been taken with somceonc older and was cmpl there by some
farmer. I became glad, though I wasn't sure that it was true about brother.

But when 1 ran out of barracks, my Vasyl'ko met me, though
he wasn't minc any longer. 1 asked him what the matter was that
he even lied he was my brother who came to me. Vasyl’ko explained
that his landlady turncd him out of the housc and he had nowhere
to stay and told me to ask the necessary man to let him be registered
in the camp I lived in,

Mariyka IStel'auyuk, married Kulyk. Born in Brest - Lytovsk, in 1946
we were in camp Lyubeck - Dornirverke. Emigrated to Great ritain,
Manchester - Lester. 4 ®
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What a trouble I had with Vasyl’! How was I to do this? 1
thought a lot and at last dccided to tell the barracks commandant
that hc was my brother, in order to register him there.

The commandant was a kind man, he agreed that Vasil’ko as
my brother, would live in our barracks. He, the commandant, told
me to arrange that Vasil’ko would live in my room. So it happencd
that Vasyl’ko lived at my place, with me. I cooked and washed for
him, took care of him. But told him not to look at othcr women.

"NA RODYNU!"*

So wec lived for a fortnight in a quict a pcaccful lifc, when it was
declared that we should prepare to return, as they said, “to Motherland".
But to Ukraine or not? By no mcans to the Sovict Union.

Sovict officers uscd to come to our camp, agitated for returning
to the Sovict Union. They ensured us that "Motherland forgives you
cverything!". What's this, our Motherland should forgive us? Forgive
what? Somc fault can be forgiven, but we hadn’t donc anything bad,
so what are we to be forgiven for?

We listened to those officers and cach time became more and
more surc that in the Soviet Union nothing had been changed, that
terror continued there, Stalin’s regime ignored people. And Vasil’ko
who didn’t know thec cssence of that regimc, told me not to worry,
told that we would come to Kicv, marry and live in our country.

Then I began to persuade Vasil, explained to him what 1 knew
from my own expcricnce. I at that time desided not to return home,
and the only reason of it was fcar of Stalin rcgime’s repressions.

And Vasyl’ko is like Vasyl'ko, light minded and all. He said
that we wouldn’t be able to solve that difficult problem oursclves,
that hc had (o go to town and ask his fricnds what thcy thought
about it and how they solved the matter of returning home.

I must say herc that the Ukrainians from "Velyka" or
"pidradyans’ka"** Ukrainc were put in conditions diffcrent from
thosc of Ukrainians of Galychyna. We, Sovict Ukrainians, were not
considered to be a scparatc nationality, all were treated as Sovict
citizens notwithstanding their nationality. But Ukrainians from
Galychyna, though sincc October 1939 they became Sovict citizens,
were called Polish but not Sovict citizens. Allics of the Soviet Union
didn’t recognizc the anncxation of Western regions of Ukraine to
the USSR, so they didn’t rccognize cverything that happencd after
the 1st of September 1939. So the allicd states trcated everyonc

* "Na Rodynu!" — To the Motherland
ke "pidradyans’ka” — what is under the Soviet power.
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who uscd to be Polish citizens till 1st of Scptember 1939 as before,
that mcant that they weren’t liable to forced returning "Na Rodynu™.

That’s a task for rcspectablc who could cstablish what mcans
“skhidni"* Ukrainians uscd to avoid the forced rcpatriation.
Everyonc started urgently to study polish language, began to look
for a possibility to find some documcnt to prove that onc originatcd
from Western' Ukraine. To avoid forced repatriation, onc should
indicate in what rcgion of Western Ukraine onc lived, named the
chicf town of a district, onc should also know at lcast scveral polish
words. Such a fuss arosc around that matter, that is hard to describe.
I don’t mention here the situation of those who lcft Ukraine together
with retreating Germans, thosc who were starostas or policcmen
during the occupation, or in somc othcr way coopcratcd with
Germans. If we were called traitors of Motherland, what is to be
said about thcm.

Vasil’ko went to town and in about two hours he returned on
a bicycle accompanicd by a fcllow on a bicycle 0o, Vasil’ko came
into the room with that boy and introduced him to me. He was a
friend of Vasil’ko who called himsclf Olexa Volynyak. And Vasil’ko
told me that he wouldn't go to any "motherland®, that he was moving
to another camp, and adviscd mc to go to Lvov, to his sister, I'd
get a job there and would live at his sister’s and he would live there,
in Germany.

I couldn’t bear it and began to shout at Vasil’ko, calling him namcs,
I cried that he deccived me all that time, what T would do at his sister’s,
I didn’t know her at all, shc was strange to me, and you, scoundrcl, I
cried, cven didn’t {ulfil your mother’s will, didn’t marry me.

I flew into a temper so that girls from the other rooms ran,
who thought that Vasyl’ko was my brother. They ran in and began
to wonder that “sister” shouted at "brother” likc that. Then Olexa
turncd to Vasyl’ and askcd why he was leaving me and the latter,
as if it was true, said that he had o lcave mc because I wanted to
go "to the Motherland". I couldn’t bear it and cried that it wasn’t
true, that Vasyl’ko had just fabricated this lic.

Olexa saw that Vasyl’ko was unfair to me and that I would be
taken to the forced repatriation from this camp and asked me
resolutcly: "Don’t you rcally want to return to Ukraine?". I said no.
And Olexa suggested me to go with him to that camp whcere Vasil’
was going. I became glad and answered that I could go immediately,
as all my things had becn packed. As 1 had many things, Olexa took
some of them, went to that ncw camp, and in the aftcrnoon he

reitumcd to take the rest of my luggage and me and lcft for the new
place.

. "Skhidni" — eastern.
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Bcforc my left the camp for "Ostowtsy™*, Zina Stadnyk ran to
me and said that shc wouldn’t stay there, would return home. It
appcarcd that she was going but didn’t cven know whether any of
her relations were alive and their housc not destroycd. But she
informed me that she was lcaving her Vanya, that was Ivan Kokot,
who had bcen her boy-fricnd for three years. Zina explained her
dccision saying that she misscd her relations very much, that she
-had a hopec to scc her father and mother again. Then I said good-bye
to Zina, and my "angel thc kecper® — Olexa whom I was very
grateful to because of his interest to my lifc.

I was rcally very thankful to Olexa because I was alerted very
much of the frequent visiting of our camp by the Sovict officers,
who, and it was very strange, worc polished high boots, scrvice caps
with shining peaks, golden shoulder-straps, they walked haughty as
if they personally invaded the whole world. All of us had to be ready
by seven o’clock when lorries were to come for us. There was an
instruction to takc out our luggage, to go out in twos, to keep order.
Of coursc, thosc were military men who organized repatriation. They
threcatencd us not to try to run away. That threatening proved mostly
the "voluntarincss" of repatriation.

I didn’t have alrecady to take my things out, as Olcxa had taken
almost all of them before and brought to the other camp on his bicycle.

So I avoided the forced repatriation "to the Motherland". T went
to the ncw camp with Olcxa and on my way I thought of Vasyl’ko.
I thought that he was a rcprobatc, he was just a "batyar"** from
Lvov, he was an unrespcctful man. I could have alrcady stayed for
a long time in Polish camp with thosc who didn’t want to return to
Poland as we — to the Sovict Union. I could, but Vasyl’ko as usual,
did mc an ill turn. As I found out, he not only liked to smoke, but
never refuscd gorilka,***, not only didn’t refuse, but he liked to
drink it, and that often happencd to him when he was abscnt for
thrce weceks after the war. He also liked to play cards that I couldn’t
understand at all because playing cards was not popular in our
village. But I was sure that I should part with him forever, for he
was an unrcliable man.

That time, just aftcr the war, wasn’t suitable for young girls,
there were much more of us than of boys, it wasn’t casy to find a
boy to match. And there was nobody to give advice, neither father,
nor mother. But we had to hurry, it wasn’t like home, when you
could walk together with a boy for a year or two, and marry him
afterwards. Here the time passed quickly, we had to decide whether
to stay or to repatriate, and if to stay — what next?

* "Ostowtsy" - those who came from eastern Europe. #
hihe "batyar" — reveller.

***  gorika - vodka.
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IN POLISH CAMP

Many Ukrainians gathered in Polish camp that consisted of several
woodcn barracks. We, Ukrainians, occupied two barracks where singles,
bachelors, found room for themsclves, all of them young, for we at that
time werce seventeen, cighteen, nincteen ryv:ars old We were almost
children when Germans brought us for the foreed labour, There gathered
the Ukrainians who didn't have to be afraid of the forced repatriation
and those who, as 1 did, had 10 adapt themselves to new circumstances
to avoid repatriation. All of us, coming from Eastern and ccntral lands
of Ukraine didn’t return home not because we were indifferent where
1o live — in Ukraine or somewhere else. No, we weren't indifferent, for
all the years of our slavery in Germany we dreamt about Ukraine, raved
of it, saw it in our dreams. There was not a single day when we didn't
remember the beauty of our motherland, our sieppes, calm clean rivers.
We didnt return to Ukraine nct because we didn't love it but because
we feared to return. That's the reason. We had no other reason, in
particular, no chasc for high incomes. Let our children, grandchildren,
all our descendants know about it

Boys and girls from camp Dornirverke, Lyubeck, preparing to
emigration. I hope all of them are alive and healthy and can recognize
themselves on this photo made in 1945.

Polish camp was also under the wardship of international, or
Amcrican organization UNRRA. We hadn’t many troubles to be
registered in Polish camp. I belicve that many officials from UNRRA,
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knew the true rcason of our reluctance to return home and they
often winked at some informalitics.

The trcatment of camp administration was good, but we hadn't
avoid troubles from another side. Strangers often came to the €am
in civilian clothes and asked us where we came from, tricd to spea
to us. And we, Ukrainians from the Soviet Union, were casily
recognized by our speech that we were not "western™. Those pcople
weke spies, sent by the officers of Stalin's regime, that didn't even
in British occupation zonc leave its citizens alonc.

In the camp for no-returners in Lyuber it even happened that
Stalin’s scrvicemen, catching the Sovict citizens, shot after runawa
Then our "skhidnyaky™* turncd to British military commandant with
a reguest 1o defend us from violence. The result was that later we
weren't chased so insolently, patrols of British army saved ws.

A group of girls and boys from camp Dornirverke, Lyubeck, 1945,

I wrned to the administration of UNRRA (United Nation Relicf
and Rcabilitation Administration) with a request to register me as a
nurse. registered me and sent to week courses to test whether |
could work as a nursc. I passed that test successfully and reccived a
certificate that let me work as a nurse. 1 was given a job in the temporary
hospital of Polish camp, where many tubercular paticnts were. It was
the result of several years of underfecding, exhausting labour, cold that

*  “skhidnyaky" — eastern Ukrainians.
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the slaves of Hitlerite Germany had to suffer. Duc to UNRRA, we could
give those paticnts cod-liver oil and orange juicc to cqualize the
of vitamins. There also were many children ill with tubcrculosis as \
A doctor came cvery day to that temporary hospital, c:ummcd
atients scriously ill, gave instructions, prescribed medicines. My
guly was to take medicincs from pharmacy, to kecp them in doctor’s
room, to give them to paticnts. 1 also had a possibility to strengthen
my health, 1 drank cod-liver oil and orange juice. I fclt that health
and strength returned to me. .
In ﬁt Polish camp 1 got acquainted with many ncw [ricnds, and
there were a lot of those whom T knew from the camp Brandenbaum.

1945, camp Dornirverke, Lyubeck. Girls from Western Ukraine cooked
borshch and eat |t before thelr wooden barracks.

There was a large room, where in a family way settled Mariyka
Shutka, Mariyka Syomykha, Pavlyna and also boys lvan Kokot,
Skolozdra, Tus'ko, Solomchak, S. Pepliy, Ruzya Shmaglo, Viodko
and Ganya Zabolotski and their mother who was like a mother for
all of us. It was she who gavc us advice, taught us to cook. Though
we hadn’t much to cook because there was a kitchen in the camp
where we were given food, and that we got from UNRRA needn't
cooking, but what's cooking always tastcs much better. We were
convinced of it due to Viodko and Ganya's mama. To cook a soup,
wchadonlaﬁlopicksomeml,pmapolaloandamhoasam
to fry it all with somcthing. We cooked in our kitchen, heated with
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fircewood, usually brushwood that we picked in forest not far from
our place, We also heated water to wash our clothes and to bathe.

In that room six couples of us were completed and so we, six
women, cooked mecals in turn, lived in peace and fricndship and
never complained about our fate. Only somctimes we felt sad about
our rclations in Ukraine, because each of us left somebody there.
Most of our room werc boys and girls, in fact men and women
alrcady from Western Ukraine, who knew Polish language and didn’t
have to [ear of forced repatriation.

Soon administration of UNRRA transferred me to work in
Latvian cal::ndp where the Ukrainian Melnykov worked as a doctor,
who marricd a German and stayed to live in Germany. 1 worked in
Latvian camp but lived in Polish.

Our life in camp was camp-like, that is under the circumstances
when one should hope for some change, at first a bit chaotic, but
then came in ordcr. We began to organize various performances, a
chorus, concerts. We studied also English.

Tonya and Ostapko who were best men at Mariyka and Stephan’s
wedding in camp Dornirverke, Lyubeck.

Therc were former teachers in the camp, even professors.
There was also a pricst, father L. Kunitsky, who married us there,
in the camp church He also advised us how to live to avoid the
devil’s way. We listened readily to him, he had a great prestige with
us under conditions of cmigration as well.
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ON THE WEST!

Time never stops, it flics in camps also. Emigration committces
started to work. If one passcd them, he could hope to emigrate to
Great Britain, USA or Canada. It wasn't easy for us, who came from
Eastern or Central Ukrainc to pass it, because such people could
be members of the commiltee, who didn’t want to subtilize the
reasons of our desire to cmigratc. But there was a hope that
members of that committees knew neither Ukrainian nor Polish
languages, thosc languages sounded the same to them, and
interpreter from Polish to English, mostly Poles, helped us, didn't
cavil at lack of knowlcdge of Polish. And belore facing the
committee, father Leonti Kunytsky, who came from Lvov
admonished us. He gave us instructions what we were 10 say and
what we weren't and thc most important was to rcmember one’s
birthplace.

::Iodymk};:»l;ﬂ;:y;:ld y&supko were best men at the wedding of
epan and Mar| e that took place in camp Dornirverke,
Lyubeck, 1946. " "

1 must say that Father Leonti Kunytsky’s advice proved useful
for us not only during the work of committees but also here, in the
West, in Canada. Also during last days of our staying in ca:ﬁps.
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Lychakivsky cemetery in Lvov, 1944, Father prelate Leonti Kunytsky
reads Gospel on the funeral of Dr. V. Malys. Alter the capitulation
of Germany father Leonti Kunytsky in 1945 came (o our transitional
camp escaping the forced repatriation,

Father Leonti Kunytsky marricd me to Ivan Kokol in camp
Dornirverke, Lyubeck,

Mariyka Syomykha and Stepan Teply got married in camp
Dornirverke, Lyubeck. Tonya Khelemendyk and Maria Shutka were
bride’s maids. 1946.
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Oles’, my husband Ivan’s countryman, who came from village Gnoymsi.
He lived in the camp till 1947, then emigrated to Great Britain,

T W

Interpreter Anna from town of Pology who often pleaded for us during
our way to Germany when policemen hurt us, She was also an interpreter
in camp Aikhgolts-Brandenbaum, Lyubeck. We felt respect for her.
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We lived in that camp for two ycars alrcady, preparing for
cmigration. People became impaticnt, the life in the cam:m didn't create
any life prospects for us. We didn't prepare ourselves for sctling in some
country, cverything was temporary. And we kept dreaming that we were
taking from the camp straight to Sybir, caught, put into goods vans.

At last we had to decide our future. My husband Ivan Kokot
registered us for cmigration to Great Britain, to England, because
hc was hcalthy and Englishmen naturalized only such people. Our
fricnds tricd to emigrate to the USA, others to Canada, Australia,
Argentina, Brazilia, Paragway, some of them to neighbour Belgia to
work therc at coal mines. Some men decided to stay in Germany.
They were those who married german women after the war. In
Canada only those at that time were naturalized who had some
rclations therg, or signed a contract of job in a forest.

SISTER MARUSYA’S FATE

Sister Maria Zinchenko, Peshcherova in her marriage, who wandered for
lthMMthhwwmdm
of her husband Fedir, She brought up two sons — Anatoli and Mykola
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So, when we were preparing to cmigratc not very consoling
news began to come from Ukrainc. At that time 1 was sure that
both my stcp-mother and my father were killed by a bomb. I didn’t
know at that time that my father was alive. Sister Mariyka’s address
had burnt in the firc of barracks, and I had no other addresses. So
it turned out that I lost cverybody during the war. .

Later on I found out that my sister Mariyka who got marricd
and was Peshcherova by name, was alive, but, together with her
two children, in cxile in Kazakhstan. She had son Mikola who was
then two years old and four-ycar-old son Anatol'. Later I came to
know why shc was evicted to Kazakhstan. .

Mariyka’s husband, Fedir Pcshcherov, was taken prisoner at
the very beginning of the war. After cscaping from captivity, he went
through ficlds, forcsts and steppcs, in cold scason, to his wife. His
clothes — what left of military uniform — werc worn out. On his
way he found a dcad german soldicr, that had a good uniform on.
Fedir undressed that corpse, put his uniform on, and covered the
dcad body with his clothes, for the latter wasn’t alrcady troubled
with it. And hc moved sccrctly farther, till camc to the very
Donetschyna, to his wife. But pcoplc watched him and remembered
that Fedir rcturncd home as a german soldier. That’s why after the
war without investigation, without any defence, he was sent to a
Sybirian concentration camp for ten years. And his wife and children
— to exilc in Kazakhstan.

And now wec should think over the criminal nature of Stalin’s
rcgime. That was him, Stalin, who together with Clyment Voroshylov
and the like, drove to the defeats at the beginning of the war, they
reduced Ukraine to be preyed by Hitlerite army, they were guilty
that hundreds of thousands of Red Army soldicrs were encircled
and then taken prisoners. And because Fedir hadn’t died in the camp
for prisoners, didn’t wish to cooperatc with germans, because he
escaped from the camp risking his life, he was sentenced without
any investigation to ten yecars of concentration camp. And his wife
and small children were exiled to Sybir.

At that time, as it was before the war, if someonc had been
taken and sentenced, his family wasn’t informed. Sister Marusya
asked, sceked for her Fedir but never learnt what happened to him.
Only when she was already in Kazakhstan, she got a notification
that Fedir Peshcherov was a "traitor of Motherland” and that’s why
he was sentenced to ten years punishment in Sybir. And she was
exiled for ten years as well. So how could she live?

After the war there was hunger not in Ukraine but all over the
country, including Kazakhstan. When the sister was brought to some
station in Kazakhstan, she began to look for something to eat for
her children. She asked some people and they told her that she was
seeking there in vain, she had to find some job to survive herself,
and that she would better leave her children at the station, militiamen
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would have find them and bring to an asylum, where they could
survive and were not so hungry.

Marusya had no way oul but to follow that advice. Quiclcning
the children, she told them she would go to find somcthing for them.
But her clder son Tolya heard her conversation with those people
and began to watch where his mother went. And she, my sister and
their mother, got into a carriage that was to go in that dircction
people pointed her. Tolya and Mykolka got'into the same train, but
to another carriage so that sister didn’t know it. I didn’t know namces
of stations they went from and to, but it was so that Marusya %ol
out of the carriage, went to town, found some job and worked for
a ycar, worrying about her children.

; . S |

Sister Maria and her husband Fedir Andriyovych Peshcherov with
their grandson Anatoli, who is now a professor. Fedir A. Peshcherov
after 10 years of camps in Sybir returned to Ukraine being exhausted
and didn't live long. Let memories of his torments be cternal, let his
grandchildren and all descendants remember him. Photo — 1956.
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And the boys who also came to that station, were picked up
by militiamen and placed to an asylum. They lived there and were
brought up as orphans.

My cousin Marfa and sons of my sister Maria — Anatoli and Mykola.
Town of Artemivsk.

: A ycar passed, my sister couldn’t live without her children any
longer and began to scarch for them. She turned to different offices,
and at last was informed that her children were in that asylum. She
was both glad and surprised that they were so near, not far from
her. She came (o that asylum and began to ask the head mistress
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to give her a job of an office-cleancr. The head mistress wondered why
that woman her so insistently to give her a job. Then sister

laincd that two boys of hers were there, that she to do so in
order to save them from starvation. At first the head mistress didn't want
tghcmphyli,crbccauscslwsaid,ilwasnmalbwcﬁforr?uhc:ddﬁﬂrm

0 were rm:Fhlu in um as orphans, to work there. But sister
knelt to her an bcg&dr::):othauhcmﬁmisummokm“ﬂhlhc
condition that nobody would lcam that she had her sons there,

i Xk ke -
Nephews Anatoli and Mykola Peshcherovs, sons of sister Maria whom
I didn't see for 43 years, Boys grew up in Kazakhstan and Sybir.
They are standing here with their girlfriends — Nina and Galya.
Artemivsk, Donetsk region, 1957,
And sister began to work there, scrubbed floors, cleancd

lavatorics and so on and told her sons, begged them, not to confess
to anyonc that their mother worked there.
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Her son Tolik was a big boy alrcady, he was five, so he looked
after Mykolka to avoid him from letting out a scerct.

So my sister lived there, working in day and at night she camc Lo
her sons to kiss them and to look at them. Ten years passed, sister could
alrcady rcturn to Ukrainc and so she did, together with her children.

And alrcady in Ukraine she reccived a tclegram from her
husband Fedir where he told her to meet him as he had been
discharged. Marusya didn’t understand well where to mect him, she
took childrcn and“went to Sybir! When she came there, Fedir was
alrcady on his way (o Ukrainc. But she had no money to buy tickets
to return. So she had to {ind a job and picked pitch in a pinc wood.
Long time passcd until shc met her husband Fedir and began to live
in Ukraine. And for all thosc years her children studied and helped
their mother. They had always been polite, clever boys.

FATHER’S FATE

Thosc mcmoirs arc about kolkhoz childhood and gcrman
slavery. So I wouldn’t describe there our life in England, from where
we cmigrated to our wonderful Canada. As 1 already said, it occurcd
from my sister Shura’s letter that the bomb killed not only my
stecp-mother, but also my father. That’s why fathcr had been dead
in my imagination and I buricd him in my mind long ago. But I was
lucky to find out that wasn’t truc, my father was alive, I met him.
How it happcned that 1 came to know it, I would describe bricfly.

My father was found by my syster’s husband who lived in Lvov
region. I got his address, we began to writc to cach other, I had a
possibility to invite my father to Canada and met him after twenty four
years of separation. Then my father told me about his fate after the war.

Despite the fact that my fathcr was a soldier of Red Army,
participatcd in the defence of Kiev, fought honourly, even bravely, was
awarded with order of Lenin, he was arrested at once after the war by
the denunciation of a neighbour. It was ime when tens of thousands of
former Red Army soldiers and other suspected people were arrested.
And the denunciator said only that during the war father returned to his
village. That was all his fault. You sce, he rcturned to the village and
didn’t dic though he fought bravely. I oftcn ask myself — what he had
to do when he escaped from cncirclement and Red Army units werce
alrcady far to East. germans governcd everywhere, also in our village.
Didn’t he fulfil his soldicr's duty when he didn’t yield himself prisoner
but escaped from the encirclement? What was his fault? As it happencd
all over the world, in many other countries during World War Two, when
he finished to fight, not because of his fault, he returned home, to his
wife and children.

. But what was ordinary in other countries, was considered a
crime under Stalin’s regime, and a heavy crime — betrayal of
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Motherland! And that's why father was sentenced to fificen years
punishment in camps of scvere regime. He worked there in gold
mincs. So it turns out that there was no family in Ukraine after the
war, somc members, or the whole of it, before or after the war,
hadn’t been to Sybir or Kazakhstan. Everyonc turned out to be
guilty, only Stalin was right. Stalin and his pre-war marshals, such
as Klyment Yelremovych Voroshylov. They were heroes and soldicrs
like my father, Pctro Tarasovych Khelemendyk, who fought
defending Kicv and other towns of Ukraine, were criminals. Stalin
and Voroshilov loaded themsclves with orders and my father had
been taken his order of Lenin away, that he had got for his bravery.

Father Petro Tarasovych Khelemendyk in exile in Sybir where he was
punished from 1947 to 1959.
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Father's retururning from Sybir. He is met by my brother Dymytri
(Mytya), sisters Maria, Galya and son-in-low and grandchildren —
Nima amed Igor, daughter-in-law Maria, Orikhiv, Zaporiz'ka region.

Relations in Ukraine welcome in the yard of their house in Orikhiv
father Petro Tarasovych Khelemendyk, who returned from Sybir, 19;?:
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Father didn’t like to speak about his lifc in concentration camp,
I can only gucss, only imagine according to the description of Stalin’s
camps in Olexandr Solzhenitsyn’s book “Archipclago Gulag'. In any
casc, it wasn’t swect for him. And he scrved almost the whole of
his scntence, worked there long after Stalin’s death. Reabilitation
was very slow there, only in 1959, after father’s requests, when he
added to them his ccrtificate of receiving the order of Lenin, he was
discharged and allowced to return to Ukraine.,

After father’s visit to Canada I often thought about his uncnviable
fate. He worked hard during the whole honest life of his, took care not
only of himself, but of pcople. It was duc to his efforts, his acquaintancc
that many pcoplc could survive during the great hungcr in winter
1932-33. It was father who went twice a week to Berdyansk to change
there the rest of gold of villagers for bread, for fish, herring. I can’t forget
this and thosc of them who s still alive shouldn’t forgcl it cither.

Father is alrcady 86. This is an cpoch! And all these ycars
father lived honestly, he never hurt anyone. Let there be more such
parcnts on the world as minc — Pctro Tarasovych Khelemendyk.

My sister’s Marusya’s husband, Fedir Peshcherov, died. My sister
Marusya is alive, so arc her sons who were brought up in Kazakhstan,
grandchildren and great grandchildren. Sister lives, as before the war,
in the town of Orikhiv, in Zaporiz'ka region. And l.hcrc with his hmlly,
my father lives. In 1986 I visited Ukraine, met my relations. It was
then I met first in my lifc my sister Mariyka who was in her youth
also called Mariyka. So my many-ycar drcam was fulfilled.
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WHY DID I WRITE MEMOIRS?

However well we live now, still the most important in our lifc
were years of childhood and youth. I had retaincd my friends who 1
went with to our village school, then to seven-years school, then to
mecdical school in Orikhiv and Berdyansk. We have got many fricnds,
together with them we went through hard ycars of german slavery
when we were brought for the forced labour to Germany. Our relatives,
fricnds, acquaintance live in Ukraine and in different countries of the
Woest — in Canada, the USA, Australia. All of us have children, some
have grandchildren, also relatives. We had experienced hard times, but
wc never lost courage, we supported cach other.

What we had experienced must not be forgotten. Let our
children know it, our grandchildren, our descendants that will come
after us. Let them read how we lived, how we survived.

We, Ukrainians, arc usually industrious and thrifty pcople. The
morc thrifty, that the life taught us to save any property. So herc,
in Canada, likc in other countries of thc West we with our own
hands carncd houscs, live in dignity, and not without some savings.
We won’t leave to our children any great belongings, they have
alrcady rcgulatcd their lifc, and don’t decpend upon us of moncy. But
to them bclongs that what memoirs of onc’s relations consist of. Let
my memoirs be such a keepsake for our children and grandchildren.
A book is such a thing that can be kept for many ycars, and passcd
on from onc generation to another. And the moncy, whatcver we
can save after our death, would be quickly spent. That moncy could
cven hasten the process of forgetting the person who had left it.

1 have got a hope that my mcmoirs would also be read in
Ukrainc by my rclatives, friends, rcad by their children. That is why
I decided that this book should be cdited with the prescrvation of
spelling used in Ukraine.

I have a hope that our fricnds and acquaintance would also
rcad these memoirs. They would read them and recolleet our hard
past. They'd also recollect us.

I have also got a hope that pcople unknown to me would read
this book with interest. As I've told in the preface, I'm not a writer
and I don’t have a claim on the title of a writer. I'm a common
Ukrainian woman who had expericnced a lot and that’s why can
tcll something about her life. And what is told here is not only my

rivate life, I’ve also described the fate of half a million girls and
goys taken by germans to the forced labour, I've also described the
fatc of millions of children who had suffercd one of the biggest
terrors of the twenticth century — great hunger in Ukraine.

I also want to say that I've got a hope that others would follow
my example, that they would also write their memoirs. In order to
combine many memoirs into one truth, that sometimes the
researches would get the matcrial in the base of which our,
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Ukrainian pcople’s unfalse history would be ascertained.

Beleive me — it’s not so difficult to writc memoirs. It’s enough
to state your ideas, to give facts, and the rest would be designed by
those who deal with it. .

I've kept a lot of photos that, lo my opinion, makc up not only
recollection but the evidence of what had happencd before. That's
why I use these documents, publishing them in the book. My
relatives, my fricnds, their children and grandchildren will find here
their images. Those photos will also be documents of the cpoch we
went through.

I’'m thankful to God Almighty that He let mc pass through all
my hard times that also were hard times for my people. I'm grateful
1o God that gave me health and strength to write these my memoirs
in commemoration of my relatives and fricnds and as a witness of time.

THE FIRST WONDERFUL DREAM

I had that drcam in 1944 when I was discharged from the
penalty-camp and sent to the "OST" camp called Gotman-lager.
Though it was also a camp, I felt much morc frec there. In the
former onc we only slept on straw put just on the floor and all of
us slept there in a row but in the latter I had a bed, on the deck as
it was a doublc-bed. I was happy that I could lay alone, had a better
rest. In the penalty-camp we weren’t let go to town and here we
could go out ongunday, cven to walk, meet fricnds, boys and girls.

Though policcmen with dogs led us to work, they didn’t kecp
an cyc on us as it used to be in the penalty-camp.

Oncc I slept on my bed in Gotman camp and, I don’t know at
what hour I had a dream. I drcamt that I was poor, in straits and
poverty like a beggar in rags. And I'm hungry, very hungry. And I'm
thirsty, my throat is dry. I'm afraid of dcath and begin to cry, but my
voice can’t come out of the dry throat. I cry — "My God! Save mc!
Save me, my God, 1 don’t want to dic of hunger, I'm young, 1 want
to live! My throat is still dry, I repcat to cry "My God! Save me!"

. Suddenly it becomes quict, and a voice comes from that
quictness. I recognize that voice, it’s Our Lady’s. I heard and see as
Our Lady speaks to me with her tender voice, like a flutc.

— Come to me! — and she reaches out her hand to me, —
come! — she calls me as a mother calls her child. — Go, she says,
— with me on this mountain of Golgotha, I Icad you where my son,
Jesus Christ, God’s son, died on the cross.

. So spcaks to me Our Lady in my drcam and shows me a pole
diggen to the ground. I look — it’s so high and I can’t see a cross.
It stretches so high that to sec it’s cnd, I throw back my head, look,
as it reaches far above the clouds. Near this polc two other poles
stand. Our Lady explained me that on those pillars two brigands
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were crucificd. Those pillars are also so high that they reach above the
clouds. I look at them with my neck craned so that it begins 1o ache.

Antonina Khdemrnd}k-Knlu. Photo 1945, camp Dornirverke, Lyubeck.

I drcam that all what happens — Qur Lady, and those pillars,
and Our Lady's words — is very wonderful and interesting and |
would like Our Lady to speak to me once morc.,

I began to think in rnz drcam how wondcerful it was that Our
Lady camc 1o me and spoke to me in such a tender voice. And |
thought that she had a son whom she loved very much, because
ever oddy loves his children, it’s impossible not to love them,

And Qur Lady in my drcam continucs to tell me about the
torments of her son, Jesus Christ. She tells me and gazes at me,
like as she doesn’t want to let me go from her. And I, wondered,
listen to her and want her to tell more.

— Hcre, — Our Lady says, — he had been tormented for all
of us, and here, look, he was buricd, and that’s grave he was buricd
in, and here a stonc lics rolled aside. God's son rosc from the dead
on the third day. - .

I look and sce that grave, that placc where Jesus lied, that
shroud hc was covered with. ) )

— And that’s, — Our Lady says to me, — is a fence made in
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order that watching Jesus's body more casy. But they, Pilat’s soldicrs,
hadn't kept him. He rose again!

Olenka Zhenevchyk-Kupchak, a friend from the camp, my child's
Godmother, lives in Lyashin, province of Quebeck, Canada. It was

she whom 1 was with during my third wonderful dream that | describe
further ahead in this book.

Our Lady spcaks to me, tclls about Risc of Jesus Christ, |
listen to her, those words are so truthful, and while listening I kept
looking up on that thc most high pillar that must be the cross, |
waltch it and can’t scc it's end in the clouds, And I think in my
drcam — where arc those crosses, why can | sce only poles? And
then Maria, God's mother, looked at me, smiled tenderly and said
that shc would come to sec me once more.

And 1 began to go back from the mountain, fecling casy, with
a smilc on my [acc. I began to wake up.

It scemed to me that I drcamt rather long, when 1 woke up 1
felt very touched. 1 stood up, jumped down and tricd 1o wake my
fricnd Marusya who slept on a bed under mine. 1 woke her and
began to tell her my wonderful dream. Marusya was slecpy, 1 don't
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know whether she followed what I was telling, but she said to me:
Go to church. And repeated once more: Go to church.

I couldn’t understand what church shc meant. For me a church
was a great building with domes apse and icons inside. Therc was no
such a church in Luybeck, so where had I to go to? And how could
I go to any church if we were not lct out cvery day and when we can,
on Sundays, germans watched us with disapproval when we got in the
tram, cven nudged as if they say us not to go before lords.

So I thought being under impressions of the dream and dccided
to go to that old, lamc Gestapo man who was on duty in the
penalty-camp and was morce humane than the others. Once, when
hc helped me to cut bread, he dropped a hint that if I had some
peculiar troubles, I could turn to him.

I had the drecam on Friday night. On Saturday we didn’t go to
work, on Sunday as wcll, we could cven go to town though our
clothes were marked with "OST". Usually on those days we washed
our clothes, mendced the torn clothes that had worn out during those
long ycars. But that we did on Saturday or Sunday, and it was beforc
dawn, the day of Friday hasn’t broken yet. I looked at Marusya and
she was slecping already. I also decided to climb on my bed.

I lay on it, but couldn’t fall asleep, my thoughts flew around
my wondcrful dream. I started again to think of Marusya’s words
that she adviscd me to go to the church. I thought that shc was
older than 1, she understood more, so she kncw what she said.

The working day had broken, thc morning came. I ncver fell
asleep. I decided to get up carlier. So I did. I got up, washed mysclf
and began to dress. When the girls began to wake up, 1 was alrcady
fully dressed, rcady for work. My fricnds began to ask me what
happened, why I got up so carly. On that morning I didn’t cxplain
the rcason of my carly getting up, I told just that I couldn’t slcep.

So I sat waiting for the time to go out in a column to work, and
kept thinking about my dream, thinking how much I learned during
my drcam from Our Lady hersclf, thought also how and when I could
go to that Gestapo man who promised to hclp me. I decided to ask
him to give me a pass so that [ could go and look for a church. That
was my plan, but to get to the Gestapo man, I should turn to my
foreman to lct me out during the dinner break to go to penalty-camp.
I was sure that the invalid Gestapo man was a kind pcrson, that he
would help me. I confessed my plan to Marusya, who advised mc to
go (o church, she approved my idea about the pass.

The time had come to assume a column, to go for work. We, as
it took place every day, were led by policemen, we were always escorted
to work. We go and thcy go ncarly, and their dogs with them. And
"Schnell, schnell” is heard every second, though we went rather quickly.
We were fed up with their shouting, no matter what and how we did,
they still urged us on and even thrcatened us with gum sticks.

When we reached the laundry I turned therc, for it was the
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place I worked. Some germans were already on their place,
preparing to wash or to iron. It was a laundry for French and Polish
prisoners. I grected them, they answered, and I took my overalls
and began to work — to iron the lincn, alrcady washed. Later on
the forcman came and greeted us that day with morc endcaring
words, perhaps, he had some personal success, some private joy.

When ironing, I thought, when it would be better to turn to the
foreman with reqbcst to Iet me go to the penalty camp during the break.
And he walked among the workers, watched their work, looked at things
ironed the previous day. At last I darcd to run to him and sad: Mister
foreman, can’t I during the dinner brcak go to the penalty-camp because
I want to ask for a pass in Gestapo? The foreman without any questioning
or thinking said yes, I could go during the dinner break. I thanked him
and continued to iron the lincn that licd in a pile on my table.

When the siren notified the beginning of dinner break, I
switched the iron off and at once ran to the penalty-camp. I ran to
the gate, pressed the button of the bell and the Gestapo man whom
I needed let me in. He happened to walk during the dinncr break
in the camp yard that was cmpty because everybody was at work.
I noticed it before that he didn’t like to sit in the guard-room, he
preferred to walk in the open air.

The Gestapo man when he opencd the gate, was surpriscd, he
asked at once what had happened, why I came. I said I wanted to speak
to him, to ask for a piecc of advice. He closed the gate and told mc to
go with him to the guard-room, there he placed me into an arm-chair
and began to question. I asked him whether he could give me a pass to
the church. He wasn’t cven surpriscd of my request, only said that it was
a good think to go to church, he and his rv‘::’:}c attended church cvery
Sunday. He didn’t ask me for the cause of my rcquest, but sat at the
table and began to write a pass for me, saying that’s valid not for onc
but for all the Sundays, that I could attend church without any obstacles.

I thanked him politely, got up and we went in the direction of
the gate that he opencd again and lct me out. I thanked him once
more, said goodbye and ran to the laundry.

_ When I returncd to the laundry, I yet had cnough time to have
dinner, that was brought from that Polish and French camp. The
afternoon passed quickly and I joined the column in the street that
returncd from work.

In the camp I told my friends about my wonderful dream, that
I went to Gestapo and got there a pass (o the church. Girls became
glad that I would be able to attend church and tell them later what
was there. We took our plates and got for supper, as usual, potatoes
in coats with some sauce and "balanda", that is a soup of nondescript
taste. After refreshment we went to barracks, and, because the next
day was Saturday, some girls began to preparc linen to wash and
the others lay down to have a rest. When I prepared mentally to
fulfil my plan to go to the church, it occured to me that I must wear
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somcthing morc becoming not to go there in rags. So I turned to
onc of my fricnds if she could lend me her dress for the Sunday.
We were all fricnds in the camp, helped to cach other, so she
answered me yes, [ could take it because anyone clse hadn’t turned
to her with the same request. Altogether, we were very patient there,
didn’t become panic-stricken, waited for the war to end soon and
cverything would be all right. And we had what to expect because
we were cxhausted alrcady, our organisms were weakened with
malnutrition, shortage of vitamins and calorics. But all the same we
often sang though sad things mostly.

At that timc all of us could spcak German well, if we had just
to ask somcthing or to answer, onc couldn’t cven suspect that we
were not germans. But we had clothes, as a rule mended, where on
breast or sleeve the sign "OST” was scwn on. So germans knew
whom they were dealing with, knew that they could mock at us,
shout at us and cven punch us. The knowledge of German language
didn’t help it as well, that I, for example, began to study at medical
school. At that time we didn’t try to master it, we hadn’t anyonc to
speak to, but there, under the circumstances, we quickly caught its
phonation and spoke German on work themsclves. It was caused
by the fact that there were representatives of different European
nations among thc workers but the forcmen were all Germans.

At last the Sunday camc and I went to town wearing the lent dress.
I got in a tram and began to listen to the conductor announce the stop
"Church®, for I knew from German women that there was such a stop.
When the tram lingered on the necessary stop, [ got off and began to
lock around. T looked but didn’t scc any bulding with domes, instcad
there’s high building standing not far with sieep towers, but on their ends
there were no crosses, but something clse, and the windows were high,
oblong with multicoloured pancs. 1 decided that still it was a church,
“though I didn’t sce pcople come in but somconc came out.

I crossed the road and came inside the building that 1 was
alrcady surc to be a church, I went timidly forward, it was cmpty
insidc, there were no people, but 1 saw decorations, saw the image
of Our Lady like [ saw her in my wondcrful drcam. I saw and hcard
in that drcam what I had ncver heard before. I had never saw any
statuc of Our Lady, but when 1 saw her in that church, T just
rccognized that she was Our Lady.

The church was cmpty probably because the service was over,
the faithful had gonc. But suddenly something rustled and someonc
camc to me. I looked back, and that was a minister of church, a
priest in a cassoch. He camce up to mc and asked whether he could
help me. I was taken aback but in a minute felt some courage and
began to tell him my drecam.

Tclling my dream to the pricst, I also confcsscd to him that [ had
never gone to any church before, that we weren’t taught the God's
Word at school, I only kncw from my home that onc should belcive
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in God and pray, but we had no church, so I didn’t attend it. The pricst
asked me what was my denomination? I couldn’t answer him, because
I never knew that different denominations existed, I thought that there
was one faith, one rcligion, that there were churches attended by belicvers
and that’s all. Then he asked me where 1 came from. I answered that 1
came from Zaporizki region. The pricst led me to the side wall, where
was a map of Europe. There he found Zaporizhzhya and said that I was
an "Orthodox". I never heard such a word before, didn’t know its meaning,
it never occured to me that our faithful pcople were orthodoxcs.

After asking mc for somc details of my previous life, in
particular, he asked mc if I beleived in God. He cxplained me a lot
about the churches, for I'd said to him that anyone could go to the
church. Then that pricst asked me if I would like to accept the faith
that he had told me about, and that agreed to all vhat had drcamt
to mc, that was the same as Our Lady had told me about in my
dream. I said ycs without hesitation.

When he heard an affirmative reply of me, the pricst askcd me
to wait, cntered some other room and returncd in some time, not
alone but with a woman. She greeted me, held out her hand to me
and namcd hersell. 1 remembered well that her name was Anna
Lichman. That was hcr who was to bccome my Godmother. [
remembered her name well maybe because 1 didn’t know for a long
time the name of my own mother, I was an orphan and my mothcr’s
namc had been concealed from me before.

Then, in the presence of Anna Lichman, the pricst christcned mc.
I was so agitated that it happened so quickly that details of my own
christcning weren’t rctained in my mcmory. After the sccrccy of
christcning Anna Lichman, as my Godmother, began to cxplain me
somcthing about the Catholic faith, because in that faith the pricst
christencd me. I was at that time eighteen years old. When he spoke to
me some more, the pricst invited me to attend church cvery Sunday,
and when I was leaving, he ana Anna Lichman gave me many books
alr:d booklets, a praycr-book among them, and asked me to learn from
them.

I thanked them, left the church, and went o the tram stop. In
the camp I shared my joy with the girls who were interested in all
the details — what the church looked like, what was inside, if there
were figures and icons, how the pricst spoke to me, and how the
christening itself was held. I told them everything and showed the
books. The books were printed in German, but we could rcad
already, understood the printed word.

In the cvening while reading the religious books that I brought,
we thought that german occupants had oppressed us already for
scveral years, but Jesus Christ had also suffercd, he suffcred for all
the people and his torments were so terrible that it’s hard to describe
them. We were starved and cold, and Jesus Christ was crucified, his
hands and fect nailed, and he was pierced with a lance. When Jesus
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Christ died, he forgave his killers, that wasn’t kncwn by any religion
in the world. Christianity that’s a humancness, a humanity.

We, the girls of Getman-lager, made onc conclusion from what
we had rcad: We should belicve, and in any trouble turn to Our
Lord Jesus Christ, to his Mother — Maria. They would help us to
wait for liberty.

After supper we rcturned to the barracks and continued studying
of thc books I had brought. We read them thoroughly and those who
camc from the Eastern Ukraine as [ did, lcarned more and more about
the life of Jesus Christ, his disciples, who preached Christianity, about
Our Lady who gave birth to her only son in a den, in a crib it happened
and cscaped from the persecutor with Joseph and the baby.

That did happened as a result of my wonderful drcam. I believe
in God, believe in Jesus Christ, the God’s son. I belicve that it was
God, Jesus Christ who hclped me to go through my slavery. I believe
that everything is in God’s hands, that nothing happens in the world
without the God’s will.

We must be faithful to Jesus Christ’s teaching, and he would
ncver leave us, he is always ready to hear us out. Amen!!!

That wondecrful dream I had in Germany, in camp of Gotman,
in town of Lyubeck, not far from Hamburg.

THE SECOND WONDERFUL DREAM

That dream I had in England alrcady, in 1953. It dreamt to
me that I with some acquaintance, a woman and a man, went to
some town, as if to the market. We went by a nice trap, like the
villagers used to go to town, not by a modern onc, but some
ancicnt-looking. It was harnessed by a pair of horses. They were a
sort of my fricnds, but I never kncw thosc people, but we travelled
together, they as hosts and I just accompanicd them.

So we travelled maybe for several hours, but there was no one on
the road, it was descrted. It looked like there was no one alive in the
world, everything was descrted and silent. I became thirsty, I wanted to
drink, my throat was dry, lips dry and hot. And no sign of water around.

At last we came to that town, thc host tethered a horce, they
were going to visit a market. And everything around, like on the road,
was silent, nothing could be seen or heard. It looked like the town was
dead, there was nobody alive there. And I was still feeling very thirsty
so I told those people that I would have run to the ficld and look for
a well to drink. Then, said I, I would immediately return.

Those people agreed on that I would have run to look for a
well and they went as if to the market.

And I started to run slowly till I appeared out of town. I looked
around and saw meadows everywhere, so green, and fresh and odorous.
Grass was not trampled down, it grew thick. And the sun shone, its
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rays flew upon the whole world — upon mc, upon those meadows,
warmed cverything around, 1 fclt those sun rays touching me. And [ saw
sheep, many sheep pastured on those meadows. There were flocks of
them. And they were so nice, especially lambs, and kept running and
jumping, bleating with such pleasant voicc. There were white and black
among them, and all of them curly, clean, as if they were drawn. And
cverything that surrounds me is like a picture. I never saw anything like
this in real life. 1 run among thosc sheep, they pant before me, run after
me, play, bicat all the time, And I'm so pleased to watch them, and they,
snow-white and tar-black, know their mother and play with her as well.

ek

Antonina Khelemendyk-Kokot. Photo 1957, England.

And I run farther because 1 want to drink, I'm very thirsty. And
I know that there must be a well or spring, because it should be water
where flocks pasture as sheep couldn®t pasture without water. | run
and sce that grass is so [resh and green that I'd, perhaps, graze it mysell
and cancel my thirst with it.

1 run farther and the weather is so finc and warm, the sun
shines, Still I'm thirsty. But suddenly I notice that something is scen
at a distance, but it looks like a well. I run in that direction and
though I'm thirsty, can't help admiring the landscape around, those
lambs who play as il they were wisc creatures. 1 run and sec some
figure sitting ncar the well. And 1 scc the wooden pail. And a path
Icads to the well, a narrow path in high grass. | watch that figure
and recognize a woman covered with a wide shawl. Her fect in
sandals are streiched on the path. To come to the well, 1 ask the
woman to lct mc pass, tell her that I'm thirsty, 1 must drink. The
woman answecrs in a tender voice that she would gladly let me pass
and at the samc time pull her feet away to vacate the path,

I pass along it and look at the woman, she scems familiar 1o
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mec. I-go farther, put the wooden pail down, take water out, drink
it and thc water pours on the ground, on green grass. [ drink but
keep watching the woman who scems familiar to me. And suddenly
1 rccollect. That is God’s Mother, Maria! That was she. 1 drcamt
about the birth, and martyral dcath of her son Jesus Christ. Yes,
I’'m surc that’s she! Just scveral minutes ago 1 ran looking for a
well, sheep played with me, 1 cxplaincd to them in my mind that I
was thirsty, that I had to find some water and now I'm drinking
and Our Lady is sitting before me!

1 watch her and images of Jesus Christ’s birth, his hard way
to Golgotha pass bcforc my cyes, I see him carrying a heavy cross,
and the crowd around him howl "Crucify! Crucify!". And the Roman
soldicrs go aside.and exccutioners whip up Jesus, whosc body bleeds,
also blceds his head with a crown of thorns, I scc Our Lady sitting
ncarby the well and sec her sorrowful, as she gocs and sces her son
suffcring. And he is crucificd and his hands and fcct are nailed to
the cross. All of it is terrible. And there 1 see his Mother and
remember her story, I am awarc in my dream of her tcaching that
Christ suffered for the mankind, for the sins of all pcople.

But when I drank water, I darcd not tc spcak to Maria, Mothcr
of Jesus. I just looked at her timidly and at the same time with some
joy that I had another possibility to sce her, who gave birth 10 Our
Saviour, whom I prayed so much and also to his Mother, I confcssed
cverything to her.

When I came from the well, the woman again pulled her fect aside,
let me pass and asked whether I quenched. And her voice was so tender,
like music. I thanked, said that I had quenched, and ran back to town.

I run that very road that I ran there, and it’s much casier to run
now, because I've quenched, slaked my thirst, and cven morc because
I saw Our Lady. So I run, and there are the same mcadows around, the
same clean, fresh grass, it’s so green around and wherever I look, I sce
shecp pasturing, lambs jump ncarby, they cluster round me as if they
don’t want to Ict me pass. And the sun shines so pleasant, so soft, and
my soul is gay. I turn around over and over again, o sce if that woman
sits near the well. And I thought that she must have been looking after
those flocks, but they pastured like by themsclves, they didn’t need looking
after, everything seemed harmonious, calm, tender at that time.

For some more time I saw the contours of the well, and the woman
sitting nearby. And later I didn’t sce anything, for I had ran too far. [
approached the town already. I was afraid that I wouldn't have found
the people who brought me to the town, I was afraid to be late.

I ran to the town, came up to the trap, but those people hadn’t
come yet. And the town was as cmpty as before, nobody could be

seen. I must have fearcd that emptiness but I'm, sitting on the trap,
only glad that I'd secn Our Lady once more. . )

Those people came up whom I travelled with, and in my drcam
I had no reason to go to the town. And I began to tell them how I
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ran through the meadows, that I saw there great flocks of such nicc
shecp, lambs, that mcadows werce so green. And the most important
is that I saw Our Lady sitting ncar the path that led to the well, and
she let me pass and cven asked whether I had quenched.

Thosc people listened to me attentively, adjusted the harness
on the horscs, sat on the trap and we moved back.

Not far from that placc, as I dreamt, I awakencd. I awakened
and in rcality felt joy that I saw Our Lady oncc more. I was strained
all over, my body trembled because of what I had experienced in
my dream. I began to recollect that first dream when I saw Our
Lady who told me about her son Jesus Christ, she took my hand
andled me 1o Golgotha, where Jesus Christ was crucificd. 1 couldn’t
slcep any longer till morning,

That was my sccond wonder{ul dream. Usually I don’t remember
my drcams, but thosc two stay beforc my cycs, like it happened in
rcality, and not long ago, but yesterday or the day beforc.

I had that drcam in 1953 in England, town of Garrogatc,
Hampshirc.

* Dear readers! My [ricnds! Don’t wonder that I describe here
. my drcam. I have suffered a lot in my life, I saw suffcring, torments,
and dcath. [ was born and brought up in Great Ukrainc, in
Zaporizhzhya, at the time when it was [orbidden to believe openly,
when the pricsts were persccuted, churches closed and destroyced. |
was brought up at the time when the God’s Law wasn’t taught at
school, there were no religious books in the librarics. There were
none of them in villages, as before.

When in my childhood and youth I believed in God and prayed,
it was innate, it was a sort of custom in our pecople for the centurics,
but not comprchensible, not bascd on the knowledge. My father,
my step-mother, my neighbours believed in God, they must have
also prayed, though they concealed it not to be considered as
supportcrs of old regime. So I did. I belicved in God, 1 often turned
to him: "Oh, my God! Help mc! Avert this troublc from me!". But
I didn’t know anything about the birth of Jcsus Christ, about his
mother, about Jesus’s tcaching, suffcring and dcath.

But in German I had the dream and because of it I came to
the priest, in the drcam Our Lady told me about her son, in the
church the pricst and my godmother gave me explanation. I began
to understand the Christian faith better and it helped me to belicve
stronger in Ged, in God’s son Jesus Christ. That doctrinc showed
me my life way, tought mc to love pcople, to tell the truth, to help
people, to fight false and every evil. .

1 don’t pay much attention to the drcam that 1 began to belicve
consciously in Jesus Christ, God’s Son. 1 worship his majcstic
mother that was onc chosen by God among many women.

. Let’s pray to them, they would listen to us, they would help
us in our lifc, our present and our future is with them! Amen!!!
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THE THIRD WONDERFUL DREAM

I had this dream also in England, in town Garrogate, county
of Hampshire, in 1955.

I dreamt that onc day my daughter’s godmother Olena Kupchak,
who lives now in Lyashin, province of Quebeck, Canada, came to visit
us in Garrogate. Our daughtcr Ganya was twelve months then.

In my dream I suggested to Olcna that we should go together
in some distant town, where a famous man named Jesus was to
preach. It must have been a famous and respectful man of great
authority. It was said that hc would prcach .in that town, make an
announcement of something very importmant.

As it happens in drcams, though I didn’t know the name of
the town, but when Olena accepted my offer, I bought tickets for
a bus and we started [or a trip, accompanicd by our daughter Ganya,
to that town, where that man had to announce somcthing important.
So we got in the bus and went to that Announcement.

It took several hours to get to that place from Garrogate, because
it was rather far. When we passed the strects of our town, wide ficlds
and mcadows stretched before us. Everything was bcautiful, green,
clean and pcaccful, as if in Eden. I saw ripcning wheat; ficlds swaycd
like waves in the sca, under the touch of slight wind, and played with
differnt tints. Even the bus is reachcd by pleasant smell of carly summer,
I feel smell of ripening whcat, flowers growing in the fresh grass.
Though we go by bus, I fecl as if I sce birds flying over the ficlds and
even grasshoppers jumping. I hear their chirring. Joy is fclt cverywhere
and pleasant warmth. I scc dclicatc butterflics of differcnt colours sit
down in the flowcrs, and bees bustlc on the flowers and fly away with
nectar in their little pads. I even hear their wings moving,

And we sit in that bus, watch cverything that takes place around
and fcel glad and easy, as if there were no worries in the world, I
feel that not only we werc glad, but everything living in this world,
I sec and hear joyful singing of the birds, scc buttcrflies flitting about,
sce the bees cagerly performing their tedious work. We watch this
all and talk, and our words are also calm and tender. We admire
the beautiful nature, and show to Ganya wonders of this world.

So, talking and admiring the naturc, cntertaining Ganya we
began to approach our destination, the town where an
announcement was to be made. From afar I saw some unusual gate,
carved in wood and decorated with different pictures. And the bus
driver proclaimed that we came to the Announcement.

I and my gossip took Ganya’s hands, thanked the driver that
brought us there successfully and got off the bus together with many
other people, they seemed to come here to hear the announcement.
We hold Ganya’s hands and go along the path beaten by the people
and I think that many people have come before us to the
announcement, we are not the first.
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We reach the gatc and it opens itself, and behind it there was
another path in the ficld that leads us forward. And on the sides of the
path a lot of pcople sit just on the grass, talk about something, cven
wave their hands. We go and I look around, watch these people if there
is some acquaintance of minc. I don’t recognizc anyonc, so we go
farther till we get to the place where there are a few people. There we
would be able to sce and hear well, 1 thought. So we sat down there
with my gossip and Ganya, made oursclves comfortable in the grass.

We are all joy, Ganya chatters something, she’s gay, I tell her
that the man will come soon (o say somcthing to us, my gossip
yeses, and therc’s such a noisc of pcople’s talk around, so that it is
echoed loudly. But then I look at the people, and sec that though
they arc agitatecd and joy, still they look tired, as if they were
cxhausted during long trip.

So we sit and wait paticntly for that man who is to speak of
something very important, of some miracles he is to announce. The
adults begin to worry, look around impaticntly. And the children
play niccly, and my Ganya also play with the grass touching it with
her small fingers. My gossip and I dcsire to cxamine the crowd, are
glad that Ganya docsn’t bother us, that she is busy with hersclf.

Suddcnly everything becomes quict, people’s noisc disappears. I
hear something rustle as if somcbody passed by us quictly. And I see
simultancousely that in the middle of the square stands something like
a bed, covered with nicc green cloth. I showed it to Olena and said to
her: Look, how wonderful, this bed must have been prepared for those
who’d be tired or not well, onc could have a rest on it.

I hear somcone going, but can’t sec anyone. All the market is
based in bright sunshinc, it’s so bright that eyes can hardly look at it.
In my dream I was aware that I was dreaming and wondered that the
sun’s rays are so warm, that they stretch from the skies to everything
that surrounds us, I saw these rays, as we sometimes sec them peeping
through the clouds. Pcople whisper to each other, I hear them saying
that that man who is to spcak here will come soon.

At last I sce a tall man walking in easy manner, wearing gilded
clothes, they are embroidered with gold in nice traceries. His face
is calm and significant but at the same time friendly. It’s him we're
waiting for. There’s a woman coming near him, she’s lower than he
and beautiful-looking. She wears dark blue clothes that cover her
all, only her face is opcn. She smiles, her clothes outlines her figure
wonderfully, she walks majestic and calm. -

I gaze at her, look into her eyes and see that I know her, I've
already seen her. Yes, She is Maria, God’s mother, I've already met
her twice, She told me about her son. That’s the third time I meet
Her, I became very glad because of her presence here.

. And I thought at once that if she was God’s Mother, the man,
is nobody but Jesus Christ of whom Maria told me about already,
when she led me the first time to Golgotha and told me there about
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her son’s death. Yes, that’s him, Jesus Christ.

I see in his hands a big book in hard book-cover decorated with
gold. This book lics on wooden support looking like a rcading-stand.
That’s to make it morc convenicnt to hold a heavy book. I gaze at
thosc two fugures standing in the middlc of somcthing like a square
or perhaps a meadow. They stand facing the people.

The man looked at the people, opened slowly that big book, looked
at the pcople once more. And I keep thinking that he was Jesus Christ,
God’s Son, I know a lot about him, know about his birth and death. I'm
alrcady surc that he’s Jesus Crist. I look at him, concentrate myself ready
to listen attentively to cach word that the man would uttcr.

And He rcally began to speak. At first he sad that who would
believe today to what He says, was to stand on his right hand and
who wouldn’t, that must stand on His lcft hand. For it was said in
that book by Our Lord himself.

After thesc first words I felt very happy, so happy, that it is
impossiblc to describe, something trembled in my side with joy,
something was playing, I've rccognized that man, I've rcecognized in
Him Jesus Christ, and now [ hear Him reading from that great book.

Suddcnly a big white cloud approached the glade, it made that
man and woman invisible. All the pcople became rigid and waited
for somcthing, and the voice was heard. The man of I'd already
heard from Our Lady spoke about that lifc and dcath, the truthful
life and cternal solvation and His sinful life that resulted in
punishment, eternal torments.

Listcning to Jesus Christ, I looked at my Ganya and saw that she
was very. tired and slecpy, I thought at once that I must carry her on
that bed so fine covered with green cloth and let her slcep there. T got
up quictly from the grass and carricd Ganya on that bed, put her there,
covered her with that nice green cloth and returned to my place to
continuc to listen to the story of the Good and the Evil, of the Christian
Faith, that one should be kind to the people, help them.

I cought each Jesus’s word and cngraved everything He told.
The pictures of birth of Jesus Crist, His tcaching, the death of God’s
son on the cross for the sins of whole mankind passed -again before
my cyes. And after his death God’s son rosc from the dead in order
to be riscd to Heavens and to sit to the right of his father, our God.
But the day of God’s trial will came wherc all the people’s actions
will be judged and listen, very soft wing blows, each word of Jesus’s
heard. And he reads of that book in a calm vioce, stresses again that

who believes Him that will be saved. . .

I hear voice, but can't see figures but I sit and listen. Soon my
legs had got numb, I began to move them, to rub them. Later the
people stood up, so I also stood up shifting from foot to foot. I was
tired but stood and listened. .

I heard God's son telling us how the God’s Angel stood on thdc
mountain of Sion and one hundred forty four thousands people aroun
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him who admitted Jesus name, who believed in single God, and this
belicf was like written on these people’s forcheads, and Jesus said that
the Angel heard a voice from the skics, sounding like the voice of many,
like the voice of Great thunder. That voicc was louder than people’s
noise, than a yell of shouters, louder than psaltery that unbelivers played.

Jesus rcad that the Angel stood with pcople and sang a song,
that nobody but thosc onc hundred forty four thousand could lcarn,
and in that song thc Day of Trial was proclaimed, the harvest and
questioning of people who would cxpiate their sins, the women who
didn’t sin and saved virginity. Those people being with the Angel
arc uscd among people faithful to their God. .

So that man read whom I knew that he was Jesus Crist and 1
listened attentively though I was very tired standing and shifted from
foot to foot. When I heard him and almost noted cach of his words
to my memory, cngraved it, memorized the songs about victors. He
read of seven God’s penaltics from scven cups, about seven cups of
God's wrath. He mentioned the great fornicatress, Babylon, the
harvest and vintage. He rcad and 1 listencd and understood,
evethything had been clear to me.

Jesus repeated that who belicved in Him would stand on his
right, and who didn’t would stand on his lcft, and once more we
heard the voice: Praise your God, we are all His servants. Let’s cnjoy
ourselves, let’s give Him His glory, because the time of Lambs
marriage and his wifc has been prepared alrcady, and the veil is
given (o her, the veil clean and bright for it’s the picty of the sains.
And yet he said: tell cveryonc that blessed are those called for the
supper of Lamb’s wedding.

Such God’s words I heard there and again I understood and
learned much.

I began to seek for God since my young years but I couldn’t at
that ime hear words of truth, nobody told me about Jesus Christ. I
was an orphan, my father was always busy, but it wasn’t a custom that
father taught his daughter to believe in God, and I had no mother, I
grew up with a step-mother. When I was a child, the life was hard,
people tried to avoid starvation, there were no pricsts already at lcast,
there wasn’t any in our village, nor in Orikhiv nor in Berdyansk.

Although nobody explained me what God is, or God’s son or
God’s mother, I often, like other people, turned to God, asked Him
to help me in my trouble.

_So I thought, when the man whom I considered to be Jesus
Christ, spoke farther, he spoke about New Jerusalem as God’s
abode, that it’s clean, dccorated as a bride to wedding, that God
would live in it with His people. God would wipe tears of the
unhappy, will gladden them in their gricfs, and there would be no
pain or crying among them, all their past sins would be forgiven.
And then I heard: It happened. I'm Alpha and Omega — the
Beginning and the End. I'll give water to the thirsty, from the spring
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of lifc, victors will inherit the Eternity and I’ll be his God, and he’ll
be my son. Those afraid and unbclicving, bad idolater, profligates,
murdcrers, licrs would be drowned in the lake of their own sins and
burnt with a sulphuric firc. It would be their sccond death.

I heard: I tcll the truth, let cveryonc who hears words of
prophecy from this book, never adds anything, being afraid of the
great God’s punishment, all the words written in this book are to
remain unchangcable, if somconc rejects any words from this book
the Lord would take the trec of his lifc away, becausc this book is
holy and holy is cverything written in it. Amcn!!!

When this last word was told, the cloud had disperscd, Jesus
stretched his hands to me and my gossip Olena Kupchak and told us
to get up and follow him to the thronc. And Our Lady stood aside,
later she went ncarby and said to me: I go to cook some.food for thosc
who didn’t believe to what they read in the book, to those unfaithful.

Our Lady camc to a big copper of squarc shape and began to
stir there some soup, and that soup was as green as Icaves or grass.
Shc showed that fluid to me and repeated that it was for those who
werc on the left of God, they must be fed with it until they believed
in Jesus Christ, God’s son.

Then Jesus Christ took my and my gossip’s hands and led us to
the very throne that appearcd suddenly and entered the altar. He wrote
our names o his book that lied on the throne. Then Jesus asked me
what was my decnomination and I didn’t know. Then he said to me and

Olena: Go and study God’s word, tell everyone the truth about God. 1
said to Jesus that there lay my daughter Ganya and he answered: Don’t
worry, you'll find her when you return, only remember the number that
will mark her. And he said: Onc hundred forty four, that would be her.

So my Ganya staycd on that bed covered with green cloth, and
my gossip and I went where Jesus Chrisi, God’s Son sent us. Fle
told us to go straight to the housc that would have many gatcs, but
we weren’t allowed to turn there, only go straight forward, till we
get to the doors that would open themsclves. And when we were
lcaving, Jesus said us also that in that housc a whitc cloth would lic
in the floor, and there we should turn at first 1o the left and then
to the right, there would be onc more door and it was the place
where we were to study God’s word.

We went there, and it was rather far and on our way, on the
left we saw three soldiers fighting, dressed in green uniforms. One
soldier shot the other, and the latter fell down. I heard that shot
very distinctly in my drcam. .

We followed the instructions and got to that housc and I didn’t
even touch the door with my hand when it opened itsclf. Inside the
wonderful house we saw the whitc cloth mentioned by Jesus Christ,
and there we turned left and entered a room. had

There was a man sitting whose name we didn’t know. ch a
gilded clothes on. He put some mantlets on my and Olena’s
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shoulders and said that we would study further the God’s word.

I at once began (o explain to that man that we saw three
soldiers fighting, that onc of them shot another who fcil down. That man
asked whether we were surc that those were soldicrs, couldn’t they be
some other people who went to study God’s word as well. T assured him
that they werc soldicrs, as they wore green uniform, but that man didn’t
say anything morc on the subject and we began to study God’s word.

The housc we cntercd was beautiful, bright light peeped
through the glass, the interior reminded of holy place, God’s temple.
Then 1 dreamt that I and Olcna began to study God’s word and...
began to awake.

I woke up not at once, it was difficult to pass from the drcam
to the statc of rcality. But when I became awarc, that 1 wasn’t
asslecp, that I just had the third wonderful drcam, I was very much
agitated, trembled with joy. My legs got numb, I began to rub them.

I awakened my husband Ivan and began to tell him my dream,
I tell him and tremble with joy, with agitation. He listencd to me
and said that what I drcamt about was really written in church book.
So couldn’t my drcams be called wonderful. For me, at lcast, they
were and arc wonderful.

That was alrcady the third drcam, 1 saw three times Our Lady
and once Jesus Christ. From that time I began to resort to the church,
but I didn’t tcll my dreams to the people, only to my relatives. I didn’t
tcll about them, though 1 was ordered in my drcam to go among the
people and to teach them the God’s word, to teach thosc who don’t
know anything about Jesus Christ, God’s son who dicd on the cross
for us all, for our sins. [ mentioned in fact my drcams to some people,
but my acquaintances didn’t belicve me, even scemed to laugh at me.

So I didn’t divulge my dreams, attended church with my family,

listcned there to God’s word and felt glad that I had a possibility to
hcar scrvices, and cverything elsc 1 kept inside, even concealed what
I had in my drcams.
. So the time passed, it was alrcady long ago that I drcamt about
in Germany 1944, then in town of Garrogate in England once in
1953 and another time in 1955. I with my husband and three our
children decided to cmigrate to Canada.

In 1958 wec comc to Canada and settled in Oshava, in
Gladstone strect. We met there a lot of people, in particular, the
Ukrainians, parishioners of St. Yuri’s church. I also madc there an
acquaintancc that later becamc a fricnd of mine, Ganna Sokilka. I
found her to be a kind strong-willed person. I began to meet her
more often, our acquatintance turned to friendliness.

It was she, Ganna Sokilka, whom I confcssed my dreams to.
When she heard about my threce wonderful dreams, she sent me to
the dean of our church. At that time father Pereima used to be the
dean of St. Yuri’s church. And before Ganna bought me a book, Bible,
that is God’s word so.that I could study Holy Scriptures. Ganna Sokilka
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was well — read herscll, so she knew what she did when she gave
mec that literature. And for me it was another discovery for I never
had the opportunity before to rcad God’s word in Ukrainian.

The first time I rcad about Jesus Christ in German, didn’t
understand cverything in those scriptures, and now I rcad them in
Ukrainian. Everything was so clear, so understandable that I couldn’t
tcar myself away from the book.

When I camc to father Percima, I told him my dreams and he
adviscd me not to conccal them, not to conceal my thoughts.

The conversation with father Percima gave me courage, cheered
mc up. I began to look more boldly at people, for I knew a lot mysclf.

When analysing my life 1 made conclusion that Stalin’s regime
shouldn’t have oppressed the belicvers, have destroyed churches. A man
nceds faith, without it he is alike the burst bell that can never sound
clear. Because any church, notwithstanding the denomination, any
Christian church teaches God’s commandments, teaches not to kill, stcal
or lic, tecachcs to live according the laws of moral, that mean in the church
laws of God. So whom could priests and belicvers distrub, in whose light
could they be? No, Stalin’s regime did cverything to eradicate the faith,

Lo brcak down souls of the young, of children and cven of adults.

It is also one of the biggest crimes of Stalin’s cpoch.

I rccollected my childhood, the school where not only God’s

Law hadn’t been taught, but on the contrary, on cach occasion it
was proclaimed that therc was no God, so, as [ gucssed later, Staiin’s
cducational system eradicated all the moral drags, everything was
permitted if they said that God didn’t ¢xist, it meant that there was
nothing to be afraid of, onc could denunciate on his father, or steal,
or kill anybody. Onc mustn’t only fall under Stalin’s lows. But there
werc' no internal drags. It mcant that there was no what we call
man’s conscience. Pcople became like cattle, they didn’t differ from
it at all. And with such "moral” it mcant a triflc to call father or
mother a bad name. And I often met such facts in my life. Parcnts
wept and worricd, but children had no respect to them.

That I had 10 say as if on the banks ol what I drcamt about,
three times. I finished to describe my drecams with gratitude to Our
Lord, I’m surc the Jesus’s Mother, our guardian, helped me to do
this, that was She who gavc mc strength to suffer and to bear
everything. Even when I didn’t know anything about her. .

I’m sure that all of us in our life, when it’s good and when it’s
bad should turn to God, to God’s Son Jesus Christ and to his mother
— Virgin Maria.

God’s son, Jesus Christ, calls us, Amen!!!

I'm thankful to my late alrcady friend Ganna Sokilka and tc:
also late father Percima, that they advised me to describe my dreams!
Let Our Lord save them in His abode!
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TO THE FRIENDS

My life was formcd in a large measurc under the influence of my
dreams. Liked to do good deeds, I was ruled by mercy, [ tricd to do
every day something good to pcople, whom I saw in trouble or poverty,
I helped them as 1 could. Such life resulted in my calm, it passcs quictly,
my conscience docsn’t torment me. My life in Canada passes quickly,
1 know that I won’t live cternally, the time flows, so I don’t postponc
help to the old, the sick or the children, I help them now.

Some time morc and I’ll go. There my actions will be cstimated,
all my life in which I aways tricd to rcmain clcan, did cverything
with God. I'm happy that I've lived this very life, in which, as |
suppose, I did good, tricd to hclp the poor and unhappy.

But therc was no person without sins, and Pve got a lot of
them. Oh, my God! Jesus Christ! 1 beg you and cntrcat you to
forgive me, sinful, (o wash me whitc, to give peace (o my soul, that
I would always bc with you!

Judge me, my God, after my death, abgolve my sins on the
other world, and you, my fricnds, forgive me on this carth. And I
beg you — dom’t sin, don’t follow the cxample of the unfaithful,
hope for God, my brothers and sisters. Why arc you all so sad? It’s
time for you to gct up carly and to praisc God!

It your heart is heavy, you have some gricf, don’t conceal it,
reveal yourscll to your fricnd, but first of all to our Lord Jesus
Christ. If your near oncs don’t understand you, my fricnd, Our Lord
will understand you for surc. Turn to God himsclf with your pains
and troublcs, and your hcart will become lighter.

So I did when griel came after me, or ncar mc, or before me, 1
turned openly to God and he supported me, helped me to stand hard
minutes, days, ycars. The Evil passed quickly by and I praised God.

So don’t upset, my brothers and sisters! Learn to live with God,
praisc Jesus Christ, don’t forget also God’s Mother, Holy Virgin
Maria. Love all the pcople, and bright dawn will shine in your hearts,
God’s word will live in them. The Love to all will warm you, will
dispel your hcsitation and inspirc you with happincss. Who serves
to God, he expects Heaven’s Kingdom. God will absolve your sins
and call you to Him when nccessary.

God forgives cveryonc, I hurry, my God, to your call, and beg
for absolution. For myself and all my ncar ones. Be jovial, my fricnds,
don’t complain of your fate, of disturbed life, ncver complain on
day or night. God knows your suffering, your worrics, He hears your
souls cry, He'll help everybody. So dom't upset, you'll go through storms
of this life, trouble will come and pass, and you'll be happy. Believe and
pray, hope for God, He'll hear and gladden you.

. The Lord will return a hundredfold to you for your good deeds,
he is all your hope, the victory for all of us will come through him.
Be always ready to meet Jesus Christ. He'll take you to Heaven's
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palace and herc would be no sorrow for you. Oh Heavens, in the
place Holy and bcautiful, there’s no gricf or crying, the life is most
wonderful there. God will wipe everyonc’s earthly tears, no one will ~ die
there for the second time, and no one will take your wealth from you.
Life and happiness will be cternal Herc, behind that grand gate, where
streets arc golden, where people don’t know what a sorrow is.

So let’s work a little here, on Earth, and wait our labour to end
and God to call us to the wonderful country, where we’ll not have to
work. Wc shall met Jesus Christ therc, He’ll come to us. He'll take us
to beautiful abodes, and then will understand cverything. :

My dcar fricnds! I don’t worry at all what cach of you belon
to on this carth. It docsn’t matter for me. I wish you all the best in
your lifc. All of you arc my brothers and sisters. I give you my hand
saying good-byc to you.

Oh, My God! Millions of pcoplc dic in sins. God, hurry up to
the crying, give them advice and consolation. Help them, The Lord,
for they arc drowned in their sins.

I'm rcady, my God, to come to you cvery moment.

Amen!!!

LETTERS TO THE RELATIONS
LETTER TO MY SISTER

Autumn sun shines, wind blows,

and a sister shed (ear over her sister.

Wind flows, wild wind sways the poplar,

I don’t know, why my sister doesn’t write letter to me.
I look for my sister every day, and you keep silent and 1
don’t know why.

I've got skirts and shawls for you,

my dear sister, can you be lost?!

1 prepare here for you something to cal

and lo drink and the bed white and soft
Sfor you to rest on.

In bad moment, in hard time the mother

gave birth to you, so much unhappy.
All the paths and roads are overgrown with
blackthorns where my sister walked on her white feet,
Where she walked with her friends

in a green grove.
And now I weep alone, looking for you all.

From East or West —
where am: 1 to wait you from?
And am I to wait here

long for you? .
ong Jor Camp Lyubeck, Germany, 20 April 1942.
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LETTER TO THE SISTER

I look through the window to the side where the sun riscs, I
stand on the threshold of wooden barracks and think a thought over
and over again — when will [ rcturn to my mother country?

On one side and on the other side I see two roads. One road
is where I walked and another is where my sister misscd me.

And one morc road where T passcd, it Icads t6 Germany, and
my sister shcds tears.

It's hard for mc to live in Germany, hard to work, I hadn’t
even a possibility to write a letter to you, when I went to work it
was still dark, I rcturned latc at night, late at night. Wherever 1
looked, I saw a forcign land.

Camp Lyubeck, Germany, 20 April 1942.

LETTER TO THE SISTER

So passes my youth in forcign land, my native Ukraine, my poor
family stayed only in my mcmory. Don’t cry, dear sistcr, don’t cry,
perhaps Pll be happy, if 'm healthy. If alive — I will do come to you.
I'm alone in the forcign land, far from my motherland, I have no family
here, haven’t anyone. Only a nightingalc worrics my soul.

P’ll write a letter small, the nightingale will bring it home. He’ll
bring it, sit down in the garden, and ask my sistcr whether she
doesn’t forget me. He'll ask also my brother and father, what they
thought when the strangers took me to their land.

You said, my sistcr, that you wouldn’t forget me, and perhaps
the time will comc for you to cry, my darling, with small tcars.
Either I'll return to your housc and you’ll cry with joy, or because
you'll never sce me again.

There’s no, my darling sister, not a flower, I'd look for you,
but don’t know from wherc. Oh, then I'll come to you when grass
becomes grecn. And grass grew and began to fade. They waited for
sister over and over till they ceased to cry.

Waters overflew on four sides, perhaps I'll come to sce you in
twenty four ycars. Oh! 'll come to, and brother and sister will say
— our mothcr is no more. Oh, my brother, my dcar, you'll bury
your mother in cherry garden in the corner.

Camp Lyubeck, Germany 1942.

LETTER TO MY RELATIONS

. The tamc passed, and summer came again. It was a year ago,
in Ukraine, when I was told to prepare for a long way no looking
at my young age. For the slavery I had to preparc to say farewell
to my relations. When I was preparing, saying good-bye I cried
bitterly and didn’t hear those dear words that my father told me.

223



I looked last at my housc, and kisscd last all my family. I
looked at the flowers that were dear to me as children to their
mother. Everything was grecn and nice around and I had to leave
my family and to go to a far land.

My dcar sister, my hcart feels that your fate will be hard, and
I also will suffer on this world. Don’t forget me, my dears.

Camp Lyubgck, Germany, 22 June 1943.

LETTER TO THE SISTER

Dcar Sister, I live abroad and grect sincerely all our rclations.
Cold days passcd and spring came and all that time your sister had
suffcred in a forcign country.

Sun shincs brightly but not for me, becausc here in the strange
land cverything isn’t bright but dark. I havc no right to admire or
be glad of somcthing, all my days from sunrisc till sunsct pass in
the hospital. When I comc out of the hospital for a minute, my cyes
turn to cast to my home land.

Therc on the cast everything is dear, rivers and roads, and I’'m crying,
I can’t stop my sad tcars. And I sce — you arc having supper remembering
the daughter. And you go to bed in the poor, but native house.

And I have no rest in this slavery, I'm all the time in a hurry
cither to or from work.

Tonya, 5 of March 1943. Camp Lyubeck, Germany.
L]

TO BROTHER AND SISTER

I know, my dcar sister, I know, my brother, there were nobody
to hcat the stove, to bring watcr. You waited for help from me, the
poor orphan. Don’t be sad, the time will come and perhaps I'll be able
to prove uscful to you, my darlings, don’t despair, cverything will be
arranged. I don’t forget you likc a mother can’t forget her children.

Tonya, 15 April 1943. Camp Lyubeck, Germany.

TO MY RELATION

The Ukrainians worked till the dark night, thcy went to canteen
being wery hungry. And were given just one potato for the supper.
All the girls began to cry — our fate is sad. A German came out of
the canteen, she howls: "Russian swine, you always are hungry, you
must be satisfied with what you are given!"

Tonya, 18 April 1943. Camp Lyubeck, Germany.

TO BROTHER AND SISTER

I had a dream in a foreign land. I dreamt that I'm in Ukraine
lying alone under the snowball-tree, I looked around — nobody’s
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here but a bird flying hiﬁh and singing gaily. Birds sing so gaily like
a mother to her beloved child. ! sleep, like under a sho all-tree,
night covered the God's world. And it's so quict around, so calm.
Our country slceps, I drecam that I'm at home, speaking to my father
and kissing you, my sister and brother. And the river flows, water
purls, as il the Lord murmurs a prayer, advice tc me.

Tonva, 25 April 1943. Camp Lyubeck. Germany.

S5
& T

Sister Maria welcomes guests from Lvov Lesya, Volodya and Zenya
and their father Stepan. Village of Mala Tokmachka, Orikhivsky
district, Zaporizky region, Ukraine.

ABOUT MY LIFE

It was nice for Ukrainians to live in Germany — they worked
all day long to get 4 Eotalocs. And we thanked for those potatoes,
what could we do, girls, that’s our fate. When winter comes, [riends,
we won't get cven this. Girls became sad and so was I.

That was our good lifc in Germany, though we had nothing o
eat we had to work hard.

And because pot-bellicd SS men watch you all the time, you
have no rest of the damned work.

And must work at the machine, being stecped in perspiration,

and Friday comcs, you've got only 2 marks — not cnough even for
soda water.

18 July 1943, Camp Lyubeck, Germany.
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NSister Maria with her bread-winner — a goat. Nearby stand guests
from Lvov — Oleg, Zenya and Volodya. The house is 100 years old
already, it's made of clay, Village Mala Tokmachka, Zaporizka region.

ABOUT THE CAMP LIFE

We have worked till the lae of night, returned 1o the cantean
— very hungry. In the canteen the Germans sit — they have cnoush
to cat. And we are said "Kam hicr. weing barabole.””

OId witch, cvil German, like a snake hisses, instead ol “we are
short of potatoes” shows us a stick.

On Sunday satisficd Germans walk in a wown. and hungry
Ukrainians sing out of spite, with disappoiniment.

And in winter it's snow, frost and snow-storm, we are cold in
barracks. our worn clothes don’t warm us.

We were given d “Shug™**, it’s nice to walk in them, let
the Germans live so in the world. If we walk in them in the town,
few of us don't [all down, Oh, wait, damned Germans, it won't be
[orgotien.

The light was switched off; we went to bed, but suddenly an
alarm was, we had to get up. The German opens “Keller”, put us

Come here, but there's litile potatoes.
"t Shug — shoes. -
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sse. and gads outside like a devil. o
ihe t;\nd ig the cellar there's another danger — there's a pit aside,
once our friend Tetyana fell there. All the wirls were afraid, ran there
because they thought they had lost their ?ncnfl. .

We have helped her out, she's chalk-white, we noticed blood
on her forehcad — he has broken her head. We n.:lurncd 10 barracks,
our time 1o sleep is over, so we had to nod a bit on work.

Tonya, 18 August 1943, Camp Lyubeck, Germany.

TO SISTER SHURA

Decar sister Shura! I've never dealt with pocts, can't make
verses, but 1 wan't 1o tcll you of my lifc abroad.

We lived in our native land, we were [ree there, and the German
hand caught us and made us serve to the Germans.

onn e

Sister Olexandra who worked at the plant "Zaporizhstal®. She brings
in and out the materials on this carriage.

We were brought to the strange country, we had bad lifc there,
were hungry and ragged and so passed our young ycars. We worked
day and night, and we had fetid soup for dinner. And having rcturncd
from work, we were closed in barracks.

We couldnt spcak during our work, we had to perform the
norm, as they told us, and nobody asked us — whether we ate, or
slept, or had a rest. When ill, we were pulled down from the
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plant-bed, like dogs, and at work the masters were crucl to us. They
pushed us, beat us, scolded and brought their bad fists to our faccs.
And their shouts followed us "Du bist shwain". The words impresscd
us and bending over the machine, we remembered of our parents,
We cricd then bitterly and cursed our fate and prayed. Oh, my
Lord! Why do you punish me to?
We ar in far, strange country. Our mother had better never given
us a birth, or we’d better died in our native, dear Ukrainian land.
On Sundays all the Germans go for a walk, they are free, and
Ukrainian girls in barracks sing out of spite, sit togcther at the window.
The wind blows among the colds, our sadness flows, and so do our
bitter tears when we remember of our dear, unhappy Ukrainian land.
So I finish describing our camp troubles, the fate of Ukrainian
workers in Germany, who were taken to forced labour. Don’t pay
attention to my writing, pcrhaps, it’s not well-rounded, but it docsn’t
matter, what is important, that i’s a document of a witness. You'll
rcad it, and in many years pcodple will know how Ukrainian slaves
of XXth ccntury lived during the war.
German slavery finished for us.
20) May 1945.
My dcar rclatives, my dear sister and brother. Don’t cry, plcasc,
while rcading this lctter. All of it has alrcady passed. These ycars |
would remember for the rest of my life.
Writc me, will you? Shurochka! I supposc you haven’t drowned
in the Azov sea that 1 don’t rcceive any letters (rom you.
I wait for letters,
Your sister Tonya.

A LETTER TO SISTER

Several words for you. Look at the birds in above.
Thosec little birds arc loved by the Lord,

He gives them food. If the Lord loves birds,

He loves you as well.

The Lord loves lilics in field, where river flows fust

If He loves flowers. He loves you as well.

He gives life to all birds and flowers.

He hadn’t forgotten small children,

He loves you as well.

My darling sister, do you know how many bright stars
shine in the skies? How many white and beautiful clouds
pass with the winds?

And the God knows the number of it and keeps his cye
on each of the great numbcr.

Dear sister, do you know how many quick fishes swini in
the water? And how many motley butterflics fly in the
Sields?
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The God gave them names, to live they all and in order
that all of them entertain us. )

And do you know how many different people live on
Earth and how many sinful and happy people are among
them? )
God looks after us and covers us with his love, and is
cager [0 save us.

Tonya Kokol.

Sister Galina with her l. d Olexi, daughter - in - law and
grandchildren. Zaporyzhya, Ukraine.

THE LETTER TO SISTER

My dcar sister!

I beg the God being herc abroad, for you all, and for the
mothcerland, for brother and sister, for my dear school fricnds,

I pray for God to save you all,

Though I'm here abroad, far from the native land and my
family, but I believe the time’ll come and the sun will shine for me
and for all of you!

I pray, and you pray as well that the God allows us to mect
whether in our Ukrainian land, or just here, abroad where I live,
I'll wait for you with pcacc and love, like for a desirable sister.

We can already sec from afar that wonderful land where the
God is in his divinc glory. Savior himsclf lcads us to God's Eden,
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leads people faithful to him.

Oh, my dear sister, you wake up, wake from sins and vanity,
Jesus Christ will call us, He'll call me and you.

Wake up quickly because He calls us in His love, don't avoid
him. Hurry up to him.He'll love us all.

He suffered for us all, for all the sins. He didn’t keep away
from you also. Come 1o Hlm he wails for you.

Brother's wife Maria with the children — Galinka and Zhorzhyk on
father's yard, The children were born in Magadan, in Far Northern
East. Near them brother's step-mother stands. 1961.

The sacred blood pourcd out of His wounds, His gaze shone
with love, My dcar sister, he suffered for us unluck

The most clcan blood clears us, whitcwashes all the burden
and sin from the heart.

L(w:. rcnews the soul, gives peace 1o us all.
Yours Tonya Kokot.
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LETTER TO SISTER

O, my dcarest sister, why do you always cry, so bitterly? Did
you go astray or your love to mc has already ended?

You look aftcr father, but look also after yoursclf. Don’t scck
for carthly blessing, but communicate to God morc often. My dear
sister, carthly glory is a poison for hcart. Who's latc now, he could
part with the Lord for cver. . .

I love the church music and choirs, and your soul is tormented
by the strangg ritcs. Sister, I beg you — wake up. All the world joins
the Lord, hurry up towards him! Don’t stop!

Many people have alrcady been cnlightened, they work for the
Glory of God. They work cagerly, gladly. But there are those people
who woudn’t move their finger for the God. And you, sister, and
you, my brother, live well and honestly, in respect to cach other.

For who loves God, he scrves Him with it, and the God will
also love that who scrves Him.

My dcar rclation, sistcr and brother! )

What a joy is to scrve the God and later to live with the God
on Hcavens.,

Tonya Kokot.

TO SISTER SHURA

Dcar sister Shura!

I know, you arc tired alrcady of roaming, you can find no rest.
Don't go the falsc way, for it lcads to nowhere.

To nowhere. Turn aside from him as soon as possiblc, don’t
ruin your young ycars.

You'll be happy, your soul will calm, you’ll come to me abroad.
You'll forget who was your enemy! I'll give you everything and we'll
love cach other.

You don’t ccasc to love your sister. Sister, my heart, calm
yoursclf, abandon your sins, rccognize God’s strength.

Do you know how God told Noah to build an Ark. He told in
details 1o build it threc hundred cubits long and fifty cubits wide.
The Deluge came and people got afraid, they cricd: "God’s Wrath
camc on us!".

Waters flooded all the lands, there was no rescue, people fussed
till they understood that malice wouldn’t help it. And pcople but
also animals: lion and lamb stood togcther.

There wasn’t placc cnough for cveryone, so mother began to
say good-bye o her daughter, father to son, brother to sister.

Thc timc of punishment came. All the land was flooded, people
that lcft, weren't alrcady scen, they dissappeared. There were no
longer pcople, and birds didn’t twitter in skies, the destruction came.

Lifc on Earth came to the end. There still scen here and there
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people and animals trying to rescuc, but high waves covered them.,
Only those, being in the Ark were rescued, as God told to Noah.

That Ark swam long, and Noah lct a raven out, it saw only
water. Then Noah let a dove out and it had flown for some time
and brought in olive branch on the Ark. Then the hope came and
thc Ark moored to thc mountain of Ararat. And all the pcoplc and
anymals left the Ark and the first was Noah himsclf.

Dcar sister! This time when the end of the world comcs,
cveryone will wish the better motherland. And in order to wait for
it onc must live without cvil or sin.

I am cager to scc you, my dcar sister. You wait for me persistently,
I don’t know wherc to find strength, but 1 believe that, God will help
me o ovcrcome that far way. And we'll again embrace cach other, Ill
again bc in my mother country, in Ukrainc, I fly to my mother country
with the strength of my heart, there’s my happincss, my joy.

I began to forget slowly my torments, the despair I lived in
during the war. This world I now live in is strange, forcign for mc
I can’t get used to him. All my thoughts arc in my native land. And
herc I can ncver be calm, my heart will get calm on Heavens.

I’s somctimes very hard here, though I sccm not to lack
anything. But I'm tired, I'd like to live my last days with my rclations,
on my native land.

Very soon I'll go to another country, where sun does never
set. There is joy and holincss there, all what we never saw on carth,
of what we never knew and even didn’t want to know. On Heavens
therc is no grief, no unhappincss, one can’t hcar there the miscrable
crying. Everything is shining, beautiful, happy therc, and therc arc
never hard or disturbed days.

God shines there among those who is faithful to him, who had
expiated their sins. He wipes tears, consolcs the unhappy. And I will
soon be there, on that holy mountain, with Jesus. P’ll never forget
there those who saved me in my hard days.

Very far from carthly [uss, all the pcople’s carcs, therc is a
land where serenity governs and there never is gloom, joiful songs
sound there. I fly with my heart to that land. There’s cternal day’s
light, there’s happiness, there’s God’s Eden. The holy love rules in
Eden, therc’s a spring of cternal life, uncarthly beauty.

The skics and carth arc new there, everyonc lives with true,
hearts are saved there by Christ, nobody sheds tears there.

All of us are guilty before Christ, hc saved us. Though the
world is full of sin, He saved us. God came to suffer for all of us,
for our sins that He whitewashes, He leads us to the country of

aradise. Don’t we also linger, for everyone’s time will come. He'll
ind us cverywhere, in sorrow or in faith, He'll never forget us.
, Let our faith, my dear sister, not hesitate, and my hope will
win, it won’t let me die. )

Why are you so sad, my sister? Don’t be upsct, dear sister,
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don’t gricve, be gay. God loves us, the happy time will come for us,
the time that we'll live in Eden. Turn to God, pray in silence, alonc,
and alarm will lcave your hcart, your soul will calm. .

In the world waves are storming as on the sca, wind blows, wind
howls. Look, darling, at the stars, God watches you from there. We don’t
have to bear it long, millions of hearts suffer here in slavery, in poverty.
You go forward with love, wipe your tears, don’t remember them. Let
the joy be spread from your face, give joy also to your friends. When
you give them joy, you'll be happy yourself, and cveryone around you.

God saved me in my trouble, He always defended me. [ can’t
live in this world without God. I beg you, sister, to live also with
God, Jesus Christ. )

Christ, that suffered for all of us on the cross, libcrated us from
sins. He calls us all, let’s come to him, he’ll make our hearts happy.

Don’t go, my sister, the wrong ways, don’t hurt anyone. Live
true, and God will love you.

P’m often sad here, for I don’t see you, my darlings. I’'m not
calm, I kecp silence as if I were dumb. And cverything scems
sleeping around me, and moon and stars arc sad. Ncither grove, nor
meadows gladden me, my heart is full of sorrow. In Jesus only is
my joy, my happiness. How wondcrful, that I learned truth about
him, about faith, about his torments. Wc should learn, study God’s
words, we arc all fuss without them.

Somc time ago I wandered as a blind, and dcath wandercd
cverywhere, but at last [ found Christ’s teaching. God gave me strength,
I wasn’t weak alrcady. I look bravely at the cternity, I'm not afraid of it.

In gricf and sufferings I'll be strong with God everywhere, and
nobody will tear me from faith. Christ will care of us.

For all my lifc, I'll sing glory to Christ, becausc he took the death
for us all, sinful, he gave us salvation. I'll sing about Saviour, about the
faith he gifted to me, that he rescucd me from earthly fear.

When we get to despair, let’s remember about Christ’s
suffering, his wounds and thorne crown, and torments he suffered.
Here are his hands and feet nailed to the wood. People see Christ’s
torments, and he died long on the cross. And his heart was pierced
by a spear long, not to hesitate, to confirm that death.

Lct’s abandon our carthly dreams, all that travels around the
world. Everything is a fuss but the belief in Christ.

My dearest father, who is eager for salvation with all his soul,
that will find his sins absolved by Jesus’s blood. Don’t worry about
the sin if you really regret about it, God Himself will absolve you
it and open to you the doors to His Kingdom. Dear father, all of us
had to suffer for our sins, but there is a hope for liberation, that
Jesus Christ had preparcd for us by his torments.

. Lets give Our Saviour honour and worship, because it was
him who brought on carth His Salvation, he saves us from devil.
Father, I don’t want to spend my time in fuss, I want to live all my
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lifc in the Belief in Christ, and I'll go along the way he showed. I'll
never, not for a minute renounce him, | want to give him all my life.

I'll carry Christ in my heart along the world, I'll carry him to
towns and villages. Let my Angel the Keeper lead me on that way,
choscn by me.

Many souls arc wandcring in darkness, drowning in sins. Many
hot tcars are being poured by the mankind on carth, because the
discasc torments a soul, and it makes it gricve and ycarn.

I want to tell about Jesus Christ where is disharmony in houses,
where children are not taught to pray. Where there’s drunkenncess,
darkncss, lack of mind, where nothing is known about Jesus Christ.
Of him I want to tell to these people.

Amcn! Amen! Amen!

Yours Tonya Kokot.

Maria Paliy and her son Sergiy. My friend from village Kopani,
Gulaipilski district, Zaporizka region, I went to school with her, she
lived in neighborhood. 1951.
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My husband's brother Yuri with wife and children. In the middle -
my mother-in-law. Village of Gnoynjytsi.
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Father Petro Tarasovich Khelemendyk visited his daughter Tonya and
son-in-law lvan Kokot in Oshava, Canada, where this photo was
made. 1

School friend Valya Bevz with her husband and daughter Tanya, sister
Alexandra, Tonya Kokot with daughter Hanya. Village of Dolynka.
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The grave of my mama Mclania P. Zinchenko in village of Kopani,
Gulaipilski district, Zaporizka region. On the grave is a garland from

| ¥ friends und relatives from village of Kopani, Gulaipilski district
who met us during our trip to Ukraine in 1968.
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Father PPetro Tarasovich Khelemendyk in the yard of his house in
Qrikhiv. He looks through the photoalbum sent to him by his daughter
Tonya and son - in - law Ivan Kokot from Canada,

Tonya (Antonina) Kokot admires flowers in her yard. Oshava, 1978.



CONTENTS
PrefacC . . . . o o e e e e e e e e e 6
KOLKHOZ CHILDEOOD
Orphan Childhood

Before Collectivization . . . . . . . .9
Collectivization of Village . . . . . . . . .19
Disposscssion of Grandfather . . . . . . . .24
Kolkhoz Weekdays . . . . . . . . . . . .29
Forcboding of Famine . . . . . . . . . . .34
Wecekdays of the Family . . . . . . . . . .36
Hungry Guests . . . . . . . . . . ... .40
Country Life . . . B ¥4
On the Eve of Famine . . . . . . . . . . .46
Famine . . . e e oo oL 48
Wisc Stalin and Slupld L xln e e e e e e 55
ldcological Profit and our Week-Days . . . .63
Lifc of the Schoolchildren . . . . . . . . .68
Doctor’s assistants and obstctrics

School in Orikhiv =~ . e e e e e e 75
Forcboding of War . . . e e e e 80
Mecdical School in Bcrdyansk e e e o090
The War! . . . . . . ... L. . .93
Germans in Berdyansk . . L 0 L L. .. .95
Exterminationof Jews . . . . . . . . . .. 97
Back to the Village . . . e e ... L98
Being. Removed to Gcrmany oo o .o . 100

GERMAN SLAVERY

Germany . . . . . .. .. ... ... .107
Lyubeck . . . . . o, 199
At the German plant e e e e 112
IFcll . . . ... .. e e e e e 116
Lifc Conditions in the Camp . . . . . . . . 117
Letters from Home . . . . . . . . . . .. 119
Fate of Children . . . . . . . .. .. .. 120
"..Youth will Never Come Back.." . . . . . . 123
Amongpcople . . . . . ... ... ... 128
My "Country-Girl" . . . . . .. ... .. 132
Another "Country-Girl" . . . . . . . ... 134
Slavish Fate . . . . . . . .. .. ... .136



Thoughts Travel into the Past . . . . . . . . 139
In the Penalty-Camp . . . . . . . . . .. 141
It Never Rains but It Pours . . . . . . . . 145
I am Getting Better . . ... . . . ... .. 149
Work at the Cantecen . . . . . . . . . .. 152
Ear-Rings . . . . . . . .. .. ... .. 153
AboutHope . . . . . . . . . ... ... 156
Our Fellows . . . . . . . . . ... ... 157
Diffcrent Watchmen . . . . . . . . . .. 158
Vasylko . . . . . . . ... 159
News from Fronts . . . . . . . . . . .. 161
More about Vasylko . . . . . . . . . .. 162
The end of Penalty-Camp . . . . . . . . . 170
On the Eve of Hitler's Crash . . . . . . . . 172
The cnd of the War. What Next? . . . . . . 174
Somc Words about Private . . . . . . . .. 178
"Na Rodynu!" . . . . . ... ... 182
InPolishCamp . . . . . . . ... ... 185
OntheWest! . . . . . .. ... .... 189
Sistcr Marusya’s Fate . . . . . . . . . . . 192
Fathers Fate . . . . . . . . . . . ... 197
ADDITION
Why did I write memoirs? . . . . . . . . . 202
The First Wonderful Dream . . . . . . . . 203
The Second Wonderful Dream . . . . . . . 210
The Third Wonderful Dream . . . . . . . . 214
Tothefriends . . . . . . . . . .. ... 221
Letters to Relations . . . . . . . . . . .. 222

Contents . . . . . . . . 4 4. e e 239






